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Community Financial System, Inc. (CFSI) is a diversified financial services enterprise that is focused on four main business lines – 

banking, employee benefit services, insurance services and wealth management services.

Its banking subsidiary, Community Bank, N.A. is among the country’s 100 largest banking institutions with over $16 billion in 

assets and operates approximately 200 customer facilities across Upstate New York, Northeastern Pennsylvania, Vermont, and 

Western Massachusetts. 

The Company’s Benefit Plans Administrative Services, Inc. (BPAS) subsidiary is a leading provider of employee benefits 

administration, trust services, collective investment fund administration, and actuarial consulting services to customers on a 

national scale. 

The Company’s OneGroup NY, Inc. (OneGroup) subsidiary offers personal and commercial and other risk management products 

and services. 

The Company also offers comprehensive financial planning, trust administration and wealth management services through its 

Wealth Management operating unit.

The Company is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and the Company’s stock trades under the symbol CBU.

Community Financial System, Inc.
ABOUT US

BANKING SERVICES INSURANCE SERVICES 

Businesses

WEALTH MANAGEMENT SERVICES EMPLOYEE BENEFIT SERVICES
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I stepped into the President & CEO role on January 1, 2024 after a smooth 

transition and with as much preparation as possible.

With the benefit of a year behind me, I have come to appreciate that the 

gamut of things that come across my desk is truly fascinating and hard to 

truly prepare for. With that said, I often tend to reset back to my big “To 

Dos” below:

VISION AND STRATEGY
This past September we hosted an Investor Day at the New York Stock 

Exchange. We talked a lot about the evolution of our Company into a 

Financial System, not just a Bank System (and changed our holding 

company name accordingly). We have now formally organized ourselves 

around our four wonderful businesses – Banking, Insurance Services,  

Wealth Management Services and Employee Benefit Services. Here is 

why this is important to all of us as shareholders – for various reasons 

outside of our control, the banking sector has underperformed the 

S&P 500 for the majority of the past 20 years. Financial services more 

broadly have done better, and certain subsegments of the financials 

sector have done really well – including insurance brokerage, wealth 

management, and processing/services related businesses. We deeply 

love our Banking business, it is the backbone of our Company and we 

take pride both in its performance and in its impact on our communities. 

We also feel very fortunate that we have approximately one third of our 

total revenues coming from sectors that have been outperforming. I don’t 

know how things may change going forward but we are in the business 

of permanence, and permanence is hard to build if you have only one 

leg on your stool and it goes in and out of favor by the markets. By both 

In 2024, we reinforced 
our vision as a diversified 
financial system, 
balancing growth, 
stability, and long-
term value creation. 
By investing in our 
people, expanding our 
services, and maintaining 
disciplined capital 
allocation, we continued 
to build a company 
designed for permanence. 
As we move into 2025, 
our focus remains on 
delivering sustainable 
growth, strengthening our 
communities, and driving 
above average returns 
with below average risk. 

Dimitar A. Karaivanov 
President and CEO,
Community Financial System, Inc.

2024 operating 
noninterest revenues1 
derived from its financial 
services businesses.

74%

1  Operating noninterest revenues is a non-GAAP measure. A reconciliation of GAAP to 
Non-GAAP measures is provided in Item 7, Table 20 of the Company’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Diversified Growth
TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS 
AND EMPLOYEES,
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design and good fortune our evolution has been almost the opposite of 

the broader banking sector and today approximately 40% of our revenues 

come from stable, subscription-like fee income streams as compared to 

less than 19% for the broader banking sector.

I would encourage all of you interested to review the recording of the 

Investor Day for a deeper look. You can really see the permanence in each 

one of our businesses evidenced in the consistent, steady, revenue growth 

in each line and overall revenue growth regardless of the ups and downs 

of the business cycle. To put it simply – our vision and strategy is to keep 

growing a diversified financial services company, maintain a low volatility 

profile and provide for sustainable growth in earnings and dividends.

PUTTING THE RIGHT PEOPLE IN THE RIGHT SEATS
Execution of the strategy comes down to one thing – people. The strategy 

piece is frankly easy, it is the execution that makes the difference. People 

is the first pillar of our overall strategic plan which the Board approved 

back in October 2023 (Data, Business Mix and Excellence being the other 

three pillars) and we have been executing well against the plan. In 2024 

we both elevated excellent internal talent and attracted terrific external 

talent across all of our businesses. I keep a close eye to the healthy mix 

of internal and external talent additions and I could not be more excited 

about watching them grow our Company over the next years to come.

CAPITAL ALLOCATION
Arguably one of the most important jobs of 

any steward of capital and certainly the most 

immediately visible to our shareholders. Here 

is the framework you can expect from us going 

forward:

a. Organic growth – for our Company this 
comes in two forms: 1. Expanding our services 
footprint across all four of our businesses – e.g. 
launching new services and products, hiring 
talent, opening new offices – predominantly 
reflected in income statement expenses which 
generally will be a drag for the first couple of 
years, followed by highly attractive returns 
in subsequent periods, and 2. Supporting the 
balance sheet growth of our Banking business 
which also generates attractive, double digit 
returns. In 2024, we invested approximately $70 
million in these initiatives.

b. Acquisitions across all of our businesses – we 
have a long history of acquisitions in each one of 
our four businesses and a deep understanding 
of what works for us and what doesn’t. We are 
constantly looking for opportunities to generate 
double digit and growing return on invested 
capital with limited downside in highly durable 
operations. We also have a strong bias towards 
utilizing cash in acquisitions – we generate 
cash capital and are in the business of cash 
capital deployment, not share issuances. We 
also love our Company and our share ownership 
and would rather trade an asset that doesn’t 
intrinsically appreciate for a business that does. 
When in doubt I tend to stick to the basics – 
more income and less shares seems like a good 
basic. In 2024, we invested approximately $20 
million in cash acquisitions in our Employee 
Benefit Services and Insurance Services 
businesses.

c. Dividends – a critical part of our overall 
shareholder return and the best example of the 
permanence of our Company. We have now 
grown our dividend for 32 consecutive years, a 
rare feat in the public company space. In 2024, 
we returned $96 million in dividends to our 
shareholders.

Scan to visit 
Community Financial System, Inc. 
Investor Day 2024
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d. Share repurchases – a wise CFO of a very successful bank in the 
Southeast told me once “we don’t get paid 18x earnings to buy back 
shares” and I couldn’t agree more. With that said, there are times when 
the market noise overwhelms intrinsic value and we took advantage 
of an excellent opportunity in 2024 to buy back 1,000,000 shares for 
approximately $46 million. We will continue to pay close attention to such 
market disruptions.

CULTURE AND VALUES
A big part of my job is to be Chief Evangelist of our values – Integrity, 

Excellence, Teamwork, and Humility. As a shareholder you should know 

that those are non-negotiable in our Company and our approximately 

3,000 employees are expected to build on them one interaction at a 

time. In 2024, we also formalized our collective purpose – “Contribute to 

the prosperity of our Community, including our clients, colleagues and 

shareholders.” We do that by consistently: 1. Providing warm, trustworthy, 

and personalized service to our clients; 2. Serving each other with 

respect; 3. Building a strong community through our local focus, care 

and volunteerism; 4. Allowing our core values of Integrity, Excellence, 

Teamwork and Humility to guide us in our everyday work, and 5. Delivering 

Above Average Returns to our shareholders while managing Below 

Average Risk to ensure our long-term success. I am humbled to report 

that our Banking business was acknowledged by the American Bankers 

Community Foundation with their Volunteerism award – our employees 

spent more than 15,000 hours of volunteering in both 2023 and 2024.

A couple of brief reflections on our business results. In short, we had an 

excellent year. Revenue growth in our businesses were 4% in Banking and 

Corporate, 12% in Employee Benefit Services, 

7% in Insurance Services and 15% in Wealth 

Management Services. Combined, operating 

revenues were up 6%. We gained market share 

while managing operating noninterest expenses 

to a 5% increase. This led to overall operating 

pre-tax pre-provision net revenue growth of 

7% over 2023. However, bottom line results 

were impacted by an increase in our allowance 

for credit losses (of importance credit quality 

remains very strong and net charge offs were 

approximately half of peer levels) and also an 

uptick in the tax rate. Following this letter, you 

will find more detailed reports for each of the 

businesses. In aggregate, while the accounting 

adjustments and assumptions come and go, 

I would say that any year that we can grow 

operating revenues at a high single digit rate 

while keeping credit risk low is an excellent year. 

Onto 2025!

Dimitar A. Karaivanov 

President and CEO,
Community Financial System, Inc.

in nonbanking fees/
revenue amongst KRX 1,2,3#1
in fees/revenue 
amongst KRX 1,3#2
in cost of funds 
amongst KRX 1,3#1
(tied) in consecutive annual 
dividend increases amongst KRX 3#2

Our Core Values

Humility
We Respect Everyone

Teamwork
We Work Together

Excellence
We Always Bring Our Best

Integrity
We Do the Right Thing

1 Full Year 2024 results.

2  Regulatory income statement basis. Non-bank revenue 
includes fiduciary, investment banking, insurance and 
other noninterest income to capture employee benefit 
services revenue.

3 The KRX Regional Banking Index (KRX) is a market index 
that tracks the performance of 50 publicly traded banks 
and thrifts in the U.S.



Performance Highlights
Community Financial System, Inc. Annual Report 2024  |  6

FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

10-Year CAGR = 7.5%

Total Operating Revenues1 $ in Millions

   
$7

4
5

.6

   
$7

0
4

.3

   
$6

79
.4

   
$6

20
.6

   
$5

96
.4

   
$5

8
4

.9

   
$5

68
.8

   
$5

18
.1

   
$4

29
.5

   
$3

71
.7

   
$3

63
.4

FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

10-Year CAGR = 4.5%

Earnings per Share Diluted

   
$3

.4
4

   
$2

.4
5   

$3
.4

6

   
$3

.4
8

   
$3

.0
8

   
$3

.2
3

   
$3

.2
4

   
$3

.0
3

   
$2

.3
2

   
$2

.1
9

   
$2

.2
2

FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

10-Year CAGR = 6.3%

Net Interest Income $ in Millions

   
$4

4
9.

1

   
$4

37
.3

   
$4

20
.6

   
$3

74
.4

   
$3

68
.4

   
$3

5
9.

2

   
$3

4
5

.1

   
$3

15
.7

   
$2

73
.9

   
$2

4
8

.4

   
$2

4
4

.4

FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

10-Year CAGR = 4.6%

Operating Earnings per Share2 Diluted

   
$3

.6
5

   
$3

.5
7

   
$3

.8
0

   
$3

.6
9

   
$3

.4
5

   
$3

.5
3

   
$3

.5
0

   
$2

.8
8

   
$2

.4
3

   
$2

.3
7

   
$2

.3
4

FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

10-Year CAGR = 9.6%

Operating Noninterest Revenues1 $ in Millions

   
$2

96
.4

   
$2

67
.0

   
$2

5
8

.8

   
$2

4
6.

2

   
$2

28
.0

   
$2

25
.7

   
$2

23
.7

  $
20

2.
4

   
$1

5
5

.6

   
$1

23
.3

   
$1

19
.0

FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

10-Year CAGR = 4.6%

Dividend Growth Declared

  $
1.

8
2

   
$1

.7
8

   
$1

.7
4

   
$1

.7
0

   
$1

.6
6

   
$1

.5
8

   
$1

.4
4

   
$1

.3
2

   
$1

.2
6

   
$1

.2
2

   
$1

.1
6

1 Operating revenues, a non-GAAP measure, and operating noninterest revenues, a non-GAAP measure, exclude securities gains/losses and gains/losses on debt 
extinguishment. A reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP measures is provided in Item 7, Table 20 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
Decebmer 31, 2024.

2 Operating earnings per share, a non-GAAP measure, excludes net of tax the effect of acquisition related expenses, gains/losses on investment securities, amortization 
of intangible assets and other special charges. A reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP measures is provided in Item 7, Table 20 of the Company’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Investment Thesis

BELOW AVERAGE RISK
Manage Risk & Earnings Volatility Through:

• Revenue Diversity & Stability

• Cost of Funds Management 

• Credit & Net Charge-off Management

• Risk-Weighted Asset Management

ABOVE AVERAGE RETURNS 
Provide Solid Earnings & Shareholder Return:

• Premium Return on Assets

• Long-term Shareholder Value & Return
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ABOVE AVERAGE RETURNS 
WITH BELOW AVERAGE RISK

Sources: S&P Global, internal filings. 

1 Core income, a non-GAAP measure, is net income after taxes and before extraordinary items, less net income attributable to noncontrolling interest, gain or loss 
on the sale of securities, amortization of intangibles, goodwill and nonrecurring items. Core ROA is defined as core income divided by average period assets; 
annualized. Core ROE is defined as core income divided by average period equity; annualized.

2 The KRX Regional Banking Index (KRX) is a market index that tracks the performance of 50 publicly traded banks and thrifts in the U.S.
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Select Financial 
Highlights

Income Statement (in millions)

Net interest income

Operating noninterest revenues1

Total operating revenues1

Operating noninterest expenses2

Net income

Per Share Data (Diluted)

Earnings per share

Operating earnings per share3

Cash dividends declared

Book value

Tangible book value

Balance Sheet Data  (End of period, in millions)

Assets

Loans

Deposits

Shareholders’ equity

FY 2024

$ 449.1

296.4

745.6

472.0

$ 182.5

$ 3.44

3.65

1.82

33.47

$ 17.20

$ 16,386

10,432

13,442

$ 1,763

FY 2014

$ 244.4

  119.0

  363.4

  219.4

$ 91.4

$ 2.22

  2.34

  1.16

  24.24

$ 15.63

$ 7,489

  4,236

  5,935

$ 988

10-Yr
CAGR

6.3%

9.6%

7.5%

8.0%

7.2%

4.5%

4.6%

4.6%

3.3%

1.0%

8.1%

9.4%

8.5%

6.0%

1 Operating noninterest revenues, a non-GAAP measure, and total operating revenues, a non-GAAP measure, exclude 
securities gains/losses and debt extinguishment gains/losses. A reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP measures is 
provided in Item 7, Table 20 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

2 Operating noninterest expenses, a non-GAAP measure, excludes acquisition-related expenses, litigation accrual, 
restructuring expenses and amortization of intangible assets. A reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP measures is 
provided in Item 7, Table 20 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

3 Operating earnings per share, a non-GAAP measure, excludes net of tax the effect of acquisition related expenses, 
gains/losses on investment securities, amortization of intangible assets and other special charges. A reconciliation of 
GAAP to Non-GAAP measures is provided in Item 7, Table 20 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2024.  Springfield, Massachusetts
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Excellence 
Recognized

Community Financial System, 
Inc. continues to be recognized 
for its strong performance, 
highlighting our commitment 
to shareholders, customers, 
and employees. In 2024, our 
dedication to excellence and 
industry leadership remained 
evident through continued 
achievements and milestones.

S&P Dividend Aristocrat
CBU’s 32 years of consecutive annual 

dividend increases have allowed it to retain 

the status as an S&P Dividend Aristocrat.

NAPA Top DC Advisor Team
OneGroup Retirement Advisors, a segment of 

Wealth Management, was named to the  2024 

NAPA Top DC Advisor Teams list for the sixth 

consecutive year.

Vermont Business 
Magazine “Best Bank”
Regularly named a “best bank” in our 

communities, including by Vermont Business 

Magazine in 2024.

Volunteerism Award
Received Volunteerism award by the American 

Bankers Association in 2024.

Forbes America’s Best 
Large Regional Bank
Ranked in top 25 of Forbes America’s Best 

Large Regional Banks for 13 of the last 16 

years and named to the World’s Best Banks 

in 2024.

Top 100 P/C Agency
OneGroup was ranked #66 in Insurance Journal’s 

Top 100 Property & Casualty Agencies of 2024, 

marking its third consecutive year on the list and an 

improvement of nine spots from the previous year.

Bank Director’s Best US Bank
Ranked #89 in Bank Director’s, Best US banks 

between $5 and $50 billion in total assets for 

2024. An improvement of 27 places and marks the 

third consecutive year CBU has been recognized.

NAPA Advisors’ Choice
BPAS: NAPA Advisors’ choice award top 5 record 

keeper 2024 for the 3rd consecutive year. 
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Banking Services
Commercial Banking 

Treasury Management 

Governmental 

Business Banking 

Retail & Consumer

Insurance Services
Risk Management 

Business Insurance 

Personal Insurance 

Employee Benefits 

Human Resources Services & Consulting

Wealth 
Management Services
Investment Advising

Retirement Plan Design

Asset Management

Trust Services

Financial Planning

Family & Succession Planning

Diversified and Complementary 
Revenue Streams

1 Segment-level operating revenue results. Segment results include certain Intercompany transactions that are eliminated in consolidation to Community Financial 
System, Inc. Segment-level operating results are presented utilizing methodology consistent with the Segment Information disclosure in the Company’s Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

$445.8M1

Net Interest Income for 2024 

2.5% increase from 2023

Employee
Benefit Services
Retirement Plan & Benefits Administration 

Actuarial & Pension Services 

Public-Sector Benefits & VEBA 

Health & Welfare Plans 

Collective Investment Fund

$137.4M1

Operating revenues from employee 
benefit services for 2024 

11.9% increase from 2023

$50.5M1

Operating revenues from 
insurance services for 2024

6.7% increase from 2023

$38.7M1

Operating revenues from wealth 
management services for 2024 

14.9% increase from 2023

$78.2M1

Noninterest banking revenues for 2024 

11.8% increase from 2023
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Banking Services
JEFFREY LEVY 

In 2024, we strengthened 
our foundation for 
growth—expanding into 
key markets, deepening 
client relationships, and 
leveraging technology 
to enhance our banking 
experience. As we look 
ahead to 2025, our focus 
remains on strategic 
expansion and delivering 
the high-touch service 
that sets us apart. 
Jeffrey Levy 
SVP, Chief Banking Officer,
Community Bank, N.A.

EXPANDING OUR REACH: GROWTH & INNOVATION IN 2024
Our banking business had another strong year in 2024. We executed 

well on our strategic initiatives, delivering solid financial performance 

across all lines of business. Our focus remains on driving organic growth 

by deepening relationships with our existing business and retail banking 

clients, expanding our customer base, and leveraging the value-added 

services of our Employee Benefit, Insurance, and Wealth Management 

partners.

We continue to enhance the customer experience through strategic 

investments in talent, technology, and digital banking enhancements. 

These efforts have once again earned us recognition from respected 

national and regional publications, including Forbes, Newsweek, and “Best 

Bank” awards in Pennsylvania and Vermont, highlighting our industry-

leading service and financial strength.

EXPANDING OUR PRESENCE
We continuously evaluate opportunities to optimize our delivery networks 

and expand strategically in response to market demand. In 2024, we 

focused on strengthening our existing footprint while identifying high-

potential growth markets. As part of this effort, we are in the early stages 

of establishing eighteen new branches, marking the most significant 

capital investment in our retail banking franchise in our 159-year history.

This initiative is already underway, with our first two new branches 

opening in Syracuse, New York, in late 2024 and Buffalo, New York, in 

February 2025. By expanding our reach, we are creating new opportunities 

for customers, strengthening local economies, and enhancing access to 

our growing suite of services.

MARKET EXPANSION & GROWTH
Our disciplined market strategy and execution have led to deeper 

penetration in our core, legacy markets, reflected in year-over-year growth 

in loans, deposits, and fee income. We also gained market share in Upstate 

New York’s most competitive markets—Albany, Buffalo, Rochester, and 

Syracuse—where we now have an established branch presence. These 

markets present significant opportunities for accelerated growth as we 

expand both banking and non-banking services.

Our commercial banking expansion into New Hampshire and the Lehigh 

Valley in Pennsylvania is also progressing well, with early indicators of 
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success. Notably, all of these key markets will see retail branch openings in 

2025, further reinforcing our commitment to strategic growth.

In commercial banking, we built on another year of double-digit loan 

growth while significantly expanding fee income through the launch 

of Interest Rate Derivative product offerings and the growth of our 

Commercial Real Estate capital markets capabilities.

On the consumer side, Residential Mortgage and Consumer Installment 

Lending both delivered another year of strong growth. We remain focused 

on implementing efficiencies and technology enhancements to improve 

customer experience and support our retail banking partners.

2024 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
• TOTAL REVENUES: $524.0 million, a 3.8% increase over the prior year

• LOAN GROWTH: $727.8 million, or 7.5%, with increases across 

Commercial, Consumer Mortgage, and Consumer Installment Loans

• DEPOSIT GROWTH: $513.6 million, or 4.0%

• FEE INCOME: $78.2 million, an 11.8% increase over the prior year

• OPERATING EXPENSES: A modest 2.7% increase, reflecting 

disciplined cost management

• NET CHARGE-OFFS: 10 basis points, a modest increase, reinforcing 

our strong asset quality performance

LOOKING AHEAD TO 2025
As we enter 2025, our focus remains on scaling the strategies that have 

driven our success. We are committed to serving our communities and 

customers with the high-touch, relationship-driven approach that sets us 

apart while leveraging technology to enhance the products and services 

our clients expect.

We continue to thrive in the community banking 

space, successfully competing against—and 

winning market share from—larger banks in our 

footprint.

We are also optimistic about the broader 

economic environment. The resilience of 

our markets, strong employment trends, and 

significant public-private investments—

particularly in Semiconductor/Chip Manufacturing 

through the CHIPS Act, NY CREATES, Micron 

Technology, and Global Foundries—position us 

well for continued growth.

Our branch expansion initiative will remain our 

top priority in 2025. Building new commercial and 

consumer financial service relationships in these 

growing markets will be a primary focus across 

our leadership team.

2024 was a strong year, and we are well-

positioned to seize the opportunities that 2025 

will bring. Thank you to our dedicated team and 

valued customers for being part of this exciting 

journey.

Jeffrey Levy 

SVP, Chief Banking Officer,
Community Bank, N.A.

Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania
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Insurance Services
PIERRE MORRISSEAU

GROWTH, INNOVATION & MARKET LEADERSHIP IN 2024
2024 was a transformative year for OneGroup—one of growth, 

operational strength, and a deepened commitment to serving our clients 

at the highest level. In a challenging insurance landscape, we not only 

navigated complexity but built a stronger foundation for the future.

One of the biggest milestones this year was surpassing $50 million in 

revenue, reinforcing our position as a leader in the industry. We continued 

to move up the rankings in Business Insurance’s Top 100 Insurance 

Brokers and Insurance Journal’s Top 100 Property and Casualty Insurance 

Agencies, a testament to our growing influence and market leadership.

For the past five years, we’ve been intentional about deepening our 

presence in key markets while expanding our specialty expertise and 

acquiring firms that complement our vision—regardless of geography. 

In 2024 alone, five firms joined OneGroup, strengthening our talent in 

public schools and municipalities, increasing our market share in the North 

Country and Florida, and expanding into Buffalo.

STRENGTHENING OUR FOUNDATION FOR GROWTH
Growth is only as good as the infrastructure supporting it, and this year, 

we made meaningful progress in standardizing our merger and acquisition  

process to ensure seamless integration and efficiency across all locations. 

We also stabilized our technology environment, leveraging best-in-class 

platforms that enhance security, improve operations, and position us to 

fully harness data, analytics, and AI in 2025.

With our footprint now spanning five states, we restructured our 

management team to scale effectively and ensure we remain agile, 

responsive, and ready for continued expansion.

Our commitment to specialization continues to pay off. Our Food and 

Life Sciences practice had a standout year, winning new business across 

the U.S., while our manufacturing expertise and advisory-led approach 

helped clients proactively manage risk—leading to major wins with large 

manufacturers.

THE POWER OF COLLABORATION & INNOVATION
Collaboration and innovation are at the heart of how we operate. Across 

all CFSI entities, we’ve strengthened cross-functional collaboration, 

combining our scale, expertise, and technology to drive better outcomes. 

Our approach is simple: when you work with one part of OneGroup, you 

gain access to the full strength of our entire organization. That’s what 

makes us different.

2024 was a year of 
transformation for 
OneGroup—not just in 
growth, but in building 
a stronger foundation 
for the future. As we 
enter 2025, we remain 
committed to delivering 
exceptional value and 
setting new industry 
standards.

Pierre Morrisseau 
CIC, President and CEO, 
OneGroup
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OneGroup has consistently demonstrated a 
deep understanding of our industry’s unique 
challenges and has provided us with tailored 
recommendations and insurance solutions that 
align perfectly with our business needs.

C.J. Madonna Esq., General Counsel
Schluter®-Systems

Looking ahead to 2025, we’re doubling down on these efforts—

leveraging technology to enhance, not replace, the human 

element of what we do. By streamlining backend processes, 

we’re giving our people more time to focus on what matters 

most: delivering exceptional service and building lasting client 

relationships.

As we move forward, our mission remains the same: to build 

on this momentum, drive sustainable growth, and continue 

delivering value to our clients, employees, and partners. The 

strength of our team, the depth of our expertise, and our focus 

on innovation will continue to fuel our success.

Thank you for being part of this journey. Here’s to another year of 

growth, collaboration, and success.

Pierre Morrisseau  

CIC, President and CEO,
OneGroup

Syracuse, New York

Annual Premiums

Offices

FTEs

Acquisitions since 2021

7-year revenue CAGR

> $400M

22

239

16

9.7%
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Our success in 2024 
wasn’t just about 
market conditions—it 
was driven by strategic 
investments in our 
people, technology, 
and partnerships. 
In 2025, we remain 
committed to delivering 
high-quality wealth 
management solutions 
that empower our 
clients and strengthen 
the CFSI family. 

Michael Cerminaro 
President and CEO,
Community Bank Wealth 
Management

Wealth Management Services
MICHAEL CERMINARO

BUILDING MOMENTUM: OUR BEST YEAR YET
The Wealth Management division reached new heights in 2024, 

capitalizing on strong momentum to seize new opportunities and continue 

delivering exceptional service to our clients.

At the core of our success is a commitment to providing comprehensive, 

unrivaled financial solutions—including investment and insurance services, 

trust services, asset management, retirement plan consulting, financial 

planning, and partner solutions. Our highest priority remains seamlessly 

integrating our wealth management services to benefit the entire CFSI 

family of businesses and clients.

2024 PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
Our division achieved record-breaking results:

• Total revenues reached $38.7 million, an all-time full-year record

• New advisory assets surpassed $1 billion

• We closed the year with $13.2 billion in AUMA

While favorable market conditions played a role, our success was 

primarily driven by strategic investments in our people, technology, and 

partnerships:

• Talent Growth: We welcomed 10 new team members, expanding our 
expertise and capacity.

• Professional Development: 30 employees completed an advanced 
professional development program, reinforcing our commitment to 
excellence.

• Stronger Bank Partnerships: Closer collaboration with our retail 
banking colleagues resulted in over 1,900 qualified leads for our 
financial consultants and trust officers.

• Technology Enhancements: We deployed a new customer relationship 
management (CRM) platform, streamlining integration across teams 
and enhancing the client experience.

LOOKING AHEAD TO 2025
We are committed to sustaining this momentum in 2025 by deepening 

our relationships with partners and clients across CFSI while expanding 

our platforms and service offerings. Our goal is clearer than ever: to deliver 

best-in-class wealth management solutions that empower our clients and 

strengthen the CFSI family.

Michael Cerminaro 

President and CEO,
Community Bank Wealth Management
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Nottingham Financial Group
In the coming months, Community Bank Wealth Management will 

rebrand as Nottingham Financial Group. Leveraging the Nottingham 

name already used by our trust and asset management services, 

we’ll create modern, unified branding and messaging for the division. 

A strong, recognizable brand will help us stand out in a crowded 

marketplace and position our organization as one that customers 

can trust for quality financial services delivered by experienced 

professionals. We’re excited about this new chapter and look forward 

to debuting new logos, materials, and an overhauled digital presence 

in the coming months. 

Here’s a sneak peek.

Our Next Chapter
In Wealth Management

1   Includes $3.3 billion of intercompany AUMA

1  Total Operating Revenues includes segment net interest income plus operating noninterest revenues (total noninterest revenues less securities and debt gains/losses). 
Includes certain intersegment revenues that eliminate upon consolidation.

2  Operating Margin is calculated by total segment adjusted pre-tax income divided by total segment operating revenues. Total segment adjusted pre-tax income is 
calculated by segment net interest income plus operating noninterest revenues less operating noninterest expenses (total noninterest expenses less acquisition 
expenses, amortization of intangible assets and other special charges).  Includes certain intersegment revenues and expenses that eliminate upon consolidation.

Wealth Management

Operating Revenues1   

- - - Operating Margin2

Financial Professionals

Trust Officers

AUMA1

10-year revenue CAGR

FTEs

30

19

$13.2B

8.4%

113
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2024: SMOOTH TAKEOFF AND LANDING OF AIRPLANES
Have you ever sat near a major airport at night, where planes take off and 

land seamlessly, one after another, without disruption? That’s how 2024 

was here at BPAS: Tackling key initiatives, onboarding significant new 

business, and welcoming new talent into our firm. And through it all, our 

incredible team carried us forward with a sense of calm and grace.

BPAS TODAY
BPAS is a leading national provider of retirement plan services and 

institutional trust services, serving a diverse range of financial partners and 

intermediaries across the U.S. Now fifty-two years into our evolution, we 

achieved record setting milestones across the board in 2024. We’re proud 

to now support 6,100 plans, $110 billion in trust assets, and $1.3 trillion in 

assets under fund administration, with some 910,000 participants in our 

care. We provide a comprehensive range of services within the industry, 

spanning defined contribution, defined benefit consulting and actuarial, 

nonqualified, health & welfare, IRA accounts and more. We continuously 

strive to expand our capabilities, take ownership of challenges and deliver 

meaningful solutions for our partners.

In 2024, BPAS achieved total revenues of $137.4 million, reflecting an 

increase of $14.5 million, or 11.8%, compared to the previous year. These 

results were largely driven by a sizeable increase in the number of total 

plans, assets and participants in our care. Our team is made up of 460 

employees, across 32 states, 17 offices and four time zones, but we 

continue to operate with the agility, accountability and personal touch of a 

mid-sized company, ensuring that every client and partner feels valued.

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES
Many of the initiatives underway at BPAS center on technology. In March 

of 2024, we rolled out a new portal for plan sponsors and partners, 

delivering ten years of evolution over a weekend. Throughout 2024, we 

made continuous enhancements to our BPAS University mobile app adding 

new content, designed to engage and inspire participants on their path to 

long-term financial success. We are now working to incorporate business 

intelligence and dashboard technology in a variety of our sites; working 

on a major upgrade of our core operating system and CRM in the coming 

quarters; and expanding our integration with payroll providers. Across our 

business, dozens of projects are underway that will deliver new automation 

and efficiency, transform manual processes into a digital experience, and 

capitalize on AI to automate repetitive tasks. We are also embarking on 

Employee Benefit Services
PAUL NEVEU

In 2024, BPAS operated 
with the precision of a 
well-orchestrated flight—
smooth execution, steady 
momentum, and a clear path 
forward. Our commitment 
to innovation, client service, 
and strategic expansion 
continues to set us apart, and 
as we move into 2025, we 
remain focused on delivering 
lasting value for our clients 
and partners. 

Paul Neveu 
President and CEO, 
BPAS



the Enterprise Call Center – a four-year initiative that will bring enormous 

efficiencies to our participant service center while enhancing the user 

experience in dramatic ways. Our goal is to leverage our team’s deep 

industry expertise to create a meaningful impact for clients, while our 

technology streamlines processes and removes obstacles. 

MOVEMENT OF THE PUCK
In recent years, our industry has undergone significant change driven 

by acquisitions and major transitions at some of the largest firms, 

negatively impacting the client experience for many. In this environment, 

clients are craving single point of contact service, quick responses and 

accountability; they want to work with subject matter experts rather 

than a bullpen of generalists. All of this has moved the puck into our end 

of the ice. At BPAS, we prioritize retaining top talent with deep industry 

expertise, ensuring our clients receive consistent, knowledgeable support. 

Our strong, collaborative team culture fosters stability, with a personalized 

experience that builds lasting client relationships. As a testament to our 

commitment to customer service, BPAS was recognized for the third 

consecutive year in the NAPA Advisors’ Choice Awards, and received a 

record-high response rate in our 2024 plan sponsor survey. We take none 

of this for granted. We’re always listening and working on how we can do 

things better, but feedback like this fuels our 

motivations for the future. 

EMBRACING THE FOURTH LANE OF THE 
HIGHWAY
Most firms in the retirement business operate on 

“three lanes of the highway” – working with plan 

participants, employers, and advisors as their 

core strategy. Taking a cue from our institutional 

trust business, BPAS has added a fourth lane to 

our highway, partnering with firms who may be 

competitors in certain spaces, who have niche 

needs we can solve together. This could be DB 

Outsourcing, Healthcare Consulting, DB360, 

partnering on VEBA or Section 115 engagements, 

IRAs or niche plan types the partner doesn’t 

support internally. We understand the trust and 

confidence that comes with such partnerships 

and are adept at using single sign-on technology 

and other techniques to make it work seamlessly. 

BPAS saw substantial growth during 2024 in 

Boston, Massachusetts
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BPAS revenues. Now in 2025, we are developing 

new strategies and opportunities, driven by client 

requests and new strategic partnerships. We will 

continue to drive the growth of legacy business 

and relationships, while adding creative solutions 

to meet the changing needs of asset owners and 

asset managers. This will be the third evolution 

of our Trust services. As we’ve added new 

capabilities, we’ve received an exciting response 

from partners. We see the continued growth of 

collective investment funds, custom funds and co-

manufactured products driving our future, as we 

participate in a larger segment of the marketplace. 

At BPAS, we prioritize steady and strategic 

growth. While expansion remains a key objective, 

we are equally committed to evolving our business 

while preserving our culture and firm identity. As 

we focus on 2025 and 2026, we remain dedicated 

to the partners, clients and plan participants who 

place their trust in us, while staying true to the 

operating philosophies and strategies that built 

our firm over the decades.

Paul Neveu

President and CEO, 
BPAS

this fourth lane, especially in our VEBA and DB Outsourcing business 

lines. We thrive as a flexible and adaptive player in the middle of the 

marketplace, tailoring our approach to meet the unique needs of each 

client engagement.

TWO ITEMS OF NOTE IN 2024
In February of 2024, we acquired Creative Plan Designs on Long Island, 

which came with approximately 30 professionals in total. In strategically 

integrating this team, we’ve created the Creative Plan Design practice of 

BPAS, which now consists of approximately 70 professionals, offering third 

party administrator, small defined benefit, length of service award programs, 

and other consulting services as an expansion of our services. This team 

extends our reach and influence on retirement plans across the U.S. in a 

third-party administrator and consulting capacity. We also saw something 

interesting in 2024, when changes at other firms drove a significant 

expansion of our ESOP / kSOP business. BPAS has a rare, vertically 

integrated model that provides compelling advantages for an ESOP or kSOP 

– allowing us to be accountable for the entire relationship with a single plan 

consultant handling all sides of the plan. We see our ESOP / kSOP business 

as another large driver of growth in 2025 and beyond. 

THRIVING INSTITUTIONAL TRUST BUSINESS
Through our institutional trust business with offices in Boston and Houston, 

BPAS is a major provider of collective investment funds, common funds, 

LLCs, donor advised funds, endowment and foundation administration, 

synthetic portfolios, and other niche services, in cooperation with custodian 

banks, asset managers, consulting firms and other intermediaries. Our Trust 

business had a solid 2024 fiscal year, generating approximately 44% of 

1  Total Operating Revenues includes segment net interest income plus operating noninterest revenues (total noninterest revenues less securities and debt gains/losses). 
Includes certain intersegment revenues that eliminate upon consolidation.

2  Operating Margin is calculated by total segment adjusted pre-tax income divided by total segment operating revenues. Total segment adjusted pre-tax income is 
calculated by segment net interest income plus operating noninterest revenues less operating noninterest expenses (total noninterest expenses less acquisition 
expenses, amortization of intangible assets and other special charges).  Includes certain intersegment revenues and expenses that eliminate upon consolidation.

Employee Benefit Services

Operating Revenues1   

- - - Operating Margin2
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Investment Profile 

• Consistent business model for over  years

• Committed to successful operating strategy focused on 

low-risk acquisitions, organic growth, and prudent capital 

management

• Strong long-term return to shareholders and long-

standing dividend growth

• Strong fundamentals with consistent asset quality and 

high quality, durable revenues

• Long-term responsible growth focus

Investment Profile
As of December ,  

• . M Shares Outstanding

• . M Shares Held by Institutions

•  Institutional Holders

• Approximately . M Retail Shares

• Approximately . % shares of outstanding are 

Retail Shares 

Ownership Summary 

Buffalo, New York
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Executive Management

DIMITAR A. KARAIVANOV
President and Chief Executive Officer

Joined CBU in 2021 and has previously served as COO. Prior to then, Mr. Karaivanov 

served as Managing Director in Lazard’s Financial Institutions Group.

JOSEPH E. SUTARIS
EVP, Chief Financial Officer

Joined CBU in 2011 following the Company’s acquisition of The Wilber Corporation, where 

he held several roles, including CFO. 

MICHAEL N. ABDO
EVP, General Counsel

Prior to joining CBU in 2013, he served as an associate with Cadwalader Wickersham & 

Taft in its New York City Office, with a focus on commercial and financial litigation.

JEFFREY M. LEVY
SVP, Chief Banking Officer

Mr. Levy joined CBU in 2018 as a Regional Executive. In January 2022, he was promoted 

to Senior Vice President (SVP), President of Commercial Banking, before advancing to his 

current position as Chief Banking Officer. Prior to CBU, he held positions at NBT Bank and 

M&T Bank.

MAUREEN GILLAN-MYER
EVP Chief Administration and Human Resources Officer

Prior to joining CBU in October 2021, Ms. Gillan-Myer served as Senior Executive Vice 

President and Chief Human Resources Officer of HSBC, USA.
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Board Members
ERIC E. STICKELS 
Chairperson of the Board

Retired President, COO and Secretary 
Oneida Financial Corp.
Director Since 2015

RAYMOND C. PECOR, III    
President   
Lake Champlain Transportation Company 

COMMITTEES Risk, Chair; Governance; 
Executive 

Director Since 2017

SAVNEET SINGH    
President and CEO   
PAR Technology Corporation
President   
ParTech, Inc.

Director Since 2024

SUSAN E. SKERRIT    
Lead Director

Retired Chairwoman, CEO and President
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas

COMMITTEES Audit; Compensation  

Director Since 2020

SALLY A. STEELE    
Retired Attorney at Law   

COMMITTEES Trust; Compensation  

Director Since 2003

MICHELE P. SULLIVAN     
Retired Partner   
Crowe LLP 

COMMITTEES Audit; Trust 

Director Since 2024

JOHN F. WHIPPLE, JR.     
CEO   
Buffamante Whipple Buttafaro, P.C.  

COMMITTEES Governance; Chair; Audit; 
Executive 

Director Since 2010

DIMITAR A. KARAIVANOV     
President and CEO   
Community Financial System, Inc. 

Director Since 2024

MARK J. BOLUS  
President and CEO  
Bolus Motor Lines, Inc.

COMMITTEES Compensation, Chair; 
Executive; Trust

Director Since 2010

NEIL E. FESETTE   
Owner, President and CEO   
Fesette Realty, LLC and Fesette 
Property Management

COMMITTEES Executive, Chair; 
Compensation; Audit

Director Since 2010

JEFFERY J. KNAUSS   
Co-Founder and CEO Arcovo AI
Former CEO and Co-Founder   
Digital Hyve

COMMITTEES Compensation; Governance

Director Since 2021

KERRIE D. MACPHERSON   
Retired Senior Partner  
Ernst & Young, LLP

COMMITTEES Audit, Chair; 
Governance; Executive

Director Since 2019

JOHN PARENTE  
CEO  
CP Media, LLC

COMMITTEES Trust, Chair; Executive; 
Governance

Director Since 2010

Note: All bank board members serve on in the Risk Committee



23

Administration 

EXECUTIVE
Dimitar A. Karaivanov, President and Chief Executive Officer 

Joseph E. Sutaris, EVP, Chief Financial Officer 

Maureen Gillan-Myer, EVP, Chief Administration and Human 
Resources Officer 

Michael N. Abdo, EVP, General Counsel 

Jeffrey M. Levy, SVP, Chief Banking Officer 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY & OPERATIONS  
Aaron Friot, SVP, Chief Technology and Operations Officer 

RISK MANAGEMENT   
Daniel L. Bailey, SVP, Chief Risk Officer 

BANKING SERVICES 
Melissa Bollman, Head of Retail Banking

Scott Boser, SVP, Director of Consumer and Mortgage Lending 

Matthew Durkee, Regional President, New England & President of 
Commercial Lending

Barbara Maculloch, Regional President, Pennsylvania

Lindsay Weichert, Regional President, Central New York

Bryant Cassella, Regional President, Eastern New York

Christopher Humphrey, Regional President, Western New York

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT SERVICES
Paul M. Neveu, President and Chief Executive Officer   

INSURANCE SERVICES   
Pierre J. Morrisseau, CIC, President and Chief Executive Officer   

WEALTH MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
Michael Cerminaro, President and Chief Executive Officer   

COMMUNITY BANK, N.A.
PENNSYLVANIA REGIONAL ADVISORY BOARD 
John Basalyga 
Colleen Doyle, Esq. 
John Graham 
Gerard O’Donnell 
William Ruark
Lissa Bryan-Smith
James Shoemaker, Esq.
Tara Mugford Wilson

Burlington, Vermont
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Burlington, Vermont

Community Bank, N.A. Locations
BRANCH AND DRIVE-THRU

ALBANY REGION
Albany

Amsterdam

AuSable Forks

Boiceville

Canajoharie

Champlain

Chateaugay

Chatham

Delmar

East Greenbush

Greenport

Indian Lake

Johnstown

Lake Placid

Latham

Long Lake

Malone (West Main St)

Malone (Elm St)*

North Creek

Plattsburgh (Route 3)

Plattsburgh (Margaret St)

Saranac Lake (Broadway)

Saranac Lake (Lake Flower)*

St Regis Falls

Ticonderoga

Tupper Lake

Valatie

Whitehall

BINGHAMTON REGION 
Canastota

Cato

Cazenovia

Chittenango

Cobleskill

Cooperstown (Otsego)

Delhi

Hamilton

Ithaca (East Buffalo St)

Ithaca (South Meadow St)

Ithaca (Triphammer)

Ithaca (West State St)

Johnson City

Moravia

Nichols

Norwich Town

Oneida (182 Main St)

Oneida (585 Main St)

Oneonta (Chestnut St)

Oneonta (Main St)

Oneonta (Southside)

Sidney

Walton

BUFFALO REGION 
Alfred

Allegany

Belfast

Belmont

Bolivar

Buffalo

Clymer

Cuba

Dunkirk (Central Ave)

Dunkirk (Vineyard Dr)

Falconer

Fillmore

Franklinville

Gowanda

Jamestown

Lakewood

North Collins

Olean (North Union St)

Olean (Delaware Pk)*

Orchard Park

Randolph

Salamanca

Sherman

Silver Creek

Springville

Warsaw

Wellsville (North Highland Ave)

Wellsville (North Main St)

Westfield

Yorkshire

NEW ENGLAND REGION 
Barre 

Bennington

Bradford

Brattleboro

Bristol

Burlington (College St)

Burlington (North Ave)

Enosburg

Essex Junction

Fair Haven

Hardwick 

Hinesburg

Jericho

Johnson 

Manchester

Rutland (Green Mountain Plaza)

Rutland (Woodstock Ave)*

South Burlington (Shelburne Rd)

South Burlington (Williston Rd)

South Hero 

Springfield, MA

Springfield, VT

St Albans 

St Johnsbury

Vergennes

Waterbury 

White River Junction*

Williston

Wilmington

Winooski

PENNSYLVANIA REGION 
Back Mountain

Carbondale*

Clarks Summit

Daleville

Edwardsville*

Freeland

Hazelton (South Church St)

Hazleton (Airport Rd)

Jermyn

Kingston

Laceyville

Lansford 

Lehighton

Meshoppen

Montrose

Olyphant

Pittston

Scranton (Keyser Ave)

Scranton (Minooka)

Scranton (North Washington Ave)

Scranton (Wyoming Ave)

Tunkhannock

Wilkes Barre (South Main St)

Wilkes-Barre (Liberty Plaza)

Wyalusing

ROCHESTER REGION 
Addison

Avon

Bath

Canandaigua

Clifton Springs Plaza

Corning

Dansville

Elmira (Big Flats)

Elmira (East Water St)

Elmira (Southport)

Elmira (West Water St)

Geneseo

Geneva

Hammondsport

Henrietta

Hornell

Horseheads

Livonia

Naples

Newark Plaza

Ovid

Palmyra

Penn Yan (Main St)

Penn Yan (Lake St)*

Phelps

Seneca Falls

Waterloo

Watkins Glen

SYRACUSE REGION 
Adams

Alexandria Bay

Black River

Boonville (Main St)

Boonville (Headwaters Plaza)*

Camden

Canton (Main St)

Canton (Court St)*

Cicero

Clayton

DeWitt

Fulton

Gouverneur

Hannibal

Lowville (State St)

Lowville (Turin Rd)*

Lyons Falls

Madrid

Massena

Ogdensburg

Old Forge

Oswego

Potsdam

Pulaski

Rome

Skaneateles

Star Lake

Syracuse

Vernon

Watertown (Arsenal St)

Watertown (Washington St)

West Carthage

Westmoreland

* Drive-up Only
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Growth Profile

CBU

S&P 600 Commercial Banks Index 

KBW Regional Bank Index 

1 Year

 22.6%

 14.6%

 13.2%

5 Year

 0.2%

 4.4%

 5.5%

10 Year

 7.9%

 7.3%

 7.2%

15 Year

 11.5%

 10.3%

 9.5%

Through December 31, 2024, Including Reinvestment of Dividends
Source: Bloomberg

Total Shareholder Returns  (Annualized)

Closing Price

$61.68
Price/Earnings (TTM)

17.93
Average 3-Month 

Daily Volume

238,033

52 Week High 
Stock Price

$73.39
52 Week Low 
Stock Price

$41.50

Stock Performance   At 12.31.24

Albany, New York
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Corporate and
Shareholder Information 
CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS 
Community Financial System, Inc.
5790 Widewaters Parkway
DeWitt, NY 13214-1883
Phone: 315.445.2282 or 800.724.2262
Fax: 315.445.7347
communityfinancialsystem.com

STOCK LISTING 
CBU  
The common stock symbol of Community Financial System, Inc. 
listing on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)

ANNUAL MEETING
Virtual Meeting on 
Wednesday, May 21, 2025 at 
12:00 p.m. Eastern Daylight Time
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/CBU2025

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRANT OF STOCK
Shareholders requiring a change of name, address or ownership 
of stock, or information about shareholder records, lost or 
stolen certificates, and dividend checks, direct deposit and 
reinvestment should contact:

EQUINITI TRUST COMPANY
P.O. Box 500
Newark, NJ 07101
equiniti.com
General questions: 877.253.6847

INVESTOR INFORMATION 
Investor and shareholder information regarding Community 
Financial System, Inc., including all filings with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission, is available through the company’s 
website: communityfinancialsystem.com.

COPIES MAY ALSO BE OBTAINED WITHOUT 
CHARGE UPON WRITTEN REQUEST TO: 
Ms. Marguerite Geiss
Investor Relations
Community Financial System, Inc.
5790 Widewaters Parkway
DeWitt, NY 13214-1883
315.445.7313
marguerite.geiss@cbna.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  
The Board of Directors appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP 
as auditor for the company for the year ended 
December 31, 2024

ANALYST COVERAGE   
The following analysts published research about Community 
Financial System, Inc. in December 31, 2024:

D.A. DAVIDSON & CO. 
Manuel Navas 
212.223.5405 
mnavas@dadco.com

JANNEY MONTGOMERY SCOTT LLC 
Jake Civiello
207.536.2171 
jciviello@janney.com

KEEFE, BRUYETTE & WOODS, INC. 
Christopher O’Connell 
212.887.4725 
oconnellch@kbw.com 

PIPER SANDLER 
Frank Schiraldi
212.466.7931
Frank.Schiraldi@psc.com

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL INC. 
Steve Moss
202.872.5931
steve.moss@raymondjames.com 

STEPHENS, INC.  
Matthew M. Breese 
401.658.1114 
matt.breese@stephens.com 

INVESTOR’S CHOICE PROGRAM    
CBU offers convenient, low-cost options for investors wishing to 
steadily buy shares. For information, contact:

EQUINITI TRUST COMPANY
P.O .Box 500
Newark, NJ 07101
equiniti.com
General questions: 877.253.6847

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT     
The Community Financial System, Inc. Annual Report contains 
forward-looking statements, within the provisions of the Private 
Security Litigation Reform Act of 1995, that are based on current 
expectations, estimates, and projections about the industry, 
markets and economic environment in which the company 
operates. Such statements involve risks and uncertainties that 
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results 
discussed in these statements. These risks are detailed in 
the company’s periodic reports filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission.
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Part I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results of 
operations and business of Community Financial System, Inc.  These forward-looking statements by their nature address matters 
that involve certain risks and uncertainties.  Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by 
such forward-looking statements are set forth herein under the caption “Forward-Looking Statements.”   

Item 1. Business 

Community Financial System, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on April 15, 1983, under the Delaware General 
Corporation Law.  Its principal office is located at 5790 Widewaters Parkway, DeWitt, New York 13214.  The Company was 
formerly named Community Bank System, Inc. until May 15, 2024.  The Company’s business philosophy is to operate as a 
diversified financial services enterprise providing a broad array of banking and other financial services to retail, commercial, 
institutional and governmental customers.  The Company is a registered financial holding company which wholly-owns two 
significant subsidiaries: Community Bank, N.A. (the “Bank” or “CBNA”), and Benefit Plans Administrative Services, Inc. 
(“BPAS”).  As of December 31, 2024, BPAS owns five subsidiaries: Benefit Plans Administrative Services, LLC (“BPA”), a 
provider of defined contribution plan administration services; Northeast Retirement Services, LLC (“NRS”), a provider of 
institutional transfer agency, master recordkeeping services, fund administration, trust, and retirement plan services; BPAS 
Actuarial & Pension Services, LLC (“BPAS-APS”), a provider of actuarial and benefit consulting services; BPAS Trust Company 
of Puerto Rico, a provider of trust and benefit plan administration services; and Hand Benefits & Trust Company (“HB&T”), a 
provider of collective investment fund administration and institutional trust services. BPA owns one subsidiary, Fringe Benefits 
Design of Minnesota, Inc. (“FBD”), a provider of retirement plan administration and benefit consulting services.  NRS owns one 
subsidiary, Global Trust Company, Inc. (“GTC”), a non-depository trust company which provides fiduciary services for collective 
investment trusts and other products.  HB&T owns one subsidiary, Hand Securities, Inc. (“HSI”), an introducing broker-dealer. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Bank operates 185 full-service branches and 11 drive-thru only locations throughout 42 counties of 
Upstate New York, six counties of Northeastern Pennsylvania, 12 counties of Vermont, and one county of Western 
Massachusetts, offering a range of commercial and retail banking services.  The Bank owns the following operating subsidiaries: 
The Carta Group, Inc. (“Carta Group”), CBNA Preferred Funding Corporation (“PFC”), CBNA Treasury Management 
Corporation (“TMC”), Community Investment Services, Inc. (“CISI”), Nottingham Advisors, Inc. (“Nottingham”), OneGroup 
NY, Inc. (“OneGroup”), OneGroup Wealth Partners, Inc. (“Wealth Partners”) and Oneida Preferred Funding II LLC (“OPFC II”).  
OneGroup is a full-service insurance agency offering personal and commercial lines of insurance and other risk management 
products and services.  PFC and OPFC II primarily act as investors in residential and commercial real estate activities.  TMC 
provides cash management, investment, and treasury services to the Bank.  CISI, Carta Group and Wealth Partners provide 
broker-dealer and investment advisory services.  Nottingham provides asset management services to individuals, corporations, 
corporate pension and profit sharing plans, and foundations.  

The Company maintains a website at cbna.com.  Annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports 
on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, are available on the Company’s website free of charge as soon as reasonably 
practicable after such reports or amendments are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”).  The information posted on the website is not incorporated into or a part of this filing.  Copies of all 
documents filed with the SEC can also be obtained by visiting the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, 
Washington, DC 20549, by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 or by accessing the SEC’s website at https://www.sec.gov. 

Acquisition History (2022-2024) 

2024 – Insurance Agencies 
During 2024, the Company, through its subsidiary OneGroup, completed acquisitions of three insurance agencies headquartered 
in New York and two insurance agencies headquartered in Florida.  Total aggregate consideration for these acquisitions was 
$10.3 million, including $9.6 million in cash and contingent consideration with an estimated fair value of $0.7 million at 
acquisition date.  Net assets acquired were $6.4 million, including $6.8 million of customer list intangible assets and the Company 
recorded goodwill of $3.9 million. 
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2024 – Creative Plan Designs Limited 
On February 1, 2024, the Company, through its subsidiary BPA, completed the acquisition of certain assets of Creative Plan 
Designs Limited (“CPD”), a financial services company that provides employee benefit plan design, administration and 
consulting services.  Total consideration was $5.9 million in cash plus contingent consideration with an estimated fair value of 
$3.0 million at acquisition date.  Net assets acquired were $4.5 million, including $5.5 million of customer list intangible assets, 
and the Company recorded $4.4 million of goodwill in conjunction with the acquisition. 
 
2023 – Axiom Realty Group 
On March 1, 2023, the Company, through its subsidiary CBNA, completed the acquisition of certain assets of Axiom Realty 
Group, which includes Axiom Capital Corp., Axiom Realty Management, LLC and Axiom Realty Advisors, LLC (collectively 
referred to as “Axiom”), a commercial real estate finance and advisory firm, for $1.8 million in cash.  The Company recorded a 
$1.2 million customer list intangible and recognized $0.6 million of goodwill in conjunction with the acquisition. 
 
2023 – Financial Services Companies 
During 2023, the Company, through its subsidiaries OneGroup, Wealth Partners and BPAS, completed the acquisition of certain 
assets of financial services companies.  The acquired companies provide insurance, wealth management and benefit plan 
recordkeeping services and are headquartered in New York, Pennsylvania and Florida.  Total aggregate consideration for these 
acquisitions was $8.2 million, including $6.8 million in cash and $1.4 million in contingent consideration arrangements.  
Aggregate assets acquired were $5.2 million, including $5.0 million of customer list intangible assets, and the Company recorded 
goodwill of $3.0 million. 
 
2022 – Elmira Savings Bank 
On May 13, 2022, the Company completed its merger with Elmira Savings Bank (“Elmira”), a New York State chartered 
savings bank headquartered in Elmira, New York, for $82.2 million in cash.  The merger enhanced the Company’s presence in 
five counties in New York’s Southern Tier and Finger Lakes regions.  In connection with the merger, the Company added 
eight full-service offices to its branch service network and acquired approximately $583.6 million of identifiable assets, 
including $436.8 million of loans, $11.3 million of investment securities and $8.0 million of core deposit intangibles, as well 
as $522.3 million of deposits.  Goodwill of $42.1 million was recognized as a result of the merger. 
 
2022 – Financial Services Companies 
During 2022, the Company, through its subsidiary OneGroup, completed acquisitions of certain assets of insurance agencies for 
an aggregate amount of $3.5 million in cash.  The Company recorded a $2.9 million customer list intangible asset and a $0.1 
million intangible asset for a noncompete agreement and recognized $0.5 million of goodwill in conjunction with the acquisitions. 
 
Services 
 
Banking 
The Bank is a community bank committed to the philosophy of serving the financial needs of customers in local communities.  
The Bank's branches are generally located in smaller towns and cities within its geographic market areas of Upstate New York, 
Northeastern Pennsylvania, Vermont and Western Massachusetts. The Bank is in the process of expanding its branch presence in 
new, more densely populated markets within its geographic footprint including the Albany, Buffalo, Rochester and Syracuse 
regions of New York, the Lehigh Valley region of Pennsylvania and Springfield, Massachusetts.  The expansion will also include 
the Bank’s first physical branch in Southern New Hampshire.  The Company believes that the local character of its business, 
knowledge of the customers and their needs, and its comprehensive retail and business products, together with responsive 
decision-making at the branch and regional levels and its digital banking service offerings, enable the Bank to compete effectively 
in its geographic market.  The Bank is a member of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York and 
the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston (as a non-member bank) (collectively, referred to as “FHLB”), and its deposits are 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to applicable limits. 
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Employee Benefit Services 
Through BPAS and its subsidiaries, the Company operates a national practice that provides employee benefit trust, collective 
investment fund, retirement plan and health savings account administration, fund administration, transfer agency, actuarial, and 
health and welfare consulting services to a diverse array of clients spanning the United States and the Commonwealth of Puerto 
Rico. 
 
Insurance Services 
Through OneGroup, the Company offers personal and commercial lines of insurance and other risk management products and 
services.  In addition, OneGroup offers employee benefit related services.  OneGroup represents many leading and specialty 
insurance companies.  
 
Wealth Management Services 
Through the Bank’s Nottingham Trust division, CISI, Carta Group, Nottingham, and Wealth Partners, the Company provides 
wealth management, retirement planning, higher educational planning, fiduciary, risk management, trust services and personal 
financial planning services.  The Company offers a range of investment products including stocks, bonds, exchange-traded funds, 
mutual funds, insurance and advisory products. 
 
Segment Information 
The Company has identified four reportable operating business segments: Banking and Corporate, Employee Benefit Services, 
Insurance Services and Wealth Management Services.  Information about the Company’s reportable business segments is 
included in Note T of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” filed herewith in Part II. 
 
Competition 
The banking and financial services industry is highly competitive in the New York, Pennsylvania, Vermont, Massachusetts and 
New Hampshire markets.  The Company competes actively for loans, deposits, and financial services relationships with other 
national and state banks, thrift institutions, credit unions, retail brokerage firms, mortgage bankers, finance companies, including, 
financial technology companies, insurance agencies, and other regulated and unregulated providers of financial services.  In order 
to compete with other financial service providers, the Company stresses the community nature of its operations and the 
development of profitable customer relationships across all lines of business. 
 
The Company’s employee benefits, trust and plan administration business competes on a national scale and provides geographic 
diversification for the Company.  Certain lines of business are marketed primarily through unaffiliated financial advisors, while 
others are marketed directly to plan sponsors and fund companies.  In order to compete with large national firms, the Company 
stresses its consultative approach to complex engagements.  
 
The Company has established the Community Connect program, which is a joint initiative between the four operating business 
segments to facilitate cross-selling opportunities and connections with commercial clients between the functional areas of the 
business.  The program intends to provide customers with interconnected solutions and enhance customer retention. 
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Human Capital Resources 
 
The Company’s employees are asked to embody the core values of integrity, excellence, teamwork and humility.  These values 
are what makes the Company’s culture strong.  As of December 31, 2024, the Company had 2,918 total employees, which 
included 2,730 full-time employees and 188 part-time and temporary employees.  Of the Company’s 2,918 employees, 2,079 
are in the Banking and Corporate segment (1,913 full-time employees and 166 part-time and temporary employees), 459 
employees are in the Employee Benefit Services segment (448 full-time employees and 11 part-time and temporary 
employees), 267 are in the Insurance Services segment (256 full-time employees and 11 part-time and temporary employees), 
and 113 employees are in the Wealth Management Services segment (all are full-time employees).  The Company’s employee 
base is concentrated in New York, Pennsylvania and New England where the Bank maintains its retail bank branch presence, 
with approximately 2,115 employees in New York, 279 in Pennsylvania, and 309 in Vermont, Massachusetts and New 
Hampshire.  Approximately 215 of the Company’s employee base is located outside of its retail banking footprint.  
 
The Company considers its relationship with its employees to be strong.  None of the Company’s employees are represented 
by a labor union or are represented by a collective bargaining agreement.  
 
Oversight 
 
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has ultimate responsibility for the strategy of the Company.  The Board’s Compensation 
Committee is responsible for the oversight of executive compensation, company culture, diversity, and employee engagement.  
The Company proactively identifies potential human capital related risks, such as succession planning, labor market shortage, 
increased labor costs, and employee retention strategies to mitigate those risks.  Strong human capital management is viewed 
as integral to the Company's business strategy.  
 
Compensation and Benefits 
 
The success and growth of the Company’s business is largely dependent on its ability to attract, develop, and retain a 
population of skilled and high-performing employees with varied backgrounds and skill sets at all levels of the organization.  
Accordingly, the Company’s compensation philosophy includes elements that reinforce the Company’s core values, reward 
employees for their achievements and maximize continued performance with long-term retention.  The Company employs 
benchmarking measures to ensure employees are paid fairly based on their job and performance.  The Company conducts 
workforce planning sessions periodically across all business areas to ensure market competitive pay for employees and actions 
to support commitment to the professional development of employees.  
 
Growth and Development 
 
The Company continues to broaden the scope of its talent development initiatives across its widening geographically diverse 
footprint in order to sustain a value-driven and growth-oriented environment where employees can perform at their peak and 
the next generation of leaders are prepared to lead.  The Company offers a wide range of learning and development programs, 
both internally and externally, that support a broad scope of the Company’s talent development initiatives making continuous 
learning a part of each employee’s relationship with the Company in a growth-oriented environment.  In addition to learning 
and development programs, in 2024 the Company continued its performance management review process to provide enhanced 
tools and encourage ongoing and more frequent feedback.  These dialogues are intended to achieve higher performance, 
engagement and commitment, improving outcomes and productivity.  
 
Culture and Attracting a Talented Workforce 
 
The Company is committed to fostering an inclusive environment where there is a sense of purpose, belonging, and work 
ownership driven by the Company’s core values and service to customers.  The Company aspires to empower its workforce to 
achieve their full potential and enable the development of job-related skills and personal growth in a culture that prioritizes 
employees’ wellbeing and fosters inclusivity.  Employees feel safe to share ideas, receive support, and take risks without the fear 
of judgment or retaliation.  In 2023, the Company introduced the Culture & Diversity Strategic Pillars and initiatives.   These 
strategic pillars support the Company’s commitment to knowing, respecting, and leveraging each person’s unique talents, which 
in turn drives impact within the organization.   
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The goal of the Company’s recruitment efforts is to provide fair opportunity to all and to build a positive reputation internally 
and externally.  To that end, leaders across the businesses and the Company’s human resource professionals have increased 
shared responsibility in recruitment and selection processes.  In 2024, the Company continued to engage in partnership 
opportunities and provided resources in support of employment opportunities for Military and Veteran Military families.  The 
Company also continued its partnership with organizations that expanded its sourcing efforts and helped to identify a more 
diverse slate of candidates for employment.    
 
Engagement 
 
The Company is committed to creating a top-tier workplace filled with highly satisfied and engaged employees.  The Company 
believes that open and honest communication among employees, managers and executive leadership fosters an open and 
collaborative work environment where everyone can participate, develop, and thrive.  In 2021, the Company launched the first 
company-wide employee engagement survey called “MyVoice”, in partnership with a global analytics and advisory firm.   The 
Company continues to conduct a survey annually to maintain a feedback loop with employees.  In 2023, the Company selected 
Engagement Champions whose role is to support leaders and managers in the ongoing engagement efforts and initiatives.   In 
2024, the CEO instituted a CFSI company-wide employee townhall to enhance communication and transparency relative to the 
Company’s strategy and priorities.  The townhall included a Q&A segment where the CEO answered questions on a variety of 
topics.  The intent is to conduct these townhalls twice a year. 
 
Health and Safety 
 
The health and safety of the Company’s employees is of utmost importance.  The Company is committed to providing tools 
and resources to support employees’ overall health and wellbeing.  This includes offering a variety of health and welfare 
benefits as well as a holistic wellbeing program. 
 
Supervision and Regulation 
 
General 
 
The banking industry is highly regulated with numerous statutory and regulatory requirements that are designed primarily for the 
protection of depositors and the financial system.  Set forth below is a description of the material laws and regulations applicable 
to the Company and the Bank.  This summary is not complete and the reader should refer to these laws and regulations for more 
detailed information.  The Company’s and its subsidiaries’ failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could result in a 
range of sanctions and administrative actions imposed upon the Company and/or its subsidiaries, including restrictions on merger 
and acquisition activity, the imposition of civil money penalties, formal agreements and cease and desist orders.  New laws and 
regulations, more complex regulations, and changes in regulators’ interpretations and application of existing laws and regulations 
cannot be predicted and may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s businesses and results.  
 
The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to the laws and regulations of the federal government and, where applicable, the 
states and jurisdictions in which they conduct business.  The Company, as a financial holding company, is subject to extensive 
regulation and supervision by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (“FRB”) as its primary federal regulator.  
The Bank is a nationally-chartered bank and is subject to extensive regulation and supervision by the Office of the Comptroller of 
the Currency (“OCC”) as its primary federal regulator, and as to certain matters, the FRB, the Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau (“CFPB”), and the FDIC.  The Company expects the Trump administration will seek to implement a regulatory reform 
agenda that is significantly different from that of the Biden administration, impacting the rulemaking, supervision, examination 
and enforcement priorities of the federal banking agencies. 
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The Company is also subject to the jurisdiction of the SEC and is subject to disclosure and regulatory requirements under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  The Company’s common stock is 
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and it is subject to NYSE’s rules for listed companies.  Affiliated entities, 
including BPAS, BPA, NRS, GTC, HB&T, HSI, BPAS Trust Company of Puerto Rico, FBD, Nottingham, CISI, OneGroup, 
Carta Group, and Wealth Partners are subject to the jurisdiction of certain state and federal regulators and self-regulatory 
organizations including, but not limited to, the SEC, the Texas Department of Banking, the State of Maine Bureau of Financial 
Institutions, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”), Puerto Rico Office of the Commissioner of Financial 
Institutions, the U.S. Department of Labor, and state securities and insurance regulators. 
 
Federal Bank Holding Company Regulation 
 
As the Company is classified as a financial holding company, the Company can affiliate with securities firms and insurance 
companies and engage in other activities that are “financial in nature” or “incidental” or “complementary” to activities that are 
financial in nature, as long as it continues to meet the eligibility requirements for financial holding companies (including 
requirements that the financial holding company and its depository institution subsidiary maintain their status as “well 
capitalized” and “well managed”).   
 
Generally, FRB approval is not required for the Company to acquire a company (other than a bank holding company, bank or 
savings association) engaged in activities that are financial in nature or incidental to activities that are financial in nature, as 
determined by the FRB.  Prior notice to the FRB may be required, however, if the company to be acquired has total 
consolidated assets of $10 billion or more.  Prior FRB approval is required before the Company may acquire the beneficial 
ownership or control of more than 5% of the voting shares or substantially all of the assets of a bank holding company, bank or 
savings association. 
 
As the Company is a financial holding company, if the Bank were to not maintain a Satisfactory or better rating under the 
Community Reinvestment Act of 1977, as amended (“CRA”), the Company would be prohibited, until the rating is raised to 
Satisfactory or better, from engaging in new activities or acquiring companies other than bank holding companies, banks or 
savings associations, except that the Company could engage in new activities, or acquire companies engaged in activities, that 
are considered “closely related to banking” under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, (the “BHC Act”).  The Bank’s 
most recent CRA rating was “Satisfactory”.  In addition, if the FRB determines that the Company or the Bank is not well 
capitalized or well managed, the Company would be required to enter into an agreement with the FRB to comply with all 
applicable capital and management requirements and may contain additional limitations or conditions.  Until corrected, the 
Company could be prohibited from engaging in any new activity or acquiring companies engaged in activities that are not 
closely related to banking, absent prior FRB approval.   
 
Federal Reserve System Regulation 
 
As the Company is a financial holding company, it is subject to regulatory capital requirements.  The Bank is under similar capital 
requirements administered by the OCC as discussed below.  FRB policy has historically required a financial holding company to 
act as a source of financial and managerial strength to its subsidiary banks.  The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 
Protection Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) codifies this historical policy as a statutory requirement.  To the extent the Bank 
is in need of regulatory capital, the Company would be expected to provide additional capital, including borrowings from the FRB 
for such purpose.  Both the Company and the Bank are subject to extensive supervision and regulation, which focus on, among 
other things, the protection of depositors’ funds.  
 
The FRB also regulates the national supply of bank credit in order to influence general economic conditions.  These policies have 
a significant influence on overall growth and distribution of loans, investments and deposits, and affect the interest rates charged 
on loans or paid for deposits. 
 
Fluctuations in interest rates, which may result from government fiscal policies and the monetary policies of the FRB, have a 
strong impact on the income derived from loans and securities, and interest paid on deposits and borrowings.  While the Company 
and the Bank strive to model various interest rate changes and adjust its strategies for such changes, the level of earnings can be 
materially affected by economic circumstances beyond its control.  
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The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency Regulation (“OCC”) 
 
The Bank is supervised by the OCC.  OCC supervision consists of multiple examinations of the Bank’s activities over the course 
of its annual supervisory cycle.  The various laws and regulations administered by the OCC affect the Company’s practices such 
as payment of dividends, incurring debt, and acquisition of financial institutions and other companies.  It also affects the Bank’s 
business practices, such as payment of interest on deposits, the charging of interest on loans, types of business conducted and the 
location of its offices.  The OCC generally prohibits a depository institution from making any capital distributions, including the 
payment of a dividend, or paying any management fee to its parent holding company if the depository institution would become 
undercapitalized due to the payment.  Undercapitalized institutions are subject to growth limitations and are required to submit a 
capital restoration plan to the OCC.  The OCC may take enforcement actions for a variety of supervisory concerns, including 
violations of laws, rules or regulations and unsafe and unsound practices.  As a result, the OCC could also establish individual 
minimum capital ratios (“IMCR”) for the Bank that are higher than the regulatory minimums.  This would impair the Bank’s 
ability to pay dividends to the Company.  The Bank is well capitalized under regulatory standards administered by the OCC.  For 
additional information on the Company’s capital requirements see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations – Shareholders’ Equity and Regulatory Capital” and Note O to the Financial Statements. 
 
Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) 
 
The Bank is a member of the FHLB, which provides a central credit facility primarily for member institutions for home mortgage 
and neighborhood lending.  The Bank is subject to certain rules and requirements as a member institution of the FHLB, including 
the purchase of shares of FHLB activity-based stock in the amount of 4.5% of the dollar amount of outstanding advances and 
FHLB capital stock in an amount equal to the greater of $1,000 or the sum of 0.15% of the mortgage-related assets held by the 
Bank based upon the previous year-end financial information.  The Bank was in compliance with the rules and requirements of 
the FHLB at December 31, 2024. 
 
Deposit Insurance 
 
Deposits of the Bank are insured up to the applicable limits by the Deposit Insurance Fund (“DIF”) and are subject to deposit 
insurance assessments to maintain the DIF.  The Dodd-Frank Act permanently increased the maximum amount of deposit 
insurance to $250,000 per deposit category, per depositor, per institution.  A depository institution’s DIF assessment is calculated 
by multiplying its assessment rate by the assessment base, which is defined as the average consolidated total assets less the 
average tangible equity of the depository institution.  The Bank’s deposit insurance assessment is based on a large institution 
classification.  For large insured depository institutions, generally defined as those with at least $10 billion in total assets, the 
FDIC uses capital and supervisory ratings (“CAMELS”) and financial measures from two scorecards to calculate assessment 
rates.  Each scorecard has two components - a performance score and loss severity score, which are combined and converted to an 
initial assessment rate.  The FDIC has the ability to adjust a large or highly complex insured depository institution’s total score by 
a maximum of 15 points, up or down, based upon significant risk factors that are not captured by the scorecard. Under the 
assessment rate schedule effective for 2024, the initial base assessment rate for large and highly complex insured depository 
institutions ranges from five to 32 basis points, and the total base assessment rate, after applying the unsecured debt and brokered 
deposit adjustments, ranges from two and one-half to 42 basis points.  The Bank’s FDIC insurance for 2024 was based on 
assessment rates ranging between five and seven basis points compared to assessment rates ranging between five and six basis 
points for 2023.   
 
On November 16, 2023, the FDIC issued a final rule to implement a special assessment to recover the loss to the DIF associated 
with protecting uninsured depositors following the closures of certain banks in the first quarter of 2023.  As of December 31, 
2024, the special assessment is anticipated to be collected over ten quarterly assessment periods that began in 2024 at an annual 
rate of approximately 13.4 basis points of uninsured deposits that exceeded $5 billion as of December 31, 2022 for the first eight 
quarterly assessment periods, and an annual rate of approximately 6.8 basis points of uninsured deposits that exceeded $5 billion 
as of December 31, 2022 for the last two quarterly assessment periods.  As the estimated loss to the DIF will be periodically 
adjusted the FDIC could cease collection early, if the FDIC has collected enough to recover actual or estimated losses, extend the 
special assessment collection period one or more quarters beyond the initial collection period, if actual or estimated losses exceed 
the amounts collected, and impose a final shortfall special assessment on a one-time basis after certain receiverships terminate, if 
actual losses exceed the amounts collected.  The Company recorded a $0.2 million and a $1.5 million expense accrual associated 
with this special assessment in 2024 and 2023, respectively.  Excluding the expense accruals associated with the special 
assessment, FDIC insurance expense in 2024 totaled $8.9 million, compared to $8.0 million in 2023 and $5.5 million in 2022. 
 
  



10 
 

Under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (“FDIA”), if the FDIC finds that an institution has engaged in unsafe and unsound 
practices, is in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations, or has violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, order or 
condition imposed by the FDIC, the FDIC may determine that such violation or unsafe or unsound practice or condition require 
the termination of deposit insurance. 
 
The FDIA requires federal bank regulatory agencies to prescribe, by regulation or guideline, operational and managerial standards 
for all insured depository institutions that relate to, among other things: (i) internal controls, information systems and audit 
systems; (ii) loan documentation; (iii) credit underwriting; (iv) interest rate exposure; (v) asset growth and quality; and (vi) 
compensation and benefits.  Federal banking agencies have adopted regulations and Interagency Guidelines Prescribing Standards 
for Safety and Soundness to implement these requirements, which regulators use to identify and address problems at insured 
depository institutions before capital becomes impaired.  If a regulator determines that a bank fails to meet any standards 
prescribed by the guidelines, the bank may be required to submit an acceptable plan to achieve compliance and agree to specific 
deadlines for the submission to and review by the regulator of reports confirming progress in implementing the safety and 
soundness compliance plan.  Failure to implement such a plan may result in an enforcement action against the bank. 
 
Enforcement actions against the Company, the Bank and their respective officers and directors may include the issuance of a 
written directive, the issuance of a cease-and-desist order that can be judicially enforced, the imposition of civil money penalties, 
the issuance of directives to increase capital, the issuance of formal and informal agreements, the issuance of removal and 
prohibition orders against officers or other institution-affiliated parties, the imposition of restrictions and sanctions under prompt 
corrective action regulations, the termination of deposit insurance (in the case of the Bank) and the appointment of a conservator 
or receiver for the Bank. Civil money penalties can be over $2 million for each day a violation continues. 
 
Transactions with Affiliates and Insiders 
 
The Bank is subject to Section 23A of the Federal Reserve Act, as amended (the "FRA") which places limits on, among other 
covered transactions, the amount of loans or extensions of credit to affiliates that may be made by the Bank.  Extensions of credit 
to affiliates must be adequately collateralized by specified amounts and types of collateral.  Section 23A also limits the amount of 
loans or advances made by the Bank to third party borrowers that are collateralized by securities or obligations of the Bank's 
affiliates.  The Bank is also subject to Section 23B of the FRA, which, among other things, prohibits an institution from engaging 
in transactions with affiliates unless the transactions are on terms substantially the same, or at least as favorable to such institution 
or its subsidiaries, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with non-affiliates. 
 
The Company is subject to restrictions on extensions of credit to insiders (namely executive officers, directors, and 10% 
stockholders) and their related interests.  These restrictions are contained in the FRA and Federal Reserve Regulation O and apply 
to all insured depository institutions as well as their subsidiaries and holding companies.  These restrictions include limits on 
loans to any individual insider and such insider's related interests and certain conditions that must be met before such loans can be 
made.  There is also an aggregate limitation on all loans to insiders and their related interests, which cannot exceed the 
institution's total unimpaired capital and surplus, unless the FDIC determines that a lesser amount is appropriate.  Insiders are 
subject to enforcement actions for knowingly accepting loans in violation of applicable restrictions. 
 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 
 
On July 21, 2010, the Dodd-Frank Act was signed into law, which resulted in significant changes to the banking industry.  The 
Dodd-Frank Act contains numerous provisions that affect all banks and bank holding companies and impacts how the Company 
and the Bank handle their operations.  The Dodd-Frank Act requires various federal agencies, including those that regulate the 
Company and the Bank, to promulgate rules and regulations and to conduct various studies and reports for Congress.  The federal 
agencies have either completed or are in the process of completing these rules and regulations and have been given significant 
discretion in drafting such rules and regulations.  Several of the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act have the consequence of 
increasing the Bank’s expenses, decreasing its revenues, and changing the activities in which it chooses to engage.  The specific 
impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on the Company’s current activities or new financial activities the Company may consider in the 
future, the Company’s financial performance, and the markets in which the Company operates depends on the manner in which 
the relevant agencies continue to develop and implement the required rules and regulations and the reaction of market participants 
to these regulatory developments. 
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Pursuant to FRB regulations mandated by the Dodd-Frank Act, interchange fees on debit card transactions are limited to a 
maximum of $0.21 per transaction plus 5 basis points of the transaction amount.  A debit card issuer may recover an additional 
one cent per transaction for fraud prevention purposes if the issuer complies with certain fraud-related requirements prescribed by 
the FRB.  The FRB also adopted requirements in the final rule that issuers include two unaffiliated networks for routing debit 
transactions that are applicable to the Company and the Bank.  On October 25, 2023, the FRB proposed to lower the maximum 
interchange fee that a large debit card issuer can receive for a debit card transaction.  The proposal would also establish a regular 
process for updating the maximum amount every other year going forward.  The Company continues to monitor the development 
of these proposed rule revisions. 
 
The Dodd-Frank Act established the CFPB and empowered it to exercise broad rulemaking, supervision, and enforcement 
authority for a wide range of consumer protection laws.  Because the Bank’s total consolidated assets exceed $10 billion, the 
Bank is subject to the direct supervision of the CFPB.  The CFPB has issued numerous regulations and amendments under which 
the Company and the Bank may continue to incur additional expense in connection with its ongoing compliance obligations.  
Significant recent CFPB developments that may affect operations and compliance costs include: 
 

 continued focus on fair lending, including promoting racial and economic equity for underserved, vulnerable and 
marginalized communities; 

 focused efforts on enforcing certain compliance obligations the CFPB deems a priority, such as automobile loan 
servicing, debt collection, deposit, overdraft and other services fees, mortgage origination and servicing, and 
remittances, among others; and 

 rulemaking plans concerning, among others, overdrafts, consumers’ access to their financial information and 
requirements for financial institutions to collect, and publicly report, certain demographic information concerning some 
business credit applicants, loan approvals, and denials. 

 
The CFPB has broad powers to supervise and enforce consumer protection laws, including laws that apply to banks in order to 
prohibit unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices (“UDAAP”).  The Dodd-Frank Act also clarified the federal preemption 
rules that are applicable to national banks and gives state attorney generals for the states certain powers to enforce federal 
consumer protection laws.  A violation of the consumer protection and privacy laws, and in particular UDAAP, could have 
serious legal, financial, and reputational consequences. 
 
The CFPB, FRB, and OCC are also authorized to collect fines and provide consumer restitution in the event of violations, engage 
in consumer financial education, track consumer complaints, request data and promote the availability of financial services to 
underserved consumers and communities.  The CFPB is authorized to pursue administrative proceedings or litigation for 
violations of federal consumer financial laws.  In these proceedings, the CFPB can obtain cease and desist orders (which can 
include orders for restitution or rescission of contracts, as well as other kinds of affirmative relief) and monetary penalties.  
 
The final rules issued by the FRB, SEC, OCC, FDIC, and Commodity Futures Trading Commission implementing Section 619 of 
the Dodd-Frank Act (commonly known as the Volcker Rule) prohibit insured depository institutions and companies affiliated 
with insured depository institutions from (1) engaging in short-term proprietary trading of certain securities, derivatives, 
commodity futures and options on these instruments, for their own account and (2) sponsoring certain covered funds, subject to 
certain limited exceptions.  The final rules of the Volcker Rule are not material to the Company’s investing and trading activities. 
 
The Dodd-Frank Act requires U.S. financial regulators, including the FRB and the SEC, to adopt rules on incentive-based 
payment arrangements at specified regulated entities having at least $1 billion in total assets.  In 2016, the federal banking 
regulators, the SEC, the Federal Housing Finance Agency and the National Credit Union Administration proposed revised rules 
on incentive-based compensation practices, which have not yet been finalized.  If these or other regulations are adopted in a form 
similar to what has been proposed, they will impose limitations on the manner in which the Company may structure compensation 
for its employees, which could adversely affect the Company’s ability to hire, retain and motivate key employees. 
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The ongoing effects of the Dodd-Frank Act, as well as the recent and possible future changes to the regulatory framework as a 
result of the Economic Growth Act and future proposals make it difficult to assess the overall financial impact of the Dodd-Frank 
Act and related regulatory developments on the Company and the banking industry.  As a result, the Company cannot predict the 
ultimate impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on the Company or the Bank, including the extent to which it could increase costs or limit 
the Company’s ability to pursue business opportunities in an efficient manner, or otherwise adversely affect its business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  Nor can the Company predict the impact or substance of other future legislation or regulation.  
However, it is expected that future legislation or regulation at a minimum will increase the Company’s and the Bank’s operating 
and compliance costs.  As rules and regulations continue to be implemented or issued, the Company may need to dedicate 
additional resources to ensure compliance, which may increase its costs of operations and adversely impact the Company’s 
earnings. 
 
Capital Requirements 
The Company and the Bank are required to comply with applicable capital adequacy standards established by the federal banking 
agencies (the “Capital Rules”) which are based on the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s (the “Basel Committee”) 2010 
final capital framework for strengthening international capital standards, referred to as “Basel III”. 
 
The Capital Rules, among other things, impose a capital measure called “Common Equity Tier 1,” (“CET1”) to which most 
deductions/adjustments to regulatory capital measures are to be made.  In addition, the Capital Rules specify that Tier 1 capital 
consists of CET1 and “Additional Tier 1 capital” instruments meeting certain specified requirements. 
 
Under the Capital Rules, the minimum capital ratios are as follows: 
 

 4.5% CET1 to total risk-weighted assets; 
 6.0% Tier 1 capital (CET1 plus Additional Tier 1 capital) to total risk-weighted assets; 
 8.0% Total capital (Tier 1 Capital plus Tier 2 capital) to total risk-weighted assets; 
 4.0% Tier 1 capital to total adjusted quarterly average assets (known as “leverage ratio”) 

 
The Capital Rules require the Company and the Bank to maintain a “capital conservation buffer” composed entirely of CET1.  
Banking organizations are required to maintain a minimum capital conservation buffer of 2.5% (CET1 to total risk-weighted 
assets), in addition to the minimum risk-based capital ratios.  Therefore, to satisfy both the minimum risk-based capital ratios and 
the capital conservation buffer, a banking organization is required to maintain the following: (i) CET1 to total risk-weighted 
assets of at least 7%, (ii) Tier 1 capital to total risk-weighted assets of at least 8.5%, and (iii) Total capital (Tier 1 capital plus Tier 
2 capital) to total risk-weighted assets of at least 10.5%. The capital conservation buffer is designed to absorb losses during 
periods of economic stress.  Banking institutions that do not maintain a capital conservation buffer of 2.5% or more will face 
constraints on dividends, common share repurchases and incentive compensation based on the amount of the shortfall.  
 
The Capital Rules provide for a number of deductions from and adjustments to CET1. These include, for example, the 
requirement that mortgage servicing rights, deferred tax assets dependent upon future taxable income and significant investments 
in non-consolidated financial entities be deducted from CET1 to the extent that any one such category exceeds 10% of CET1 or 
all such categories in the aggregate exceed 15% of CET1.  Under the Capital Rules, the effects of certain accumulated other 
comprehensive income or loss items are not excluded for the purposes of determining regulatory capital; however, banks not 
using the advanced approach, including the Company and the Bank, were permitted to, and in the case of the Company and the 
Bank did, make a one-time permanent election to continue to exclude these items. 
 
With respect to the Bank, the Capital Rules also revised the prompt corrective action (“PCA”) regulations established pursuant to 
Section 38 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, establishing the CET1 ratio at 6.5% for well-capitalized status and the Tier 1 
capital ratio at 8.0% for well-capitalized status.  The Capital Rules do not change the total risk-based PCA capital requirement for 
any capital category. 
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The Capital Rules prescribe a standardized approach for risk weighted-assets that expands the risk-weight categories from the 
four Basel I-derived categories (0%, 20%, 50% and 100%) to a larger and more risk-sensitive number of categories, depending on 
the nature of the asset.  The risk-weight categories generally range from 0% for U.S. government and agency securities, to 
1,250% for certain securitized exposures, and result in higher risk weights for a variety of asset categories.  The standardized 
approach requires financial institutions to transition assets that are 90 days or more past due or on nonaccrual from their original 
risk weight to 150 percent.  Additionally, loans designated as high volatility commercial real estate (“HVCRE”) are assigned a 
risk-weighting of 150 percent.   
 
Requirements to maintain higher levels of capital or to maintain higher levels of liquid assets could adversely impact the 
Company's net income and return on equity. The current requirements and the Company's actual capital levels are detailed in Note 
O of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” filed in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 
 
Consumer Protection Laws 
 
In connection with its banking activities, the Bank is subject to a number of federal and state laws designed to protect consumers 
and promote lending to various sectors of the economy.  These laws include but are not limited to the Equal Credit Opportunity 
Act, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (“GLB Act”), the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), the Fair and Accurate Credit 
Transactions Act of 2003 (“FACT Act”), the Electronic Funds Transfer Act, the Truth in Lending Act, the Home Mortgage 
Disclosure Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, the Secure and Fair Enforcement for Mortgage 
Licensing Act (“SAFE”), the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (“SCRA”), the Military Lending Act (“MLA”), and various state 
law counterparts. These laws and regulations mandate certain disclosure requirements and regulate the manner in which financial 
institutions must interact with clients when taking deposits, making loans, collecting and servicing loans and providing other 
services. The Company is subject to regulation by the CFPB, which is responsible for promoting fairness and transparency for 
mortgages, credit cards, deposit accounts and other consumer financial products and services and for interpreting and enforcing 
the federal consumer financial laws that govern the provision of such products and services.  The CFPB is also authorized to 
prevent any institution under its authority from engaging in an unfair, deceptive, or abusive act or practice in connection with 
consumer financial products and services.  
 
The GLB Act requires all financial institutions to adopt privacy policies, restrict the sharing of nonpublic customer data with 
nonaffiliated parties and establish procedures and practices to protect customer data from unauthorized access.  The GLB Act also 
requires certain disclosures to consumers about information collection, sharing, and security practices and their right to “opt out” 
of the institution’s disclosure of their personal financial information to non-affiliated third-parties (with certain exceptions). In 
addition, the FCRA, as amended by the FACT Act, includes provisions affecting the Company, the Bank, and their affiliates, 
including provisions concerning obtaining consumer reports, furnishing information to consumer reporting agencies, maintaining 
a program to prevent identity theft, sharing of certain information among affiliated companies, and other provisions.  The FACT 
Act requires persons subject to FCRA to notify their customers if they report negative information about them to a credit bureau 
or if they are granted credit on terms less favorable than those generally available.  The FRB and the Federal Trade Commission 
have extensive rulemaking authority under the FACT Act, and the Company and the Bank are subject to the rules that have been 
created under the FACT Act, including rules regarding limitations on affiliate marketing and implementation of programs to 
identify, detect and mitigate certain identity theft red flags.  The SCRA protects persons called to active military service and their 
dependents from undue hardship resulting from their military service, and the MLA extends specific protections if an 
accountholder, at the time of account opening, is a covered active duty member of the military or certain family members thereof.  
The SCRA applies to all debts incurred prior to the commencement of active duty and limits the amount of interest, including 
service and renewal charges and any other fees or charges (other than bona fide insurance) that are related to the obligation or 
liability.  The MLA applies to certain consumer loans and extends specific protections if an accountholder, at the time of account 
opening, is a covered active duty member of the military or certain family members thereof.  The Company and the Bank are also 
subject to data security standards and data breach notice requirements issued by various states, the OCC and other regulatory 
agencies.  The Bank has created policies and procedures to comply with these consumer protection requirements.  
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The CFPB has implemented the ability-to-repay and qualified mortgage (QM) provisions of the Truth in Lending Act (the “QM 
Rule”) and has taken steps to modify the QM Rule.  The ability-to-repay provision requires creditors to make reasonable, good 
faith determinations that borrowers are able to repay their mortgages before extending credit based on a number of factors and 
consideration of financial information about the borrower derived from reasonably reliable third-party documents. Under the 
Dodd-Frank Act and the QM Rule, loans meeting the definition of “qualified mortgage” are entitled to a presumption that the 
lender satisfied the ability-to-repay requirements.  The presumption is a conclusive presumption/safe harbor for loans meeting the 
QM requirements, and a rebuttable presumption for higher-priced loans meeting the QM requirements.  The Bank has created 
policies and procedures to comply with these consumer protection requirements and continues to monitor developments relative 
to future changes to the QM Rule.  
 
Among other provisions, the federal banking rule under the Electronic Fund Transfer Act prohibits financial institutions from 
charging consumers fees for paying overdrafts on automated teller machines and one-time debit card transactions, unless a 
consumer consents, or opts in, to the overdraft service for those types of transactions.  The rule does not govern overdraft fees on 
the payment of checks and certain other forms of bill payments. 
 
In May 2024, the SEC finalized amendments to require broker-dealers, investment companies and investment advisers registered 
with the SEC to adopt written policies and procedures for incident response programs to address unauthorized access to or use of 
customer information.  The amendments also require covered entities to notify, within 30 days, individuals affected by an incident 
involving sensitive customer information and provide them with details about the incident and other information intended to help 
affected individuals respond appropriately.  Compliance with these amendments may begin on December 3, 2025. 
 
In October 2024, the CFPB issued a rule aimed to enhance consumer control and competition in financial services requiring banks 
and payment providers to give consumers free access to certain financial data upon request.  With consumer authorization, they 
must also share this data with third parties via secure interfaces to facilitate financial services.  Required data includes transaction 
information, account balance, account and routing numbers, terms and conditions, upcoming bill information, and certain account 
verification data.  The rule may take effect on April 1, 2027, however the compliance timeline is subject to change due to the 
outcome of pending litigation challenging the rule. While the impact of the rule will depend upon a number of factors, including 
consumer behavior and the actions of data providers and recipients, open banking initiatives like this final rule have the potential 
to change the competitive landscape, presenting challenges to the Company’s business model. 
 
In December 2024, the CFPB amended the rules implementing the Truth in Lending Act.  The new regulation expanded the 
application of the regulation to consumer transaction account overdrafts at financial institutions with over $10 billion in assets.  
Overdraft fees must align with actual costs or a $5 benchmark; otherwise, they qualify as covered credit, requiring clear 
disclosures of borrowing costs and interest rates.  Covered overdraft credits must be in a separate credit account rather than as a 
negative checking balance.  The rule may take effect on October 1, 2025.  
 
The Bank Secrecy Act  
 
The Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”) requires all financial institutions, including banks and securities broker-dealers, to, among other 
things, establish a risk-based system of internal controls reasonably designed to prevent money laundering and the financing of 
terrorism.  The BSA includes a variety of recordkeeping and reporting requirements (such as currency transaction and suspicious 
activity reporting), as well as due diligence/know-your-customer documentation requirements.  The Company has established a 
BSA/anti-money laundering program and taken other appropriate measures in order to comply with BSA requirements. 
 
Anti-Money Laundering Act of 2020 
 
The Anti-Money Laundering Act of 2020 (“AMLA”) amends the BSA and was enacted in January 2021.  The AMLA was 
intended to reform and modernize U.S. bank secrecy and anti-money laundering laws.  The Company has and will continue to 
review and monitor its anti-money laundering program to ensure it complies with the provisions of the AMLA. 
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In July 2024, the federal banking agencies, including the Federal Reserve and OCC, proposed amendments to update the 
requirements for supervised institutions to establish, implement and maintain effective, risk-based and reasonably designed AML 
and countering the financing of terrorism ("CFT") programs.  The proposed amendments would require supervised institutions to 
identify, evaluate and document the regulated institution's money laundering, terrorist financing and other illicit finance activity 
risks, as well as consider, as appropriate, the U.S. Department of the Treasury's Financial Crimes Enforcement Network's 
("FinCEN") published national AML/CFT priorities. 
 
In August 2024, the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”), which drafts regulations implementing anti-money 
laundering legislation, adopted a rule extending anti-money laundering obligations, including maintenance of an anti-money 
laundering program and filing certain reports with FinCEN, to registered investment advisers, like certain of the Company’s 
subsidiaries.  Compliance with these requirements may begin on January 1, 2026. 
 
USA Patriot Act 
 
The Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 
2001 (“USA Patriot Act”) imposes obligations on U.S. financial institutions, including banks and broker-dealer subsidiaries, to 
implement policies, procedures and controls which are reasonably designed to detect and report instances of money laundering 
and the financing of terrorism.  In addition, provisions of the USA Patriot Act require the federal financial institution regulatory 
agencies to consider the effectiveness of a financial institution’s anti-money laundering activities when reviewing bank mergers 
and bank holding company acquisitions.  The USA Patriot Act also encourages information-sharing among financial institutions, 
regulators, and law enforcement authorities by providing an exemption from the privacy provisions of the GLB Act for financial 
institutions that comply with the provision of the Act.  Failure of a financial institution to maintain and implement adequate 
programs to combat money laundering and terrorist financing, or to comply with all of the relevant laws or regulations, could 
have serious legal, financial and reputational consequences for the institution.  The Company has approved policies and 
procedures that are designed to comply with the USA Patriot Act and its regulations.  
 
Office of Foreign Assets Control Regulation  
 
The United States has imposed economic sanctions that affect transactions with designated foreign countries, nationals and others 
administrated by the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”).  The OFAC administered sanctions can take many 
different forms; however, they generally contain one or more of the following elements: (i) restrictions on trade with or 
investment in a sanctioned country, entity or individual, including prohibitions against direct or indirect imports and exports and 
prohibitions on “U.S. persons” engaging in financial transactions relating to making investments, or providing investment related 
advice or assistance; and (ii) a blocking of assets in which the government or specially designated nationals have an interest, by 
prohibiting transfers of property subject to U.S. jurisdiction (including property in the possession or control of U.S. persons).  
Blocked assets (e.g., property and bank deposits) cannot be paid out, withdrawn, set off or transferred in any manner without a 
license from OFAC.  Failure to comply with these sanctions could have serious legal, financial, and reputational consequences.  
The Company has approved policies and procedures that are designed to comply with OFAC and its regulations. 
 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) implemented a broad range of corporate governance, accounting and 
reporting reforms for companies that have securities registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  In 
particular, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act established, among other things: (i) requirements for audit and other key Board of Directors 
committees involving independence, expertise levels, and specified responsibilities; (ii) responsibilities regarding the oversight of 
financial statements by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the reporting company; (iii) an independent 
accounting oversight board for the accounting industry; (iv) standards for auditors and the regulation of audits, including 
independence provisions which restrict non-audit services that accountants may provide to their audit clients; (v) increased 
disclosure and reporting obligations for the reporting company and its directors and executive officers including accelerated 
reporting of company stock transactions; (vi) a prohibition of personal loans to directors and officers, except certain loans made 
by insured financial institutions on non-preferential terms and in compliance with other bank regulator requirements; and (vii) a 
range of new and increased civil and criminal penalties for fraud and other violations of the securities laws. The Company has 
approved policies and procedures that are designed to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and its regulations. 
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Community Reinvestment Act of 1977 
 
Under the CRA, the Bank is required to help meet the credit needs of its communities, including low- and moderate-income 
neighborhoods.  Although the Bank must follow the requirements of CRA, it does not limit the Bank’s discretion to develop 
products and services that are suitable for a particular community or establish lending requirements or programs.  In addition, the 
Equal Credit Opportunity Act and the Fair Housing Act prohibits discrimination in lending practices.  The Bank’s failure to 
comply with the provisions of the CRA could, at a minimum, result in regulatory restrictions on its activities and the activities of 
the Company.  The Bank’s failure to comply with the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and the Fair Housing Act could result in 
enforcement actions against it by its regulators as well as other federal regulatory agencies and the Department of Justice.  The 
Bank’s most recent CRA rating was “Satisfactory”. 
 
On October 24, 2023, the FRB, FDIC and OCC jointly issued a final rule to strengthen and modernize regulations implementing 
the CRA to encourage banks to expand access to credit, investment, and banking services in low- and moderate-income 
communities, adapt to changes in the banking industry, including internet and mobile banking, provide greater clarity and 
consistency in the application of the CRA regulations and tailor CRA evaluations and data collection to bank size and type.  Most 
of the rule’s requirements may begin January 1, 2026 while the remaining requirements, including the data reporting 
requirements, may be applicable on January 1, 2027. Whether the final rule will ultimately be implemented and any related 
compliance requirements remains uncertain. 
 
Cyber Security 
 
The federal bank regulators have adopted rules providing for new notification requirements for banking organizations and their 
service providers for significant cybersecurity incidents.  Specifically, the new rules require a banking organization to notify its 
primary federal regulator as soon as possible, and no later than 36 hours after, the banking organization determines that a 
"computer-security incident" rising to the level of a "notification incident" has occurred.  Notification is required for incidents that 
have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the viability of a banking organization's operations, its ability 
to deliver banking products and services, or the stability of the financial sector.  Service providers are required under the rule to 
notify affected banking organization customers as soon as possible when the provider determines that it has experienced a 
computer-security incident that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the banking organization's 
customers for four or more hours. 
 
Guidance for Third-Party Relationships 
 
On June 9, 2023, the Federal Reserve, OCC, and FDIC issued final interagency guidance on risk management of third-party 
relationships.  The interagency guidance is based, in part, on the regulators’ previously existing third-party risk management 
guidance from 2013 and seeks to, among other things, promote consistency in third-party risk management and provide sound 
risk management guidance for third-party relationships commensurate with a bank's risk profile and complexity as well as the 
criticality of the activity.  The final interagency guidance replaces each agency's existing guidance on this topic and is directed to 
all banking organizations supervised by the Federal Reserve, OCC, and FDIC.  Additionally, third party relationship risk 
management and banking-as-a-service arrangements (including with respect to deposit products and services) have been topics of 
focus for federal bank regulators in 2024 and further rulemaking activity or guidance may be forthcoming. 
 
Future Legislation and Regulation 
 
Laws, regulations and policies are continually under review by Congress and state legislatures and federal and state regulatory 
agencies.  In addition to the specific legislation and regulations described above, future legislation and regulations or changes to 
existing statutes, regulations or regulatory policies applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries may affect the business, 
financial condition and results of operations in adverse and unpredictable ways and increase reporting requirements and 
compliance costs.  The substance or impact of pending or future legislation or regulation, or the application thereof, cannot be 
predicted. 
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Information about Our Executive Officers 
 
The executive officers of the Company and the Bank who are elected by the Board of Directors are as follows: 
 

Name Age Position 

Dimitar A. Karaivanov 43 Director, President and Chief Executive Officer.  Mr. Karaivanov assumed his current position on 
January 1, 2024.  He previously served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer from 
October 2022 to December 2023 and Executive Vice President of Financial Services and Corporate 
Development from June 2021 to September 2022.  Prior to joining the Company, he was the Managing 
Director of Lazard Middle Market’s Financial Institutions Group from June 2018 through June 2021.  
Prior to Lazard, he was the Managing Director of RBC Capital Markets’ Financial Institutions Group 
from April 2011 through June 2018. 

Joseph E. Sutaris 
 

57 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.  Mr. Sutaris assumed his current position in June 
2018.  He served as Senior Vice President, Finance and Accounting from November 2017 to June 2018, 
as the Bank’s Director of Municipal Banking from September 2016 to November 2017 and as the Senior 
Vice President of the Central Region of the Bank from April 2011 to September 2016.  Mr. Sutaris 
joined the Company in April 2011 as part of the acquisition of Wilber National Bank where he served as 
the Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary.  On November 7, 2024, 
Mr. Sutaris notified the Company of his intention to retire, effective in or around the third quarter of 
2025, as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company and the Bank. 

Maureen Gillan-Myer 57 Executive Vice President and Chief Administration and Human Resources Officer.  Ms. Gillan-Myer 
assumed her current position in October 1, 2024.  She joined the Company as Executive Vice 
President and Chief Human Resources Officer on October 1, 2021.  Prior to joining the Company, 
she served as the Chief Human Resources Officer of HSBC US from February 2016 through 
September 2021 and as its Senior Vice President - Talent Acquisition from May 2009 through 
February 2016. 

Michael N. Abdo 47 Executive Vice President and General Counsel.  Mr. Abdo assumed his current position in July 2022.  
He served as Associate General Counsel from 2013 to 2020 and as Senior Vice President and Senior 
Associate General Counsel from January 2020 to July 2022.  Prior to joining the Company in 2013, he 
was an associate with Cadwalader Wickersham & Taft. 

Jeffrey M. Levy 63 

 

Senior Vice President and Chief Banking Officer.  Mr. Levy assumed his current position on January 1, 
2024.  He served as the Bank’s President of Commercial Banking from January 2022 to December 2023, 
Senior Vice President, Commercial Banking Sales Executive from June 2021 to December 2021, Senior 
Vice President, Regional President of Capital Region from June 2019 to June 2021, and Senior Vice 
President, Commercial Banking Team Leader from January 2018 to June 2019.  Prior to joining the 
Bank, he served as the Executive Vice President and President of Commercial Banking at NBT Bank, 
N.A. from December 2006 to August 2016. 

 
Item 1A. Risk Factors 
 
There are risks inherent in the Company’s business.  The material risks and uncertainties that management believes affect the 
Company are described below.  Adverse experience with these could have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
condition and results of operations.  The Risk Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) oversees the Company’s efforts 
to manage risks through actions such as reviewing the Bank’s credit risk, liquidity and interest rate risk, monitoring the quality 
and risk profile of the Bank’s loan portfolio and credit administration, evaluating the Company’s securities portfolio to ensure that 
the Company’s objectives related to diversification, asset quality, liquidity, profitability and pledging are met, overseeing the 
Company’s enterprise risk management functions and overseeing the Company’s information security and cybersecurity 
functions. 
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Risks Related to the Company’s Business 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Changes in interest rates affect the Company’s profitability, assets and liabilities. 
 
The Company’s income and cash flow depends to a great extent on the difference between the interest earned on loans and 
investment securities, and the interest paid on deposits and borrowings.  Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors that are 
beyond the Company’s control, including general economic conditions and policies of various governmental and regulatory 
agencies and, in particular, the FRB.  Changes in interest rates, including those driven by changes in monetary policy, could 
influence not only the interest the Company receives on loans and securities and the amount of interest it pays on deposits and 
borrowings, but such changes could also affect (1) its ability to originate loans and obtain deposits, which could reduce the 
amount of fee income generated, (2) the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities, and (3) the average duration of the 
Company’s various categories of earning assets.  Earnings could be adversely affected if the interest rates received on loans and 
investments fall more quickly than the interest rates paid on deposits and other borrowings.  If the interest rates paid on deposits 
and other borrowings increase at a faster rate than the interest rates received on loans and investments, the Company’s net interest 
income could also be adversely affected, which in turn could negatively affect the Company’s earnings.  Increases in interest rates 
would likely cause an increase in the unrealized loss position on certain investments, a decrease in tangible equity, and could 
negatively affect the Company’s earnings if the need to liquidate these investments arose.  Although management believes it has 
implemented asset and liability management strategies to reduce the potential effects of changes in interest rates on the results of 
operations, any substantial, unexpected, prolonged change in market interest rates could have a material adverse effect on the 
financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
The Company must maintain adequate sources of funding and liquidity to meet regulatory expectations, support its 
operations and fund outstanding liabilities. 
 
The Company’s liquidity and ability to fund and run its business could be materially adversely affected by a variety of conditions 
and factors, including financial and credit market disruptions and volatility, a lack of market or customer confidence in financial 
markets in general, or deposit competition based on interest rates, which may result in a loss of customer deposits or outflows of 
cash or collateral and/or adversely affect the Company’s ability to access capital markets on favorable terms.  Other conditions 
and factors that could materially adversely affect the Company’s liquidity and funding include a lack of market or customer 
confidence in, or negative news about, the Company or the financial services industry generally which also may result in a loss of 
deposits and/or negatively affect the Company’s ability to access the capital markets; the loss of customer deposits due to 
reductions in customer savings rates, increased spending due to inflation, or other factors including shifting to alternative 
investments; counterparty availability; interest rate fluctuations; general economic conditions; and the legal, regulatory, 
accounting and tax environments governing the Company’s funding transactions.  The possibility of a funding crisis exists at all 
financial institutions.  A funding crisis would most likely result from a shock to the financial system that disrupts orderly short-
term funding operations or from a significant tightening of monetary policy that limits the national money supply.  Many of the 
foregoing conditions and factors may be caused by events over which the Company has little or no control.  There can be no 
assurance that significant disruption and volatility in the financial markets will not occur in the future.  Further, the Company’s 
customers may be adversely impacted by such conditions, which could have a negative impact on the Company’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 
 
As a member institution of the FHLB, the Bank is required to maintain a positive tangible equity balance to retain access to the 
borrowing facilities offered by the FHLB.  Management has implemented certain asset and liability management strategies, 
assessed the Bank’s future earnings capacity and evaluated its capital resources, including its parent Company resources, and 
believes the likelihood the Bank will be unable to maintain a positive tangible equity balance is low.  In the event it became 
unlikely that the Bank would be able to maintain a positive tangible equity balance, it would either seek an approval from its 
primary federal regulator to maintain access to its FHLB borrowing facilities or transfer its eligible collateral to the FRB to avoid 
disruption in its wholesale borrowing capacity. 
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The Company depends on dividends from the Bank and BPAS for cash revenues to support common dividend payments 
and other uses, but those dividends are subject to restrictions. 
 
The ability of the Company to satisfy its obligations and pay cash dividends to its shareholders is primarily dependent on the 
earnings of and dividends from the Bank and BPAS.  However, payment of dividends by the Bank is limited by dividend 
restrictions and capital requirements imposed by bank regulations.  If the Bank is unable to pay dividends to the Company, the 
Company might not be able to service its debt, pay its obligations or pay dividends on its common stock.  
 
Credit and Lending Risk 
 
The allowance for credit losses may be insufficient. 
 
The Company’s business depends on the creditworthiness of its customers.  The Company reviews the allowance for credit losses 
quarterly for adequacy considering historical credit loss experience, current loan-specific risk characteristics such as differences in 
underwriting standards, portfolio mix, delinquency levels, risk ratings as well as changes in macroeconomic conditions.  The 
Company’s allowance for credit losses may fluctuate significantly from period to period due to changes in economic conditions, 
changes in the composition of the Company’s loan portfolios, changes in historical loss rates and changes in other credit factors, 
including the level of delinquent loans.  If the Company’s assumptions prove to be incorrect, the Company’s allowance for credit 
losses may not be sufficient to cover losses inherent in the Company’s loan portfolio, resulting in additions to the allowance.  
Material additions to the allowance would materially decrease its net income.  It is possible that over time the allowance for credit 
losses will be inadequate to cover credit losses in the portfolio because of unanticipated adverse changes in the economy, market 
conditions or events adversely affecting specific customers, industries or markets.  Furthermore, bank regulators have the 
authority to require the Company to make provisions for credit losses or otherwise recognize loan charge-offs following their 
periodic review of the Company’s loan portfolio, underwriting procedures, and allowance for losses on such loans.  Any increase 
in the allowance for credit losses or in loan charge-offs as required by such regulatory authorities could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Mortgage banking income may experience significant volatility. 
 
Mortgage banking income is highly influenced by the level and direction of mortgage interest rates, real estate and refinancing 
activity and elections made by the Company to sell or retain mortgage production.  In lower interest rate environments, the 
demand for mortgage loans and refinancing activity will tend to increase.  Increases in mortgage loan sales would have the effect 
of increasing fee income but could adversely impact the estimated fair value of the Company’s mortgage servicing rights as the 
rate of loan prepayments increase.  In higher interest rate environments, the demand for mortgage loans and refinancing activity 
will generally be lower.  Decreases in mortgage loan sales would have the effect of decreasing fee income opportunities. 
 
Conditions in the commercial real estate market could adversely affect the Company’s business. 
 
The deterioration of the commercial real estate market across the nation may negatively affect the economies where the Company 
operates and may result in customers engaged in the commercial real estate having greater difficulties fulfilling their financial 
responsibilities to the Company.  The macroeconomic environment driving these conditions include elevated interest rates, 
increases in property expenses, such as casualty insurance, decreases in rents, and increases in vacancy rates, particularly for 
office real estate.  This could lead to a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations 
through resulting increases in the Company’s allowance for credit losses, provision for credit losses and net charge-offs. 
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Legal, Regulatory, and Compliance Risk 
 
The Company is or may become involved in lawsuits, legal proceedings, information-gathering requests, investigations, 
and proceedings by governmental agencies or other parties that may lead to adverse consequences.  
 
As a participant in the financial services industry, many aspects of the Company’s business involve substantial risk of legal 
liability.  The Company and its subsidiaries have been named or threatened to be named as defendants in various lawsuits arising 
from its or its subsidiaries’ business activities (and in some cases from the activities of acquired companies).  In addition, the 
Company is, or may become, the subject of governmental and self-regulatory agency information-gathering requests, reviews, 
investigations and proceedings and other forms of regulatory inquiry by, including but not limited to, bank regulatory agencies, 
the SEC, FINRA, the CFPB, the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Department of Labor, state attorneys general, state 
insurance regulators and law enforcement authorities.  The results of such proceedings could lead to delays in or prohibition to 
acquire other companies, significant penalties, including monetary penalties, dividend and/or asset growth restrictions, damages, 
adverse judgments, settlements, fines, injunctions, restrictions on the way in which the Company conducts its business, or 
reputational harm.  
 
Although the Company establishes accruals for legal proceedings when information related to the loss contingencies represented 
by those matters indicates both that a loss is probable and that the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, the Company does 
not have accruals for all legal or regulatory proceedings where it faces a risk of loss.  In addition, due to the inherent subjectivity 
of the assessments and unpredictability of the outcome of legal proceedings, amounts accrued may not represent the ultimate loss 
to the Company from the legal proceedings in question.  Thus, the Company’s ultimate losses may be higher than the amounts 
accrued for legal loss contingencies, which could adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The Company operates in a highly regulated environment and may be adversely affected by changes in laws and 
regulations or the interpretation and examination of existing laws and regulations. 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to extensive state and federal regulation, supervision and legislation that govern 
nearly every aspect of its operations.  The Company, as a financial holding company, is subject to regulation by the FRB and its 
banking subsidiary is subject to regulation by the OCC as well as the FDIC, CFPB, and other federal and state agencies.  These 
regulations affect deposit and lending practices, capital levels and structure, investment practices, dividend policy, and growth.  
These regulatory authorities have extensive discretion in connection with their supervisory and enforcement activities, including 
the imposition of restrictions on the operation of a bank, the risk ratings or classifications of loans and investments by a bank, and 
the adequacy of a bank’s allowance for credit losses.  In addition, the non-bank subsidiaries are engaged in providing services 
including, but not limited to, retirement plan administration, fiduciary services to collective investment funds, investment 
management and insurance brokerage services, which industries are also heavily regulated at both a state and federal level, 
including by state banking and insurance agencies, the U.S. Department of Labor and the SEC.  Such regulators govern the 
activities in which the Company and its subsidiaries may engage.  Any change in such regulation and oversight, whether in the 
form of regulatory policy, regulations, legislation, interpretation or application, could have a material impact on the Company and 
its operations.  Changes to the regulatory laws governing these businesses, or changes in regulatory policy or a regulator's 
interpretation of a law or regulation, could affect the Company’s ability to deliver or expand its services and adversely impact its 
operating and financial condition.  
 
The Dodd-Frank Act, as amended by the Economic Growth Act, instituted major changes to the banking and financial institutions 
regulatory regimes in the financial services sector.  The ongoing effects of the Dodd-Frank Act, as well as continued rule-making 
and possible future changes to the regulatory requirements, may substantially impact the Company’s and the Bank’s operations.  
The implications of the Dodd-Frank Act depend to a large extent on the implementation of the legislation by the FRB, the CFPB, 
and other agencies as well as how market practices and structures change in response to the requirements of such rule making.  
Changes in regulations could subject the Company, among other things, to additional costs for compliance, reduced revenues and 
limit the types of financial services and products it can offer and/or increase the ability of non-banks to offer competing financial 
services and products. 
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Regulatory agencies, including the CPFB, may introduce new regulatory initiatives or pursue more aggressive enforcement 
policies with respect to a range of regulatory compliance matters.  Regulators continue to focus on consumer protection, including 
product design and pricing constructs, account management and security, credit bureau reporting, disclosure rules, marketing and 
debt collection practices.  New initiatives by applicable regulatory agencies may significantly limit the types and the terms of the 
products the Company may offer and the fees it may charge for its services which may have a material impact on the Company’s 
fee income.  Any new requirements or increased enforcement of existing requirements could materially and adversely impact the 
Company’s revenue growth and profitability, including, as a result of increased scrutiny of pricing, underwriting and account 
management practices; the imposition of fines and customer remediation; higher compliance costs; reputational harm; restrictions 
on the Company’s ability to offer certain products or services, appropriately price for the value of products or work with certain 
business partners; and changes to business practices generally. The Company may also be required to add additional compliance 
personnel or incur other significant compliance-related expenses.  The Company’s business, results of operations or competitive 
position may be adversely affected as a result. 
 
The Company is also directly subject to the requirements of entities that set and interpret the accounting standards such as the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board, and indirectly subject to the actions and interpretations of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board, which establishes auditing and related professional practice standards for registered public 
accounting firms and inspects registered firms to assess their compliance with certain laws, rules, and professional standards in 
public company audits.  These regulations, along with the currently existing tax, accounting, securities, insurance, and monetary 
laws, regulations, rules, standards, policies and interpretations, control the methods by which financial institutions and their 
holding companies conduct business, engage in strategic and tax planning, implement strategic initiatives, and govern financial 
reporting. 
 
While the Company has developed policies and procedures designed to assist in compliance with these laws and regulations, no 
assurance is given that compliance policies and procedures will be effective.  The Company’s failure to comply (or to ensure that 
agents and third-party service providers comply) with laws, regulations or policies could result in civil or criminal sanctions, 
restrictions to its business model, and money penalties by state and federal agencies, and/or reputation damage, which could have 
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  See “Supervision and 
Regulation” for more information about the regulations to which the Company is subject. 
 
Federal banking agencies periodically conduct examinations of the Company’s business, including compliance with 
laws and regulations; the failure to comply with any supervisory actions to which the Company becomes subject to as a 
result of such examinations could adversely affect the Company. 
 
Federal bank regulatory authorities periodically conduct comprehensive examinations of the Company’s business, including 
compliance with laws and regulations.  If, as a result of an examination, such banking agencies were to determine that the 
financial condition, capital resources, asset quality, earnings prospects, management, liquidity, asset sensitivity, risk management 
or other aspects of any of the Company’s operations had become unsatisfactory, or that the Company was in violation of any law 
or regulation, it may take a number of different remedial actions as it deems appropriate. If the Company becomes subject to such 
regulatory actions, the Company’s business, financial condition, earnings and reputation could be adversely affected. 
 
The Company is subject to numerous laws designed to protect consumers, including the Community Reinvestment Act 
and fair lending laws, and the failure to comply with these laws could lead to a wide variety of sanctions. 
 
The Community Reinvestment Act ("CRA") requires the OCC to assess the Company’s performance in meeting the credit 
needs of the communities the Company serves, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods.  If the OCC determines 
that the Company needs to improve the Company’s performance or are in substantial non-compliance with CRA requirements, 
various adverse regulatory consequences may ensue.  In addition, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair Housing Act and 
other fair lending laws and regulations impose nondiscriminatory lending requirements on financial institutions.  In addition, 
the Bank is subject to other federal and state laws designed to protect consumers, including the Home Ownership Protection 
Act, Fair Credit Reporting Act, as amended by the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003, the Gramm-Leach 
Bliley Act, the Truth in Lending Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, the 
National Flood Insurance Act and various state law counterparts. These laws and regulations mandate certain disclosure 
requirements and regulate the manner in which financial institutions must interact with clients when taking deposits, making 
loans, collecting and servicing loans and providing other services.  
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A successful regulatory challenge to an institution’s performance under the CRA, fair lending laws or regulations, or consumer 
lending laws and regulations could result in a wide variety of sanctions, including damages and civil money penalties, 
injunctive relief, restrictions on mergers and acquisitions activity, restrictions on expansion, and restrictions on entering new 
business lines.  Private parties may also have the ability to challenge an institution’s performance under fair lending laws in 
private class action litigation. Such actions could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 
 
The Company faces a risk of noncompliance and enforcement action with the Bank Secrecy Act and other anti-money 
laundering statutes and regulations. 
 
The federal Bank Secrecy Act, PATRIOT Act and other laws and regulations require financial institutions, among other duties, to 
institute and maintain effective anti-money laundering programs and file suspicious activity and currency transaction reports as 
appropriate.  The federal Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, established by the U.S. Treasury Department to administer the 
Bank Secrecy Act, is authorized to impose significant civil money penalties for violations of those requirements and engages in 
coordinated enforcement efforts with the individual federal banking regulators, as well as the U.S. Department of Justice, Drug 
Enforcement Administration and Internal Revenue Service.  Federal and state bank regulators also focus on compliance with the 
Bank Secrecy Act and anti-money laundering regulations.  
 
If the Company’s policies, procedures and systems are deemed to be deficient or the policies, procedures and systems of the 
financial institutions that the Company acquires in the future are deficient, the Company would be subject to liability, including 
fines and regulatory actions such as restrictions on the Company’s ability to pay dividends and the necessity to obtain regulatory 
approvals to proceed with certain aspects of the Company’s business plan, including acquisition plans, which would negatively 
impact the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Failure to maintain and implement adequate 
programs to combat money laundering and terrorist financing could also have serious reputational consequences. 
 
Basel III capital rules generally require insured depository institutions and their holding companies to hold more capital, 
which could limit the Company’s ability to pay dividends, engage in share repurchases and pay discretionary bonuses.  
 
The FRB, the FDIC, and the OCC adopted final rules for the Basel III capital framework which address the regulatory risk-based 
capital rules applicable to the Company.  The capital conservation buffer requirement is 2.5% on top of the common Tier 1, Tier 1 
and total capital requirements, resulting in a required common Tier 1 equity ratio of 7%, a Tier 1 ratio of 8.5%, and a total capital 
ratio of 10.5%.  Failure to satisfy any of these three capital requirements will result in limits on paying dividends, engaging in 
share repurchases, and paying discretionary bonuses.  In addition, these limitations establish a maximum percentage of eligible 
retained income that could be utilized for such actions and potentially limit the Company’s ability to pay dividends, engage in 
share repurchases, and pay discretionary bonuses. 
 
Regulation in the areas of privacy, data protection, data management, resiliency, data transfer, third party oversight, 
account access, artificial intelligence and machine learning and information security and cybersecurity could increase the 
Company’s costs and affect or limit business opportunities and how the Company collects and/or uses personal 
information. 
 
Legislators and regulators are increasingly adopting or revising privacy, data protection, data management, resiliency, data 
transfer, third party oversight, account access, artificial intelligence and machine learning and information security and 
cybersecurity laws, including data localization, authentication and notification laws.  As such laws are interpreted and applied (in 
some cases, with significant differences or conflicting requirements across jurisdictions), compliance and technology costs will 
continue to increase, particularly in the context of ensuring that adequate privacy, data protection, data management, incident 
management, resiliency, third party management, data transfer, security controls, account access mechanisms and controls related 
to artificial intelligence and machine learning are in place. Additionally, new laws and regulations related to automated decision 
making, artificial intelligence and machine learning as well as the application of existing laws and regulations to these 
technologies may restrict or impose burdensome and costly requirements on the Company’s ability to use them or impact other 
aspects of the Company’s business. 
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Compliance with current or future laws in the aforementioned areas could significantly impact business operations, including 
collection, use, sharing, retention and safeguarding of consumer and/or employee information and could restrict the Company’s 
ability to provide certain products and services or work with certain service providers, which could materially and adversely 
affect profitability.  Failure to comply with such laws or to maintain sufficient governance and control structures could result in 
potentially significant regulatory and/or governmental investigations and/or actions, litigation, fines, sanctions, ongoing 
regulatory monitoring, customer attrition, decreases in the use of the Company’s products and services, and damage to the 
Company’s reputation and brand. 
 
Changes in stakeholder expectations related to corporate responsibility matters could negatively affect the Company’s 
operating results. 
 
There are changes in public awareness and concern by various stakeholders on a variety of corporate responsibility matters.  
These changes may include more compliance requirements or changes in expectations by stakeholders.  The Company may face 
increased costs to address these matters, which could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business and financial condition.  
In particular, certain U.S. state governments continue to be focused on climate change issues, including proposed disclosure 
requirements that could result in additional compliance costs, which could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business 
and financial condition. There are additional risks related to diverging and conflicting stakeholder views on corporate 
responsibility.  If the Company is unable to adequately address corporate responsibility matters that are of importance to 
stakeholders, it could negatively impact the Company’s reputation and the Company’s business results. 
 
Operational Risk 
 
The Company continually encounters technological change and the failure to understand and adapt to these changes could 
have a negative impact on the business. 
 
The financial services industry is continually undergoing rapid technological change with frequent introductions of new 
technology-driven products and services.  The effective use of technology increases efficiency and enables financial 
institutions to better serve customers and to reduce costs.  The Company’s future success depends, in part, upon its ability to 
address the needs of its customers by using technology to provide products and services that will satisfy customer demands, as 
well as to create additional efficiencies in the Company’s operations.  The Company or its third-party vendors may incorporate 
artificial intelligence technology into certain business processes, services, or products.  The use of artificial intelligence 
presents several risks, including an uncertain and evolving legal and regulatory environment in the U.S. and internationally and 
the complexity and rapid pace of change in these artificial intelligence models presents additional risks in understanding the 
accuracy and relevance of their outputs.  Many of the Company’s competitors have substantially greater resources to invest in 
technological improvements, including artificial intelligence.  The Company may not be able to effectively implement new 
technology-driven products and services or be successful in marketing these products and services to its customers and the 
costs of this technology may negatively impact the Company’s results of operations.  Failure to successfully keep pace with 
technological changes affecting the financial services industry could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s 
financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The Company is exposed to fraud in many aspects of the services and products that it provides.  
 
The Company offers a wide variety of products and services many of which could be vulnerable to fraud.  The sophistication and 
skills of bad actors are increasing in scope and capabilities.  Although the Company has various processes and controls in place to 
mitigate fraud, the risk cannot be eliminated and certain exposures are outside the Company’s control.  For example, when 
account credentials and other access tools are not adequately protected by its customers, risks and potential costs may 
increase.   Fraud or fraudulent attempts may also increase as (a) volumes of services and products expand, (b) those who are 
committing fraud adapt their methods to circumvent existing controls, become more sophisticated and more determined, and (c) 
services and product offerings expand.  The foregoing and other factors may cause the Company’s operational losses to increase 
as a result.  
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The Company is subject to a variety of operational risks, including reputational risk, legal and compliance risk, the risk of 
fraud or theft by employees or outsiders, which may adversely affect the Company’s business and results of operations. 
 
The Company is exposed to many types of operational risks, including reputational risk, legal and compliance risk, the risk of 
fraud or theft by employees or outsiders, unauthorized transactions by employees, operational errors, or a digital or cybersecurity 
event or breach.  Negative public opinion can result from actual or alleged conduct in any number of activities, including lending 
practices, sales practices, customer treatment, corporate governance and acquisitions and from actions taken by government 
regulators and community organizations in response to those activities.  Negative public opinion can adversely affect the 
Company’s ability to attract and keep customers and can expose the Company to litigation and regulatory action.  Actual or 
alleged conduct by the Company can result in negative public opinion about its business and financial loss. 
 
If personal, nonpublic, confidential, or proprietary information of customers in the Company’s possession were to be mishandled 
or misused, the Company could suffer significant regulatory consequences, reputational damage, and financial loss.  Such 
mishandling or misuse could include, for example, if such information were erroneously provided to parties who are not permitted 
to have the information, either by fault of its systems, employees, or counterparties, or where such information is intercepted or 
otherwise inappropriately taken by third parties. 
 
Because the nature of the financial services business involves a high volume of transactions, certain errors may be repeated or 
compounded before they are discovered and successfully rectified.  The Company’s necessary dependence upon automated 
systems to record and process transactions and the large transaction volumes may further increase the risk that technical flaws or 
employee tampering or manipulation of those systems will result in losses that are difficult to detect.  Further, the significant 
value of money managed and administered may result in larger exposures.  The Company also may be subject to disruptions of its 
operating systems arising from events that are wholly or partially beyond its control (for example, computer viruses or electrical 
or telecommunications outages), which may give rise to disruption of service to customers and to financial loss or liability.  The 
Company is further exposed to the risk that external third-party service providers, including those hosting “cloud” computing 
service, may be unable to fulfill their contractual obligations (or will be subject to the same risk of fraud or operational errors by 
their respective employees or other third parties) and to the risk that business continuity and data security systems prove to be 
inadequate.  The occurrence of any of these risks could result in a diminished ability to operate the Company’s business, potential 
liability to clients, reputational damage, and regulatory intervention, which could adversely affect the Company’s business, 
financial condition, and results of operations, perhaps materially. 
 
The Company’s information systems may experience an interruption or security breach and expose the Company to 
additional operational, compliance, cybersecurity and legal risks. 
 
The Company relies heavily on existing and emerging communications and information systems to conduct its business.  Like 
other financial services businesses, the Company and its third-party service providers have been the victim of sophisticated and 
targeted cyberattacks intended to obtain unauthorized access to assets or confidential information, destroy data, disable or degrade 
service, or sabotage systems, often through the introduction of computer viruses or malware, ransomware, phishing attacks,  
cyber-attacks, or breaches due to errors or malfeasance by employees, contractors and others who have access to or obtain 
unauthorized access to the Company’s systems and networks.  Although the Company and its service providers regularly defend 
against, respond to and mitigate the risks of cyberattacks, cybersecurity incidents among financial services businesses and 
industry generally are on the rise.  The Company is not aware of any material losses it has incurred relating to cyberattacks or 
other information security breaches.   
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The methods used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems are constantly evolving and may 
be difficult to anticipate or to detect for long periods of time.  The constantly changing nature of the threats means that the 
Company may not be able to prevent all data security breaches or misuse of data.  Any failure, interruption or breach in security 
of these systems could result in failures or disruptions in the Company’s online banking system, its general ledger, and its deposit 
and loan servicing and origination systems or other systems.  Furthermore, if personal, confidential or proprietary information of 
customers or clients in the Company’s or third-party service providers’ possession were to be mishandled or misused, the 
Company could suffer significant regulatory consequences, reputational damage and financial loss.  Such mishandling or misuse 
could include circumstances where, for example, such information was erroneously provided to parties who are not permitted to 
have the information, either by fault of the Company’s systems, employees, or counterparties, or where such information was 
intercepted or otherwise inappropriately taken by third parties.  The Company has policies and procedures designed to prevent or 
limit the effect of the possible failure, interruption or security breach of its information systems; however, any such failure, 
interruption or security breach could adversely affect the Company’s business and results of operations through loss of assets or 
by requiring it to expend significant resources to correct the defect, as well as exposing the Company to customer dissatisfaction 
and civil litigation, regulatory fines or penalties or losses not covered by insurance. 
 
Evolving data security and privacy requirements could increase the Company’s costs and expose it to additional 
operational, compliance, and legal risks. 
 
The Company’s business requires the secure processing and storage of sensitive information relating to its customers, 
employees, business partners, and others.  However, like any financial institution operating in today’s digital business 
environment, the Company is subject to threats to the security of its networks and data, as described above.  These threats 
continue to increase as the frequency, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions increase around the 
world.  In response to these threats there has been heightened legislative and regulatory focus on data privacy and 
cybersecurity in the U.S. and internationally.  As a result, the Company must comply with an evolving set of legal 
requirements in this area, including substantive cybersecurity standards as well as requirements for notifying regulators and 
affected individuals in the event of a data security incident, in particular the SEC cybersecurity disclosure requirements that 
may require the Company to expend additional costs in the event of a material cybersecurity breach.  This regulatory 
environment is increasingly challenging and may present material obligations and risks to the Company’s business, including 
significantly expanded compliance burdens, costs and enforcement risks.  
 
The Company relies on third-party service providers, which could expose the Company to additional cybersecurity risks.  
 
Third party service providers provide key components of the Company’s business infrastructure, including certain data 
processing, cloud computing, and information services.  On behalf of the Company, third parties may transmit confidential, 
propriety information.  Although the Company requires third party providers to maintain certain levels of information security 
which are verified through review of documentation collected as part of due diligence and ongoing monitoring of third-party 
providers, such providers may remain vulnerable to breaches, unauthorized access, misuse, computer viruses, or other malicious 
attacks that could ultimately compromise sensitive information or result in funds being transferred.  While the Company may 
contractually limit liability in connection with attacks against third party providers, the Company remains exposed to the risk of 
loss associated with such third-party service providers.  In addition, a number of the Company’s third-party service providers are 
large national entities with dominant market presence in their respective fields.  Their services could prove difficult to replace in a 
timely manner if a failure or other service interruption were to occur.  Failures of certain third-party service providers to provide 
contracted services could adversely affect the Company’s ability to deliver products and services to customers and cause the 
Company to incur significant expense.  
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The Company’s ability to attract and retain qualified employees is critical to the success of its business, and failure to do 
so may have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s performance.  
 
The Company’s employees are its most important resource, and in many areas of the financial services industry, competition for 
qualified personnel is intense and certain of the Company’s competitors have directly targeted its employees, including 
competitors who are outside of the Company’s geographic footprint offering work from home opportunities.  The imposition on 
the Company or its employees of certain existing and proposed restrictions or taxes on executive compensation may adversely 
affect the Company’s ability to attract and retain qualified senior management and employees.  The Company’s business could be 
adversely impacted by increases in labor costs, including wages and benefits, triggered by regulatory actions regarding wages; 
increased health care and workers’ compensation insurance costs; increased costs of other benefits necessary to attract and retain 
high quality employees with the right skill sets; and increased wages, benefits and costs related to inflationary and other pressure 
on wages now being experienced.  If the Company provides inadequate succession planning or is unable to continue to retain and 
attract qualified employees, the Company’s performance, including its competitive position, could have a materially adverse 
effect. 
 
External and Market-Related Risk  
 
Regional economic factors may have an adverse impact on the Company’s business. 
 
The Company’s main markets are located in the states of New York, Pennsylvania, Vermont, Massachusetts, and New 
Hampshire.  Most of the Company’s customers are individuals and small and medium-sized businesses which are dependent upon 
the regional economy.  Accordingly, the local economic conditions in these areas have a significant impact on the demand for the 
Company’s products and services as well as the ability of the Company’s customers to repay loans, the value of the collateral 
securing loans and the stability of the Company’s deposit funding sources.  An economic downturn in these markets could 
negatively impact the Company. 
 
The financial services industry is highly competitive and creates competitive pressures that could adversely affect the 
Company’s revenue and profitability. 
 
The financial services industry in which the Company operates is highly competitive.  The Company competes not only with 
commercial and other banks and thrifts, but also with insurance companies, mutual funds, hedge funds, securities brokerage firms 
and other companies offering financial services in the U.S., globally and over the Internet.  The Company competes on the basis 
of several factors, including capital, access to capital, revenue generation, quality customer service, products, services, transaction 
execution, innovation, reputation and price.  Each of the Company’s segments have competitors that have substantially greater 
access to capital and scale.  Over time, certain sectors of the financial services industry have become more concentrated, as 
institutions involved in a broad range of financial services have been acquired by or merged into other firms.  These developments 
have resulted in additional competitors gaining greater capital and other resources, such as a broader range of products and 
services and geographic diversity.  The Company may experience pricing pressures and experience deposit outflows as a result of 
these factors and as some of its competitors seek to increase market share by reducing prices or paying higher rates of interest on 
deposits.  Finally, technological change is influencing how individuals and firms conduct their financial affairs and changing the 
delivery channels for financial services, with the result that the Company may have to contend with a broader range of 
competitors including many that are not located within the geographic footprint of the Bank’s branch network.  
 
The Company may be adversely affected by the soundness of other financial institutions. 
 
Financial services institutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, counterparty, or other relationships.  The Company 
has exposure to many different industries and counterparties, and routinely executes transactions with counterparties in the 
financial services industry.  Many of these transactions expose the Company to credit risk in the event a counterparty or client 
fails to perform its contractual obligations.  In addition, credit risk may be exacerbated when the Company’s collateral is not 
under its control, cannot recover funds by liquidating the collateral, or is liquidated at prices not sufficient to recover the full 
amount of the credit or derivative exposure due to the Company.  Any such losses could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial condition and results of operations. 
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Conditions in the insurance market could adversely affect the Company’s earnings. 
 
Revenue from insurance fees and commissions could be negatively affected by fluctuating premiums in the insurance markets or 
other factors beyond the Company’s control.  Other factors that affect insurance revenue are the profitability and growth of the 
Company’s clients, the renewal rate of the current insurance policies, continued development of new product and services as well 
as access to new markets.  The Company’s insurance revenues and profitability may also be adversely affected by new laws and 
regulatory developments impacting the healthcare and insurance markets as well as the financial stability of insurance carriers.   
 
Changes in the equity markets could materially affect the level of assets under management and the demand for other fee-
based services and could adversely affect the Company’s earnings. 
 
Economic downturns could affect the volume of income from and demand for fee-based services.  Revenue from the wealth 
management and employee benefit trust businesses depends in large part on the level of assets under management and 
administration.  Market volatility and the potential to lead customers to liquidate investments, as well as lower asset values, can 
reduce the level of assets under management and administration and thereby decrease the Company’s investment management 
and employee benefit trust revenues. 
 
Financial services companies depend on the accuracy and completeness of information about customers and 
counterparties.  
 
In deciding whether to extend credit or enter into other transactions, the Company may rely on information furnished by or on 
behalf of customers and counterparties, including financial statements, credit reports and other financial information.  The 
Company also relies on representations of those customers and their agents, counterparties or other third parties, such as 
independent auditors, as to the accuracy and completeness of that information.  Reliance on inaccurate or misleading financial 
statements, credit reports or other information could have a material adverse impact on business and, in turn, the Company’s 
financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The Company may be required to record impairment charges related to goodwill, other intangible assets and the 
investment portfolio. 
 
The Company may be required to record impairment charges in respect to goodwill, other intangible assets and the investment 
portfolio.  Numerous factors, including lack of liquidity for resale of certain investment securities, absence of reliable pricing 
information for investment securities, the economic condition of state and local governments, adverse changes in the business 
climate, adverse actions by regulators, unanticipated changes in the competitive environment or a decision to change the 
operations or dispose of an operating unit could have a negative effect on the investment portfolio, goodwill or other intangible 
assets in future periods. 
 
The Company’s financial statements are based, in part, on assumptions and estimates, which, if incorrect or conditions 
change, could cause unexpected losses in the future.  
 
Pursuant to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, the Company is required to use certain assumptions and 
estimates in preparing its financial statements, including the allowance for credit losses, pension, post-retirement and other 
employee benefit plans, goodwill and other intangible assets, reserves related to litigation and other items.  Certain of the 
Company’s financial instruments, including available-for-sale securities and certain loans, among other items, require a 
determination of their fair value in order to prepare the Company’s financial statements.  Where quoted market prices are not 
available, the Company may make fair value determinations based on internally developed models or other means which 
ultimately rely to some degree on management’s judgment.  Some of these and other assets and liabilities may have no direct 
observable price levels, making their valuation particularly subjective, as they are based on significant estimation and judgment.  
In addition, sudden illiquidity in markets or declines in prices of certain loans and securities may make it more difficult to value 
certain balance sheet items, which may lead to the possibility that such valuations will be subject to further change or adjustment.  
If assumptions or estimates underlying the Company’s financial statements are incorrect, it may experience material losses.  
Further detail on the nature and sensitivity of these management assumptions is included in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, under Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates. 
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The Company’s business and results of operations may be adversely affected by the U.S. and global financial markets, 
fiscal, monetary, and regulatory policies, and economic conditions generally. 
 
General political, economic, and social conditions in the U.S. and in countries abroad affect markets in the U.S. and ultimately the 
Company’s business.  In particular, U.S. markets may be affected by the new government administration, including but not 
limited to government agency staff reductions and related operating issues, uncertainty related to policy changes that directly or 
indirectly impact consumer spending and business investment, the level and volatility of interest rates, availability and market 
conditions of financing, economic growth, historically high levels of inflation, supply chain disruptions, consumer spending, 
employment levels, labor shortages, wage escalation or stagnation, changes in home prices, commercial property values, the 
growth of global trade and commerce, the availability and cost of capital and credit, and investor sentiment and confidence.  
Additionally, U.S. energy and commodity markets may be adversely affected by the current or anticipated impact of climate 
change, extreme weather events or natural disasters, the emergence or continuation of widespread health emergencies or 
pandemics, cyberattacks or campaigns, military conflict, terrorism or other geopolitical events.  The scarcity or unavailability of 
affordable casualty insurance on consumers’ homes and autos, as well as businesses’ property, plant, and equipment, would 
impair asset prices and have a negative impact on economic activity and growth.  Also, any sudden or prolonged market downturn 
in the U.S., as a result of the above factors or otherwise, could result in a decline in net interest income and noninterest income 
and adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition, including capital and liquidity levels.  The 
economic developments in connection with the pandemic, including supply chain disruptions, increased inflation, changes to the 
Company’s customers’ industries, and the potential emergence of pandemics and other health crises in the U.S. and abroad have 
adversely impacted and may continue to adversely impact financial markets and macroeconomic conditions and could result in 
additional market volatility and disruptions globally. 

Actions taken by the Federal Reserve Board, including changes in its target funds rate, balance sheet management, and lending 
facilities are beyond the Company’s control and difficult to predict.  These actions can affect interest rates and the value of 
financial instruments and other assets and liabilities and can impact the Company’s borrowers.  Sudden changes in monetary 
policy, for example in response to high inflation, could lead to financial market volatility, increases in market interest rates, and a 
flattening or inversion of the yield curve.  For example, higher inflation, or volatility and uncertainty related to inflation, could 
reduce demand for the Company’s products, adversely affect the creditworthiness of the Company’s borrowers, or result in lower 
values for the Company’s investment securities and other interest-earning assets. 

Actions taken by the U.S. Federal government, including material changes in fiscal and foreign trade policy, could also reduce 
demand for the Company’s products, adversely affect the creditworthiness of the Company’s borrowers, or result in lower values 
for the Company’s investment securities and other interest-earning assets.  Examples of such policy changes are reduced or 
delayed U.S. Federal government spending, new or higher U.S. imposed tariffs on imports and retaliatory tariffs imposed by 
foreign governments on U.S. exports. 
 
Changes to existing U.S. laws and regulatory policies and evolving priorities, including those related to financial regulation, 
consumer compliance, taxation, fiscal policy, trade policy such as tariffs, climate change, and healthcare, may adversely impact 
U.S. or global economic activity and the Company’s customers and its earnings and operations.  For example, a slowdown in 
consumer demand due to increased inflation could limit the ability of firms to pass on fast-rising costs for labor, tariffs, 
transportation and other inputs, weighing on earnings and potentially leading to an equity market downturn.  Significant fiscal 
policy changes and/or initiatives may also raise the federal debt, affect businesses and household after-tax incomes and increase 
uncertainty surrounding the formulation and direction of U.S. monetary policy and volatility of interest rates. 
 
Any of these developments could adversely affect the Company’s consumer and commercial businesses, its customers, its 
securities portfolios, including the risk of lower re-investment rates within those portfolios, its level of loan net charge-offs and 
provision for credit losses, the carrying value of its deferred tax assets, its capital levels, its liquidity and its results of operations. 
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The Company’s consumer businesses can be negatively affected by adverse economic conditions and governmental 
policies. 

The Company’s consumer businesses are particularly affected by U.S. economic conditions, including changes in personal and 
household incomes, unemployment or underemployment, the level of or change in interest rates, increased housing and 
automobile prices, the level of inflation and its effect on prices for goods and services, consumer and small business confidence 
levels, and changes in consumer spending or in the level of consumer debt.  Heightened levels of unemployment or 
underemployment that result in reduced personal and household income could negatively affect consumer credit performance to 
the extent that consumers are less able to service their debts.  In addition, unemployment or underemployment, sustained low 
economic growth, the level of or change in interest rates, tariffs, inflationary pressures or recessionary conditions could reduce 
deposit balances and diminish customer demand for the products and services offered by the Company’s businesses. 

In addition, governmental proposals to permit student loan obligations to be discharged in bankruptcy proceedings could, if 
enacted into law, encourage certain of the Company’s customers to declare personal bankruptcy and thereby trigger defaults and 
charge-offs of consumer loans extended to those customers. 
 
Pandemics, epidemics, disease outbreaks and other public health crises have disrupted the Company’s business and 
operations in the past, and future outbreaks could materially adversely impact the Company’s business, financial 
condition, liquidity and results of operations. 
 
Pandemics, epidemics or disease outbreaks in the U.S. or globally, have disrupted, and may in the future disrupt, the Company’s 
business, which could materially affect results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and future expectations.  The COVID-
19 pandemic adversely affected businesses, economies and financial markets worldwide, placed constraints on the operations of 
businesses, decreased consumer mobility and activity, and caused significant economic volatility in the United States and 
international capital markets.  Any new pandemic or other public health crisis could have a material impact on the Company’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations going forward. 
 
Recent negative developments affecting the banking industry have eroded customer confidence in the banking system and 
may have adverse impacts on the Company’s business. 
 
The high-profile collapse of certain U.S. banks has generated significant market volatility among publicly traded bank holding 
companies and, in particular, community and regional banks.  These market developments have negatively impacted customer 
confidence in the safety and soundness of community and regional banks.  As a result, customers may choose to move or maintain 
deposits with larger financial institutions or outside of the banking industry, which could materially adversely impact the 
Company’s liquidity, loan funding capacity, net interest margin, capital and results of operations.  While the federal regulators 
have made statements ensuring that depositors of these failed banks would have access to their deposits, including uninsured 
deposit accounts, there is no guarantee that such actions will be successful in restoring customer confidence in community and 
regional banks and the banking system more broadly or that any future bank failures will receive the same treatment. 
 
Adverse regulatory findings or new regulatory requirements arising from the recent bank failures could increase the Company’s 
expenses, reduce the Company’s revenues and affect the Company’s operations. 
 
The Company anticipates increased regulatory scrutiny, within the course of routine examinations and new regulations designed 
to address the recent negative developments in the banking industry, all of which may increase the Company’s costs of doing 
business and reduce its profitability. 
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Risk Related to Acquisition and De Novo Expansion Activity 
 
Acquisition and de novo expansion activity could adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and result of 
operations. 
 
The business strategy of the Company includes growth through acquisition and the opening of de novo branches to expand its 
business footprint.  Recently completed and future acquisitions and de novo branches will be accompanied by the risks commonly 
encountered in acquisitions and expansion into near geographic areas.  These risks include among other things: limitations on 
potential acquisition targets based upon regulatory restrictions, obtaining timely regulatory approval, the purchase or lease of real 
estate that promotes the Bank’s de novo branch strategy, attracting and hiring appropriate talent, the difficulty of integrating 
operations and personnel, the difficulty associated with attracting new clients, the potential disruption of the Company’s ongoing 
business, the inability of the Company’s management to maximize its financial and strategic position, the inability to maintain 
uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies, the potential that errors, omissions or circumstances existing prior to or at 
the time of the closing result in losses after the close, and the impairment of relationships with employees and customers as a 
result of changes in ownership and management.  Further, the asset quality or other financial characteristics of a company may 
deteriorate after the acquisition agreement is signed or after the acquisition closes.   
 
A portion of the Company’s loan portfolio was acquired primarily through whole-bank acquisitions and was not 
underwritten by the Company at origination. 
 
At December 31, 2024, 9% of the loan portfolio was acquired and was not underwritten by the Company at origination, and 
therefore is not necessarily reflective of the Company’s historical credit risk experience.  The Company performed extensive 
credit due diligence prior to each acquisition and marked the loans to fair value upon acquisition, with such fair valuation 
considering expected credit losses that existed at the time of acquisition.  However, there is a risk that credit losses could be larger 
than currently anticipated, thus adversely affecting earnings.  
 
General Risks 
 
Trading activity in the Company’s common stock could result in material price fluctuations. 
 
The market price of the Company’s common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to a number of other factors including, 
but not limited to: 
 

 Changes in securities analysts’ expectations of financial performance; 
 Volatility of stock market prices and volumes; 
 Incorrect information or speculation; 
 Changes in industry valuations; 
 Variations in operating results from general expectations; 
 Actions taken against the Company by various regulatory agencies; 
 Changes in authoritative accounting guidance by the Financial Accounting Standards Board or other regulatory agencies; 
 Changes in general domestic economic conditions such as inflation rates, tax rates, unemployment rates, oil prices, labor 

and healthcare cost trend rates, recessions, and changing government policies, laws and regulations; and 
 Severe weather, natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism and other external events.  

 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments   
 
None 
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Item 1C. Cybersecurity 
 
As a heavily regulated financial services company, the Company has developed a comprehensive cybersecurity process that is 
designed to protect the security of confidential information.  Two of the more significant risks to the Company, both in terms of 
financial and reputational harm, are a data security breach and/or ransomware attack which cause a material financial loss to the 
Company and/or materially harms its operational integrity or reputation with its customers as a safe and trustworthy institution.  
In order to mitigate this risk and comply with the regulatory standards required by the Company’s and the Bank’s regulators, the 
Company has developed a cybersecurity program and framework which is administered by a team of experienced professionals 
and supported by external technology and consulting services.  Set forth below is an overview of the Company’s risks associated 
with cybersecurity, its cybersecurity process, the role of management and the Board, and whether any risks from cybersecurity 
threats have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company.  
 
Risks Associated with Cybersecurity   
 
The Company is often targeted in an effort to obtain unauthorized access to its financial records and confidential information, 
destroy data, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems.  Such attacks may take various forms, including the introduction of 
computer viruses or malware, ransomware, phishing attacks, cyberattacks, or breaches due to errors or malfeasance by employees, 
contractors and others who have access to or obtain unauthorized access to the Company’s systems and networks.  To date, these 
threats and attacks have not resulted in a material cybersecurity incident.  However, a material failure, interruption or security 
breach could adversely affect the Company’s business and operations through financial losses, remediation expenses, reputational 
damage, as well as exposing the Company to customer dissatisfaction and civil litigation, regulatory fines or penalties or losses 
not covered by insurance. 
 
For more information on risks to the Company from cybersecurity threats, see “Risk Factors – Operational Risks”. 
 
Cybersecurity Process and Management’s Role   
 
Management is responsible for designing and implementing policies, processes and procedures and deploying physical and virtual 
technology and safeguards to measure, monitor and control cybersecurity risk.  The primary executives responsible for the 
oversight of risk and cybersecurity are the Company’s Chief Risk Officer, who has over 37 years of experience in the banking 
industry, including 25 years as a national bank examiner for the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and the Company’s 
Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”), who has an educational and experiential background in information technology and 
information security for public companies (bachelor’s degree in computer science and service as the Company’s CISO for the 
past 10 years, with 10 prior years of information technology and information security experience).  The CISO leads the members 
of the Information Security Department, some of whom maintain a variety of certifications including Certified Information 
Systems Security Professional (CISSP), Certified Information Security Manager (CISM), and Security+ (Plus) Certification 
(SEC+).  Both of these executives, along with the other professionals in the Information Security and Information Technology 
Departments, have the appropriate knowledge and expertise to effectively assess and manage the Company’s cybersecurity risk 
and establish a system of internal controls in an effort to safeguard the Company’s network and comply with regulatory 
requirements.   
 
The Company’s cybersecurity framework includes an assessment of the Company’s hardware, software, and data platforms across 
its lines of business; the risks associated with the Company’s business; areas inside and outside of the Company that expose it to 
cybersecurity threats.  As part of this framework, the Company employs policies, systems and safeguards to manage cybersecurity 
risks.  The Company’s CISO is responsible for identifying systems and security measures that reflect the appropriate safeguards 
designed to protect the Company’s infrastructure and information and has implemented the majority of current cybersecurity 
controls in place with an emphasis on the confidentiality, integrity and availability (CIA) triad and a defense in depth 
methodology.  The CISO uses a variety of threat intelligence resources, including law enforcement and industry groups such as 
the Financial Services Information Sharing and Analysis Center (FS-ISAC), to help stay informed about current and emerging 
risks to the Company. 
 
The CISO is also responsible for supervising and monitoring certain outside professionals or third-party service providers that 
assist in enhancing the Company’s current cybersecurity safeguards.  The Company has invested meaningful resources to address 
cybersecurity threats and partners with leading technology companies to implement solutions to address the fast-evolving threat 
landscape.  These solutions and services help with the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity threats 
and incidents. 
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The Company’s Internal Audit Department further assists the Company to ensure that the proper safeguards are in place to protect 
the Company’s information by conducting internal audits on certain aspects of the information security program.  Internal Audit 
engages professionals that specialize in information security to review and provide an annual examination and report on the 
sufficiency of the Company’s cybersecurity process and information security program.  The Company’s independent public 
accounting firm also performs audit procedures regarding the information security program.  In addition, the Company’s and the 
Bank’s regulators review and assess the Company’s information security program on an annual basis. 
 
The Company also maintains certain management committees that further assist in the prevention, detection, and mitigation of 
cybersecurity risks.  Specifically, the CISO works closely with the Company’s IT Steering Committee which, among other things, 
reviews the effectiveness of key controls and provides guidance around future initiatives that strengthen the Company’s overall 
security posture.  The IT Steering Committee is comprised of key executives such as the President and Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, as well as senior employees that specialize in technology and information security, including the 
Company’s CISO, Chief Technology Officer, and Chief Risk Officer, and representatives from the Board.  This committee also 
monitors current events regarding cybersecurity threats to the Company and more broadly to the financial services industry to 
help the Company make informed decisions around any necessary internal control enhancements or adjustments. 
 
In addition to the IT Steering Committee, the IT Subcommittee assists the CISO to prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate 
cybersecurity threats and incidents.  The IT Subcommittee typically meets quarterly and consists of members of the information 
technology and information security teams, the Director of Internal Audit, and senior management members of various business 
units.  This committee is responsible for reviewing information technology and information security projects and the threat 
landscape.  
 
Given the importance of maintaining the security of the Company’s systems and information, cybersecurity risks are also 
reviewed and addressed relative to assessing new products and services and any third-party services providers that may be 
engaged to provide systems and services to the Company.  As an essential element of the Company’s cybersecurity program, the 
Company maintains a third-party service provider management program that assesses and addresses the risks associated with third 
parties providing systems, software and programs that access the Company’s information.  As part of this oversight, the 
Company’s Risk Management, Legal and/or Information Security Departments review higher risk and material contracts with 
third party service providers, which includes an evaluation of the cybersecurity risks presented, any safeguards, and service 
organization controls reports provided by the third parties.  Initial and continuing due diligence is also conducted on third party 
service providers to ensure that they are fulfilling their contractual obligations and satisfying the Company’s data security 
requirements. 
 
The CISO is also responsible for monitoring data security incidents at third parties who have access to the Company’s 
information which may impact the Company or its customers if it was compromised.  When the Company becomes aware of such 
events, the CISO engages with the impacted third-party service providers to understand the incident, assess the risk that the 
Company’s information was released, and determine methods by which the Company can mitigate the damage, if any, and fulfill 
its notification obligations to impacted parties.   
 
In an effort to remain vigilant against cybersecurity attacks, the Company further provides annual and ongoing training to all of its 
employees so that they have an understanding and appreciation of the cybersecurity environment and risks and the Company’s 
policies to combat such risks.  Such training includes annual mandatory training sessions on cybersecurity for all employees, 
periodic informational notices regarding emerging threats, and periodic testing to ensure employees are reporting suspicious 
activities and are diligent in their efforts to avoid phishing attacks and cybersecurity breaches.  The CISO also conducts and 
participates in annual table top exercises with management, and periodically with Directors, in order to be prepared in the event of 
a material cybersecurity event.  
 
The Company’s cybersecurity process and its ability to assess, manage, and remediate cybersecurity risks further centers around 
good communication among management.  Management stays informed on cybersecurity risks through open communication with 
the Risk Management team, including through various reports and weekly reporting by the Chief Risk Officer to the Senior 
Management Committee about cybersecurity matters, as necessary.  In the event there is a material cybersecurity incident, the 
Company’s policies and procedures set forth an action plan, which includes notification of the appropriate personnel and 
management within the Company as well as regulators and impacted customers, as applicable.  For cybersecurity incidents, 
including, but not limited to, incidents that are deemed material pursuant to SEC cybersecurity disclosure rules or that 
significantly impact vital services provided by the Company, notification to the Board will occur at or about the time the incident 
is discovered.  Less severe incidents will be reported by management at the next Board or Risk Committee meeting. 
 
  



33 
 

Board of Directors’ Role in Cybersecurity   
 
An integral part of Company’s risk management oversight, which includes information security, is the role of the Board.  This is 
reinforced by the independence and reporting structure of the Chief Risk Officer, who oversees the CISO and reports to the Board 
Risk Committee and administratively to the President and Chief Executive Officer.   
 
In addition, cybersecurity risk is a fundamental risk of the Company which is overseen by the Risk Committee of the Board, 
including Directors with experience in risk management, internal audit, cybersecurity and/or the operations of financial service 
companies.  In particular, the Chair of the Board, Eric E. Stickels, has experience with the risks associated with operating a 
financial institution based upon his prior service as the President of Oneida Financial Corp.  In addition, Lead Director Susan E. 
Skerritt, the former Chief Executive Officer and President of Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as well as director Kerrie 
D. MacPherson have received the Cyber-Risk Oversight Certification issued by the National Association of Corporate Directors 
(“NACD”), and utilize their business experience and cyber-risk expertise to assist the Risk Committee in its evaluation of 
management’s cybersecurity systems.  Directors Knauss and Singh also serve as Board representatives on the Company’s IT 
Steering Committee and provide valuable oversight and insight to the committee based on their respective roles as (i) the former 
CEO of a digital marketing firm and (ii) current CEO of PAR Technology Corporation (“PAR”), a global food service 
technology company providing leading omnichannel cloud-based software and hardware solutions to the restaurant and retail 
industries.   
 
The Risk Committee meets five times a year during which management provides updates to the committee regarding the material 
risks facing the Company.  As part of this reporting, the Chief Risk Officer and the Risk Management Department have created a 
risk management program that identifies and evaluates the risks associated with various aspects of the Company’s business and 
report their assessments to the Risk Committee for review or approval.  Within the risk management process, cybersecurity risks 
are specifically reviewed and addressed, including risks related to current or proposed products and services to be offered by the 
Company, as well as the efforts taken or to be taken to mitigate such risks.     
 
In addition, on at least a quarterly basis, the CISO presents an Information Security report to the Risk Committee, which includes 
the Company’s cybersecurity alert level, controls rating, current and emerging cybersecurity risks, threats and trends, mitigation 
efforts and projects and audit and regulatory updates.   
 
On an annual basis, the Board’s Audit Committee also receives reports from outside consultants who perform various IT related 
audits, and the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm regarding the effectiveness of the Company’s 
cybersecurity program in connection with its review of the Company’s financial statements.  
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Item 2. Properties 
 
The Company’s primary headquarters are located at 5790 Widewaters Parkway, Dewitt, New York, which is leased.  During 
2023, the Company entered into a lease arrangement for a new primary headquarters located at 333 Butternut Drive, Dewitt, New 
York, which is expected to begin utilization in 2025.  The Company has 257 properties, of which 152 are owned and 105 are 
under lease arrangements, excluding 18 properties that are in process of being opened for business in connection with the Bank’s 
de novo branch expansions, of which three are owned and 15 are under lease arrangements.  The majority of the Company’s 
properties are used by the Banking and Corporate segment which operates 185 full-service bank branches, 11 drive-thru only 
bank facilities and 21 facilities for back office banking and corporate operations.  The Employee Benefit Services segment uses 
16 properties including 15 customer service facilities and one facility for back office operations, all of which are leased.  The 
Insurance Services segment uses 22 customer service facilities, all of which are leased.  Certain properties are shared for 
operations of multiple segments, including most of the properties in use by the Wealth Management Services segment.  Certain 
properties also contain tenant leases or subleases. 
 
Real property and related banking facilities owned by the Company at December 31, 2024 had a net book value of $106.1 million, 
of which $1.4 million was held for sale, and none of the properties were subject to any material encumbrances.  For the year 
ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid $11.2 million of rental fees for facilities leased for its operations.  The Company 
believes that its facilities are suitable and adequate for the Company’s current operations. 
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries are subject in the normal course of business to various pending and threatened legal 
proceedings or other matters in which claims for monetary damages are asserted.  Information on current legal proceedings and 
other matters is set forth in Note M to the consolidated financial statements included under Part II, Item 8.   
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 
 
Not Applicable 
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Part II 
 
Item 5.  Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities 
 
The Company’s common stock has been trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CBU” since December 
31, 1997.  Prior to that, the common stock traded over-the-counter on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol 
“CBSI” beginning on September 16, 1986. There were 52,712,324 shares of common stock outstanding on January 31, 2025, 
held by approximately 3,317 registered shareholders of record. 
 
The Company has historically paid regular quarterly cash dividends on its common stock and declared a cash dividend of 
$0.46 per share for the first quarter of 2025.  The Board presently intends to continue the payment of regular quarterly cash 
dividends on the common stock.  However, because the substantial majority of the funds available for the payment of 
dividends by the Company are derived from the subsidiary Bank, future dividends will depend largely upon the earnings of the 
Bank, its financial condition, its need for funds and applicable governmental policies and regulations.  
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The following graph compares cumulative total shareholders returns on the Company’s common stock over the last five fiscal 
years to the S&P 600 Commercial Banks Index, the NASDAQ Bank Index, the S&P 500 Index, and the KBW Regional Banking 
Index. Total return values were calculated as of December 31 of each indicated year assuming a $100 investment on December 
31, 2019 and reinvestment of dividends.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information 
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2024 with respect to shares of common stock that may be issued 
under the Company’s existing equity compensation plans. 
 

Plan Category 

Number of 
Securities to be 

Issued upon 
Exercise of 
Outstanding 

Options, Warrants 
and Rights (1) 

Weighted-average 
Exercise Price      
of Outstanding 

Options, Warrants 
and Rights (2) 

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available 
for Future Issuance 

Under Equity 
Compensation Plans 
(excluding securities 
reflected in the first 

column) 
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:    
  2004 Long-term Incentive Plan 30,002 $23.04 0 
  2014 Long-term Incentive Plan 1,129,405 55.87 0 
  2022 Long-term Incentive Plan 739,150 34.49 1,235,610 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 0 0 0 
     Total 1,898,557 $47.03 1,235,610 
 
(1) The number of securities includes 254,630 shares of unvested restricted stock, including performance award restricted stock, 
comprised of 41,649 shares associated with the 2014 Long-term Incentive Plan and 212,981 shares associated with the 2022 
Long-term Incentive Plan. 
(2) Excluding the impact of unvested restricted stock, including performance award restricted stock, the total weighted-average 
exercise price is $54.31, the weighted-average exercise price associated with the 2014 Long-term Incentive Plan is $58.01 and the 
weighted-average exercise price associated with the 2022 Long-term Incentive Plan is $48.45. 
 
Stock Repurchase Program 
At its December 2024 meeting, the Board approved a new stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase, at the discretion 
of senior management, of up to 2,628,000 shares, or 5.0% of the Company’s common stock outstanding, in accordance with 
securities and banking laws and regulations, during the twelve-month period starting January 1, 2025.  Any repurchased shares 
will be used for general corporate purposes, including those related to stock plan activities.  The timing and extent of repurchases 
will depend on market conditions and other corporate considerations as determined at the Company’s discretion.  At its December 
2023 meeting, the Board approved a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase, at the discretion of senior 
management, of up to 2,697,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, in accordance with securities and banking laws and 
regulations, during the twelve-month period starting January 1, 2024.  There were 1,000,000 shares of treasury stock purchases 
made under this authorization in 2024. 
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The following table presents stock purchases made during the fourth quarter of 2024: 
 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
     

Period 

Total 
Number of 

Shares 
Purchased 

Average 
Price Paid 
Per Share 

Total Number of Shares 
Purchased as Part of 
Publicly Announced 
Plans or Programs 

Maximum Number of Shares 
That May Yet be Purchased 
Under the Plans or Programs 

October 1-31, 2024 (1)  826 $57.28 0 1,697,000 
November 1-30, 2024 0 0.00 0 1,697,000 
December 1-31, 2024 0 0.00 0 1,697,000 
  Total (1) 826 $57.28 0  
 
(1) Included in the common shares repurchased were 826 shares acquired by the Company in connection with the 
administration of a deferred compensation plan.  These shares were not repurchased as part of the publicly announced 
repurchase plan described above. 
 
Item 6. [Reserved]  
 
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) primarily reviews the 
financial condition and results of operations of the Company for the past two years, although in some circumstances a period 
longer than two years is covered in order to comply with SEC disclosure requirements or to more fully explain long-term trends.  
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and 
related notes that appear on pages 84 through 151.  All references in the discussion to the financial condition and results of 
operations refer to the consolidated position and results of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
 
Unless otherwise noted, all earnings per share (“EPS”) figures disclosed in the MD&A refer to diluted EPS.  The term “this year” 
and equivalent terms refer to results in calendar year 2024, “last year” and equivalent terms refer to calendar year 2023, and all 
references to income statement results correspond to full-year activity unless otherwise noted.   
 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results of operations, and 
business of the Company.  These forward-looking statements involve certain risks and uncertainties.  Factors that may cause 
actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by such forward-looking statements are provided under the caption 
“Forward-Looking Statements” on page 76. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
 
As a result of the complex and dynamic nature of the Company’s business, management must exercise judgment in selecting and 
applying the most appropriate accounting policies for its various areas of operations.  The policy decision process not only 
ensures compliance with the current accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), but also 
reflects management’s discretion with regard to choosing the most suitable methodology for reporting the Company’s financial 
performance.  It is management’s opinion that the accounting estimates covering certain aspects of the business have more 
significance than others due to the relative importance of those areas to overall performance, or the level of subjectivity in the 
selection process.  These estimates affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as disclosures of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could meaningfully differ from these estimates.  Management considers its 
critical accounting estimates those that involve a significant level of estimation uncertainty and have had or are reasonably likely 
to have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.  Management believes that the critical 
accounting estimates include the allowance for credit losses; actuarial assumptions associated with the pension, post-retirement 
and other employee benefit plans; and the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets.  A summary of the accounting 
policies used by management is disclosed in Note A, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”, starting on page 89.   
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Allowance for Credit Losses 
 
The allowance for credit losses (“ACL”) represents management’s judgment of an estimated amount of lifetime losses expected to 
be incurred on outstanding loans at the balance sheet date.  This is estimated using relevant available information from internal 
and external sources relating to past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts.  The determination of 
the appropriateness of the ACL is complex and applies significant and highly subjective estimates.  The ACL is measured on a 
collective (pooled) basis for loan segments that share similar risk characteristics, including collateral type, credit ratings/scores, 
size, duration, interest rate structure, origination vintage and payment structure.  The Company utilizes three methods for 
calculating the ACL: cumulative loss, vintage loss and line loss.  Historical credit loss experience provides the basis for the 
estimation of expected future credit losses in all three methodologies.  Qualitative adjustments are made for differences in loan-
specific risk characteristics such as differences in underwriting standards, portfolio mix, acquisition status, current levels of 
delinquencies, net charge-offs and risk ratings, as well as actual and forecasted macroeconomic variables.  Macroeconomic data 
includes unemployment rates, changes in collateral values such as home prices, commercial real estate prices including office 
property-specific price forecasts, office property-specific vacancy rates, automobile prices, gross domestic product, and median 
household income net of inflation.  Management utilizes judgment in determining and applying the qualitative factors and 
weighting the economic scenarios used, which include baseline, upside and downside forecasts.  During 2024, the Company 
updated the ACL model to add 2023 results into the historical data used for calculating the quantitative and qualitative factors as 
part of the annual model update procedures; updated the ACL model to incorporate office property-specific price forecasts and 
office property-specific vacancy forecasts to provide greater precision to the model; applied an additional qualitative overlay to 
the factor for volume and size of business lending loans and risk rating trends to capture future loss expectations in that portfolio; 
and utilized the current quarter levels of risk ratings in the qualitative factor calculation, rather than a four-quarter average, to 
more precisely capture the risk profile of the current business lending portfolio.  
 
One of the most significant estimates and judgments influencing the results of the ACL calculation is the macroeconomic 
forecasts.  Changes in these economic forecasts could significantly affect the estimated expected credit losses and lead to 
materially different amounts from one period to the next.  To illustrate the sensitivity of the ACL calculation to these economic 
forecasts, management performed a hypothetical sensitivity analysis using a weighting of 100% to the downside forecast, rather 
than the existing weighting of baseline, upside, and downside of 40%, 30%, and 30%, respectively.  The scenario-weighted 
average unemployment rate and GDP growth forecasts used in the ACL model at December 31, 2024 were 4.8% and 1.8%, 
respectively, compared to 4.5% and 1.7% at December 31, 2023, respectively.  The hypothetical downside forecast includes 
assumptions of a weakening economy represented by a cumulative decline in real GDP of 2.6%, enhanced geopolitical tensions, 
elevated inflation, a peak unemployment rate of 8.3% and an average unemployment rate of 6.9%.  The Company calculated that 
this hypothetical scenario would increase the ACL and provision for credit losses as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024 
by approximately $4.7 million, and decrease net income by $3.5 million (net of tax).  This change is reflective of the sensitivity of 
the various economic factors used in the ACL model.  The resulting difference is not intended to represent an expected increase in 
allowance levels, as future conditions are uncertain and there are several other quantitative and qualitative factors that will also 
fluctuate concurrent with changing economic conditions, which would affect the results of the ACL calculation.  The impact that 
the economic factors have on the model is affected by the upside or downside severity of the scenarios used, the product type mix, 
and the interaction of the economic factors with other quantitative and qualitative factors in the model, as changes in any 
particular factor or input may not occur at the same rate or be directionally consistent across all loan segments. Improvements in 
one factor may offset deterioration in other factors, both qualitative and quantitative.  The third party downside economic forecast 
used in the hypothetical scenario described does not predict a severe economic downturn, but rather a moderate recessionary 
environment.  The Company’s geographic distribution of loans primarily outside of major metropolitan areas, combined with low 
statistical correlation between its historical losses and national economic indicators, results in changes to the allowance that are 
less significant as compared to economic metric-based modeling that is more directly correlated, and therefore sensitive to 
fluctuations in historical and projected national economic activity.  Further details regarding the methodologies applied to 
estimate the various components of the ACL are provided in Note A, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”, starting on 
page 89. 
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Pension, Post-Retirement and Other Employee Benefit Plans 
 
The Company provides a qualified defined benefit pension to eligible employees and retirees, other post-retirement health and life 
insurance benefits to certain retirees, an unfunded supplemental pension plan for certain key executives and an unfunded stock 
balance plan for certain of its nonemployee directors.  The benefit obligations for the pension and post-retirement benefits plans 
require significant management judgment.  The assumptions used in calculating the benefit obligation include the discount rate, 
expected return on plan assets, rate of compensation increase and interest crediting rates.  The discount rate was determined based 
upon the yield on high-quality fixed income investments expected to be available during the period to maturity of the pension 
benefits.  The expected long-term rate of return was estimated by taking into consideration asset allocation, long-term capital 
market assumptions, reviewing historical returns on the type of assets held and current economic factors.  Mortality tables are also 
utilized in calculating the benefit obligation, the selection of which is based on management judgment.  The Company analyzed 
the sensitivity of the discount rate and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets on the pension benefit obligation and 
net periodic pension cost.  At December 31, 2024, a decrease in the discount rate of 100 basis points would increase the pension 
benefit obligation by $11.6 million, while an increase in the discount rate of 100 basis points would decrease the pension benefit 
obligation by $9.8 million. For the year ended December 31, 2024, a decrease in the discount rate of 100 basis points would 
reduce the net periodic pension income by $1.2 million, while an increase in the discount rate of 100 basis points would increase 
the net periodic pension income by $0.7 million.  A decrease in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 100 basis 
points would reduce the net periodic pension income by $2.6 million, while an increase of 100 basis points would increase net 
periodic pension income by $2.6 million.  Further detail on the assumptions used and a comparison between 2024 and 2023 
assumptions is included in Note J, “Pension and Other Benefit Plans”, starting on page 123. 
 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
 
The initial carrying value of goodwill is impacted by the initial carrying value of intangible assets including core deposit 
intangibles, customer relationship intangibles and acquired loans that are recorded at their fair value as of the date of 
acquisition.  Management judgment and estimates are involved in determining the initial and ongoing carrying value of 
goodwill and other intangible assets.  Initial and ongoing carrying values require the assessment of fair value based on 
discounted cash flow modeling techniques and inputs such as discount rates, required equity market premiums, peer volatility 
indicators and company-specific risk indicators.  Core deposit intangibles and customer relationship intangibles are amortized 
on either an accelerated or straight-line basis over periods ranging from seven to 20 years, based on management judgment. 
 
The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment on an annual basis and performs a quarterly analysis to determine if any 
triggering events have occurred that would require an interim evaluation.  In accordance with FASB ASC 350, the Company 
evaluates whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair 
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, and performs either a qualitative or quantitative assessment, 
depending on circumstances and management judgment.  The qualitative assessment requires significant management 
judgment, and if the qualitative assessment indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is not 
less than its carrying value, no quantitative analysis is necessary.  The inputs for the qualitative analysis that require 
management judgment include macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, financial performance of the 
reporting unit and other relevant events that affect the fair value of a reporting unit. 
 
During 2024, the Company performed qualitative goodwill analyses for all of the Company’s operating segments.  The inputs 
for the qualitative analyses that require management judgment include macroeconomic conditions, industry and market 
conditions, financial performance of the operating unit and other relevant factors that affect the fair value of a reporting unit, 
including an assessment of the quantitative goodwill analysis performed as of October 1, 2023.  Based on the Company’s 
annual qualitative impairment analysis of goodwill as of October 1, 2024, it was determined that it was more likely than not 
that the fair value of each reporting unit was in excess of its respective carrying value, therefore goodwill was not impaired.  
The Company also performs sensitivity analyses around assumptions for key inputs including the discount rates in order to 
assess the reasonableness of the assumptions utilized.  A 100 basis point increase in the discount rates used in each operating 
segment model would reduce estimated entity level fair value in total by approximately $275.1 million at the October 1, 2023 
valuation date and was determined it would more likely than not result in no impairment of goodwill, as each reporting unit’s 
fair value would still exceed its carrying value. 
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Supplemental Reporting of Non-GAAP Results of Operations 
 
The Company also provides supplemental reporting of its results on an “operating” or “tangible” basis.  During the first quarter 
of 2024, the Company modified the presentation of its non-GAAP operating results to exclude amortization of intangible 
assets which the Company believes better reflects core performance across its segments and enhances comparability to both 
banking and non-banking organizations.  The prior period has been recast to conform to the current period presentation.  
Results on an “operating” basis exclude the after-tax effects of acquisition expenses, acquisition-related contingent 
consideration adjustments, litigation accrual, restructuring expenses, gain on debt extinguishment, loss on sales of investment 
securities, unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities and amortization of intangible assets.  Results on a “tangible” basis 
exclude goodwill and intangible asset balances, net of accumulated amortization and applicable deferred tax amounts.  
Although these items are non-GAAP measures, the Company’s management believes this information helps investors and 
analysts measure underlying core performance and improves comparability to other organizations that have not engaged in 
acquisitions or restructuring activities.  In addition, the Company provides supplemental reporting for “operating pre-tax, pre-
provision net revenues,” which excludes the provision for credit losses, acquisition expenses, acquisition-related contingent 
consideration adjustments, litigation accrual, restructuring expenses, gain on debt extinguishment, loss on sales of investment 
securities, unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities and amortization of intangible assets from income before income taxes.  
Although operating pre-tax, pre-provision net revenue is a non-GAAP measure, the Company’s management believes this 
information helps investors and analysts measure and compare the Company’s performance through a credit cycle by 
excluding the volatility in the provision for credit losses associated with the impact of CECL, helps investors and analysts 
measure underlying core performance and improves comparability to other organizations that have not engaged in acquisitions 
or restructuring activities.  The Company also provides supplemental reporting of its interest income, net interest income and 
net interest margin on a fully tax-equivalent (“FTE”) basis, which includes an adjustment to interest income and net interest 
income that represents taxes that would have been paid had nontaxable investment securities and loans been taxable.  Although 
fully tax-equivalent interest income, net interest income and net interest margin are non-GAAP measures, the Company’s 
management believes this information helps enhance comparability of the performance of assets that have different tax 
liabilities.  Reconciliations of GAAP amounts with corresponding non-GAAP amounts are presented in Table 20. 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Company’s business philosophy is to operate as a diversified financial services enterprise providing a broad array of 
banking and other financial services, including employee benefit services, insurance services and wealth management services, 
to retail, commercial, institutional and governmental customers.  The Company’s banking subsidiary is Community Bank, 
N.A. (the “Bank” or “CBNA”).  The Company’s Benefit Plans Administrative Services, Inc. (“BPAS”) subsidiary is a leading 
provider of employee benefits administration, trust services, collective investment fund administration and actuarial consulting 
services to customers on a national scale.  In addition, the Company offers comprehensive financial planning, trust 
administration and wealth management services through its Wealth Management Group operating unit and insurance services 
through its OneGroup NY, Inc. (“OneGroup”) operating unit. 
 
The Company’s core operating objectives are: (i) maintain diverse revenue streams to achieve positive operating results in all 
four of the Company’s business units: banking and corporate, employee benefit services, insurance services, and wealth 
management services, (ii) utilize technology to deliver customer-responsive products and services and improve efficiencies, 
(iii) increase the noninterest component of total revenues through both organic and acquisition strategies, (iv) optimize the 
branch network and digital banking delivery systems, primarily through disciplined acquisition strategies, de novo expansions 
and divestitures/consolidations, (v) build profitable loan and deposit volume using both organic and acquisition strategies, and 
(vi) manage an investment securities portfolio to complement the Company’s loan and deposit strategies and mitigate interest 
rate and liquidity risk and optimize net interest income generation. 
 
Significant factors reviewed by management to evaluate achievement of the Company’s operating objectives and results and 
financial condition include, but are not limited to: net income and earnings per share; return on assets and equity; components of 
net interest margin; noninterest revenues; noninterest expenses; asset quality metrics; loan and deposit growth; capital 
management; performance of individual banking and financial services units; performance of specific product lines and 
customers; liquidity and interest rate sensitivity; enhancements to customer products and services and their underlying 
performance characteristics; technology advancements; market share; peer comparisons; the performance of recently acquired 
businesses and the performance of recently opened and consolidated branch offices. 
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The Company reported net income of $182.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 that was $50.6 million, or 38.3%, 
above the prior year, while earnings per share of $3.44 for the year was $0.99, or 40.4%, above the prior year.  The increases in 
net income and earnings per share included the impact of a $52.3 million pre-tax realized loss on sales of investment securities in 
the first quarter of 2023 as part of a balance sheet repositioning. 
 
Net income and earnings per share were also negatively impacted in 2023 by certain notable noninterest expense items including 
a litigation accrual associated with a threatened collective and class action matter that was settled in 2024, higher FDIC insurance 
costs due to a higher base assessment rate effective beginning 2023 and the impact of a special assessment, elevated fraud 
expenses and restructuring costs linked to a retail workforce optimization strategy.  Additionally, acquisition-related contingent 
consideration adjustments were elevated as result of an increase in probability of achievement of the earn-out objectives 
associated with previous acquisitions.  Excluding these items, the increase in noninterest expenses from 2023 was driven 
primarily by higher salaries and employee benefits reflective of merit and market-related increases in employee wages, higher 
employee medical benefit costs and acquisitions between the periods which increased the number of employees in the financial 
services businesses, partially offset by the impact of the previously announced retail banking customer service workforce 
optimization plan.  The provision for credit losses also increased from 2023 as the Company built reserves reflective of some 
degradation in certain asset quality metrics, an increase in loans outstanding and continued macroeconomic uncertainty primarily 
concerning the business real estate lending portfolio.  Income taxes increased in 2024, driven primarily by an increase in net 
income. 
 
Net interest income increased to $449.1 million in 2024, an $11.8 million, or 2.7%, increase from the prior year, marking the 
eighteenth consecutive year of net interest income growth.  The increase in 2024 was primarily due to increases in the yield on 
average interest-earning assets and average loan balances, partially offset by higher funding costs.  Noninterest revenues also 
increased in 2024, with record results in all four operating segments of banking, employee benefit services, insurance services and 
wealth management services. 
 
Net interest margin for full year 2024 of 3.04% and fully tax-equivalent net interest margin, a non-GAAP measure, of 3.07% both 
decreased seven basis points from the prior year period.  The yield on average interest earning assets increased 51 basis points 
compared to the prior year, as the yields on average loans, investments and interest-earning cash equivalents all improved.  The 
Company’s total cost of funds increased 61 basis points from the prior year as the rate paid on interest-bearing deposits and 
borrowings both increased. 
 
The Company’s average and ending interest-earning assets both increased year-over-year reflective of strong organic loan growth.  
Average and ending deposits also increased primarily driven by higher governmental deposit balances, reflective of competitive 
offerings and expansion of its governmental deposit relationship base due in part to the Company’s business development efforts.  
Average and ending external borrowings in 2024 increased from 2023 as the Company secured certain fixed rate Federal Home 
Loan Bank (“FHLB”) term borrowings during the year to support the funding of continued loan growth that resulted in earning 
asset growth that outpaced deposit growth. 
 
Asset quality remained solid throughout 2024.  Although the nonperforming and delinquency ratios increased from 2023 levels, 
primarily driven by the downgrade of certain business loans from accruing to nonaccrual status, and the full year net charge-off 
ratio increased slightly from the level one year earlier, these metrics remained below the Company’s 10-year historical averages.  
 
Operating net income, a non-GAAP measure, of $193.9 million, increased $1.2 million, or 0.6%, compared to the prior year, 
while operating earnings per share, a non-GAAP measure, of $3.65 increased $0.08, or 2.2%, from last year.  Operating pre-tax, 
pre-provision net revenue (“PPNR”), a non-GAAP measure, of $273.6 million, increased $17.2 million, or 6.7%, compared to 
2023, while operating PPNR per share, a non-GAAP measure, of $5.15, increased $0.39, or 8.2%, compared to the prior year 
demonstrating improvement in the Company’s core operating performance between the periods. 
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Net Income and Profitability 
 
Net income for 2024 was $182.5 million, an increase of $50.6 million, or 38.3%, from 2023.  Earnings per share for 2024 was 
$3.44, an increase of $0.99, or 40.4%, from 2023’s results.  Net income and earnings per share for 2023 were unfavorably 
impacted by certain notable non-operating items including a $52.3 million pre-tax realized loss on the sales of investment 
securities, a $5.8 million litigation accrual associated with a threatened collective and class action matter that was settled in 2024, 
$3.3 million of acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments associated with potential future contingent consideration 
payments for the FBD and TGA acquisitions completed in 2021, and $1.2 million of restructuring expenses linked to a retail 
workforce optimization strategy.  Operating net income, a non-GAAP measure, of $193.9 million, increased $1.2 million, or 
0.6%, compared to the prior year, while operating earnings per share, a non-GAAP measure, of $3.65 increased $0.08, or 2.2%, 
from last year.  Operating PPNR, a non-GAAP measure, of $273.6 million, increased $17.2 million, or 6.7%, compared to 2023, 
while operating PPNR per share, a non-GAAP measure, of $5.15, increased $0.39, or 8.2%, compared to the prior year 
demonstrating improvement in the Company’s noncredit-related operating performance between the periods.  See Table 20 for 
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures. 
 
Net income for 2023 was $131.9 million, a decrease of $56.2 million, or 29.9%, from 2022.  Earnings per share for 2023 was 
$2.45, down $1.01, or 29.2%, from 2022’s results.  Net income and earnings per share for 2023 were unfavorably impacted by 
certain notable non-operating items as noted above.  This is compared to 2022 in which the Company incurred $5.0 million of 
acquisition expenses and a $3.9 million acquisition-related provision for credit losses related to the Elmira acquisition and $0.3 
million of acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments.  Operating net income, a non-GAAP measure, of $192.7 
million decreased $14.0 million, or 6.8%, compared to the prior year, while operating PPNR, a non-GAAP measure, of $256.4 
million decreased $18.7 million, or 6.8%, compared to 2022.  Operating earnings per share, a non-GAAP measure, of $3.57 
decreased $0.23, or 6.1%, compared to the prior year, while operating PPNR per share, a non-GAAP measure, of $4.76 decreased 
$0.30, or 5.9%, compared to 2022.  See Table 20 for Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures.  
 

Table 1: Condensed Income Statements 
 

  Years Ended December 31, 
(000’s omitted, except per share data) 2024 2023 2022 
Net interest income $449,117 $437,285 $420,630 
Provision for credit losses 22,773 11,203 14,773 
Loss on sales of investment securities (487) (52,329) 0 
Unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities 1,231 (47) (44) 
Gain on debt extinguishment 0 242 0 
Other noninterest revenues 296,442 266,968 258,769 
Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustment 244 3,280 (300) 
Acquisition expenses 213 63 5,021 
Restructuring expenses 0 1,163 0 
Litigation accrual 138 5,800 0 
Other noninterest expenses 486,230 462,379 419,547 
Income before taxes 236,705 168,231 240,314 
Income taxes 54,224 36,307 52,233 
Net income $182,481  $131,924  $188,081  

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 53,098 53,908 54,361 
Diluted earnings per share $3.44 $2.45 $3.46 
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The Company operates four businesses: Banking, Employee Benefit Services, Insurance Services and Wealth Management 
Services.  These businesses are aggregated into the following four reportable segments: Banking and Corporate, Employee 
Benefit Services, Insurance Services and Wealth Management Services.  The Banking and Corporate segment provides a wide 
array of lending and depository-related products and services to individuals, businesses, and governmental units with branch 
locations in Upstate New York as well as Northeastern Pennsylvania, Vermont and Western Massachusetts.  In addition to these 
general intermediation services, the Banking and Corporate segment provides treasury management solutions and payment 
processing services.  The Banking and Corporate segment also holds and manages the Company’s investment and borrowing 
portfolios and includes certain banking support and corporate overhead-related expenses.  Employee Benefit Services, consisting 
of BPAS and its subsidiaries, provides the following on a national basis: employee benefit trust, collective investment fund, 
retirement plan and health savings account administration, fund administration, transfer agency, actuarial, and health and welfare 
consulting services.  BPAS services more than 6,100 benefit plans with approximately 910,000 plan participants and supports 
$117.3 billion in employee benefit trust assets as of December 31, 2024.  In addition, BPAS employs 459 professionals serving 
clients in every U.S. state plus the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and occupies 16 offices located in New York, Pennsylvania, 
Massachusetts, New Jersey, Texas, Minnesota, South Dakota, Washington, Florida and Puerto Rico.  The Insurance Services 
segment includes the operating subsidiary OneGroup, a full-service insurance agency offering personal and commercial lines of 
insurance and other risk management products and services.  The Insurance Services segment includes 267 employees and 22 
customer service facilities in New York, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, South Carolina and Florida.  Wealth Management Services 
include trust services provided by Nottingham Trust, a division of CBNA, broker-dealer and investment advisory services 
provided by Community Investment Services, Inc. (“CISI”), The Carta Group, Inc. (“Carta Group”) and OneGroup Wealth 
Partners, Inc. (“Wealth Partners”), as well as asset management provided by Nottingham Advisors, Inc. (“Nottingham”).  The 
Wealth Management Services segment includes 113 employees and assets under management or administration of $13.2 billion at 
the end of 2024.  For additional financial information on the Company’s segments, refer to Note S – Segment Information in the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
The primary factors explaining full year 2024 financial performance are discussed in the remaining sections of this document and 
are summarized by segment as follows: 
 
BANKING AND CORPORATE 
 Banking and corporate net interest income increased $10.7 million, or 2.5%.  This was the result of a 51 basis point increase 

in the average yield on interest-earning assets and a $672.7 million increase in average interest-earning assets, partially offset 
by an $871.7 million increase in average interest-bearing liabilities and a 77 basis point increase in the average rate on 
interest-bearing liabilities.  Average loans grew $849.0 million, driven by organic growth in all loan categories, and the yield 
on loans increased 59 basis points from the prior year, primarily due to market-related increases in interest rates on new loan 
originations, as well as higher average yields on floating and adjustable-rate loans held in the portfolio.  Also contributing to 
the growth in interest income was an increase in the average yield on investments including cash equivalents of nine basis 
points, offset by a $176.3 million decrease in the average book value of investments, including cash equivalents, driven 
primarily by the maturities of certain lower-yielding available-for-sale investment securities during the year.  The increase in 
interest expense was driven by an increase in average interest-bearing deposit balances of $585.7 million, an increase in 
average borrowings of $286.0 million and a 60 basis point increase in the cost of funds to 1.36%.   
 

 The provision for credit losses of $22.8 million increased $11.6 million from the prior year’s provision of $11.2 million, 
reflective of organic loan growth, some degradation of certain asset quality metrics, and relatively stable economic forecasts.  
Net charge-offs of $10.1 million were $4.3 million higher than 2023, as net charge-offs increased in all portfolios except for 
consumer mortgage, but remained below 10-year historical averages.  This resulted in an annual net charge-off ratio (net 
charge-offs / total average loans) of 0.10%, which was four basis points higher than the prior year, but one basis point below 
the 10-year historical average of 0.11%.  Year-end nonperforming loans as a percentage of total loans and nonperforming 
assets as a percentage of loans and other real estate owned increased 14 and 16 basis points, respectively, as compared to 
December 31, 2023 levels, primarily attributable to an increase in nonperforming business lending loan balances.  Additional 
information on trends and policy related to asset quality is provided in the asset quality section on pages 67 through 70. 
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 Banking and corporate noninterest revenues, excluding realized and unrealized gains and losses on investment securities and 
gain on debt extinguishment, of $78.1 million for 2024 increased by $8.2 million from 2023’s level.  The increase was 
reflective of customer interest rate swap fee revenues associated with the Company’s implementation of this product offering 
in 2024, an increase in mortgage banking revenues, increases in deposit service fees, and an increase in fee revenues from 
commercial real estate transaction advisory and placement services. 

 
 Banking and corporate noninterest expenses, excluding amortization of intangible assets, acquisition-related expenses, 

litigation accrual and restructuring expenses, increased $8.4 million, or 2.7%, in 2024, driven by a $3.7 million, or 2.1%, 
increase in salaries and employee benefits and a $3.6 million, or 7.5%, increase in data processing and communications along 
with increases in occupancy and equipment, business development and marketing and other expenses, partially offset by a 
decrease in legal and professional fees. 

 
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT SERVICES 
 Employee benefit services total revenues for 2024 of $137.4 million increased $14.5 million, or 11.8%, from the prior year 

level, including a $0.9 million increase in net interest income due to increases in market interest rates on interest-earning cash 
and a $13.6 million, or 11.2%, increase in noninterest revenues from the prior year level, driven by new business and a year-
over-year increase in the total participants under administration, along with growth in asset-based fee revenues due to market 
appreciation. 
 

 Employee benefit services noninterest expenses for 2024 totaled $81.6 million.  This represented an increase from 2023 of 
$8.5 million, or 11.7%, and was primarily attributable to an $8.2 million, or 14.8%, increase in salaries and employee 
benefits that was impacted by an increase in the number of employees as a result of the CPD acquisition. 

 
INSURANCE SERVICES 
 Insurance services total revenue for 2024 of $50.5 million increased $3.2 million, or 6.7%, from the prior year level as net 

interest income was consistent with the prior year and noninterest revenues increased $3.2 million, or 6.6%, from the prior 
year level.  The increase in insurance services revenue was due to organic and acquisition-related growth between the 
periods. 

 

 Insurance services noninterest expenses of $43.1 million increased $4.4 million, or 11.4%, from 2023, primarily due to a $4.3 
million, or 14.1%, increase in salaries and employee benefits reflective of merit and market-related increases in personnel 
costs, acquisition activities, and the continued buildout of resources to support an expanding revenue base. 

 
WEALTH MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
 Wealth management services total revenue for 2024 of $38.7 million increased $5.0 million, or 14.9%, from 2023, reflective 

of more favorable investment market conditions that drove increases in assets under management between the periods and an 
increase in investment advisory customer accounts. 
 

 Wealth management services noninterest expenses of $28.1 million increased $3.1 million, or 12.2%, from 2023, primarily 
due to a $2.8 million, or 13.6%, increase in salaries and employee benefits reflective of merit and market-related increases in 
personnel costs and higher commission-based compensation driven by the increase in revenues. 
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Selected Profitability and Other Measures 
 
Return on average assets, return on average equity, dividend payout and average equity to average asset ratios for the years 
indicated are as follows: 
 

Table 2: Selected Ratios 
 

  2024 2023 2022 
Return on average assets 1.14% 0.87% 1.21% 
Return on average equity 10.76% 8.27% 10.85% 
Dividend payout ratio 52.6% 72.4% 49.9% 
Average equity to average assets 10.60% 10.47% 11.14% 

 
As displayed in Table 2, the 2024 return on average assets ratio increased 27 basis points, while the return on average equity ratio 
increased 249 basis points as compared to 2023.  The increase in the return on average assets was the result of an increase in net 
income that was impacted by a $52.3 million pre-tax realized loss on sales of investment securities in the prior year, partially 
offset by an increase in average assets driven by strong organic loan growth.  The return on average equity ratio increased in 2024 
as net income increased, which was impacted by the aforementioned loss on sales of investment securities, while average equity 
increased driven by an increase in retained earnings and a decrease in the average accumulated other comprehensive loss related 
to the Company’s investment securities portfolio.  The return on average assets ratio in 2023 decreased 34 basis points from 2022, 
while the return on average equity ratio decreased 258 basis points as compared to 2022, primarily as a result of a decrease in net 
income impacted by the aforementioned loss on sales of investment securities. This was partially offset by a decrease in average 
assets, primarily related to the sales and maturities of certain lower-yielding available-for-sale investment securities, partially 
offset by strong organic loan growth during the year.  The return on average equity ratio decreased in 2023 as net income 
decreased, which was impacted by the aforementioned loss on sales of investment securities, which was only partially offset by a 
decrease in average equity due primarily to an increase in the average accumulated other comprehensive loss related to the 
Company’s investment securities portfolio.   
 
The return on average assets adjusted to exclude acquisition expenses, acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments, 
restructuring expenses, loss on sales of investment securities, unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities, litigation accrual, gain on 
debt extinguishment and amortization of intangibles (“operating return on average assets”), a non-GAAP measure, decreased five 
basis points to 1.21% in 2024, as compared to 1.26% in 2023.  The return on average equity adjusted to exclude acquisition 
expenses, acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments, restructuring expenses, loss on sales of investment securities, 
unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities, litigation accrual, gain on debt extinguishment and amortization of intangibles 
(“operating return on average equity”), a non-GAAP measure, decreased 65 basis points to 11.43% in 2024, from 12.08% in 
2023.  See Table 20 beginning on page 77 for Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures.  
 
The dividend payout ratio for 2024 of 52.6% decreased from 72.4% in 2023 driven by a 38.3% increase in net income and a 0.5% 
increase in dividends declared.  The increase in dividends declared in 2024 was a result of a 2.2% increase in the dividends 
declared per share, partially offset by a 1.2% decrease in common shares outstanding as a result of share repurchases during the 
year.  The dividend payout ratio for 2023 of 72.4% increased from 49.9% in 2022 driven by a 29.9% decrease in net income, 
which was impacted by the aforementioned loss on sales of investment securities, and a 1.7% increase in dividends declared.  The 
increase in dividends declared in 2023 was a result of a 2.3% increase in the dividends declared per share, partially offset by a 
0.8% decrease in common shares outstanding as a result of share repurchases during the year. 
 
The average equity to average assets ratio increased in 2024 due to an increase in average equity driven by the aforementioned 
increase in retained earnings and decrease in the average accumulated other comprehensive loss related to the Company’s 
investment securities portfolio, partially offset by an increase in average assets primarily driven by strong organic loan growth.  
During 2024, average equity increased 6.3% while average assets increased 4.9%.  In 2023, the average equity to average assets 
ratio decreased in comparison to 2022 as average equity decreased 7.9% driven by an increase in the average accumulated other 
comprehensive loss related to the Company’s investment securities portfolio, while average assets decreased 2.1% due to the sales 
and maturities of certain lower-yielding available-for-sale investment securities, partially offset by strong organic loan growth 
during the year. 
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Net Interest Income 
 
Net interest income is the amount by which interest, dividends and fees on interest-earning assets (loans, investments and cash 
equivalents) exceeds the cost of funds, which consists primarily of interest paid to the Company's depositors and interest paid 
on borrowings.  Net interest margin is the difference between the yield on interest-earning assets and the cost of interest-
bearing liabilities as a percentage of interest-earning assets. 
 
Net interest income totaled $449.1 million in 2024, an increase of $11.8 million, or 2.7%, from the prior year.  As disclosed in 
Table 3, fully tax-equivalent net interest income, a non-GAAP measure, totaled $452.8 million in 2024, an increase of $11.3 
million, or 2.6%, from the prior year.  The increase is a result of a 51 basis point increase in the yield on average interest-earning 
assets and a $676.8 million, or 4.8%, increase in average interest-earning asset balances, partially offset by a 76 basis point 
increase in the rate paid on average interest-bearing liabilities and an $871.4 million, or 9.0%, increase in average interest-bearing 
liability balances.  As reflected in Table 4, the favorable impact of the increases in the yield on average interest-earning assets 
($74.4 million) and average interest-earnings asset balances ($27.2 million) were partially offset by the unfavorable impacts of the 
increases in the rate paid on average interest-bearing liabilities ($80.2 million) and average interest-bearing liability balances 
($10.1 million). 
 
The 2024 net interest margin decreased seven basis points to 3.04% from 3.11% reported in 2023, while the fully tax-equivalent 
net interest margin, a non-GAAP measure, also decreased seven basis points to 3.07% from the 3.14% reported in the prior year.  
These decreases were the result of a 76 basis point increase in the rate paid on average interest-bearing liabilities, partially offset 
by a 51 basis point increase in the yield on interest-earning assets and a higher proportion of those assets being comprised of 
higher yielding loan balances due to strong organic loan growth.  The increases in the yield on interest-earnings assets and rate on 
interest-bearing liabilities were primarily due to the impact of higher market rates during most of 2024.  The 5.43% yield on 
average loans in 2024 increased 59 basis points as compared to 4.84% in 2023 reflective of higher interest rates on new and 
adjustable rate loans during the year.  The yield on investments, including cash equivalents, of 2.15% in 2024 was 10 basis points 
higher than 2023 primarily due to higher yields on investment purchases during the year and the favorable impact higher market 
rates had on the yield earned on cash equivalents.  The cost of interest-bearing liabilities was 1.84% during 2024 as compared to 
1.08% for 2023.  The increased cost reflects the 72 basis point increase in the rate paid on average deposits due in part to a shift in 
deposit mix as customers responded to changes in market interest rates by moving funds into higher yielding account types and 
the 83 basis point higher average rate paid on borrowings in 2024 that included the impact of $250.0 million of FHLB term 
borrowings secured during 2024. 
   
The 2023 net interest margin increased 22 basis points to 3.11% from 2.89% reported in 2022, while the fully tax-equivalent net 
interest margin, a non-GAAP measure, also increased 22 basis points to 3.14% from the 2.92% reported in 2022.  These increases 
were the result of an 80 basis point increase in the yield on interest-earning assets and a higher proportion of those assets being 
comprised of loan balances due to strong organic loan growth and the sales and maturities of certain lower-yielding available-for-
sale investment securities between the periods, partially offset by an 84 basis point increase in the rate paid on average interest-
bearing liabilities.  The increases in the yield on interest-earnings assets and rate on interest-bearing liabilities was primarily due 
to the impact of higher market rates during 2023, including a 100 basis point increase in the Federal Funds rate during the year as 
a result of the Federal Reserve Bank’s efforts to lower elevated inflation, with that movement and other market factors also 
contributing to average three, five and 10-year treasury rates all rising by more than 100 basis points.  The 4.84% yield on loans 
in 2023 increased 67 basis points as compared to 4.17% in 2022 due to market-related increases in interest rates on new loans, a 
significant increase in variable and adjustable-rate loan yields driven by rising market interest rates, including the prime rate and 
the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, as well as a high level of new loan originations.  The yield on investments, including cash 
equivalents, of 2.05% in 2023 was 33 basis points higher than 2022 primarily due to the impact of the sales and maturities of 
certain lower-yielding available-for-sale investment securities during the year along with an increase in market rates, including 
the impact that had on the yield earned on cash equivalents.  The cost of interest-bearing liabilities was 1.08% during 2023 as 
compared to 0.24% for 2022.  The increased cost reflects the 55 basis point increase in the rate paid on average deposits and the 
136 basis point higher average rate paid on borrowings in 2023. 
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Total interest income increased by $102.1 million, or 18.9%, while as shown in Table 3, total FTE-basis interest income, a non-
GAAP measure, increased by $101.6 million, or 18.6%, in 2024 compared to the prior year.  Average loans increased $849.0 
million, or 9.2%, in 2024.  This increase was driven by organic growth in all of the Company’s five main portfolios - business 
lending, consumer mortgage, consumer indirect, home equity and consumer direct.  Loan interest income and fees increased 
$100.6 million, or 22.6%, while FTE-basis loan interest income and fees, a non-GAAP measure, increased $100.7 million, or 
22.6%, in 2024 as compared to 2023.  These increases were attributable to the aforementioned higher average loan balances and 
the impact of a 59 basis point higher loan yield primarily due to higher interest rates on new and adjustable rate loans during the 
year.  Investment and interest-earning cash interest income in 2024 was $1.5 million, or 1.6%, higher than the prior year as a 
result of a 10 basis point increase in the average investment yield including cash equivalents and a $46.8 million increase in 
average cash equivalent balances, partially offset by a $219.0 million decrease in the average book basis balance of investments. 
 
Total interest income in 2023 increased by $97.7 million, or 22.0%, while total FTE-basis interest income, a non-GAAP measure, 
increased by $97.8 million, or 21.8%, in comparison to 2022.  A higher yield on interest-earning assets created $112.7 million of 
incremental interest income, while a lower average interest-earning asset balance had an unfavorable impact of $14.9 million on 
interest income in 2023.  Average loans increased $1.17 billion, or 14.6%, in 2023.  This increase was driven by increases in the 
average balance of the business lending, consumer indirect, consumer mortgage and home equity portfolios due to strong organic 
growth and the impact of the Elmira acquisition in May 2022, partially offset by a decrease in the average balance of the 
consumer direct portfolio.  Loan interest income and fees increased $110.1 million, or 32.9%, while FTE-basis loan interest 
income and fees, a non-GAAP measure, increased $110.2 million, or 32.8%, in 2023 as compared to 2022.  These increases were 
attributable to the aforementioned higher average loan balances and the impact of a 67 basis point higher loan yield due to 
market-related increases in interest rates on new loans and a significant increase in floating and adjustable-rate loan yields driven 
by rising market interest rates, including the treasury and prime rates during 2023.  Investment and interest-earning cash interest 
income in 2023 was $12.4 million, or 11.4%, lower than the prior year as a result of a $1.34 billion decrease in the average book 
basis balance of investments and a $304.7 million decrease in average cash equivalents, partially offset by a 33 basis point 
increase in the average investment yield including cash equivalents.  The higher average investment yield and the lower average 
book balance of investments was reflective of the sales and maturities of certain lower-yielding available-for-sale investment 
securities during 2023. 
 
Total interest expense increased by $90.3 million to $194.4 million in 2024 from $104.1 million in 2023.  As shown in Table 4, 
higher interest rates on interest-bearing liabilities resulted in an increase in interest expense of $80.2 million, while higher average 
interest-bearing liability balances resulted in a $10.1 million increase in interest expense.  Interest expense as a percentage of 
average interest-earning assets for 2024 increased 58 basis points to 1.32% from 0.74% in the prior year.  The rate on interest-
bearing deposits of 1.66% was 72 basis points higher than 2023, primarily due to an increase in certain product rates in response 
to changes in market interest rates during the year and a higher proportion of average money market and time deposit balances 
that carry a higher average rate than interest checking and savings deposits.  The rate on borrowings increased 83 basis points to 
3.80% in 2024, primarily due to the aforementioned increase in market interest rates.  Total average funding balances (deposits 
and borrowings) in 2024 increased $603.4 million, or 4.5%.  Average deposits increased $317.4 million, driven by an increase in 
average time and money market deposit balances partially offset by decreases in average demand, interest checking and savings 
deposit balances.  Average non-time deposit balances decreased $439.1 million, or 3.8%, and accounted for 84.6% of total 
average deposits in 2024 compared to 90.1% in 2023, reflective of shifts to higher-rate time and money market deposit accounts 
in the higher interest rate environment during most of 2024.  Average time deposit balances increased $756.6 million year-over-
year and represented 15.4% of total average deposits for 2024 compared to 9.9% in 2023.  Average external borrowings increased 
$286.0 million, or 45.3%, in 2024 as compared to 2023, primarily due to increases in average FHLB term borrowings of $360.1 
million and Federal Reserve short-term borrowings of $54.1 million, partially offset by decreases in average overnight 
borrowings of $97.8 million and average securities sold under agreement to repurchase (“customer repurchase agreements”) of 
$33.9 million.  The increase in average FHLB term borrowings was due to the Company securing $250.0 million of fixed rate 
borrowings in the second and third quarters of 2024 to meet the Company’s funding needs, including to support strong loan 
growth. 
 
  



49 
 

Total interest expense increased by $81.0 million to $104.1 million in 2023 from $23.1 million in 2022.  As shown in Table 4, 
higher interest rates on interest-bearing liabilities resulted in an increase in interest expense of $80.9 million, while higher average 
interest-bearing liability balances resulted in a $0.1 million increase in interest expense between 2022 and 2023.  Interest expense 
as a percentage of average earning assets for 2023 increased 58 basis points to 0.74% from 0.16% in 2022.  The rate on interest-
bearing deposits of 0.94% was 78 basis points higher than 2022, primarily due to an increase in certain product rates in response 
to changes in market interest rates during 2023 and a higher proportion of average time deposit balances that generally carry a 
higher average rate than interest checking, savings and money market deposits.  The rate on borrowings increased 136 basis 
points from 2022 to 2.97% in 2023, primarily due to the aforementioned increase in market interest rates.  Total average funding 
balances (deposits and borrowings) in 2023 decreased $196.3 million, or 1.4%.  Average deposits decreased $328.7 million, 
driven by a decrease in average non-time deposit balances partially offset by an increase in average time deposit balances.  
Average non-time deposit balances decreased $680.5 million, or 5.5%, and accounted for 90.1% of total average deposits in 2023 
compared to 93.0% in 2022, due in part to outflows driven by higher customer expenditure levels in the inflationary environment, 
increased rate competition from other banks and non-depository financial institutions and shifts to higher-rate time deposit 
accounts in the rising interest rate environment.  Average time deposit balances increased $351.8 million year-over-year and 
represented 9.9% of total average deposits for 2023 compared to 7.0% in 2022.  Average external borrowings increased $132.5 
million, or 26.5%, in 2023 as compared to 2022, primarily due to increases in average FHLB term borrowings of $127.8 million 
and average overnight borrowings of $9.5 million.  The increase in average FHLB term borrowings was due to the Company 
securing $400.0 million of fixed rate borrowings in the third and fourth quarters of 2023 to meet the Company’s funding needs, 
including to support strong loan growth. 
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The following table sets forth information related to average interest-earning assets and average interest-bearing liabilities and 
their associated yields and rates for the periods indicated.  Interest income and yields are on a fully tax-equivalent (“FTE”) basis 
using a marginal income tax rate of 25.0% for 2024, 24.4% in 2023 and 24.3% in 2022.  Average balances are computed by 
totaling the daily ending balances in a period and dividing by the number of days in that period.  Loan interest income and yields 
include amortization of deferred loan income and costs, loan prepayment, late and other fees and the accretion of acquired loan 
purchase discounts and premiums.  Average loan balances include acquired loan purchase discounts and premiums, nonaccrual 
loans and loans held for sale. 
 

Table 3: Average Balance Sheet 
 

 Year Ended December 31, 2024  Year Ended December 31, 2023  Year Ended December 31, 2022 

(000's omitted except yields and rates)  
Average 
Balance Interest  

Avg. 
Yield/ 

Rate Paid  
Average 
Balance Interest  

Avg. 
Yield/ 

Rate Paid 

 
Average 
Balance Interest  

Avg. 
Yield/ 

Rate Paid 
                  

Interest-earning assets:                  

   Cash equivalents $102,690 $5,290 5.15%  $55,881 $2,775 4.97% $360,542 $1,495 0.41% 
   Taxable investment securities (1) 4,136,337 80,444 1.94%  4,294,210 79,593 1.85% 5,639,310 93,876 1.66% 
   Nontaxable investment securities (1) 453,676 14,993 3.30%  514,802 17,395 3.38% 506,503 16,787 3.31% 
   Loans (net of unearned discount)(2) 10,062,177 546,522 5.43%  9,213,168 445,867 4.84% 8,042,310 335,645 4.17% 
       Total interest-earning assets 14,754,880 647,249 4.39%  14,078,061 545,630 3.88% 14,548,665 447,803 3.08% 
Noninterest-earning assets 1,235,817      1,164,823     1,018,474     
     Total assets $15,990,697      $15,242,884     $15,567,139     

Interest-bearing liabilities:                 
   Interest checking, savings and money 

market deposits $7,600,646 82,999 1.09%  $7,771,827 52,629 0.68% $8,194,558 8,030 0.10% 
   Time deposits 2,037,315 76,521 3.76%  1,280,751 32,708 2.55% 928,990 7,014 0.76% 
   Customer repurchase agreements 271,359 4,584 1.69%  305,213 3,094 1.01% 307,528 998 0.32% 
   Overnight borrowings 86,770 4,851 5.59%  184,581 9,349 5.06% 175,080 6,518 3.72% 
   FHLB and other borrowings 505,130 22,813 4.52%  140,816 6,285 4.46% 13,051 386 2.96% 
   Federal Reserve short-term 

borrowings 54,098 2,643 4.88%  0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 
   Subordinated notes payable 0 0 0.00%  765 38 4.96% 3,264 153 4.67% 
     Total interest-bearing liabilities 10,555,318 194,411 1.84%  9,683,953 104,103 1.08% 9,622,471 23,099 0.24% 
Noninterest-bearing liabilities:           
   Noninterest checking deposits 3,580,297    3,848,261   4,106,029   
   Other liabilities 159,288    114,946   105,118   
Shareholders' equity 1,695,794    1,595,724   1,733,521   
     Total liabilities and shareholders'  
         equity $15,990,697    $15,242,884   $15,567,139   

Net interest earnings   $452,838      $441,527    $424,704  

Net interest spread   2.52%    2.77% 2.81%
Net interest spread (FTE) (non-GAAP)     2.55%      2.80%   2.84%
Net interest margin on interest-earning 

assets   3.04%    3.11% 2.89%
Net interest margin on interest-earning 

assets (FTE) (non-GAAP)    3.07%     3.14%   2.92%

Fully tax-equivalent adjustment(3)   $3,721      $4,242      $4,074   
 

(1) Averages for investment securities are based on amortized cost basis and the yields do not give effect to changes in fair value that is reflected as a component of 
noninterest-earning assets, shareholders’ equity and deferred taxes. 

(2)  Includes nonaccrual loans.  The impact of interest and fees not recognized on nonaccrual loans was immaterial. 
(3) The FTE adjustment represents taxes that would have been paid had nontaxable investment securities and loans been taxable.  The adjustment enhances the 

comparability of the performance of assets that have different tax liabilities. 
  



51

As discussed above and disclosed in Table 4 below, the change in net interest income (FTE basis) may be analyzed by segregating 
the volume and rate components of the changes in interest income and interest expense for each underlying category.

Table 4: Rate/Volume

2024 Compared to 2023 2023 Compared to 2022
Increase (Decrease) Due to Change in (1) Increase (Decrease) Due to Change in (1)

(000's omitted) Volume Rate Net Change Volume Rate Net Change
Interest earned on:
  Cash equivalents $2,408 $107 $2,515 ($2,254) $3,534 $1,280
  Taxable investment securities (2,988) 3,839 851 (24,113) 9,830 (14,283)
  Nontaxable investment securities (2,027) (375) (2,402) 277 331 608
  Loans (net of unearned discount) 43,247 57,408 100,655 52,586 57,636 110,222
Total interest-earning assets (2) 27,156 74,463 101,619 (14,902) 112,729 97,827

Interest paid on:
  Interest checking, savings and           

money market deposits (1,184) 31,554 30,370 (435) 45,034 44,599
  Time deposits 24,382 19,431 43,813 3,524 22,170 25,694
  Customer repurchase agreements (376) 1,866 1,490 (8) 2,104 2,096
  Overnight borrowings (5,385) 887 (4,498) 371 2,460 2,831
  FHLB and other borrowings 16,452 76 16,528 5,608 291 5,899
  Federal Reserve short-term 

borrowings 2,643 0 2,643 0 0 0
  Subordinated notes payable (38) 0 (38) (115) 0 (115)
Total interest-bearing liabilities (2) 10,117 80,191 90,308 152 80,852 81,004

Net interest earnings (2) $20,913 ($9,602) $11,311 ($14,047) $30,870 $16,823
(1) The change in interest due to both rate and volume has been allocated to volume and rate changes in proportion to the relationship of the absolute dollar              

amounts of such change in each component.
(2) Changes due to volume and rate are computed from the respective changes in average balanceses and rates of the totals; they are not a summation of the changes 

of the components.
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Noninterest Revenues 
 
The Company’s sources of noninterest revenues are of four primary types: 1) general banking services related to loans, including 
mortgage banking, deposits, customer interest rate swap fees, commercial real estate transaction advisory and placement services, 
and other core customer activities typically provided through the branch network and digital banking channels (performed by 
CBNA); 2) employee benefit trust, collective investment fund, transfer agency, actuarial, benefit plan administration and 
recordkeeping services (performed by BPAS and its subsidiaries); 3) wealth management services, comprised of trust services 
(performed by the Nottingham Trust division within CBNA), broker-dealer and investment advisory products and services 
(performed by Community Investment Services Inc. (“CISI”), OneGroup Wealth Partners, Inc. and The Carta Group, Inc.) and 
asset management services (performed by Nottingham Advisors, Inc.); and 4) insurance and risk management products and 
services (performed by OneGroup).  Additionally, the Company has other transactions that impact noninterest revenues, including 
realized and unrealized gains or losses on investment securities and gains or losses on debt extinguishment. 
 

Table 5: Noninterest Revenues 
 

  Years Ended December 31, 
(000's omitted except ratios) 2024 2023 2022 
Employee benefit services $130,981 $117,961 $115,408 
Insurance services 50,249 47,094 39,810 
Wealth management services 36,668 31,941 31,667 
Deposit service charges and fees 31,566 28,921 33,970 
Debit interchange and ATM fees 26,717 25,768 26,578 
Mortgage banking 4,421 595 390 
Other banking revenues  15,840 14,688 10,946 
   Subtotal 296,442 266,968 258,769 
Loss on sales of investment securities (487) (52,329) 0 
Gain on debt extinguishment 0 242 0 
Unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities 1,231 (47) (44) 
      Total noninterest revenues $297,186 $214,834 $258,725 

Noninterest revenues/total revenues 39.8% 32.9% 38.1% 
Operating noninterest revenues/operating revenues (FTE) (non-GAAP) (1) 39.6% 37.7% 37.9% 

 

(1) Operating noninterest revenues, a non-GAAP measure, excludes loss on sales of investment securities, gain on debt extinguishment and 
unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities from total noninterest revenues. Operating revenues, a non-GAAP measure, is defined as net 
interest income on a FTE basis plus noninterest revenues, excluding loss on sales of investment securities, gain on debt extinguishment, 
and unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities.  See Table 20 for Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures. 

 
As displayed in Table 5, total noninterest revenues increased $82.4 million, or 38.3%, to $297.2 million in 2024 as compared to 
2023 primarily due to revenue growth in all four of the Company’s business units and a $52.3 million pre-tax realized loss on the 
sale of certain available-for-sale securities in connection with a strategic balance sheet repositioning executed during the first 
quarter of 2023.  Noninterest revenues for 2024 included a $1.2 million unrealized gain on equity securities primarily associated 
with the conversion of certain Visa Class B shares to Visa Class C shares and a $0.5 million realized loss on sales of investment 
securities associated with the sales of certain available-for-sale investment securities.  Total operating noninterest revenues, a 
non-GAAP measure, increased $29.5 million, or 11.0%, to $296.4 million in 2024 as compared to 2023.  The increase was 
comprised of increases in employee benefit services revenues, banking noninterest revenues, wealth management services 
revenues and insurance services revenues.  Operating noninterest revenues, a non-GAAP measure, increased $8.2 million, or 
3.2%, to $267.0 million in 2023 as compared to 2022.  The increase was comprised of increases in insurance services revenues, 
employee benefit services revenues and wealth management services revenues, partially offset by a decrease in banking 
noninterest revenues. 
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Noninterest revenues as a percent of total revenues (defined as net interest income plus noninterest revenues) was 39.8% in 2024, 
an increase from 32.9% in 2023.  Operating noninterest revenues as a percent of operating revenues (FTE basis), a non-GAAP 
measure, were 39.6% in 2024, an increase from 37.7% in the prior year.  The current year increase was due to the 11.0% increase 
in operating noninterest revenues, a non-GAAP measure, as mentioned above that was larger than the 2.6% increase in fully tax-
equivalent net interest income, a non-GAAP measure, driven by strong organic loan growth.  The decrease in this ratio from 
37.9% in 2022 to 37.7% in 2023 was due to a 4.0% increase in fully tax-equivalent net interest income, a non-GAAP measure, 
driven by a higher net interest margin and strong organic loan growth, while operating noninterest revenues, a non-GAAP 
measure, increased by the 3.2% mentioned above. 
 
Banking noninterest revenues, comprised of deposit service charges and fees, debit interchange and ATM fees, mortgage banking 
and other banking revenues, totaled $78.5 million in 2024, an increase of $8.6 million, or 12.3%, from the prior year.  The 
increase was driven by increases in mortgage banking revenues ($3.8 million), deposit service charges and fees ($2.7 million), 
other banking revenues ($1.2 million) and debit interchange and ATM fees ($0.9 million).  The increase in mortgage banking 
revenues reflected higher sales volumes of secondary market eligible residential mortgage loans and an increase in the value of 
mortgage servicing rights.  The increases in other banking revenues were associated with higher customer interest rate swap fee 
revenues due to the recent implementation of this product offering and other commercial banking-related fees, including an 
increase in commercial real estate transaction advisory and placement revenues generated by Axiom which was acquired in 
March 2023. 
 
Banking noninterest revenues totaled $70.0 million in 2023, a decrease of $1.9 million, or 2.7%, from 2022.  The decrease was 
driven by decreases in deposit service charges and fees ($5.0 million) and debit interchange and ATM fees ($0.8 million), 
partially offset by increases in other banking revenues ($3.7 million) and mortgage banking revenues ($0.2 million).  The 
decrease in deposit service charges and fees was reflective of the Company’s implementation of certain deposit fee changes, 
including the elimination of nonsufficient and unavailable funds fees on personal accounts late in the fourth quarter of 2022.  
Debit interchange and ATM fees were unfavorably impacted by fluctuations in annual card-related promotional income, while 
other banking revenues benefitted from incremental revenues from the first quarter 2023 acquisition of Axiom. 
 
As disclosed in Table 5, noninterest revenue from financial services (noninterest revenues from employee benefit services, 
insurance services, and wealth management services) increased $20.9 million, or 10.6%, in 2024 to $217.9 million.  Financial 
services revenues represented 73% of total noninterest revenues in 2024 compared to 92% of total noninterest revenues in 2023, 
which included the impact of the loss on sales of investment securities.  Financial services revenues accounted for 74% of total 
operating noninterest revenues, a non-GAAP measure, in both 2024 and 2023. 
 
Employee benefit services generated revenue of $131.0 million in 2024 that reflected growth of $13.0 million, or 11.0%, 
primarily related to new business and increases in the total participants under administration, growth in asset-based fee revenues, 
resulting from market appreciation and the acquisition of certain assets of Creative Plan Designs Limited (“CPD”), a provider of 
employee benefit plan design, administration and consulting, on February 1, 2024.  Ending employee benefit trust assets were 
$117.3 billion at December 31, 2024.  Employee benefit services generated revenue of $118.0 million in 2023 that reflected 
growth of $2.6 million, or 2.2%, from 2022 primarily related to new business and a year-over-year increase in the total 
participants under administration, along with a modest increase from market appreciation.  Employee benefit trust assets within 
the Company’s employee benefit services segment increased $17.3 billion to $124.8 billion at the end of 2023 as compared to 
2022 due to the factors above. 
 
Insurance services revenues increased $3.2 million, or 6.7%, in 2024 due to organic and acquired growth in commissions 
revenues.  Insurance services revenues increased $7.3 million, or 18.3%, in 2023 attributable to a strong premium market and 
organic expansion, along with growth resulting from acquisitions between the periods. 
 
Wealth management services revenues increased $4.7 million, or 14.8%, in 2024 as investment advisory customer accounts 
increased and more favorable investment market conditions drove an increase in the value of assets under management between 
the periods.  Assets under management and administration within the wealth management businesses increased $1.4 billion to 
$13.2 billion at December 31, 2024 as compared to one year earlier, a new year-end record.  Wealth management services 
revenues increased $0.3 million, or 0.9%, in 2023 as more favorable investment market conditions drove increases in assets under 
management between the periods.  Assets under management and administration within the Company’s wealth management 
services segment were $11.8 billion at the end of 2023, an increase of $4.5 billion from year-end 2022.  Assets under management 
and administration included approximately $3.3 billion and $3.1 billion of intercompany assets under management and 
administration at the end of 2024 and 2023, respectively, associated with certain employee benefit trust accounts. 
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Noninterest Expenses 
 
As shown in Table 6, noninterest expenses of $486.8 million in 2024 were $14.1 million, or 3.0%, higher than 2023, reflective of 
increases in salaries and employee benefits, data processing and communications expenses, occupancy and equipment expenses, 
business development and marketing expenses and acquisition expenses.  These increases were partially offset by decreases in 
legal and professional fees, amortization of intangible assets, restructuring expenses, acquisition-related contingent consideration 
adjustments and litigation expenses. 
 
Noninterest expenses of $472.7 million in 2023 were $48.4 million, or 11.4%, higher than 2022, reflective of an accrual 
associated with the expected settlement of a threatened collective and class action matter, an increase in salaries and employee 
benefits, primarily driven by merit and market-related increases in employee wages, higher employee medical expenses and 
certain executive retirement expenses, as well as increases in other expenses, acquisition-related contingent consideration 
adjustment, data processing and communications expenses, business development and marketing expenses, legal and professional 
fees, restructuring expenses and occupancy and equipment expenses.  These increases were partially offset by decreases in 
acquisition expenses and amortization of intangible assets.  The increase in other expenses included the impact of a higher FDIC 
insurance base assessment rate, an FDIC special assessment and elevated customer-related fraud losses. 
 
Noninterest expenses as a percent of average assets for 2024 was 3.04%, a decrease of six basis points from 3.10% in 2023 and 31 
basis points higher than 2.73% in 2022.  Operating noninterest expenses (non-GAAP) as a percent of average assets, a non-GAAP 
measure, for 2024 was 2.95%, which was consistent with the 2023 level and 35 basis points higher than 2.60% in 2022.  The 
changes in these ratios for 2024 were due to a 3.0% increase in noninterest expenses and a 5.4% increase in operating noninterest 
expenses, a non-GAAP measure, while average assets increased by 4.9%, primarily due to organic loan growth.  The increases in 
these ratios for 2023 were due to a 11.4% increase in noninterest expenses and a 10.8% increase in operating noninterest 
expenses, a non-GAAP measure, while average assets declined by 2.1%, primarily due to the sales and maturities of certain 
lower-yielding available-for-sale investment securities. 
 
The GAAP efficiency ratio expresses the level of noninterest expenses as a percentage of total revenues (net interest income plus 
total noninterest revenues).  The Company also utilizes the operating efficiency ratio, a non-GAAP measure, which is a 
performance measurement tool widely used by banks and is defined by the Company as operating noninterest expenses, a non-
GAAP measure, divided by fully-tax equivalent operating revenues, a non-GAAP measure.  Lower ratios correlate to better 
operating efficiency.   
 
The 2024 GAAP efficiency ratio of 65.2% decreased 7.3 percentage points from the 2023 GAAP efficiency ratio as noninterest 
expenses increased 3.0% while total revenues increased 14.4% including the impact of the loss on sales of investment securities in 
2023.  The 2023 GAAP efficiency ratio of 72.5% increased 10.0 percentage points from the 2022 GAAP efficiency ratio as 
noninterest expenses increased 11.4% while total revenues decreased 4.0% primarily as a result of the loss on sales of investment 
securities in connection with the Company’s first quarter balance sheet repositioning.  The 2024 operating efficiency ratio, a non-
GAAP measure, of 63.0% was 0.2 percentage points lower than the 2023 non-GAAP operating efficiency ratio of 63.2% as the 
5.4% increase in operating noninterest expenses, a non-GAAP measure, grew at a slower pace than the 5.8% increase in fully tax-
equivalent operating revenues, a non-GAAP measure, comprised of a 2.6% increase in fully tax-equivalent net interest income, a 
non-GAAP measure and an 11.0% increase in operating noninterest revenues, a non-GAAP measure.  The 2023 non-GAAP 
operating efficiency ratio of 63.2% was 4.0 percentage points higher than the 2022 non-GAAP operating efficiency ratio of 59.2% 
as the 10.8% increase in operating noninterest expenses, a non-GAAP measure, grew at a faster pace than the 3.7% increase in 
fully tax-equivalent operating revenues, a non-GAAP measure, comprised of a 4.0% increase in fully tax-equivalent net interest 
income, a non-GAAP measure and a 3.2% increase in operating noninterest revenues, a non-GAAP measure.  See Table 20 for 
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures.  
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Table 6: Noninterest Expenses 
 

  Years Ended December 31, 
(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Salaries and employee benefits $300,779 $281,803 $257,339 
Data processing and communications 61,843 57,585 54,099 
Occupancy and equipment 43,658 42,550 42,413 
Business development and marketing 16,059 15,731 13,095 
Legal and professional fees 15,323 15,921 14,018 
Amortization of intangible assets 14,259 14,511 15,214 
Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments 244 3,280 (300) 
Acquisition expenses 213 63 5,021 
Restructuring expenses 0 1,163 0 
Litigation accrual 138 5,800 0 
Other 34,309 34,278 23,369 
   Total noninterest expenses $486,825 $472,685 $424,268 

Noninterest expenses/average assets 3.04% 3.10% 2.73% 
Operating noninterest expenses(1) /average assets (non-GAAP) 2.95% 2.95% 2.60% 
Efficiency ratio (GAAP) 65.2% 72.5% 62.5% 
Operating efficiency ratio (non-GAAP)(2) 63.0% 63.2% 59.2% 
(1)Operating noninterest expenses, a non-GAAP measure, is calculated as total noninterest expenses less acquisition expenses, acquisition-related 

contingent consideration adjustment, litigation accrual, restructuring expenses and amortization of intangible assets.  See Table 20 for 
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures.  

(2)Operating efficiency ratio, a non-GAAP measure, is calculated as operating noninterest expenses as defined in footnote (1) above divided by 
net interest income on a FTE basis plus noninterest revenues excluding loss on sales of investment securities, gain on debt extinguishment and 
unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities. See Table 20 for Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures. 

 

 
Salaries and employee benefits increased $19.0 million, or 6.7%, in 2024, driven by merit and market-related increases in 
employee wages, higher medical benefit costs and acquisitions between the periods which increased the number of employees 
in the financial services businesses, partially offset by the impact of the previously announced retail banking customer service 
workforce optimization plan.  Salaries and employee benefits increased $24.5 million, or 9.5%, in 2023, driven by merit and 
market-related increases in employee wages, higher employee medical expenses and certain executive retirement expenses.  
There was a net decrease in full-time equivalent employees during 2023, primarily due to the impact of the fourth quarter 2023 
retail workforce optimization, which resulted in $1.2 million of related severance payments recognized as restructuring 
expenses.  Total full-time equivalent staff at the end of 2024 was 2,698 compared to 2,669 at December 31, 2023 and 2,803 at 
the end of 2022. 
 
Total non-personnel, noninterest expenses, excluding amortization of intangible assets, acquisition-related expenses, 
restructuring expenses and litigation accrual, increased $5.1 million, or 3.1%, in 2024, reflective of increases in data 
processing and communications expenses, occupancy and equipment expenses, business development and marketing expenses, 
partially offset by a decrease in legal and professional fees.  The increase in data processing and communications expenses is 
reflective of the Company’s continued investment in customer-facing and back-office technologies including additional 
technology to enhance its detection and prevention of customer payment-related fraud.  Occupancy and equipment expenses 
increased due to increased rent paid on leased properties, partially offset by the effects of branch consolidations undertaken in 
2023 and 2024.  Business development and marketing expenses increased due to the Company’s investment in digital 
marketing initiatives and higher levels of targeted advertisements intended to generate deposit inflows. 
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Total non-personnel, noninterest expenses, excluding acquisition-related expenses, restructuring expenses and litigation 
accrual, increased $18.4 million, or 11.3%, in 2023, reflective of increases in other expenses, data processing and 
communications expenses, business development and marketing expenses, legal and professional fees and occupancy and 
equipment expenses, partially offset by a decrease in amortization of intangible assets.  Other expenses were up $10.5 million, 
or 66.8%, in 2023 primarily driven by higher FDIC insurance expenses due to a higher base assessment rate and a $1.5 million 
accrual for a special assessment, the impact of elevated customer-related fraud losses and a reduced pension-related benefit.  
The Company is investing in additional technology to enhance its detection and prevention of customer payment-related fraud.  
The increase in data processing and communications expenses is reflective of the Company’s continued investment in 
customer-facing and back-office digital technologies.  Business development and marketing expenses increased due to the 
Company’s investment in digital marketing initiatives and higher levels of targeted advertisements intended to generate deposit 
inflows.  Legal and professional fees were up primarily as a result of legal fees associated with various matters, including the 
lawsuit previously mentioned.  Occupancy and equipment expenses increased due to inflationary pressures, partially offset by 
the effects of branch consolidations undertaken in 2022 and 2023. 
 
Acquisition-related expenses for 2023 totaled $3.3 million, primarily comprised of acquisition-related contingent consideration 
adjustments associated with potential future contingent consideration payments for the FBD and TGA acquisitions completed in 
2021. 
 
Acquisition-related expenses for 2022 totaled $4.7 million, comprised of $5.0 million associated with the Elmira acquisition that 
was completed during the second quarter and a $0.3 million benefit from acquisition-related contingent consideration associated 
with potential future payments for the FBD and TGA acquisitions completed in 2021. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The Company estimates its income tax expense based on the amount it expects to owe the respective taxing authorities, plus the 
impact of deferred tax items.  Taxes are discussed in more detail in Note I of the Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on 
page 121.  Accrued taxes represent the net estimated amount due or to be received from taxing authorities.  In estimating accrued 
taxes, management assesses the relative merits and risks of the appropriate tax treatment of transactions, taking into account 
statutory, judicial and regulatory guidance in the context of the Company’s tax position.  If the final resolution of taxes payable 
differs from its estimates due to regulatory determination or legislative or judicial actions, adjustments to tax expense may be 
required. 
 
The effective income tax rate for 2024 was 22.9%, compared to 21.6% in 2023 and 21.7% in 2022.  The increase in the effective 
income tax rate for 2024 compared to the effective tax rate for 2023 is primarily attributable to an increase in pre-tax income due 
to the realized losses on sales of investment securities in 2023 as well as a higher proportion of income from fully taxable sources.  
The decrease in the effective income tax rate for 2023, compared to the effective tax rate for 2022, is primarily attributable to a 
decrease in pre-tax income due to the 2023 realized loss on sales of investment securities.  Excluding the impact of tax benefits 
related to stock-based compensation activity and amortization of income tax credit investments, the effective tax rate for full year 
2024 was 19.0%, down from 21.0% for full year 2023, driven by the recognition of certain solar energy income tax credits during 
the fourth quarter of 2024. 
 
Shareholders’ Equity and Regulatory Capital 
 
Shareholders’ equity ended 2024 at $1.76 billion, up $64.9 million, or 3.8%, from the end of 2023.  This increase reflects net 
income of $182.5 million, stock-based compensation of $8.3 million, the issuance of shares through employee stock plans of $7.1 
million and a decrease in accumulated other comprehensive loss of $8.8 million, partially offset by common stock dividends 
declared of $96.0 million and common stock repurchased of $45.8 million.  The change in accumulated other comprehensive loss 
was primarily driven by a positive $9.6 million adjustment in the overfunded status of the Company’s employee retirement plans, 
offset by $0.8 million of additional other comprehensive loss related to the Company’s available-for-sale investment portfolio. 
The change in the other comprehensive loss related to the Company’s available-for-sale investment portfolio includes a net 
decrease in the after-tax market value adjustment on the available-for-sale investment portfolio due to movements in medium to 
long-term interest rates and the volume and rates associated with the security purchases, sales and maturities that occurred in 
2024.  Shares outstanding decreased by 0.7 million during the year due to the repurchase of 1.0 million shares during 2024, 
partially offset by share issuances under employee stock plans and deferred compensation arrangements.  
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Shareholders’ equity ended 2023 at $1.70 billion, up $146.2 million, or 9.4%, from the end of 2022.  This increase reflects net 
income of $131.9 million, stock-based compensation of $9.3 million, the issuance of shares through employee stock plans of $1.0 
million and a decrease in accumulated other comprehensive loss of $129.5 million, partially offset by common stock dividends 
declared of $95.5 million and common stock repurchased of $30.0 million.  The change in accumulated other comprehensive loss 
was primarily driven by $125.4 million of other comprehensive income related to the Company’s available-for-sale investment 
portfolio, including a net decrease in the after-tax market value adjustment on the available-for-sale investment portfolio due to 
movements in medium to long-term interest rates, as well as the volume and rates associated with the security purchases, sales 
and maturities that occurred in 2023 and the recognition of the loss on sales of available-for-sale investment securities related to 
the Company’s first quarter balance sheet repositioning.  The change in accumulated other comprehensive loss also reflected a 
positive $4.1 million adjustment in the overfunded status of the Company’s employee retirement plans.  Shares outstanding 
decreased by 0.4 million during the year due to the repurchase of 0.6 million shares during 2023, partially offset by share 
issuances under employee stock plans and deferred compensation arrangements. 
 
The Company and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking agencies.  
Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by 
regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company’s dividend paying ability and financial 
statements.  Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, the Company and the 
Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of the Company’s and the Bank’s assets and certain 
liabilities and off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices.  The Company’s and the Bank's capital 
amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings and other 
factors. 
 
The Company and the Bank are required to maintain a “capital conservation buffer,” composed entirely of common equity Tier 
1 capital, in addition to minimum risk-based capital ratios.  The required capital conservation buffer is 2.5% as of December 
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.  Therefore, to satisfy both the minimum risk-based capital ratios and the capital conservation buffer 
as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company and the Bank must maintain:  
 
(i) Common equity Tier 1 capital to total risk-weighted assets (“Common equity tier 1 capital ratio”) of at least 7.0%,  
(ii) Tier 1 capital to total risk-weighted assets (“Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio”) of at least 8.5%, and  
(iii) Total capital (Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capital) to total risk-weighted assets (“Total risk-based capital ratio”) of at least 
10.5%. 
 
In addition, the Company and Bank must maintain a ratio of ending Tier 1 capital to adjusted quarterly average assets (“Tier 1 
leverage ratio”) of at least 5.0% to be considered “well capitalized” under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective 
action. 
 
As of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company and Bank meet all applicable capital adequacy requirements to be 
considered “well capitalized”.  As of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2021, the regulatory capital ratios for the Company and 
Bank are presented in Table 7 below. 
 

Table 7: Regulatory Ratios 
 

 December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 
 Community 

Financial 
System, Inc. 

Community 
Bank, N.A. 

Community 
Financial 

System, Inc. 
Community 
Bank, N.A. 

Community 
Financial 

System, Inc. 
Community 
Bank, N.A. 

Tier 1 leverage ratio 9.19% 7.69% 9.34% 7.70% 8.79% 7.26% 
Common equity tier 1 capital ratio 14.23% 11.96% 14.75% 12.11% 15.71% 12.86% 
Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio 14.23% 11.96% 14.76% 12.11% 15.71% 12.86% 
Total risk-based capital ratio 15.01% 12.74% 15.46% 12.82% 16.40% 13.56% 
 
  



58 
 

The Company’s tier 1 leverage ratio, a primary measure for which regulators have established a 5% minimum for an institution to 
be considered “well-capitalized,” decreased 15 basis points from the prior year to end the year at 9.19%.  The decrease in the tier 
1 leverage ratio as compared to 2023 was the result of an increase in average assets, excluding intangibles and the market value 
adjustment on available-for-sale investment securities, of 5.4%, primarily due to organic loan growth, while shareholders’ equity, 
excluding intangibles and other comprehensive income or loss items, increased 3.7%, as the impact of net earnings retention 
outweighed share repurchases during the year. For additional financial information on the Company’s regulatory capital, refer to 
Note O – Regulatory Matters in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  The shareholders’ equity-to-assets ratio was 
10.76% at the end of 2024 compared to 10.92% at the end of 2023.  The decrease was due to assets increasing by 5.3% driven 
primarily by organic loan growth, while shareholders’ equity increased 3.8%, as the impact of net earnings retention outweighed 
share repurchases during the year.  The tangible equity-to-assets ratio, a non-GAAP and regulatory reporting measure, was 5.83% 
at the end of 2024 versus 5.75% one year earlier.  See Table 20 for Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures.  The 
increase was due to tangible common shareholders’ equity increasing by 7.2% in 2024 primarily due to a $50.6 million increase 
in net income and an $8.8 million decrease in accumulated other comprehensive loss, while tangible assets increased 5.6% from 
the prior year, reflective of organic loan growth.  The Company manages organic and acquired growth in a manner that enables it 
to continue to maintain and grow its capital base over time and maintain its ability to take advantage of future strategic growth 
opportunities. 
 
Cash dividends declared on common stock in 2024 of $96.0 million represented an increase of 0.5% over the prior year.  This 
growth was a result of a $0.04 increase in dividends per share for the year, partially offset by a 1.2% decrease in outstanding 
shares.  Dividends per share for 2024 of $1.82 represents a 2.2% increase from $1.78 in 2023, a result of quarterly dividends per 
share increasing from $0.44 to $0.45 in the third quarter of 2023 and from $0.45 to $0.46 in the third quarter of 2024.  The 2024 
increase in quarterly dividends marked the 32nd consecutive year of dividend increases for the Company.  The dividend payout 
ratio for 2024 was 52.6% compared to 72.4% in 2023, and 49.9% in 2022.  The dividend payout ratio decreased during 2024 as 
dividends declared increased 0.5% while net income increased 38.3% from 2023, primarily driven by the loss on sales of 
investment securities recognized in the first quarter of 2023. 
 
The Company’s ability to pay dividends to its shareholders is subject to laws and regulations imposing restrictions on the amount 
of dividends that may be declared and paid. Dividend payments by the Company are dependent on a number of factors, including 
the earnings and financial condition of the Company and the Bank and the ability of the Company to receive dividends from the 
Bank, and are subject to the limitations referred to in Note O: Regulatory Matters. 
 
Liquidity 
 
Liquidity risk is a measure of the Company’s ability to raise cash when needed at a reasonable cost and minimize any loss.  
The Company maintains appropriate liquidity levels in both normal operating conditions as well as stressed environments.  
The Company must be capable of meeting all obligations to its customers at any time and, therefore, the active management of 
its liquidity position remains an important management objective.  The Bank has appointed the Asset Liability Committee 
(“ALCO”) to manage liquidity risk using policy guidelines and limits on indicators of potential liquidity risk.  The indicators 
are monitored using a scorecard with three risk level limits.  These risk indicators measure core liquidity and funding needs, 
capital at risk and change in available funding sources.  The risk indicators are monitored using such metrics as the core basic 
surplus ratio, unencumbered securities to average assets, free loan collateral to average assets, loans to deposits, deposits to 
total funding and borrowings to total funding ratios. 
 
Given the uncertain nature of the Company’s customers' demands, as well as the Company's desire to take advantage of 
earnings enhancement opportunities, the Company must have adequate sources of on and off-balance sheet funds available that 
can be utilized when needed.  Accordingly, in addition to the liquidity provided by balance sheet cash flows, liquidity must be 
supplemented with additional sources such as borrowings from the FHLB and the FRB and credit lines from correspondent 
banks.  Other funding alternatives may also be appropriate from time to time, including wholesale and retail repurchase 
agreements, large certificates of deposit and the brokered CD market.  The primary sources of funds are deposits, which 
totaled $13.44 billion at December 31, 2024. The primary sources of non-deposit funds are customer repurchase agreements 
and FHLB and FRB overnight advances and term borrowings.  At December 31, 2024, there were $261.6 million of customer 
repurchase agreements, $118.0 million of overnight borrowings, and $610.6 million of FHLB term borrowings outstanding. 
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The Company’s primary sources of available liquidity include unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, borrowing capacity at 
the FHLB and FRB, as well as net unpledged investment securities that could be sold, subject to market conditions, or used to 
collateralize additional funding.  Table 13 below details the available sources of liquidity at December 31, 2024. In addition, 
there was $25.0 million available in an unsecured line of credit with a correspondent bank at December 31, 2024.  The 
Company’s sources of immediately available liquidity of $5.77 billion as of December 31, 2024 represent approximately 246% 
of the Company’s estimated uninsured deposits (deposits in excess of FDIC limits), net of collateralized and intercompany 
deposits (“net estimated uninsured deposits”), estimated to be approximately $2.35 billion.  The increase in the Company’s 
sources of immediately available liquidity from the end of 2023 was primarily due to the Company pledging additional loans 
with the FRB. 
 

Table 8: Sources of Liquidity 
 

(000's omitted) 2024 2023 
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents $191,894 $190,962 
FHLB borrowing capacity 1,185,087 1,370,085 
FRB borrowing capacity 2,670,278 1,106,806 
Net unpledged investment securities 1,726,680 2,165,590 
  Total sources of liquidity $5,773,939 $4,833,443 
   

Net estimated uninsured deposits $2,347,825 $2,184,635 
   

Total sources of liquidity/net estimated uninsured deposits 246% 221% 
 
The Company’s primary approach to measuring short-term liquidity is known as the Basic Surplus/Deficit model.  It is used to 
calculate liquidity over two time periods: first, the amount of cash that could be made available within 30 days (calculated as 
liquid assets less estimated short-term liabilities as a percentage of average assets); and second, a projection of subsequent cash 
availability over an additional 60 days.  As of December 31, 2024, this ratio was 8.2% for the 30-day period and 7.7% for the 
90-day period, excluding the Company's capacity to borrow additional funds from the FHLB and other sources.  This 
compares to a target minimum ratio of 7.5% for both the 30-day and 90-day period ratio.  Including the added FHLB & FRB 
borrowing capacity, the 30-day and 90-day period ratios were 31.8% and 31.3%, respectively.  This is considered to be a 
sufficient amount of liquidity based on the Company’s internal policy requirements of 15.0%. 
 
To measure intermediate risk over the next twelve months, the Company reviews a sources and uses projection.  As of 
December 31, 2024, there is sufficient liquidity available during the next year to cover projected cash outflows.  In addition, 
stress tests on the cash flows are performed for various scenarios ranging from high probability events with a low impact on 
the liquidity position to low probability events with a high impact on the liquidity position.  The results of the stress tests as of 
December 31, 2024 indicate the Company has sufficient sources of liquidity for the next year in all simulated stressed 
scenarios.  
 
To measure longer-term liquidity, a baseline projection of growth in interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities for 
five years is made to reflect how liquidity levels could change over time.  This five-year measure reflects ample liquidity for 
loan and other asset growth over the next five years. 
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The possibility of a funding crisis exists at all financial institutions.  A funding crisis would most likely result from a shock to 
the financial system which disrupts orderly short-term funding operations or from a significant tightening of monetary policy 
that limits the national money supply.  Accordingly, management has addressed this issue by formulating a Liquidity 
Contingency Plan, which has been reviewed and approved by both the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the 
Company’s ALCO.  The plan addresses the actions that the Company would take in response to both a short-term and long-
term funding crisis.  Triggers within the plan and liquidity risk monitor are not by themselves definitive indicators of 
insufficient liquidity, but rather a mechanism for management to monitor conditions and possibly provide advance warning 
which could avert or reduce the impact of a crisis.  Liquidity triggers are set based on a variety of factors, including Company 
history, trends, and current operating performance, industry observations, and, as warranted, changes in internal and external 
economic factors.  Indicators include: core liquidity and funding needs such as the core basic surplus, unencumbered securities 
to average assets, and free FHLB and FRB loan collateral to average assets; heightened funding needs indicators such as 
average loans to average deposits, average governmental and nongovernmental deposits to total funding, and average 
borrowings to total funding; capital at risk indicators including regulatory ratios; asset quality indicators; and decrease in funds 
availability indicators which are a combination of internal and external factors such as increased restrictions on borrowing or 
downturns in the credit market.  The Company has established three risk levels for these liquidity triggers that inform the 
response based on the severity of the circumstances.  Responses vary from an assessment of possible funding deficiencies with 
no impact on normal business operations to immediate action required due to impending funding problems.  For more 
information regarding the risk factor associated with the possibility of a funding crisis, refer to the discussion under the 
heading “Item 1A. Risk Factors” beginning on page 17. 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
The changes in intangible assets by reportable segment for the year ended December 31, 2024 are summarized as follows: 
 

Table 9: Intangible Assets 
 

(000’s omitted) 
Balance at 

December 31, 2023 

Additions / 
Adjustments / 

Transfers(1) Amortization Impairment 
Balance at 

December 31, 2024 
Banking and Corporate Segment      
Goodwill $732,598 $0 $0 $0 $732,598 
Core deposit intangibles 8,159 0 3,011 0 5,148 
Other intangibles 958 0 234 0 724 
Total Banking and Corporate Segment 741,715 0 3,245 0 738,470 
Employee Benefit Services Segment      
Goodwill 85,384 3,909 0 0 89,293 
Other intangibles 26,883 3,332 6,901 0 23,314 
Total Employee Benefit Services Segment 112,267 7,241 6,901 0 112,607 
Insurance Services Segment      
Goodwill 23,976 3,920 0 0 27,896 
Other intangibles 14,430 6,848 3,390 0 17,888 
Total Insurance Services Segment 38,406 10,768 3,390 0 45,784 
Wealth Management Services Segment      
Goodwill 3,438 0 0 0 3,438 
Other intangibles 2,161 (266) 723 0 1,172 
Total Wealth Management Segment 5,599 (266) 723 0 4,610 

Total  $897,987 $17,743 $14,259 $0 $901,471 
 
(1) Includes additions to goodwill of $8.3 million and other intangibles of $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
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Intangible assets at the end of 2024 totaled $901.5 million, an increase of $3.5 million from the prior year due to the addition of 
$8.3 million of goodwill and $12.3 million of other intangibles arising from acquisition activity, partially offset by $14.3 million 
of amortization during the year and $2.8 million related to the sale of a customer list to a former employee.  The additional 
goodwill and other intangibles recorded in 2024 resulted from the OneGroup and BPA acquisitions during 2024.  Goodwill 
represents the excess cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired.  Goodwill at December 31, 2024 totaled 
$853.2 million, comprised of $732.6 million related to banking acquisitions and $120.6 million arising from the acquisition of 
financial services businesses.  Goodwill is subject to periodic impairment analysis to determine whether the carrying value of the 
identified businesses exceeds their fair value, which would necessitate a write-down of goodwill.  The Company completed its 
qualitative goodwill impairment analyses as of October 1, 2024 and determined that no adjustments were necessary for the 
banking or financial services businesses. The qualitative analysis included assessments of macroeconomic conditions, industry 
and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, other relevant entity-specific events and changes in share 
price, as well as analyzing previous quantitative goodwill impairment analyses performed as of October 1, 2023.  The Company 
determined that the inputs, assumptions and conclusions reached remained appropriate for the purpose of the 2024 qualitative 
analysis, and as it was determined that it was more likely than not that no impairment existed, and therefore a quantitative analysis 
for 2024 was not necessary.  Furthermore, during 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company performed a quarterly analysis to determine 
if triggering events occurred that would necessitate an interim qualitative or quantitative assessment of goodwill or other 
intangible impairment.  No triggering event or impairment was noted during these interim analyses.  
 
Core deposit intangibles represent the value of acquired non-time deposits in excess of funding that could have been obtained in 
the capital markets.  Core deposit intangibles are amortized on an accelerated basis over eight years.  The recognition of customer 
relationship intangibles was determined based on a methodology that calculates the present value of the projected future net 
income derived from the acquired customer base.  These customer relationship intangibles are being amortized on an accelerated 
basis over periods ranging from eight to twelve years. 
 
Loans 
 
Gross loans outstanding of $10.43 billion as of December 31, 2024 increased $727.8 million, or 7.5%, compared to December 31, 
2023, driven by increases in all loan categories due to net organic growth.  The loan-to-deposit ratio was 77.6% as of December 
31, 2024 compared to 75.1% at December 31, 2023.  The increase in the loan-to-deposit ratio was driven by the aforementioned 
organic loan growth while ending deposits increased $513.6 million, or 4.0%.  Gross loans outstanding of $9.70 billion as of 
December 31, 2023 increased $895.2 million, or 10.2%, compared to December 31, 2022, driven by increases in all loan 
categories due to net organic growth. 
 
The compounded annual growth rate (“CAGR”) for the Company’s total loan portfolio between 2021 and 2024 was 12.3%.  The 
greatest overall expansion occurred in consumer indirect at a 14.1% CAGR, followed by business lending, which grew at a 13.6% 
CAGR, consumer mortgage at a 10.9% CAGR, consumer direct at a 7.7% CAGR, and home equity at a 6.2% CAGR. The 
Company’s loan growth over past three years was primarily organic.  
 
The weighting of the components of the Company’s loan portfolio enables it to be highly diversified.  Approximately 57% of 
loans outstanding at the end of 2024 were made to consumers borrowing on an installment, line of credit or residential mortgage 
loan basis while 43% of loans outstanding at the end of 2024 were associated with business lending. 
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Mortgages on commercial property combined with general-purpose business lending to commercial, industrial, non-profit and 
governmental customers and vehicle dealer floor plan financing is characterized as the Company’s business lending activity.  The 
total business lending portfolio increased $420.8 million, or 10.3%, in 2024 due to net organic growth.  During 2024, business 
non-real estate loans, including commercial and industrial lending, increased $140.6 million, or 14.0%, owner-occupied 
commercial real estate (“CRE”) increased $112.0 million, or 14.9%, multifamily increased $104.3 million, or 16.8%, and non-
owner occupied CRE increased $63.9 million, or 3.7%.  While certain macroeconomic concerns still persist related to non-owner 
occupied and multifamily commercial real estate, the Company’s exposure to these portfolios remains diverse both 
geographically and by property type, and relatively low at 16% of total assets, 24% of total loans and 198% of total bank-level 
regulatory capital.  Commercial real estate lending represents 74.7% of the total business lending portfolio at December 31, 2024 
while business non-real estate lending represents the remaining 25.3% of total business lending. The Company’s largest non-
owner occupied commercial real estate lending concentration by property type is multifamily at 21.5% of total CRE lending, 
followed by office and commercial construction at 11.7% and 11.0%, respectively.  The Company’s largest owner-occupied 
lending concentration by industry is retail trade at 8.7% of total CRE lending, followed by arts, entertainment and recreation at 
2.6%, and health care and social assistance at 2.5%.  These collateral and industry statistics combined with no metropolitan 
statistical area (“MSA”) accounting for more than 14% of the CRE portfolio and a very low level of commercial real estate 
lending being conducted in major metropolitan areas, demonstrate the Company’s diversity in the business lending portfolio, as 
there are no significant property type, industry or geographic concentrations.  See Table 10 below for concentrations of CRE 
lending by borrower type and Table 11 below for concentrations of CRE by property location. 
 
The business loan balance increases are reflective of continued high demand for multi-family housing, expansion of internal 
resources and proactive business development and pricing in the Company’s market areas, as well as the Company’s strong 
liquidity profile relative to competitors that creates opportunities to gain market share.  The Company strives to generate growth 
in its business portfolio in a manner that adheres to its goals of maintaining strong asset quality and producing profitable margins.  
The Company intends the composition of its growth in its business lending portfolio over 2025 to be proportionally higher for 
business non-real estate lending than commercial real estate lending compared to what was experienced by the Company over the 
past several years, in order to keep CRE loans’ share of the total business portfolio relatively constant. The Company continues to 
invest in additional personnel, technology and business development resources to further strengthen its capabilities in this 
important product category. 
 
To assist business lending customers in managing their interest rate risk, the Company enters into interest rate swaps which have 
associated interest rate and credit risk; for additional detail on the Company’s use of interest rate swaps, see Note R beginning on 
page 144 of this Form 10-K. 
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The following table presents the concentration by borrower type of the Company’s CRE loan balances as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023: 
 

Table 10: Concentrations of CRE Lending by Borrower Type 
 

 December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

(000’s omitted, except percentages) 
Amortized 

Cost 
Percentage of 

Total 
Amortized 

Cost 
Percentage of 

Total 
Multifamily and non-owner occupied CRE by property type:     
   Multifamily $724,114 21.5% $619,794 20.0% 
   Commercial Construction 395,482 11.7% 342,926 11.1% 
   Office 368,387 11.0% 342,881 11.1% 
   Lodging 336,221 10.0% 315,066 10.2% 
   Retail 256,351 7.6% 262,545 8.5% 
   Other Lessors of CRE 200,215 6.0% 244,986 7.9% 
   Warehouse/Industrial 149,722 4.5% 129,022 4.2% 
   Nursing/Assisted Living 56,159 1.7% 60,925 2.0% 
   Residential Construction 4,278 0.1% 4,480 0.1% 
   All Other 8,284 0.2% 8,367 0.4% 
      Total multifamily and non-owner occupied CRE 2,499,213 74.3% 2,330,992 75.5% 
     
Owner-occupied CRE by industry:     
   Retail Trade 293,208 8.7% 220,379 7.1% 
   Arts, Entertainment and Recreation 87,709 2.6% 46,386 1.5% 
   Health Care and Social Assistance 85,151 2.5% 91,032 3.0% 
   Real Estate Rental and Leasing 81,802 2.4% 78,931 2.6% 
   Other Services 81,688 2.4% 72,325 2.3% 
   Agriculture and Forestry 51,602 1.5% 52,546 1.7% 
   Manufacturing 49,558 1.5% 54,178 1.8% 
   Accommodation and Food Services 39,385 1.2% 40,101 1.3% 
   Wholesale Trade 25,312 0.8% 23,975 0.8% 
   Construction 16,791 0.5% 16,162 0.5% 
   Transportation and Warehousing 11,547 0.3% 11,385 0.4% 
   Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 7,603 0.2% 9,244 0.3% 
   Educational Services 4,618 0.1% 4,684 0.2% 
   All Other 28,809 1.0% 31,446 1.0% 
      Total owner occupied CRE 864,783 25.7% 752,774 24.5% 
     
      Total CRE $3,363,996 100.0% $3,083,766 100.0% 
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The following table presents the geographic concentrations of the Company’s CRE loan balances by property location (MSA) 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

Table 11: Concentrations of CRE by Property Location 
 

December 31, 2024 Multifamily CRE Owner occupied CRE Non-owner occupied CRE Total CRE 

(000’s omitted, except 
percentages) 

Amortized 
Cost 

Percentage 
of Total 

CRE 
Amortized 

Cost 

Percentage 
of Total 

CRE 
Amortized 

Cost 

Percentage 
of Total 

CRE 
Amortized 

Cost 

Percentage 
of Total 

CRE 
MSA:         
Albany-Schenectady-
Troy, NY $104,274 3.1% $104,162 3.1% $250,019 7.4% $458,455 13.6% 
Burlington-South 
Burlington, VT 172,602 5.1% 38,500 1.1% 153,102 4.6% 364,204 10.8% 
Rochester, NY 30,391 0.9% 101,207 3.0% 144,261 4.3% 275,859 8.2% 
Buffalo-Cheektowaga, 
NY 37,587 1.1% 59,919 1.8% 172,484 5.1% 269,990 8.0% 
Syracuse, NY 12,372 0.4% 71,519 2.1% 145,796 4.3% 229,687 6.8% 
Scranton Wilkes-Barre, 
PA 61,857 1.8% 60,603 1.8% 101,573 3.0% 224,033 6.6% 
Utica-Rome, NY 39,294 1.2% 35,885 1.1% 63,696 1.9% 138,875 4.2% 
Ithaca, NY 30,966 0.9% 12,132 0.4% 23,481 0.7% 66,579 2.0% 
All Other MSA - NY(1)(2) 87,605 2.6% 60,698 1.8% 107,881 3.2% 256,184 7.6% 
All Other MSA - PA(1)(2) 17,017 0.5% 63,142 1.9% 97,908 2.9% 178,067 5.3% 
All Other MSA(1) 50,505 1.5% 43,928 1.3% 249,527 7.4% 343,960 10.2% 
         

Non-MSAs:         
NY 53,690 1.6% 161,967 4.8% 198,312 5.9% 413,969 12.3% 
All Other Non-MSA 25,954 0.8% 51,121 1.5% 67,059 2.1% 144,134 4.4% 

         
Total $724,114 21.5% $864,783 25.7% $1,775,099 52.8% $3,363,996 100.0% 

 
December 31, 2023 Multifamily CRE Owner occupied CRE Non-owner occupied CRE Total CRE 

(000’s omitted, except 
percentages) 

Amortized 
Cost 

Percentage 
of Total 

CRE 
Amortized 

Cost 

Percentage 
of Total 

CRE 
Amortized 

Cost 

Percentage 
of Total 

CRE 
Amortized 

Cost 

Percentage 
of Total 

CRE 
MSA:         
Albany-Schenectady-
Troy, NY $52,006 1.7% $90,177 2.9% $267,913 8.7% $410,096 13.3% 
Burlington-South 
Burlington, VT 156,418 5.1% 44,862 1.5% 144,620 4.7% 345,900 11.3% 
Rochester, NY 24,797 0.8% 75,958 2.5% 148,831 4.8% 249,586 8.1% 
Buffalo-Cheektowaga, 
NY 34,294 1.1% 44,939 1.5% 147,422 4.8% 226,655 7.4% 
Syracuse, NY 12,453 0.4% 73,836 2.4% 143,448 4.7% 229,737 7.5% 
Scranton Wilkes-Barre, 
PA 61,461 2.0% 46,802 1.5% 101,553 3.3% 209,816 6.8% 
Utica-Rome, NY 41,126 1.3% 38,689 1.3% 48,585 1.6% 128,400 4.2% 
Ithaca, NY 33,810 1.1% 8,365 0.3% 23,552 0.8% 65,727 2.2% 
Glens Falls, NY 44,922 1.5% 2,524 0.1% 11,884 0.4% 59,330 2.0% 
All Other MSA - NY(1)(2) 44,269 1.4% 40,915 1.3% 98,807 3.2% 183,991 5.9% 
All Other MSA - PA(1)(2) 9,668 0.3% 45,611 1.5% 93,013 3.0% 148,292 4.8% 
All Other MSA(1) 23,355 0.8% 28,407 0.9% 220,789 7.2% 272,551 8.9% 
         

Non-MSAs:         
NY 53,550 1.7% 156,934 5.1% 210,085 6.8% 420,569 13.6% 
All Other Non-MSA 27,665 0.8% 54,755 1.7% 50,696 1.5% 133,116 4.0% 

         
Total $619,794 20.0% $752,774 24.5% $1,711,198 55.5% $3,083,766 100.0% 

(1) The MSAs within these captions are individually less than 2% of total CRE exposure. 
(2) The MSAs within these captions include certain counties in adjacent states with a high degree of economic and social integration to the respective city 

based in New York or Pennsylvania. 
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The consumer mortgage portfolio is comprised of fixed (95%) and adjustable rate (5%) residential lending.  Consumer mortgages 
increased $204.8 million, or 6.2%, between the end of 2023 and the end of 2024, driven by organic growth, and includes the 
impact of $58.8 million of secondary market sales.  Over the past year, the Company produced net organic growth in the 
consumer mortgage segment due to the Company’s competitive product offerings, recruitment of additional mortgage loan 
originators and proactive business development efforts, while also benefitting from the comparatively stable housing market 
conditions in the Company’s primary markets relative to the national environment.  Home equity loans increased $30.9 million, or 
6.9%, between the end of 2023 and the end of 2024, in part a result of lower levels of payoffs and paydowns related to consumer 
mortgage refinancing in the higher interest rate environment during the year. 
 
Consumer mortgages increased $272.5 million, or 9.0%, between the end of 2022 and the end of 2023, driven by organic growth, 
and includes the impact of selling $6.1 million of consumer mortgage production in the secondary market.  Home equity loans 
increased $12.5 million, or 2.9%, between the end of 2022 and the end of 2023.  The growth in consumer mortgages and home 
equity loans was driven by the same factors indicated above that influenced the growth in 2024. 
 
Consumer installment loans, both those originated directly in the branches and online (referred to as “consumer direct”) and 
indirectly in automobile, marine, and recreational vehicle dealerships (referred to as “consumer indirect”), increased $71.3 
million, or 3.8%, from one year ago, including a $64.2 million, or 3.8%, increase in consumer indirect loans and $7.1 million, or 
3.8%, increase in consumer direct loans.  The increases were primarily due to the Company offering competitive pricing, 
benefitting from reduced participation by certain competitors and capturing an increased share of the sales volumes that existed in 
its market area and dealer network, which resulted in growth in the Company’s consumer installment portfolio.  During 2023, 
consumer installment loans increased $171.4 million, or 10.0%, from one year prior, including a $163.8 million, or 10.6%, 
increase in consumer indirect loans and a $7.6 million, or 4.3%, increase in consumer direct loans, reflective of the same factors 
noted above.  Although the consumer indirect loan market is highly competitive, the Company is focused on maintaining a 
profitable in-market and contiguous market indirect portfolio, while continuing to pursue the expansion of its dealer network.  
Consumer direct loans have provided a key source of credit to the Company’s retail customers across its branch network for an 
extended period of time, and the Company is committed to continuing to offer competitive loan products in this segment.  Despite 
the strong competition the Company faces from the financing subsidiaries of vehicle manufacturers and other financial 
intermediaries, the Company will continue to strive to grow these key portfolios through varying market conditions over the long 
term.  
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As shown in Table 12, 73.3% of the Company’s loan portfolio is tied to fixed interest rates while 26.7% is tied to floating or 
adjustable interest rates.  In addition, 18.0% of the Company’s loan portfolio matures in one year or less, 39.6% matures between 
one to five years, 33.5% matures between five and 15 years, and 8.9% matures after 15 years.  The following table shows the 
maturities and type of interest rates for loans as of December 31, 2024:  
 

Table 12: Maturity Distribution of Loans (1) 

 

(000's omitted) 

Maturing in 
One Year or 

Less 

Maturing After 
One but Within 

Five Years 

Maturing After 
Five but Within 
Fifteen Years 

Maturing After 
Fifteen Years Total 

CRE – Multifamily      
Fixed interest rates  $19,744   $152,298   $205,643   $317   $378,002  
Floating or adjustable interest rates  33,771   142,584   163,733   6,024   346,112  
Total  $53,515   $294,882   $369,376   $6,341   $724,114  
      

CRE - owner occupied      
Fixed interest rates  $32,037   $181,304   $100,207   $81   $313,629  
Floating or adjustable interest rates  57,301   193,343   282,951   17,559   551,154  
Total  $89,338   $374,647   $383,158   $17,640   $864,783  

      
CRE - non-owner occupied      

Fixed interest rates  $166,056   $298,269   $336,557   $0   $800,882  
Floating or adjustable interest rates  338,442   301,813   319,136   14,826   974,217  
Total  $504,498   $600,082   $655,693   $14,826   $1,775,099  

      
Commercial & industrial and 
other business loans      

Fixed interest rates  $174,814   $260,423   $96,374   $25,078   $556,689  
Floating or adjustable interest rates  298,196   195,981   81,912   8,404   584,493  
Total  $473,010   $456,404   $178,286   $33,482   $1,141,182  

      
Consumer mortgage      

Fixed interest rates $243,935   $853,595   $1,449,614  $776,115   $3,323,259  
Floating or adjustable interest rates 9,625  42,103  77,522  37,271  166,521  
Total  $253,560   $895,698   $1,527,136   $813,386   $3,489,780  

      
Consumer indirect      

Fixed interest rates  $406,871   $1,248,647   $112,124   $13   $1,767,655  
      
Consumer direct      

Fixed interest rates  $59,640   $122,464   $9,663   $0   $191,767  
Floating or adjustable interest rates  37   11   512   0   560  
Total  $59,677   $122,475   $10,175   $0   $192,327  

      
Home equity      

Fixed interest rates  $28,352   $106,895   $153,080   $26,053   $314,380  
Floating or adjustable interest rates  9,480   30,152   110,968   12,445   163,045  
Total  $37,832   $137,047   $264,048   $38,498   $477,425  
      

Total loans $1,878,301 $4,129,882 $3,499,996 $924,186 $10,432,365 
  
(1) Scheduled repayments are reported in the maturity category in which the payment is due. 
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Asset Quality 
 
The Company places a loan on nonaccrual status when the loan becomes 90 days past due, or sooner if management concludes 
collection of principal and interest is doubtful, except when, in the opinion of management, it is well-collateralized and in the 
process of collection.  Nonperforming loans, defined as nonaccruing loans and accruing loans 90 days or more past due, ended 
2024 at $73.4 million.  This represents an increase of $18.8 million from $54.6 million of nonperforming loans at the end of 
2023.  The ratio of nonperforming loans to total loans at December 31, 2024 of 0.70% increased 14 basis points from the prior 
year’s level.  The ratio of nonperforming assets (which includes other real estate owned, or “OREO”, in addition to 
nonperforming loans) to total loans plus OREO increased to 0.73% at year-end 2024, up 16 basis points from one year earlier.  
At December 31, 2024, OREO consisted of 44 residential properties with a total value of $2.8 million.  This compares to 21 
residential properties with a total value of $1.1 million and one commercial property with a value of $0.1 million at December 
31, 2023.  The increase in OREO for 2024 as compared to 2023 was primarily driven by the Company working through a 
backlog of foreclosures that arose due to pandemic-related moratoriums that have since been lifted.  The increases in 
nonperforming loans, the ratio of nonperforming loans to total loans and the ratio of nonperforming assets to total loans plus 
OREO were primarily attributable to an increase in nonaccrual business lending loan balances.  The Company has reviewed 
individually assessed loans and recorded a reserve for three loans comprised of two lending relationships.  It was determined 
that the discounted collateral value exceeded the loan balance on all other individually assessed loans. 
 
Approximately 54% of nonperforming loan balances at December 31, 2024 are related to the business lending portfolio, which is 
comprised of business loans broadly diversified by collateral and industry type.  Of the nonperforming loans in the business 
lending portfolio, multifamily represents 31% of the balances, non-owner occupied commercial real estate represents 30% of the 
balances, owner-occupied commercial real estate represents 19% of the balances, and other business non-real estate loans 
represents 20% of the balances. 
 
Approximately 40% of the nonperforming loan balances at December 31, 2024 are related to the consumer mortgage portfolio.  
Collateral values of residential properties within most of the Company’s market areas have generally remained stable or increased 
over the past several years.  Although high levels of inflation has had some adverse impact on consumers, the unemployment rate 
remains low and this has contributed to the credit performance in the consumer mortgage loan portfolio remaining favorable. The 
remaining 6% of nonperforming loan balances relate to consumer installment and home equity loans, with home equity 
nonperforming loan levels being driven by the same factors identified for consumer mortgages.  Nonperforming loan levels in the 
consumer installment category are typically very low in comparison to the other portfolios because they are generally charged off 
before they reach non-performing status, and consequently the increase in the amount of non-performing consumer installment 
loans at the end of 2024 as compared to one year earlier was nominal.  The allowance for credit losses to nonperforming loans 
ratio, a general measure of coverage adequacy, was 108% at the end of 2024 compared to 122% at year-end 2023 and 183% at 
December 31, 2022.  The decrease in this ratio from one year ago was primarily driven by the increase in nonperforming business 
loans previously mentioned.  
 
Total delinquencies, defined as loans 30 days or more past due or in nonaccrual status, ended 2024 at 1.24% of total loans 
outstanding, compared to 1.06% at the end of 2023.  There was an increase in delinquencies for all loan portfolios except home 
equity for 2024 as compared to 2023.  As of year-end 2024, delinquency ratios for business lending, consumer installment loans, 
consumer mortgages and home equity loans were 0.98%, 1.30%, 1.56%, and 1.08%, respectively.  Within the business lending 
loan portfolio, the delinquency ratios at December 31, 2024 for multifamily was 1.73%, owner-occupied commercial real estate 
was 0.97%, non-owner occupied commercial real estate was 0.69%, and other commercial and industrial loans was 0.99%.  Year-
end 2023 delinquency rates for business lending, consumer installment loans, consumer mortgages and home equity loans were 
0.61%, 1.20%, 1.49%, and 1.42%, respectively.  Within the business lending loan portfolio, the delinquency ratios at December 
31, 2023 for non-owner occupied commercial real estate was 1.18%, owner-occupied commercial real estate was 0.46%, other 
commercial and industrial loans was 0.12% and there were no delinquent multifamily loans. Delinquency levels, particularly in 
the 30 to 89 days category, tend to be somewhat volatile due to their seasonal characteristics and measurement at a point in time, 
and therefore management believes that it is useful to evaluate this ratio over a longer time period.  The average quarter-end 
delinquency ratio for total loans in 2024 was 1.05%, as compared to an average of 0.88% in 2023, and 0.80% in 2022. 
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The Company’s senior management, special asset officers and business lending management review all delinquent and 
nonaccrual loans and OREO regularly in order to identify deteriorating situations, monitor known problem credits and discuss any 
needed changes to collection efforts, if warranted.  Based on this analysis, a relationship may be assigned a special assets officer 
or other senior lending officer to review the loan, meet with the borrowers, assess the collateral and recommend an action plan. 
This plan could include foreclosure, restructuring loans, issuing demand letters or other actions.  The Company’s larger criticized 
credits are also reviewed on a quarterly basis by senior management, senior credit administration management, special assets 
officers and business lending management to monitor their status and discuss relationship management plans.  Business lending 
management reviews the criticized business loan portfolio on a monthly basis. 
 
The Company will occasionally modify loans to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty by providing principal forgiveness, 
term extension, payment delay, interest rate reduction or a combination thereof.  During the year ended December 31, 2024, the 
Company modified 19 loans with total outstanding balances of $26.9 million that were considered to be modified loans to 
borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. 
 
Allowance for credit losses and loan net charge-off ratios for the past two years are as follows: 
 

Table 13: Loan Ratios 
 

 Years Ended December 31, 
 2024 2023 

Allowance for credit losses/total loans 0.76% 0.69% 
Allowance for credit losses/nonperforming loans 108% 122% 
Nonaccrual loans/total loans 0.64% 0.50% 
Allowance for credit losses/nonaccrual loans 119% 137% 
Net charge-offs to average loans outstanding:   
  Business lending 0.06% 0.01% 
  Consumer mortgage 0.01% 0.02% 
  Consumer indirect 0.29% 0.22% 
  Consumer direct 0.95% 0.65% 
  Home equity 0.03% 0.02% 

  Total loans 0.10% 0.06% 
 
Total net charge-offs in 2024 were $10.1 million, $4.3 million more than the prior year due to an increase in net charge-offs in all 
loan portfolios except for consumer mortgage.  Net charge-offs in 2023 of $5.8 million were $2.5 million more than the prior year 
due to an increase in net charge-offs in all loan portfolios.     
 
Due to the significant increases in average loan balances over time as a result of acquisitions and organic growth, management 
believes that net charge-offs as a percent of average loans (“net charge-off ratio”) offers the most meaningful representation of 
charge-off trends.  The total net charge-off ratio of 0.10% for 2024 was four basis points higher than the ratio from 2023 and six 
basis points higher than the ratio from 2022.  Gross charge-offs as a percentage of average loans were 0.18% in 2024, as 
compared to 0.14% in 2023, and 0.13% in 2022, as management continues to focus on maintaining conservative underwriting 
standards.  Recoveries were $7.9 million in 2024, representing 51% of average gross charge-offs for the latest two years, 
compared to 61% in 2023 and 73% in 2022, reflective of the continued effectiveness of the Company’s repossession and 
disposition capabilities. 
 
Business loan net charge-offs increased in 2024, totaling $2.7 million, for a net charge-off ratio of 0.06% of average business 
loans outstanding, compared to net charge-offs of $0.3 million, or 0.01% of average business loans outstanding, for 2023.  
Consumer installment loan net charge-offs increased to $6.9 million this year from $4.8 million in 2023, with a net charge-off 
ratio of 0.36% in 2024 and 0.26% in 2023.  Consumer mortgage net charge-offs decreased to $0.3 million in 2024 compared to 
$0.6 million in 2023 with a net charge-off ratio of 0.01% and 0.02% in 2024 and 2023, respectively.  Home equity had net 
charge-offs of $0.2 million, or 0.03%, in 2024 compared to net charge-offs of $0.1 million, or 0.02%, in 2023. 
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Management continually evaluates the credit quality of the Company’s loan portfolio and conducts a formal review of the 
adequacy of the allowance for credit losses on a quarterly basis.  The primary components of the review process that are used to 
determine proper allowance levels are collectively evaluated and individually assessed loan loss allocations.  Measurement of 
individually assessed loan loss allocations is typically based on expected future cash flows, collateral values and other factors that 
may impact the borrower’s ability to repay.  Business loans with outstanding balances that are greater than $0.5 million are 
individually assessed for specific loan loss allocations.  Consumer mortgages, consumer installment and home equity loans are 
considered smaller balance homogeneous loans and are evaluated collectively.  The Company considers qualifying loans to 
require an individually assessment when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable 
to collect all principal and interest according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement or the loan is delinquent 90 days or 
more. 
 
Management estimates the allowance for credit losses balance using relevant available information from internal and external 
sources relating to past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts.  Historical credit loss experience 
provides the basis for the estimation of expected future credit losses.  Adjustments are made for differences in current loan-
specific risk characteristics such as differences in underwriting standards, portfolio mix, size and credit quality of acquired loans, 
delinquency level, risk ratings or term of loans as well as actual and forecasted macroeconomic trends, including unemployment 
rates and changes in property values such as home prices, commercial real estate prices, including office-specific property prices, 
automobile prices, office-specific property vacancy rates, gross domestic product, median household income net of inflation and 
other relevant factors in comparison to longer-term performance. Multiple economic scenarios are utilized to encompass a range 
of economic outcomes and include baseline, upside and downside forecasts, which are weighted in the calculation.  The segments 
of the Company’s loan portfolio are disaggregated into classes that allow management to monitor risk and performance.  The 
allowance for credit losses is measured on a collective (pool) basis when similar risk characteristics exist, including collateral 
type, credit ratings/scores, size, duration, interest rate structure, origination vintage and payment structure.  In addition to these 
risk characteristics, the Company considers the portion of acquired loans to the overall segment balance, the change in the volume 
and terms of originations, differences between the losses incurred in the period used for quantitative modeling and a longer 
timeframe that includes the Great Recession of 2008 (the “Great Recession”), as well as recent delinquency, charge-off and risk 
rating trends compared to historical time periods.  The Company measures the allowance for credit losses using either the 
cumulative loss rate method, the line loss method, or the vintage loss rate method, dependent on the loan portfolios’ 
characteristics.  The allowance for credit losses level computed from the collectively evaluated and individually assessed loan loss 
allocation methods are combined with unallocated allowances, if any, to derive the required allowance for credit losses to be 
reflected on the consolidated statements of condition.  The provision for credit losses is calculated by subtracting the previous 
period allowance for credit losses, net of the interim period net charge-offs, from the current required allowance level.  This 
provision is then recorded in the income statement for that period.  Members of senior management and the Board’s Audit 
Committee review the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses quarterly. 
 
Acquired loans are reviewed at their acquisition date to determine whether they have experienced a more-than-insignificant credit 
deterioration since origination.  Loans that meet that definition according to the Company’s policy are referred to as purchased 
credit deteriorated (“PCD”) loans.  PCD loans are initially recorded at the amount paid.  An allowance for credit losses is 
determined using the same methodology as other loans.  The initial allowance for credit losses determined on a collective basis is 
allocated to individual loans.  The sum of the loan’s purchase price and allowance for credit losses becomes its initial amortized 
cost basis.  The difference between the initial amortized cost basis and the par value of the loan is a noncredit discount or 
premium, which is amortized into interest income over the life of the loan.  Subsequent changes to the allowance for credit losses 
are recorded in the provision for credit losses. 
 
For acquired loans that are not deemed PCD at acquisition (“non-PCD”), a fair value adjustment is recorded that includes both 
credit and interest rate considerations.  A provision for credit losses is also recorded at acquisition for the credit considerations on 
non-PCD loans.  Subsequent to the purchase date, the methods utilized to estimate the required allowance for credit losses for 
these loans are the same as originated loans and subsequent changes to the allowance for credit losses are recorded as provision 
for, or reversal of, credit losses. 
 
As of December 31, 2024, the net purchase discount related to the $895.4 million of remaining non-PCD acquired loan 
balances was approximately $17.6 million, or 1.96% of that portfolio. 
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The allowance for credit losses increased to $79.1 million at the end of 2024 from $66.7 million as of year-end 2023.  During 
2024, economic forecasts remained stable while the Company experienced organic loan growth and a slight degradation in certain 
asset quality metrics, which drove the increase in the allowance for credit losses.  The Company recorded a provision for credit 
losses of $22.8 million during 2024, which was $11.6 million higher than the prior year.  While certain national trends persist 
related to commercial real estate, in particular the office and multifamily sectors, the Company determined that its exposure is 
primarily located in geographical areas that show stable or increasing demand and have vacancy rates below the national average.  
The Company has also performed internal reviews of its commercial real estate portfolio, which includes a review of the type of 
collateral, the status of the loan, office commercial real estate-specific balances, percent of total capital, levels of delinquencies, 
charge-offs, nonperforming loans and classified and criticized loans, and weighted average risk ratings.  Based on these reviews, 
management determined that the commercial real estate loan portfolio was performing in line with expectations.  Refer to Note D: 
Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of management’s 
methodology used to estimate the allowance for credit losses. 
 
The allowance for credit losses increased to $66.7 million at the end of 2023 from $61.1 million as of year-end 2022.  During 
2023, economic forecasts remained stable and the Company experienced organic loan growth.  The Company recorded a 
provision for credit losses of $11.2 million during 2023. 
 
The ratio of the allowance for credit losses to total loans of 0.76% for year-end 2024 was seven basis points higher than the level 
at the end of 2023, due to the factors noted previously.  The ratio at year-end 2023 was consistent with the level at the end of 2022 
due to stable economic forecasts and asset quality metrics.  Management considers the year-end 2024 and 2023 allowance for 
credit losses to be adequate.  The provision for credit losses as a percentage of average loans was 0.23% in 2024 as compared to 
0.12% in 2023 and 0.18% in 2022.  The provision for credit losses was 225% of net charge-offs in 2024 versus 193% in 2023 and 
443% in 2022. 
 
The following table sets forth the allocation of the allowance for credit losses by loan category as of the end of the years 
indicated, as well as the proportional share of each category’s loan balance to total loans.  This allocation is based on 
management’s assessment, as of a given point in time, of the risk characteristics of each of the component parts of the total loan 
portfolio and is subject to change when the risk factors of each component part change.  The allocation is not indicative of the 
specific amount of future net charge-offs that will be incurred in each of the loan categories, nor should it be taken as an indicator 
of future loss trends.  The allocation of the allowance to each category does not restrict the use of the allowance to absorb losses 
in any category. 
 

Table 14: Allowance for Credit Losses by Loan Type 
 

 December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

(000's omitted except for ratios) 

Allowance 
for Credit 

Losses 

Percent of 
Total Loan 
Balances 

Allowance 
for Credit 

Losses 

Percent of 
Total Loan 
Balances 

Business lending $37,201 43.2% $26,854 42.1% 
Consumer mortgage 15,017 33.5% 15,333 33.9% 
Consumer indirect 20,895 16.9% 18,585 17.5% 
Consumer direct 3,453 1.8% 3,269 1.9% 
Home equity 1,548 4.6% 1,628 4.6% 
Unallocated 1,000 0.0% 1,000 0.0% 
Total $79,114 100.0% $66,669 100.0% 

 
As demonstrated in Table 14, the consumer direct and indirect installment loan portfolios carry higher credit risk than the 
business lending, consumer mortgage and home equity portfolios and therefore the Company allocates a higher proportional 
allowance to these portfolios.  The unallocated allowance is maintained for potential inherent losses in the specific portfolios that 
are not captured due to model imprecision.  The unallocated allowance of $1.0 million at year-end 2024 was consistent with 2023.  
The changes in year-over-year allowance allocations reflect management’s continued refinement of its loss estimation techniques.  
However, given the inherent imprecision in the many estimates used in the determination of the allocated portion of the 
allowance, management remained conservative in the approaches used to establish the overall allowance for credit losses.  
Management considers the allocated and unallocated portions of the allowance for credit losses to be prudent and reasonable. 
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Funding Sources 
 
The Company utilizes a variety of funding sources to support the interest-earning asset base as well as to achieve targeted growth 
objectives.  Overall funding is comprised of three primary sources that possess a variety of maturity, stability and price 
characteristics: deposits of individuals, partnerships and corporations (non-governmental deposits), governmental deposits that are 
collateralized for amounts not covered by FDIC insurance (governmental deposits), and external borrowings.  The average daily 
amount of deposits and the average rate paid on each of the following deposit categories are summarized below for the years 
indicated: 
 

Table 15: Average Deposits 
  

  2024  2023  2022 

(000's omitted, except rates)  
Average 
Balance 

Average 
Rate Paid  

Average 
Balance 

Average 
Rate Paid 

 Average 
Balance 

Average 
Rate Paid 

Noninterest checking deposits  $3,580,297 0.00%   $3,848,261 0.00%  $4,106,029 0.00% 
Interest checking deposits  2,861,772 0.55%   3,055,443 0.42%  3,326,723 0.10% 
Savings deposits  2,229,602 0.51%   2,365,379 0.25%  2,403,719 0.03% 
Money market deposits  2,509,272 2.23%   2,351,005 1.43%  2,464,116 0.16% 
Time deposits  2,037,315 3.76%   1,280,751 2.55%  928,990 0.76% 
  Total deposits  $13,218,258 1.21%   $12,900,839 0.66%  $13,229,577 0.11% 
          

Non-governmental deposits  $11,351,721 0.96%  $11,418,481 0.55%  $11,723,081 0.12% 
Governmental deposits  1,866,537 2.73%  1,482,358 1.51%  1,506,496 0.10% 
  Total deposits  $13,218,258 1.21%  $12,900,839 0.66%  $13,229,577 0.11% 

 
As displayed in Table 15, average total deposits in 2024 increased $317.4 million, or 2.5%, from the prior year, comprised of a 
$756.6 million, or 59.1%, increase in time deposits, partially offset by a $439.2 million, or 3.8%, decrease in non-time deposits.  
The increase in average deposits and the change in deposit mix towards a higher time deposit balance was primarily due to 
customers responding to changes in market interest rates by moving funds into higher yielding account types, as well as increased 
rate competition from other banks and non-depository financial institutions. 
 
Average total deposits in 2023 decreased $328.7 million, or 2.5%, from 2022 comprised of a $680.5 million, or 5.5%, decrease in 
non-time deposits, partially offset by a $351.8 million, or 37.9%, increase in time deposits.  The decrease in average deposits and 
the change in deposit mix towards a higher time deposit balance was primarily due to higher customer expenditure levels in the 
inflationary environment and customers responding to changes in market interest rates. 
 
Non-governmental, non-time deposits are frequently considered to be an attractive source of funding because they are generally 
stable, do not need to be collateralized, carry a relatively low interest rate, generate fee income and provide a strong customer 
base for which a variety of loan, deposit and other financial service-related products can be cross-sold.  The Company’s funding 
composition continues to benefit from a high level of non-governmental deposits, with an average balance of $11.35 billion, 
which decreased $66.8 million, or 0.6%, from 2023, and equaled 86% of total average deposits, three percentage points lower 
than 2023 due mostly to strong growth in governmental deposits.  The Company continues to focus on expanding its core deposit 
relationship base through its competitive product offerings and high quality customer service. 
 
Full-year average governmental deposits increased $384.2 million, or 25.9%, during 2024 to $1.87 billion, reflective of 
competitive offerings and expansion of the Company’s governmental deposit relationship base due in part to additional business 
development efforts.  Governmental deposit balances tend to be more volatile than non-governmental deposits because they are 
heavily impacted by the seasonality of tax collection and fiscal spending patterns, as well as the longer-term financial position of 
the local government entities, which can change from year to year.  The Company is required to collateralize certain local 
governmental deposits in excess of FDIC coverage with marketable securities from its investment portfolio.  Due to this 
stipulation, as well as the competitive bidding nature of governmental time deposits, management considers this funding source to 
share some of the same attributes as borrowings.  However, the Company has many long-standing relationships with 
governmental entities throughout its markets and the deposits held by these customers have provided a relatively attractive and 
stable funding source over an extended period of time. 
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The mix of average deposits shifted as compared with the prior year as customers moved to higher yielding deposit accounts.  
Non-time deposits (noninterest checking, interest checking, savings and money markets) represented approximately 85% of the 
Company’s average deposit funding base in 2024 versus 90% last year, while time deposits this year represent approximately 
15% of total average deposits compared to 10% in 2023.  The cost of interest-bearing deposits of 1.66% in 2024 was 72 basis 
points higher than the 0.94% cost of interest-bearing deposits in 2023 as a result of the aforementioned deposit mix shift and 
increases in the average rates paid on interest checking, savings, money market and time deposits due to market conditions.  The 
total cost of deposit funding, which includes noninterest checking balances, was 1.21% in 2024, a 55 basis point increase from the 
prior year. On a quarterly basis, the total cost of deposit funding has been stable, at 1.23% for the second, third and fourth quarters 
of 2024. 
 
The remaining maturities of deposits in amounts of $250,000 or more (the FDIC insurance limit) outstanding as of December 31 
are as follows: 
 

Table 16: Maturity of Time Deposits in Excess of Insurance Limit of $250,000 
 

(000's omitted) 2024 2023 
  Less than three months $166,643 $52,330 
  Three months to six months 176,452 111,117 
  Six months to one year 211,811 152,050 
  Over one year 118,077 132,492 
    Total $672,983 $447,989 

 
The Company’s deposit base is well diversified across customer segments, comprised of approximately 59% consumer, 26% 
business and 15% governmental at December 31, 2024, and broadly dispersed among its customer base as illustrated by an 
average deposit balance per account of under $20,000.  At the end of 2024, 65% of the Company’s total deposits were in no and 
low rate checking and savings accounts.  The total estimated amount of deposits that exceeded the $250,000 insured limit 
provided by the FDIC, net of collateralized and intercompany deposits, was approximately $2.35 billion at December 31, 2024.  
This amount is determined by adjusting the amounts reported in the Bank Call Report by subtracting intercompany deposits, 
which are not external customers and are therefore eliminated in consolidation, and governmental deposits which are 
collateralized by certain pledged investment securities.  The Bank Call Report estimated uninsured deposit balances at December 
31, 2024 are reported gross at $4.38 billion, which includes intercompany account balances of $279.4 million, and collateralized 
deposits of $1.75 billion.  Estimated insured deposits, net of collateralized and intercompany deposits, represent greater than 80% 
of ending total deposits at December 31, 2024.  These estimates are based on the determination of known deposit account 
balances of each depositor and the insurance guidelines provided by the FDIC.  The Company did not hold any brokered deposits 
during 2024. 
 
Borrowing sources for the Company include the FHLB, Federal Reserve, other correspondent banks, as well as access to the 
brokered CD and repurchase markets through established relationships with business and governmental customers and primary 
market security dealers. 
 
As shown in Table 17, year-end 2024 borrowings totaled $998.9 million, an increase of $233.7 million from the $765.2 million 
outstanding at the end of 2023 primarily due to an increase in fixed rate FHLB term borrowings of $203.0 million, overnight 
borrowings of $65.0 million, and finance lease liabilities of $8.7 million, partially offset by a $43.0 million decrease in customer 
repurchase agreements.  The Company secured $250.0 million in additional fixed rate FHLB term borrowings during 2024 to 
support the funding of loan growth.  Borrowings averaged $917.4 million, or 6.5% of total funding liabilities for 2024, as 
compared to $631.4 million, or 4.7% of total funding liabilities for 2023.  At the end of 2024, the Company had $391.8 million, or 
40%, of contractual borrowing obligations that had remaining terms of one year or less which was higher than the $359.6 million, 
or 47%, at the end of 2023, due to an increase in overnight borrowings and the maturity of fixed rate FHLB term borrowings in 
2025.   
 
As displayed in Table 3 on page 50, the percentage of funding from deposits in 2024 was lower than the level in 2023, primarily 
due to the increase in average overnight borrowings and average term borrowings in 2024 that were needed to support the funding 
of strong loan growth that outpaced the increase in deposit balances.  The percentage of average funding derived from deposits 
was 93.5% in 2024 as compared to 95.3% in 2023 and 96.4% in 2022.  During 2024, average deposits increased 2.5%, while 
average borrowings increased 45.3%. 
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The following table summarizes the outstanding balance of the Company’s borrowings as of December 31: 
 

Table 17: Borrowings  
 

(000's omitted) 2024 2023 
Overnight borrowings $118,000 $53,000 
Securities sold under agreement to repurchase, short term 261,553 304,595 
Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 610,645 407,603 
Finance lease liabilities 8,667 0 
      Balance at end of period $998,865 $765,198 

 
Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk 
 
The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the 
financing needs of its customers.  These financial instruments consist primarily of commitments to extend credit and standby 
letters of credit.  Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to customers, generally having fixed expiration dates or 
other termination clauses that may require payment of a fee.  These commitments consist principally of unused commercial 
and consumer credit lines.  Standby letters of credit generally are contingent upon the failure of the customer to perform 
according to the terms of an underlying contract with a third party.  The credit risks associated with commitments to extend 
credit and standby letters of credit are essentially the same as that involved with extending loans to customers and are subject 
to the Company’s standard credit policies.  Collateral may be required based on management’s assessment of the customer’s 
creditworthiness.  The fair value of the standby letters of credit is considered immaterial for disclosure purposes.  See Note M 
beginning on page 133 for further information on off-balance sheet exposures. 
 
Investments  
 
The objective of the Company’s investment portfolio is to hold low-risk, high-quality earning assets that provide favorable returns 
and provide another effective tool to actively manage its earning asset/funding liability position in order to maximize future net 
interest income opportunities.  This must be accomplished within the following constraints: (a) implementing certain interest rate 
risk management strategies which achieve a relatively stable level of net interest income; (b) providing both the regulatory and 
operational liquidity necessary to conduct day-to-day business activities; (c) considering investment risk-weights as determined 
by the regulatory risk-based capital guidelines; and (d) generating a favorable return without undue compromise of the other 
requirements. 
 
The carrying value of the Company’s investment portfolio ended 2024 at $4.22 billion, an increase of $53.1 million, or 1.3%, 
from the end of 2023.  The book value (excluding unrealized gains and losses) of the portfolio increased $76.2 million, or 1.7%, 
from December 31, 2023.  The net unrealized loss on the available-for-sale investment portfolio was $404.6 million as of 
December 31, 2024, an increase of $23.0 million from the $381.6 million unrealized loss at the end of 2023.  This increase is 
reflective of movements in medium to long-term interest rates, as well as the volume and rates associated with the securities sales 
and maturities that occurred during the year.  During 2024, the Company purchased $152.6 million of government agency 
mortgage-backed securities with an average yield of 5.58%, which the Company classified as held-to-maturity.  Additionally, 
there was $38.0 million of net accretion on investment securities in 2024.  These additions were offset by proceeds of $53.4 
million from sales of tax-exempt obligations of state and political subdivisions available-for-sale investment securities, proceeds 
of $4.1 million from sales of taxable obligations of state and political subdivisions available-for-sale investment securities, and 
$68.8 million of investment maturities, calls and principal payments during 2024.  A realized loss of $0.5 million was recognized 
on the sales of $58.0 million book value tax-exempt obligations of state and political subdivisions available-for-sale investment 
securities during 2024.  The Company also participated in a Visa Class B share exchange during the second quarter of 2024, in 
which half of its Visa Class B shares were converted into Visa Class C shares that are convertible (with certain timing 
restrictions) to NYSE-traded Visa Class A shares.  The conversion of these shares generated $0.9 million of unrealized gain on 
equity securities.  The effective duration of the securities portfolio was 6.2 years at the end of 2024, as compared to 7.0 years at 
year end 2023. 
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The carrying value of the Company’s investment portfolio ended 2023 at $4.17 billion, a decrease of $1.15 billion, or 21.6%, 
from the end of 2022.  The book value (excluding unrealized gains and losses) of the portfolio decreased $1.29 billion, or 22.1%, 
from December 31, 2022.  The net unrealized loss on the available-for-sale investment portfolio was $381.6 million as of 
December 31, 2023, a decrease of $142.0 million from the $523.6 million unrealized loss at the end of 2022.  This decrease is 
indicative of the impact of sales, maturities, calls and principal paydowns of securities throughout 2023, as well as broader market 
shifts regarding the state of the economy and future interest rate levels.  During 2023, the Company purchased $63.3 million of 
government agency mortgage-backed securities with an average yield of 5.84%, which the Company classified as held-to-
maturity.  Additionally, there was $39.5 million of net accretion on investment securities in 2023.  During the first quarter of 
2023, the Company sold $786.1 million in book value of available-for-sale U.S. Treasury and agency securities, recognizing 
$52.3 million of gross realized losses.  The sales were completed in January and February 2023 as part of a strategic balance sheet 
repositioning and were unrelated to the negative developments in the banking industry that occurred in March 2023.  The 
proceeds from these sales of $733.8 million were redeployed entirely toward paying off existing overnight borrowings.  The 
purchases and net accretion were more than offset by the proceeds from the first quarter 2023 balance sheet repositioning and 
$598.0 million of investment maturities, calls and principal payments.  The effective duration of the securities portfolio was 7.0 
years at the end of 2023, as compared to 6.3 years at year end 2022. 
 
The investment portfolio has limited credit risk due to the composition continuing to be heavily weighted towards U.S. Treasury 
debentures, U.S. Agency mortgage-backed pass-throughs (MBS), U.S. Agency collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs) and 
municipal bonds.  The U.S. Treasury debentures, U.S. Agency mortgage-backed pass-throughs and U.S. Agency CMOs are all 
rated AAA (highest possible rating) by Moody’s and AA+ by Standard and Poor’s.  The majority of the municipal bonds are rated 
A or higher.  The portfolio does not include any private label MBS or CMOs. 
 
The following table sets forth the carrying value for the Company's investment securities portfolio as of December 31: 
 

Table 18: Investment Securities 
  

(000's omitted) 2024 2023 
Available-for-Sale Portfolio:   
  U.S. Treasury and agency securities $2,083,786 $2,080,783 
  Obligations of state and political subdivisions 386,495 474,363 
  Government agency mortgage-backed securities 301,224 348,526 
  Corporate debt securities 7,697 7,394 
  Government agency collateralized mortgage obligations  6,512 8,926 
     Total available-for-sale portfolio 2,785,714 2,919,992 
   

Held-to-Maturity Portfolio:   
  U.S. Treasury and agency securities 1,138,743 1,109,101 
  Government agency mortgage-backed securities 206,412 63,073 
     Total held-to-maturity portfolio 1,345,155 1,172,174 
   

Equity and Other Securities:   
  Equity securities with readily determinable fair values 2,354 372 
  Federal Home Loan Bank common stock 45,408 32,526 
  Federal Reserve Bank common stock 33,442 33,568 
  Equity securities without readily determinable fair values 6,313 6,680 
    Total equity and other securities 87,517 73,146 

     Total investments $4,218,386 $4,165,312 
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The following table sets forth as of December 31, 2024 the weighted-average yield of investment debt securities by maturity date 
and investment type:

Table 19: Weighted-Average Yield of Investment Debt Securities (1)eld o

(000's omitted, except yields)

Maturing 
Within One 
Year or Less

Maturing  
After One Year 

But Within 
Five Years

Maturing After 
Five Years But 

Within Ten 
Years

Maturing 
After Ten 

Years

Total 
Amortized 
Cost/Book 

Value
Available-for-Sale Portfolio:

U.S. Treasury and agency securities 0.00% 1.45% 2.23% 1.73% $2,389,208
Obligations of state and political subdivisions(2) 2.29% 1.97% 2.61% 2.81% 428,204
Government agency mortgage-backed securities 2.75% 1.87% 2.44% 2.48% 360,102
Corporate debt securities 0.00% 0.00% 4.05% 0.00% 8,000
Government agency collateralized mortgage obligations 2.87% 1.86% 2.76% 2.36% 6,878

Held-to-Maturity Portfolio:
U.S. Treasury and agency securities 0.00% 0.00% 3.37% 3.71% 1,138,743
Government agency mortgage-backed securities 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 5.59% 206,412

(1) Weighted-average yields are an arithmetic computation of income (not fully tax-equivalent adjusted) divided by book balance; they may differ from the yield to 
maturity, which considers the time value of money.

(2) Excluding the impact of $15.9 million in book value of qualified school construction bonds in the Company’s portfolio which earn income primarily through 
income tax credits, the weighted-average yield of obligations of state and political subdivisions maturing after one year but within five years is 2.62%.

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in terms of historical dollars, without considering changes in the relative 
purchasing power of money over time due to inflation.  Unlike most industrial companies, virtually all of the assets and liabilities 
of a financial institution are monetary in nature.  As a result, interest rates have a more significant impact on a financial
institution's performance than the effect of general levels of inflation.  Interest rates do not necessarily move in the same direction 
or in the same magnitude as the prices of goods and services.  Notwithstanding this, inflation can directly affect the value of loan 
collateral, real estate and automobiles in particular.  Inflation can also impact the Company’s noninterest expense levels to some 
extent, and by extension the net income it generates and the earnings it retains as capital.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See “New Accounting Pronouncements” Section of Note A of the notes to the consolidated financial statements on page 101 
for recently issued accounting pronouncements applicable to the Company that have not yet been adopted.
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Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This report contains comments or information that constitute forward-looking statements (within the meaning of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995), which involve significant risks and uncertainties.  Forward-looking statements often 
use words such as “anticipate,” “could,” “target,” “expect,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “goal,” “forecast,” “believe,” or other 
words of similar meaning.  These statements are based on the current beliefs and expectations of the Company’s management 
and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties.  Actual results may differ materially from the results discussed in the 
forward-looking statements.  Moreover, the Company’s plans, objectives and intentions are subject to change based on various 
factors (some of which are beyond the Company’s control).  Factors that could cause actual results to differ from those 
discussed in the forward-looking statements include:  (1) adverse developments in the banking industry related to bank failures 
and the potential impact of such developments on customer confidence and regulatory responses to these developments; (2) 
current and future economic and market conditions, including the effects of changes in housing or vehicle prices, higher 
unemployment rates, disruptions in the commercial real estate market, labor shortages, supply chain disruption, inability to 
obtain raw materials and supplies, U.S. fiscal debt, budget and tax matters, geopolitical matters and conflicts, and any changes 
in global economic growth; (3) the effect of, and changes in, monetary and fiscal policies and laws, including future changes in 
Federal and state statutory income tax rates and interest rate and other policy actions of the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System; (4) the effect of changes in the level of checking or savings account deposits on the Company’s funding costs 
and net interest margin including the possibility of a sudden withdrawal of the Company’s deposits due to rapid spread of 
information or disinformation regarding the Company’s well-being; (5) future provisions for credit losses on loans and debt 
securities; (6) changes in nonperforming assets; (7) the effect of a fall in stock market or bond prices on the Company’s fee 
income businesses, including its employee benefit services, wealth management, and insurance businesses; (8) risks related to 
credit quality; (9) inflation, interest rate, liquidity, market and monetary fluctuations;  (10) the strength of the U.S. economy in 
general and the strength of the local economies where the Company conducts its business;  (11) the timely development of new 
products and services and customer perception of the overall value thereof (including features, pricing and quality) compared 
to competing products and services;  (12) changes in consumer spending, borrowing and savings habits;  (13) technological 
changes and implementation and financial risks associated with transitioning to new technology-based systems involving large 
multi-year contracts;  (14) the ability of the Company to maintain the security, including cybersecurity, of its financial, 
accounting, technology, data processing and other operating systems, facilities and data, including customer data;  (15) 
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management processes and procedures, reliance on models which may be inaccurate or 
misinterpreted, the Company’s ability to manage its credit or interest rate risk, the sufficiency of its allowance for credit losses 
and the accuracy of the assumptions or estimates used in preparing the Company’s financial statements and disclosures; (16) 
failure of third parties to provide various services that are important to the Company’s operations;  (17) any acquisitions or 
mergers that might be considered or consummated by the Company and the costs and factors associated therewith, including 
differences in the actual financial results of the acquisition or merger compared to expectations and the realization of 
anticipated cost savings and revenue enhancements;  (18) the ability to maintain and increase market share and control 
expenses;  (19) the nature, timing and effect of changes in banking regulations or other regulatory or legislative requirements 
affecting the respective businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries, including changes in laws and regulations concerning 
taxes, accounting, banking, service fees, risk management, securities, capital requirements and other aspects of the financial 
services industry;  (20) changes in the Company’s organization, compensation and benefit plans and in the availability of, and 
compensation levels for, employees in its geographic markets;  (21) the outcome of pending or future litigation and 
government proceedings; (22) the effect of opening new branches to expand the Company’s geographic footprint, including 
the cost associated with opening and operating the branches and the uncertainty surrounding their success including the ability 
to meet expectations for future deposit and loan levels and commensurate revenues;  (23) the effects of natural disasters could 
create economic and financial disruption; (24) the effects from changes in governmental leadership which expose the 
Company and its customers to a variety of political, economic, and regulatory risks, including the risk of changes in laws 
(including labor, trade, tax and other laws) and the potential for disruption in governmental agencies, services provided by the 
government, and funding of government sponsored projects; (25) other risk factors outlined in the Company’s filings with the 
SEC from time to time; and (26) the success of the Company at managing the risks of the foregoing. 
 
The foregoing list of important factors is not all-inclusive.  For more information about factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from the Company’s expectations, refer to “Item 1A Risk Factors” above.  Any forward-looking statements 
speak only as of the date on which they are made and the Company does not undertake any obligation to update any forward-
looking statement, whether written or oral, to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made.  If 
the Company does update or correct one or more forward-looking statements, investors and others should not conclude that the 
Company will make additional updates or corrections with respect thereto or with respect to other forward-looking statements. 
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Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures 
 

Table 20: GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliations 
 

(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Operating pre-tax, pre-provision net revenue (non-GAAP) 
  Net income (GAAP) $182,481 $131,924 $188,081  
  Income taxes 54,223 36,307 52,233 
  Income before income taxes 236,704 168,231 240,314 
  Provision for credit losses 22,773 11,203 14,773 
    Pre-tax, pre-provision net revenue (non-GAAP) 259,477 179,434 255,087 
  Acquisition expenses 213 63 5,021 
  Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments 244 3,280 (300) 
  Restructuring expenses 0 1,163 0 
  Litigation accrual 138 5,800 0 
  Loss on sales of investment securities 487 52,329 0 
  Gain on debt extinguishment  0 (242) 0 
  Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities (1,231) 47 44 
  Amortization of intangible assets 14,259 14,511 15,214 
    Operating pre-tax, pre-provision net revenue (non-GAAP) $273,587 $256,385 $275,066 

    
Operating pre-tax, pre-provision net revenue per share (non-GAAP)    
  Diluted earnings per share (GAAP) $3.44 $2.45  $3.46  
  Income taxes 1.02 0.67 0.96 
  Income before income taxes 4.46 3.12 4.42 
  Provision for credit losses 0.43 0.21 0.27 
    Pre-tax, pre-provision net revenue per share (non-GAAP) 4.89 3.33 4.69 
  Acquisition expenses 0.00 0.00 0.09 
  Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments 0.00 0.06 0.00 
  Restructuring expenses 0.00 0.02 0.00 
  Litigation accrual 0.00 0.11 0.00 
  Loss on sales of investment securities 0.01 0.97 0.00 
  Gain on debt extinguishment 0.00 0.00 0.00 
  Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities (0.02) 0.00 0.00 
  Amortization of intangible assets 0.27 0.27 0.28 
    Operating pre-tax, pre-provision net revenue per share (non-GAAP) $5.15 $4.76 $5.06 

    
Operating net income (non-GAAP)    
  Net income (GAAP) $182,481 $131,924  $188,081  
  Acquisition expenses 213 63 5,021 
  Tax effect of acquisition expenses (40) (13) (1,091) 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 182,654 131,974 192,011 
  Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments 244 3,280 (300) 
  Tax effect of acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments (46) (689) 65 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 182,852 134,565 191,776 
  Acquisition-related provision for credit losses 0 0 3,927 
  Tax effect of acquisition-related provision for credit losses 0 0 (853) 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 182,852 134,565 194,850 
  Litigation accrual 138 5,800 0 
  Tax effect of litigation accrual (26) (1,218) 0 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 182,964 139,147 194,850 
  Restructuring expenses 0 1,163 0 
  Tax effect of restructuring expenses 0 (244) 0 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 182,964 140,066 194,850 
  Loss on sales of investment securities 487 52,329 0 
  Tax effect of loss on sales of investment securities (93) (10,989) 0 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 183,358 181,406 194,850 
  Gain on debt extinguishment 0 (242) 0 
  Tax effect of gain on debt extinguishment 0 51 0 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 183,358 181,215 194,850 
  Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities (1,231) 47 44 
  Tax effect of unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities 234 (10) (10) 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 182,361 181,252 194,884 
  Amortization of intangible assets 14,259 14,511 15,214 
  Tax effect of amortization of intangible assets (2,709) (3,047) (3,307) 
Operating net income (non-GAAP) $193,911 $192,716 $206,791 
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(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Operating diluted earnings per share (non-GAAP) 
  Diluted earnings per share (GAAP) $3.44 $2.45  $3.46  
  Acquisition expenses 0.00 0.00 0.09 
  Tax effect of acquisition expenses 0.00 0.00 (0.02) 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 3.44 2.45  3.53  
  Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments 0.00 0.06 0.00 
  Tax effect of acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments 0.00 (0.01) 0.00 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 3.44 2.50 3.53 
   Acquisition-related provision for credit losses 0.00 0.00 0.07 
   Tax effect of acquisition-related provision for credit losses 0.00 0.00 (0.02) 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 3.44 2.50 3.58 
  Litigation accrual 0.00 0.11 0.00 
  Tax effect of litigation accrual 0.00 (0.03) 0.00 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 3.44 2.58 3.58 
  Restructuring expenses 0.00 0.02 0.00 
  Tax effect of restructuring expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 3.44 2.60 3.58 
  Loss on sales of investment securities 0.01 0.97 0.00 
  Tax effect of loss on sales of investment securities 0.00 (0.21) 0.00 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 3.45 3.36 3.58 
  Gain on debt extinguishment 0.00 0.00 0.00 
  Tax effect of gain on debt extinguishment 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 3.45 3.36 3.58 
  Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities (0.02) 0.00 0.00 
  Tax effect of unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Subtotal (non-GAAP) 3.43 3.36 3.58 
  Amortization of intangible assets 0.27 0.27 0.28 
  Tax effect of amortization of intangible assets (0.05) (0.06) (0.06) 
Operating diluted earnings per share (non-GAAP) $3.65 $3.57 $3.80 
    
Return on assets      
 Net income (GAAP) $182,481  $131,924 $188,081  
 Average total assets 15,990,697 15,242,884 15,567,139 
     Return on assets (GAAP) 1.14% 0.87% 1.21% 
    
Operating return on assets (non-GAAP)    
  Operating net income (non-GAAP) $193,911 $192,716 $206,791 
  Average total assets 15,990,697 15,242,884 15,567,139 
     Operating return on assets (non-GAAP) 1.21% 1.26% 1.33% 
    
Return on equity    
  Net income (GAAP) $182,481  $131,924 $188,081  
  Average total equity 1,695,794 1,595,724 1,733,521 
     Return on equity (GAAP) 10.76% 8.27% 10.85% 
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(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Operating return on equity (non-GAAP)    
  Operating net income (non-GAAP) $193,911 $192,716 $206,791 
  Average total equity 1,695,794 1,595,724 1,733,521 
     Operating return on equity (non-GAAP) 11.43% 12.08% 11.93% 
    
Net interest margin    
  Net interest income $449,117 $437,285 $420,630 
  Total average interest-earning assets 14,754,880 14,078,061 14,548,665 
     Net interest margin 3.04% 3.11% 2.89% 
    
Net interest margin (FTE) (non-GAAP)    
  Net interest income $449,117 $437,285 $420,630 
  Fully tax-equivalent adjustment (non-GAAP) 3,721 4,242 4,074 
  Fully tax-equivalent net interest income (non-GAAP) 452,838 441,527 424,704 
  Total average interest-earning assets 14,754,880 14,078,061 14,548,665 
     Net interest margin (FTE) (non-GAAP) 3.07% 3.14% 2.92% 
    
Operating noninterest revenues (non-GAAP)    
  Noninterest revenues (GAAP) $297,186 $214,834 $258,725 
  Loss on sales of investment securities 487 52,329 0 
  Gain on debt extinguishment 0 (242) 0 
  Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities (1,231) 47 44 
     Total operating noninterest revenues (non-GAAP) $296,442 $266,968 $258,769 
    
Operating noninterest expenses (non-GAAP)    
  Noninterest expenses (GAAP) $486,825 $472,685 $424,268 
  Acquisition expenses (213) (63) (5,021) 
  Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments (244) (3,280) 300 
  Restructuring expenses 0 (1,163) 0 
  Litigation accrual (138) (5,800) 0 
  Amortization of intangible assets (14,259) (14,511) (15,214) 
     Total operating noninterest expenses (non-GAAP) $471,971 $447,868 $404,333 
    
Operating revenues (non-GAAP)    
  Net interest income (GAAP) $449,117 $437,285 $420,630 
  Noninterest revenues (GAAP) 297,186 214,834 258,725 
     Total revenues (GAAP)  746,303 652,119 679,355 
  Loss on sales of investment securities 487 52,329 0 
  Gain on debt extinguishment 0 (242) 0 
  Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities (1,231) 47 44 
     Total operating revenues (non-GAAP) $745,559 $704,253 $679,399 
    
Noninterest revenues/total revenues    
  Total noninterest revenues (GAAP) – numerator $297,186 $214,834 $258,725 
  Total revenues (GAAP) – denominator 746,303 652,119 679,355 
     Noninterest revenues/total revenues (GAAP)  39.8% 32.9% 38.1% 
    
Operating noninterest revenues/operating revenues (FTE) (non-GAAP)    
  Total operating noninterest revenues (non-GAAP) – numerator $296,442 $266,968 $258,769 
  Total operating revenues (non-GAAP) 745,559 704,253 679,399 
  Fully tax-equivalent adjustment (non-GAAP) 3,721 4,242 4,074 
  Total operating revenues (FTE) (non-GAAP) – denominator 749,280 708,495 683,473 
     Operating noninterest revenues/operating revenues (FTE) (non-GAAP) 39.6% 37.7% 37.9% 
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(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Efficiency ratio (GAAP)    
  Total noninterest expenses (GAAP) – numerator $486,825 $472,685 $424,268 
  Total revenues (GAAP) – denominator 746,303 652,119 679,355 
     Efficiency ratio (GAAP) 65.2% 72.5% 62.5% 
    
Operating efficiency ratio (non-GAAP)    
  Total operating noninterest expenses (non-GAAP) – numerator $471,971 $447,868 $404,333 
  Total operating revenues (FTE) (non-GAAP) – denominator 749,280 708,495 683,473 
     Operating efficiency ratio (non-GAAP) 63.0% 63.2% 59.2% 

    
Return on tangible equity (non-GAAP)    
  Net income (GAAP) $182,481  $131,924 $188,081  
  Average shareholders’ equity 1,695,794 1,595,724 1,733,521 
  Average goodwill and intangible assets, net (902,681) (900,058) (891,647) 
  Average deferred taxes on goodwill and intangible assets, net 44,908 45,664 45,145 
  Average tangible common equity (non-GAAP) 838,021 741,330 887,019 
      Return on tangible equity (non-GAAP) 21.78% 17.80% 21.20% 

    
Operating return on tangible equity (non-GAAP)    
  Operating net income (non-GAAP) $193,911 $192,716 $206,791 
  Average tangible common equity (non-GAAP) 838,021 741,330 887,019 
     Operating return on tangible equity (non-GAAP) 23.14% 26.00% 23.31% 
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(000’s omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Total tangible assets (non-GAAP)    
  Total assets (GAAP) $16,386,044 $15,555,753 $15,835,651 
  Goodwill and intangible assets, net (901,471) (897,987)  (902,837) 
  Deferred taxes on goodwill and intangible assets, net 44,618 45,198 46,130 
     Total tangible assets (non-GAAP) $15,529,191 $14,702,964 $14,978,944 
    
Total tangible common equity (non-GAAP)    
  Shareholders' equity (GAAP) $1,762,835 $1,697,937 $1,551,705 
  Goodwill and intangible assets, net (901,471) (897,987)  (902,837) 
  Deferred taxes on goodwill and intangible assets, net 44,618 45,198 46,130 
     Total tangible common equity (non-GAAP) $905,982 $845,148 $694,998 
    
Shareholders’ equity-to-assets ratio at year end    
  Total shareholders’ equity (GAAP) – numerator $1,762,835 $1,697,937 $1,551,705 
  Total assets (GAAP) – denominator 16,386,044 15,555,753 15,835,651 
     Shareholders’ equity-to-assets ratio at year end (GAAP) 10.76% 10.92% 9.80% 
    
Tangible equity-to-tangible assets ratio at year end (non-GAAP)    
  Total tangible common equity (non-GAAP) – numerator $905,982 $845,148 $694,998 
  Total tangible assets (non-GAAP) – denominator 15,529,191 14,702,964 14,978,944 
     Tangible equity-to-tangible assets ratio at year end (non-GAAP) 5.83% 5.75% 4.64% 
    
Book value (GAAP)    
  Total shareholders’ equity (GAAP) – numerator $1,762,835 $1,697,937 $1,551,705 
  Period end common shares outstanding – denominator 52,668 53,327 53,737 
     Book value (GAAP) $33.47  $31.84  $28.88  
    
Tangible book value (non-GAAP)    
  Total tangible common equity (non-GAAP) – numerator $905,982 $845,148 $694,998 
  Period end common shares outstanding – denominator 52,668 53,327 53,737 
     Tangible book value (non-GAAP) $17.20  $15.85  $12.93  

 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the risk of loss in a financial instrument arising from adverse changes in market rates, prices or credit risk.  
Credit risk associated with the Company’s loan portfolio has been previously discussed in the asset quality section of the 
MD&A.  Management believes that the tax risk of the Company’s municipal investments associated with potential future 
changes in statutory, judicial and regulatory actions is minimal.  Treasury, agency, mortgage-backed and collateralized 
mortgage obligation securities issued by government agencies comprise 90.4% of the total portfolio and are currently rated 
AAA by Moody’s Investor Services and AA+ by Standard & Poor’s.  Obligations of state and political subdivisions account 
for 9.4% of the total portfolio, of which 95.7% carry a minimum rating of A-.  The remaining 0.2% of the portfolio is 
comprised of other investment grade securities.  The Company does not have material foreign currency exchange rate risk 
exposure.  Therefore, almost all the market risk in the investment portfolio is related to interest rates. 
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The ongoing monitoring and management of both interest rate risk and liquidity over the short- and long-term time horizons is 
an important component of the Company's asset/liability management process, which is governed by guidelines established in 
the policies reviewed and approved annually by the Company’s Board.  The Board delegates responsibility for carrying out the 
policies to the ALCO, which meets each month.  The committee is made up of the Company's senior management, corporate 
finance and risk personnel as well as regional and line-of-business managers who oversee specific earning asset classes and 
various funding sources.  As the Company does not believe it is possible to reliably predict future interest rate movements, it 
has maintained an appropriate process and set of measurement tools, which enables it to identify and quantify sources of 
interest rate risk in varying rate environments.  The primary tool used by the Company in managing interest rate risk is income 
simulation.  This begins with the development of a base case scenario, which projects net interest income (“NII”) over the next 
twelve-month period.  The base case scenario NII may increase or decrease significantly from quarter to quarter reflective of 
changes during the most recent quarter in the Company’s: (i) earning assets and liabilities balances, (ii) composition of earning 
assets and liabilities, (iii) earning asset yields, (iv) cost of funds and (v) various model assumptions including loan and time 
deposit spreads and core deposit betas, as well as current market interest rates, including the slope of the yield curve and 
projected changes in the slope of the yield curve over the twelve month period.  The direction of interest rates, the slope of the 
yield curve, the modeled changes in deposit balances and the cost of funds, including the Company’s deposit and funding 
betas, are not easily predicted in the current market environment, and therefore a wide variety of strategic balance sheet and 
treasury yield curve scenarios are modeled on an ongoing basis.   
 
The following reflects the Company's estimated NII sensitivity as compared to the base case scenario over the subsequent 
twelve months based on: 
 
 Balance sheet levels using December 31, 2024 as a starting point. 

 
 The model assumes the Company’s average deposit balances will increase approximately 1.6% over the next twelve months. 

 
 The model assumes the Company’s average earning asset balances will increase approximately 2.3% over the next twelve 

months, largely due to forecasted loan growth. 
 

 Cash flows on earning assets are based on contractual maturity, optionality, and amortization schedules along with applicable 
prepayments derived from internal historical data and external sources.   

 
 The model assumes no additional investment security purchases over the next twelve months.  Investment cash inflows will 

be used to pay down overnight borrowings and fund loan growth. 
 
 In the rising/falling rates scenarios, the prime rate, federal funds, and treasury curve rates are assumed to move up/down in a 

parallel manner by the amounts listed below over a 12-month period.  Deposit balance and mix changes and the resultant 
deposit and funding betas are assumed to move in a manner that reflects the Company’s (i) long-term historical relationship 
between the Company’s deposit rate movement and changes in the federal funds rate, (ii) recent interest rate cycle 
experience, (iii) significant management judgment and (iv) other factors, including recent market behaviors of customers and 
competitors.   

 
Net Interest Income Sensitivity Model 

 
 

 
 

Interest rate scenario 

Calculated annualized increase 
(decrease) in projected net interest 

income at December 31, 2024 
 (000’s omitted) 

Calculated annualized increase 
(decrease) in projected net interest 

income at December 31, 2024 
(%) 

+200 basis points ($8,578) (1.7%) 
+100 basis points ($4,416) (0.9%) 
-100 basis points $1,736 0.3% 
-200 basis points ($16) (0.0%) 

  
Projected NII over the 12-month forecast period decreases in the up 100 and up 200 interest rate environments largely due to 
deposits and overnight borrowings repricing higher in year 1, which are only partially offset by loans repricing higher.  
 
Projected NII increases in the down 100 interest rate environment due to lower funding costs which are partially offset by 
lower income on loans.  Projected NII in the down 200 rate environment is fairly neutral due to lower income on investments 
and loans being almost fully offset by lower funding costs. 
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The analysis does not represent a Company forecast and should not be relied upon as being indicative of expected operating 
results.  These hypothetical estimates are based upon numerous assumptions: the nature and timing of interest rate levels 
(including yield curve shape), prepayments on loans and securities, deposit decay rates, pricing decisions on loans and deposits, 
reinvestment/replacement of asset and liability cash flows, and other factors.  While the assumptions are developed based upon a 
reasonable outlook for national and local economic and market conditions, the Company cannot make any assurances as to the 
predictive efficacy of these assumptions, including how customer preferences or competitor influences might change.  
Furthermore, the sensitivity analysis does not reflect actions that the ALCO might take in responding to or anticipating changes in 
interest rates and other developments. 
 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
 
The following consolidated financial statements and independent registered public accounting firm’s report of Community 
Financial System, Inc. are contained on pages 84 through 154 of this item. 
 
 Consolidated Statements of Condition, 

December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 

 Consolidated Statements of Income,  
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 

 

 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), 
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 

 

 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity,  
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 

 

 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 

 

 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 
December 31, 2024 

 

 Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 238)   
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COMMUNITY FINANCIAL SYSTEM, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONDITION  
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)  
 December 31, 
  2024 2023 
Assets:   
   Cash and cash equivalents (includes restricted cash of $5,110 and $0, respectively) $197,004 $190,962 
   Available-for-sale investment securities, includes pledged securities that can be sold or repledged  
     of $362,129 and $598,873, respectively (cost of $3,192,392 and $3,301,607, respectively) 2,785,714 2,919,992 
   Held-to-maturity securities (fair value of $1,220,168 and $1,121,816, respectively) 1,345,155 1,172,174 
   Equity and other securities 87,517 73,146 

   Loans 10,432,365 9,704,598 
   Allowance for credit losses (79,114) (66,669) 
     Loans, net of allowance for credit losses 10,353,251 9,637,929 

   Goodwill 853,225 845,396 
   Core deposit intangibles, net 5,148 8,159 
   Other intangibles, net 43,098 44,432 
     Goodwill and intangible assets, net 901,471 897,987 

   Premises and equipment, net 183,759 173,418 
   Accrued interest and fees receivable 54,340 54,534 
   Other assets 477,833 435,611 

        Total assets $16,386,044 $15,555,753 
   
Liabilities:   
   Noninterest-bearing deposits $3,557,219 $3,638,527 
   Interest-bearing deposits 9,884,488 9,289,594 
      Total deposits 13,441,707 12,928,121 
  Overnight borrowings 118,000 53,000 
  Securities sold under agreement to repurchase, short-term 261,553 304,595 
  Federal Home Loan Bank and other borrowings 619,312 407,603 
  Accrued interest and other liabilities 182,637 164,497 
     Total liabilities 14,623,209 13,857,816 

Commitments and contingencies (See Note M)   

Shareholders' equity:   
  Preferred stock, $1.00 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, 0 shares issued 0 0 
  Common stock, $1.00 par value, 75,000,000 shares authorized; 54,696,208 and    
     54,372,292 shares issued, respectively 54,696 54,372 
  Additional paid-in capital 1,075,537 1,060,289 
  Retained earnings 1,275,331 1,188,869 
  Accumulated other comprehensive loss (548,085) (556,892) 
  Treasury stock, at cost (2,028,372 shares including 103,696 shares held by deferred compensation 

arrangements at December 31, 2024, and 1,045,232 shares including 120,556 shares held by 
deferred compensation arrangements at December 31, 2023) (100,539) (55,592) 

  Deferred compensation arrangements (103,696 shares at December 31, 2024 and 120,556 shares 
at December 31, 2023) 5,895 6,891 

     Total shareholders' equity 1,762,835 1,697,937 

     Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $16,386,044 $15,555,753 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMUNITY FINANCIAL SYSTEM, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  
(In Thousands, Except Per-Share Data)  
 Years Ended December 31, 
  2024 2023 2022 
Interest income:       
  Interest and fees on loans $545,767 $445,167 $335,075 
  Interest and dividends on taxable investments 85,734 82,368 95,371 
  Interest and dividends on nontaxable investments 12,027 13,853 13,283 
     Total interest income 643,528 541,388 443,729 

Interest expense:    
  Interest on deposits 159,520 85,337 15,044 
  Interest on borrowings 34,891 18,766 8,055 
     Total interest expense 194,411 104,103 23,099 

Net interest income 449,117 437,285 420,630 
Provision for credit losses 22,773 11,203 14,773 
Net interest income after provision for credit losses 426,344 426,082 405,857 

Noninterest revenues:    
  Deposit service fees 66,611 63,062 66,850 
  Mortgage banking 4,421 595 390 
  Other banking services 7,512 6,315 4,644 
  Employee benefit services 130,981 117,961 115,408 
  Insurance services 50,249 47,094 39,810 
  Wealth management services 36,668 31,941 31,667 
  Loss on sales of investment securities (487) (52,329) 0 
  Gain on debt extinguishment 0 242 0 
  Unrealized gain (loss) on equity securities 1,231 (47) (44) 
     Total noninterest revenues 297,186 214,834 258,725 

Noninterest expenses:    
  Salaries and employee benefits 300,779 281,803 257,339 
  Data processing and communications  61,843 57,585 54,099 
  Occupancy and equipment 43,658 42,550 42,413 
  Business development and marketing 16,059 15,731 13,095 
  Legal and professional fees 15,323 15,921 14,018 
  Amortization of intangible assets 14,259 14,511 15,214 
  Litigation accrual 138 5,800 0 
  Acquisition expenses 213 63 5,021 
  Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustment 244 3,280 (300) 
  Restructuring expenses 0 1,163 0 
  Other expenses 34,309 34,278 23,369 
     Total noninterest expenses 486,825 472,685 424,268 

Income before income taxes 236,705 168,231 240,314 
Income taxes 54,224 36,307 52,233 
Net income $182,481 $131,924 $188,081 

Basic earnings per share $3.44 $2.45 $3.48 
Diluted earnings per share $3.44 $2.45 $3.46 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 

 
 
  



86 
 

COMMUNITY FINANCIAL SYSTEM, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  
(In Thousands)  
 Years Ended December 31, 

  2024 2023 2022 
   

Pension and other post-retirement obligations:    
Amortization of actuarial losses (gains) included in net periodic pension cost and (increase)  

decrease in unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss, gross $12,168 $4,774 ($21,587) 
Tax effect (3,038) (1,162) 5,243 
Amortization of actuarial losses (gains) included in net periodic pension cost and (increase)  

decrease in unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss, net 9,130 3,612 (16,344) 
  
Amortization of prior service cost included in net periodic pension cost, gross 641 641 678 
Tax effect (160) (156) (165) 
 Amortization of prior service cost included in net periodic pension cost, net  481 485 513 
  
Other comprehensive income (loss) related to pension and other post-retirement obligations, 

net of taxes 9,611 4,097 (15,831) 
  
Net unrealized (losses) gains on investment securities:    
Net unrealized holding (losses) gains on investment securities, gross (1,570) 113,464 (818,890) 
Tax effect 401 (27,629) 198,909 
Net unrealized holding (losses) gains on investment securities, net (1,169) 85,835 (619,981) 
    

Reclassification adjustment for net losses included in net income, gross 487 52,329 0 
Tax effect (122) (12,714) 0 
Reclassification adjustment for net losses included in net income, net 365 39,615 0 
    

Other comprehensive (loss) income related to unrealized (losses) gains on investment 
securities, net of taxes (804) 125,450 (619,981) 

  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 8,807 129,547 (635,812) 
Net income 182,481 131,924 188,081 
Comprehensive income (loss) $191,288 $261,471 ($447,731) 

  
 As of December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss by Component:    
Unrealized loss for pension and other post-retirement obligations ($23,309) ($36,118) ($41,533) 
Tax effect 5,716 8,914 10,232 
Net unrealized loss for pension and other post-retirement obligations (17,593) (27,204) (31,301) 
  
Unrealized loss on investment securities (700,073) (698,990) (864,783) 
Tax effect 169,581 169,302 209,645 
Net unrealized loss on investment securities (530,492) (529,688) (655,138) 
  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss ($548,085) ($556,892) ($686,439) 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMUNITY FINANCIAL SYSTEM, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 
(In Thousands, Except Share Data) 
 

     Accumulated     
 Common Stock 

Additional 
Paid-in Capital 

  Other  Deferred  

 
Shares 

Outstanding 
Amount 
Issued 

Retained 
Earnings 

Comprehensive 
Income/(Loss) 

Treasury 
Stock 

Compensation 
Arrangements Total 

Balance at December 31, 2021 53,878,047 $54,092 $1,041,304 $1,058,286 ($50,627) ($10,610) $8,362 $2,100,807 
Net income    188,081   188,081 
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax     (635,812)   (635,812) 
Dividends declared:        
  Common, $1.74 per share    (93,915)   (93,915) 
Common stock activity under employee 
stock plans 97,779 98 1,086    1,184 
Stock-based compensation  7,738     7,738 
Distribution of stock under deferred 

compensation arrangements 14,934 103   739 (842) 0 
Treasury stock purchased (253,511)    (16,614) 236 (16,378) 
Balance at December 31, 2022 53,737,249 54,190 1,050,231 1,152,452 (686,439) (26,485) 7,756 1,551,705 
Net income   131,924    131,924 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax    129,547   129,547 
Dividends declared:        
  Common, $1.78 per share   (95,507)    (95,507) 
Common stock activity under employee 
stock plans 182,091 182 833     1,015 
Stock-based compensation  9,269     9,269 
Distribution of stock under deferred 
compensation arrangements 19,264 (44)   1,126 (1,082) 0 
Treasury stock purchased (611,544)    (30,233) 217 (30,016) 
Balance at December 31, 2023 53,327,060 54,372 1,060,289 1,188,869 (556,892) (55,592) 6,891 1,697,937 
Net income   182,481    182,481 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax    8,807   8,807 
Dividends declared:        
  Common, $1.82 per share   (96,019)    (96,019) 
Common stock activity under employee 
stock plans 323,916 324 6,767     7,091 
Stock-based compensation  8,374     8,374 
Distribution of stock under deferred 
compensation arrangements 20,769 107   1,082 (1,189) 0 
Treasury stock purchased (1,003,909)    (46,029) 193 (45,836) 
Balance at December 31, 2024 52,667,836 $54,696 $1,075,537 $1,275,331 ($548,085) ($100,539) $5,895 $1,762,835 

 
 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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     COMMUNITY FINANCIAL SYSTEM, INC.  
     CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
     (In Thousands)  
 Years Ended December 31, 
  2024 2023 2022 
Operating activities:    
  Net income $182,481 $131,924 $188,081 
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    
     Depreciation 13,676 12,991 14,411 
     Amortization of intangible assets 14,259 14,511 15,214 
     Net amortization (accretion) on securities, loans, finance leases and borrowings 10,818 5,838 (18,738) 
     Stock-based compensation 8,374 9,269 7,738 
     Gain on debt extinguishment 0 (242) 0 
     Provision for credit losses 22,773 11,203 14,773 
     Provision for deferred income taxes 674 (7,503) 1,309 
     Amortization of mortgage servicing rights 722 849 801 
     Loss on sales of investment securities 487 52,329 0 
     Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities (1,231) 47 44 
     Income from bank-owned life insurance policies (2,496) (2,412) (2,147) 
     Net gain on sale of assets (2,383) (1,490) (655) 
     Change in other assets and liabilities (5,878) 1,106 (6,231) 
       Net cash provided by operating activities 242,276 228,420 214,600 
Investing activities:    
  Proceeds from maturities, calls and paydowns of available-for-sale investment securities 59,688 597,823 262,256 
  Proceeds from maturities, calls and paydowns of held-to-maturity investment securities 9,103 208 0 
  Proceeds from maturities and redemptions of equity and other investment securities, net 398 14,945 4,683 
  Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investment securities 57,538 733,789 0 
  Purchases of available-for-sale investment securities 0 0 (1,355,475) 
  Purchases of held-to-maturity investment securities (152,645) (63,284) 0 
  Purchases of equity and other securities, net (13,538) (4,796) (35,303) 
  Net increase in loans (765,581) (923,280) (1,003,741) 
  Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash received  (15,620) (8,517) (668) 
  Proceeds from sales of premises, equipment and other assets 5,743 7,473 2,432 
  Purchases of premises and equipment (20,703) (18,585) (12,922) 
  Real estate limited partnership investments 0 0 (247) 
       Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (835,617) 335,776 (2,138,985) 
Financing activities:    
  Net increase (decrease) in deposits 513,586 (84,187) (421,155) 
  Net increase (decrease) in overnight borrowings 65,000 (715,400) 768,400 
  Net (decrease) increase in securities sold under agreement to repurchase, short-term (43,042) (42,058) 21,932 
  Proceeds from other Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 250,000 400,000 0 
  Payments on and maturities of other Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings (47,073) (11,971) (95) 
  Payments of contingent consideration for acquisitions (3,087) (1,214) 0 
  Redemption of subordinated notes payable 0 (3,000) 0 
  Proceeds from the issuance of common stock 7,091 1,015 1,184 
  Purchases of treasury stock (46,029) (30,233) (16,614) 
  Increase in deferred compensation agreements 193 217 236 
  Cash dividends paid (95,777) (95,102) (93,387) 
  Withholding taxes paid on share-based compensation (1,479) (1,197) (1,284) 
       Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 599,383 (583,130) 259,217 
Change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 6,042 (18,934) (1,665,168) 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 190,962 209,896 1,875,064 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $197,004 $190,962 $209,896 
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:    
  Cash paid for interest $192,871 $100,040 $23,402 
  Cash paid for income taxes 43,728 41,661 57,131 
Supplemental disclosures of noncash financing and investing activities:    
  Dividends declared and unpaid 24,410 24,168 23,762 
  Transfers from loans to other real estate 3,109 1,051 543 
  Transfers from premises and equipment, net to other assets 2,398 2,899 5,795 
  Finance lease right of use asset in exchange for finance lease liability 8,608 0 0 
Acquisitions:    
  Fair value of assets acquired, excluding acquired cash and intangibles 497 243 490,637 
  Fair value of liabilities assumed 1,908 18 543,541 
  Contingent consideration in exchange for acquired assets 3,816 1,450 0 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMUNITY FINANCIAL SYSTEM, INC. 
 
NOTE A: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Nature of Operations 
 
Community Financial System, Inc. (the “Company”) is a registered financial holding company which wholly-owns two 
significant consolidated subsidiaries: Community Bank, N.A. (the “Bank” or “CBNA”), and Benefit Plans Administrative 
Services, Inc. (“BPAS”).  As of December 31, 2024, BPAS owns five subsidiaries:  Benefit Plans Administrative Services, LLC 
(“BPA”), a provider of defined contribution plan administration services; Northeast Retirement Services, LLC (“NRS”), a 
provider of institutional transfer agency, master recordkeeping services, fund administration, trust and retirement plan services; 
BPAS Actuarial & Pension Services, LLC (“BPAS-APS”), a provider of actuarial and benefit consulting services; BPAS Trust 
Company of Puerto Rico, a Puerto Rican trust company; and Hand Benefits & Trust Company (“HB&T”), a provider of collective 
investment fund administration and institutional trust services.  BPA owns one subsidiary, Fringe Benefits Design of Minnesota, 
Inc. (“FBD”), a provider of retirement plan administration and benefit consulting services.  NRS owns one subsidiary, Global 
Trust Company, Inc. (“GTC”), a non-depository trust company which provides fiduciary services for collective investment trusts 
and other products.  HB&T owns one subsidiary, Hand Securities Inc. (“HSI”), an introducing broker-dealer. 
 
As of December 31, 2024, the Bank operated 185 full-service branches and 11 drive-thru only locations operating as Community 
Bank, N.A. throughout 42 counties of Upstate New York, six counties of Northeastern Pennsylvania, 12 counties of Vermont and 
one county of Western Massachusetts, offering a range of commercial and retail banking services.  The Bank owns the following 
operating subsidiaries:  The Carta Group, Inc. (“Carta Group”), CBNA Preferred Funding Corporation (“PFC”), CBNA Treasury 
Management Corporation (“TMC”), Community Investment Services, Inc. (“CISI”), Nottingham Advisors, Inc. (“Nottingham”), 
OneGroup NY, Inc. (“OneGroup”), OneGroup Wealth Partners, Inc. (“Wealth Partners”) and Oneida Preferred Funding II LLC 
(“OPFC II”).  OneGroup is a full-service insurance agency offering personal and commercial lines of insurance and other risk 
management products and services.  PFC and OPFC II primarily act as investors in residential and commercial real estate 
activities.  TMC provides cash management, investment, and treasury services to the Bank.  CISI, Carta Group and Wealth 
Partners provide broker-dealer and investment advisory services.  Nottingham provides asset management services to individuals, 
corporations, corporate pension and profit sharing plans, and foundations.  
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  Critical accounting estimates include the 
allowance for credit losses, actuarial assumptions associated with the pension, post-retirement and other employee benefit plans 
and the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets, including the impact of acquired loan valuations.  The impact of 
subsequent events on the consolidated financial statements has been considered, see Note U for further detail.  
 
The Company’s significant accounting policies are as follows. 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.  All intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Variable Interest Entities (“VIE”) are legal entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling 
financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the legal entities to finance its activities without additional 
subordinated financial support.  VIEs may be required to be consolidated by a company if it is determined the company is the 
primary beneficiary of a VIE.  The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the enterprise that has: (1) the power to direct the activities of 
the VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, and (2) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that 
could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the 
VIE.  The Company’s VIEs are described in more detail in Note S to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Risk and Uncertainties 
 
In the normal course of its business, the Company encounters economic and regulatory risks.  There are three main components of 
economic risk: interest rate risk, credit risk and market risk.  The Company is subject to interest rate risk to the degree that its 
interest-bearing liabilities mature or reprice at different speeds, or on a different basis, from its interest-earning assets.  The 
Company’s primary credit risk is the risk of default on the Company’s loan portfolio that results from the borrowers’ inability or 
unwillingness to make contractually required payments.  Market risk reflects potential changes in the value of collateral 
underlying loans, the fair value of investment securities, and loans held for sale. 
 
The Company is subject to regulations of various governmental agencies.  These regulations can change significantly from period 
to period.  The Company also undergoes periodic examinations by the regulatory agencies, which may subject it to further 
changes with respect to asset valuations, amounts of required credit loss allowances, and operating restrictions resulting from the 
regulators’ judgments based on information available to them at the time of their examinations.    
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASU No. 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and 
all subsequent ASUs that modified Topic 606.  
 
Topic 606 does not apply to revenue associated with financial instruments, including revenue from loans and securities.  In 
addition, certain noninterest income streams such as fees associated with mortgage servicing rights, financial guarantees, 
derivatives, and certain credit card fees are also not in scope.  Topic 606 is applicable to the Company’s noninterest revenue 
streams including its deposit related fees, electronic payment interchange fees, merchant income, trust, asset management and 
other wealth management revenues, insurance commissions, benefit plan services income and commercial real estate transaction 
commission, advisory and placement services income.  Noninterest revenue streams in-scope of Topic 606 are discussed below. 
 
Deposit Service Fees 
 
Deposit service fees consist of account activity fees, monthly service fees, overdraft fees, check orders, debit and credit card 
income, ATM fees, merchant services income and other revenues from processing wire transfers, bill pay service, cashier’s 
checks and foreign exchange.  Debit and credit card income is primarily comprised of interchange fees earned at the time the 
Company’s debit and credit cards are processed through card payment networks such as Visa.  ATM fees are primarily generated 
when a Company cardholder uses a non-Company ATM or a non-Company cardholder uses a Company ATM.   Merchant 
services income mainly represents fees charged to merchants to process their debit and credit card transactions, in addition to 
account management fees.  The Company’s performance obligation for deposit service fees is generally satisfied, and the related 
revenue recognized, when the services are rendered or the transaction has been completed.  Payment for deposit service fees is 
typically received at the time it is assessed through a direct charge to customers’ accounts or on a monthly basis.  Deposit service 
fees revenue relates to the Company’s Banking and Corporate operating segment. 
 
Other Banking Services 
 
Other banking services consists of other recurring revenue streams such as commissions from sales of credit life insurance, safe 
deposit box rental fees, mortgage banking income, bank owned life insurance income, commissions and advisory fees on 
commercial real estate transactions, and other miscellaneous revenue streams. Commissions from the sale of credit life insurance 
are recognized at the time of sale of the policies.  Safe deposit box rental fees are charged to the customer on an annual basis and 
recognized upon receipt of payment.  The Company determined that since rentals and renewals occur consistently over time, 
revenue is recognized on a basis consistent with the duration of the performance obligation.  Commercial real estate transaction 
commissions, advisory and placement fees are recognized upon completion of the transaction.  Mortgage banking income and 
bank owned life insurance income are not within the scope of Topic 606.  Other banking services revenue relates to the 
Company’s Banking operating segment. 
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Employee Benefit Services 
 
Employee benefit services income consists of revenue received from retirement plan services, collective investment fund services, 
fund administration, transfer agency, consulting and actuarial services.  The Company’s performance obligation that relates to 
plan services are satisfied over time and the resulting fees are recognized monthly or quarterly, based upon the market value of 
the assets under management and the applicable fee rate or on a time expended basis. Payment is generally received a few days 
after month end or quarter end. The Company does not earn performance-based incentives.  Transactional services such as 
consulting services, mailings, or other ad hoc services are provided to existing trust and asset management customers.  The 
Company’s performance obligation for these transactional-based services is generally satisfied, and related revenue recognized, at 
a point in time (i.e., as incurred). Payment is received shortly after services are rendered.  Employee benefit services revenue 
relates to the Company’s Employee Benefit Services operating segment. 
 
Insurance Services 
 
Insurance services primarily consists of commissions received on insurance product sales and consulting services. The Company 
acts in the capacity of a broker or agent between the Company’s customer and the insurance carrier.  The Company’s performance 
obligation related to insurance sales for both property and casualty insurance and employee benefit plans is generally satisfied 
upon the later of the issuance or effective date of the policy. The Company’s performance obligation related to consulting services 
is considered transactional in nature and is generally satisfied when the services have been completed and related revenue 
recognized at a point in time.  Payment is received at the time services are rendered.  The Company earns performance based 
incentives, commonly known as contingency payments, which usually are based on certain criteria established by the insurance 
carrier such as premium volume, growth and insured loss ratios.  Contingent payments are accrued for based upon management’s 
expectations for the year.  Commission expense associated with sales of insurance products is expensed as incurred.  Insurance 
services revenue relates to the Company’s Insurance Services operating segment. 
 
Wealth Management Services 
 
Wealth management services income is primarily comprised of fees earned from the management and administration of trusts and 
other customer assets.   The Company generally has two types of performance obligations related to these services.  The 
Company’s performance obligation that relates to advisory and administration services are satisfied over time and the resulting 
fees are recognized monthly, based upon the market value of the assets under management and the applicable fee rate. Payment is 
generally received soon after month end or quarter end through a direct charge to customers’ accounts. The Company does not 
earn performance-based incentives.  Transactional services such as tax return preparation services, purchases and sales of 
investments and insurance products are also available to existing trust and asset management customers.  The Company’s 
performance obligation for these transactional-based services is generally satisfied, and related revenue recognized, at a point in 
time (i.e. as incurred).  Payment is generally received on a monthly basis.  Wealth management services revenue relates to the 
Company’s Wealth Management Services operating segment. 
 
Contract Balances 
 
A contract asset balance occurs when an entity performs a service for a customer before the customer pays consideration 
(resulting in a contract receivable) or before payment is due (resulting in a contract asset).  A contract liability balance is an 
entity’s obligation to transfer a service to a customer for which the entity has already received payment (or payment is due) from 
the customer.  The Company’s noninterest revenue streams are largely based on transactional activity or standard month-end 
revenue accruals such as asset management fees based on month-end market values. Consideration is often received immediately 
or shortly after the Company satisfies its performance obligation and revenue is recognized.  The Company does not typically 
enter into long-term revenue contracts with customers, and therefore, does not experience significant contract balances. As of 
December 31, 2024, $38.5 million of accounts receivable, including $8.4 million of unbilled fee revenue, and $1.1 million of 
unearned revenue was recorded in the consolidated statements of condition.  As of December 31, 2023, $41.7 million of accounts 
receivable, including $8.1 million of unbilled fee revenue, and $0.8 million of unearned revenue was recorded in the consolidated 
statements of condition. 
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Contract Acquisition Costs 
 
Under the guidance of Topic 606, an entity is required to capitalize, and subsequently amortize into expense, certain incremental 
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if these costs are expected to be recovered.  The incremental costs of obtaining a 
contract are those costs that an entity incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have incurred if the contract had 
not been obtained (for example, sales commissions).  The Company utilizes the practical expedient method which allows entities 
to immediately expense contract acquisition costs when the asset that would have resulted from capitalizing these costs would 
have been amortized in one year or less.  
 
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 
 
For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, amounts due from banks, and highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of less than 90 days.  The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated statements of 
condition for cash and cash equivalents approximate those assets’ fair values.  As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, cash and cash 
equivalents reported in the consolidated statements of condition included cash due from banks of $9.4 million and $11.5 million, 
respectively.  Cash due from banks may at times exceed federally insured limits. 
 
The Company maintains certain cash balances that are restricted as to withdrawal or use.  Restricted cash at December 31, 2024 
consists of $5.1 million of cash collateral posted by the Company with counterparties to secure certain derivatives. 
 
Investment Securities 
 
The Company can classify its investments in debt securities as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, or trading.  Held-to-
maturity securities are those for which the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold until maturity, and are reported 
at cost, which is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts.  Available-for-sale debt securities are 
reported at fair value with net unrealized gains and losses reflected as a separate component of shareholders' equity, net of 
applicable income taxes.  None of the Company's investment securities have been classified as trading securities at December 
31, 2024 or 2023.  
 
Interest income includes amortization of purchase premiums or discounts.  Premiums and discounts on securities are amortized on 
the level-yield method without anticipating prepayments, except for mortgage-backed securities where prepayments are 
anticipated.  Purchases of investment securities and gains and losses associated with sales of investment securities are recorded on 
the trade date and determined using the specific identification method.  Equity securities with a readily determinable fair value are 
reported at fair value with net unrealized gains and losses recognized in the consolidated statements of income.  Certain equity 
securities that do not have a readily determinable fair value are stated at cost, adjusted for observable price changes in orderly 
transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer.  These securities include restricted stock of the Federal 
Reserve Bank of New York (“Federal Reserve”) and the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York and the Federal Home Loan 
Bank of Boston (collectively referred to as “FHLB”), as well as other equity securities. 
 
Fair values for investment securities are based upon quoted market prices, where available.  If quoted market prices are not 
available, fair values are based upon quoted market prices of comparable instruments, or a discounted cash flow model using 
market estimates of interest rates and volatility. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Debt Securities 
 
For held-to-maturity debt securities, the Company measures expected credit losses on a collective basis by major security type.  
The estimates of expected credit losses considers historical credit loss information that is adjusted for current conditions and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts. Changes in the allowance for credit losses are recorded as a provision for credit losses in 
the consolidated statements of income. 
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Impairment – Available-for-Sale Debt Securities 
 
For available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position, the Company first assesses whether it intends to sell, or it is 
more likely than not that it will be required to sell, the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either of the 
criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met, the security’s amortized cost basis is written down to fair value through 
income.  For available-for-sale debt securities that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the Company evaluates whether the 
decline in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In making this assessment, management considers the 
security structure, recent security collateral performance metrics, if applicable, external credit ratings, failure of the issuer to 
make scheduled interest or principal payments, judgment about and expectations of future performance, and relevant 
independent industry research, analysis, and forecasts.  This assessment involves a high degree of subjectivity and judgment 
that is based on the information available to management at a point in time.  If this assessment indicates that a credit loss 
exists, the present value of the cash flows expected to be collected from the security are compared to the amortized cost basis 
of the security.  If the present value of the cash flows expected to be collected from the security is less than the amortized cost 
basis of the security, a credit loss exists and an allowance for credit losses is recorded, limited by the amount that the fair value 
is less than the amortized cost basis.  Any impairment that has not been recorded through an allowance for credit losses is 
recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
Losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of an available-for-sale security is 
confirmed or when either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met. 
 
Accrued interest receivable on available-for-sale debt securities, included in accrued interest and fees receivable in the 
consolidated statements of condition, totaled $10.8 million and $14.4 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
Accrued interest receivable on held-to-maturity securities, included in accrued interest and fees receivable in the consolidated 
statements of condition, totaled $5.7 million and $5.0 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These amounts are 
excluded from the estimate of credit losses. 
 
Loans 
 
Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are reported at 
amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses.  Amortized cost is the principal balance outstanding, net of purchase 
premiums and discounts, and deferred loan fees and costs. 
   
Mortgage loans held for sale are carried at fair value and are included in other assets on the consolidated statements of 
condition.  Fair values for variable rate loans that reprice frequently are based on carrying values.  Fair values for fixed rate 
loans are estimated using discounted cash flows and interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar terms to 
borrowers of similar credit quality.  The carrying amount of accrued interest approximates its fair value. 
 
Interest on loans is accrued based upon the principal amount outstanding.  Nonrefundable loan fees and related direct costs are 
deferred and included in the loan balances where they are amortized over the life of the loan as an adjustment to loan yield 
using the effective yield method.  Premiums and discounts on purchased loans are amortized using the effective yield method 
over the life of the loans. 
 
Accrued interest receivable on loans is included in accrued interest and fees receivable on the consolidated statements of 
condition and is excluded from the estimate of credit losses and amortized cost basis of loans.  An allowance for credit losses 
is not measured for accrued interest receivable on loans as the Company writes off the uncollectible accrued interest balance in 
a timely manner upon recognition of credit deterioration of the underlying loan. 
 
The Company places a loan on nonaccrual status when the loan becomes 90 days past due or sooner, if management concludes 
collection of principal and interest is doubtful, except when, in the opinion of management, it is well-collateralized and in the 
process of collection.  A loan may be placed on nonaccrual status earlier than 90 days past due if there is deterioration in the 
financial position of the borrower or if other conditions of the loan so warrant.  When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, 
uncollected accrued interest is reversed against interest income and the amortization of nonrefundable loan fees and related direct 
costs is discontinued.  Interest income during the period the loan is on nonaccrual status is recorded on a cash basis after recovery 
of principal is reasonably assured.  Nonaccrual loans are returned to accrual status when management determines that the 
borrower’s performance has improved and that both principal and interest are collectible.  This generally requires a sustained 
period of timely principal and interest payments and a well-documented credit evaluation of the borrower’s financial condition. 
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The Company’s charge-off policy by loan type is as follows:

Business lending loans are generally charged-off to the extent outstanding principal exceeds the fair value of estimated 
proceeds from collection efforts, including liquidation of collateral.  The charge-off is recognized when the loss becomes 
reasonably quantifiable.
Consumer installment loans are generally charged-off to the extent outstanding principal exceeds the fair value of 
collateral if repossession of the collateral is assured and in process and are recognized by the end of the month in which 
the loan becomes 90 days past due and are fully charged-off when the loan becomes 120 days past due. 
Consumer mortgage and home equity loans are generally charged-off to the extent outstanding principal exceeds the fair 
value of the property, less estimated costs to sell, and are recognized when the loan becomes 180 days past due.

Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans

The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is netted against the loans’ amortized cost basis to present the net 
amount expected to be collected on the loans. Loans are charged off against the allowance when management believes the 
uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed.

Management estimates the allowance balance using relevant available information from internal and external sources relating 
to past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Historical credit loss experience provides the 
basis for the estimation of expected future credit losses. Adjustments are made for differences in current loan-specific risk 
characteristics such as differences in underwriting standards, portfolio mix, size and credit quality of acquired loans, 
delinquency level, risk ratings or term of loans as well as actual and forecasted macroeconomic trends, such as unemployment 
rates and changes in property values including home prices, commercial real estate prices, including office-specific property 
prices, office-specific property vacancy rates, automobile prices, gross domestic product, median household income net of 
inflation and other relevant factors in comparison to longer-term performance. Multiple economic scenarios are utilized to 
encompass a range of economic outcomes, including baseline, upside and downside forecasts, which are weighted in the 
calculation.

The segments of the Company’s loan portfolio are disaggregated into the following classes that allow management to monitor 
risk and performance:
  

Business lending is comprised of general purpose commercial and industrial loans including, but not limited to, 
agricultural-related and dealer floor plans, loans to not-for-profit enterprises, as well as mortgages on commercial 
property. The portfolio segment is further broken into portfolio classes based on risks associated with the collateral 
supporting the loans.  This includes three classes of commercial real estate (“CRE”) loans and five classes of non-real 
estate business loans.  Each class of business lending can also have different payment structures.  Business lending loans 
are generally higher dollar loans and a large portion are risk rated at least annually.  

ent st
.  

Consumer mortgages consist primarily of fixed rate residential instruments, typically 10 to 30 years in contractual term, 
secured by first liens on real property.  FICO credit scores are used to monitor higher risks related to this type of lending
with the Company segmenting consumer mortgages into “FICO AB” and “FICO CDE”. FICO AB refers to higher tiered 
loans with FICO scores greater than or equal to 720 as compared to FICO CDE with FICO scores less than 720 and 
potentially higher risk.

res gr
k.

Consumer indirect consists primarily of installment loans originated through selected dealerships and are generally 
secured by automobiles, marine and other recreational vehicles.  Collateral securing the loans was used to further 
disaggregate this portfolio as charge-offs can vary depending on the purpose of the loan. Non-auto loans often have 
longer terms and generally have higher risk due to declines in collateral value given the nature of the property.

en ha
y.

Consumer direct consists of all other loans to consumers such as personal installment loans and check credit lines of 
credit.
Home equity products are installment loans or lines of credit most often secured by a first or second lien position on 
residential real estate with terms up to 30 years.
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The allowance for credit losses is measured on a collective (pool) basis when similar risk characteristics exist, including 
collateral type, credit ratings/scores, size, duration, interest rate structure, industry, geography, origination vintage, and 
payment structure.  The Company has identified the following portfolio segments and classes and measures the allowance for 
credit losses using the following methods: 
 

Loan Portfolio Segment Loan Portfolio Class Allowance for Credit Losses Methodology 
Business lending CRE multi family Cumulative loss rate 
Business lending CRE non-owner occupied Cumulative loss rate 
Business lending CRE owner occupied  Cumulative loss rate 
Business lending Commercial and industrial loans Vintage loss rate 
Business lending Commercial and industrial lines of credit Line loss 
Business lending Governmental Cumulative loss rate 
Business lending Other business Cumulative loss rate 
Business lending Paycheck Protection Program Cumulative loss rate 
Consumer mortgage Consumer mortgage FICO AB Cumulative loss rate 
Consumer mortgage Consumer mortgage FICO CDE Cumulative loss rate 
Consumer indirect Indirect new auto Vintage loss rate 
Consumer indirect Indirect used auto Vintage loss rate 
Consumer indirect Indirect non-auto Vintage loss rate 
Consumer direct Consumer check credit Line loss 
Consumer direct Consumer direct Vintage loss rate 
Home equity Home equity fixed rate Vintage loss rate 
Home equity Home equity lines of credit Line loss 

 
The cumulative loss rate method uses historical loss data applied against multiple pools of loans and uses a quantitatively 
based management overlay in order to capture the risk for a loan’s entire expected life. These loss rates are then applied to 
current balances to achieve a required reserve before qualitative adjustments. 
 
The line loss method calculates the quantitative required reserve for lines of credit.  This method contains several different 
underlying calculations including average annual loss rate, pay-down rate, cumulative loss, average draw percentage, and 
undrawn liability reserve. 
 
The vintage loss rate method calculates annual loss rates by origination year.  The results of this model are then applied to 
current outstanding balances by vintage, which correspond to the origination period for each annual loss rate. 
 
In addition to the risk characteristics noted above, management considers the portion of acquired loans to the overall segment 
balance, as well as current delinquency and charge-off trends compared to historical time periods. 
 
Loans that do not share risk characteristics are evaluated on an individual basis.  Loans that are individually assessed are not 
included in the collective evaluation.  When management determines that foreclosure is probable or when the borrower is 
experiencing financial difficulty at the reporting date and repayment is expected to be provided substantially through the 
operation or sale of the collateral, expected credit losses are based on the fair value of the collateral at the reporting date, 
adjusted for selling costs as appropriate. 
 
Expected credit losses are estimated over the contractual term of the loans and adjusted for expected prepayments when 
appropriate.  The contractual term excludes expected extensions, renewals, and modifications unless management has a 
reasonable expectation at the reporting date that a modification will be executed with an individual borrower or the extension 
or renewal options are included in the original or modified contract at the reporting date and are not unconditionally 
cancellable by the Company. 
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Certain business lending, consumer direct, and home equity loans do not have stated maturities.  In determining the estimated 
life of these loans, management first estimates the future cash flows expected to be received and then applies those expected 
future cash flows to the balance.  Expected credit losses for lines of credit with no stated maturity are determined by estimating 
the amount and timing of all principal payments expected to be received after the reporting period and allocating those 
principal payments between the balance outstanding as of the reporting period and the balance of future receivables expected 
to be originated through subsequent usage of the unconditionally cancellable loan commitment associated with the account 
until the expected payments have been fully allocated. An additional allowance for credit loss is recorded for the excess of the 
balance outstanding as of the reporting period over the expected principal payments allocated to that balance. 
 
Loan Modifications 
 
The Company, in certain situations, will modify a loan with a borrower experiencing financial difficulty that results in a direct 
change in the timing or amount of contractual cash flows.  Applicable modifications include, but are not limited to, principal 
forgiveness, interest rate reduction, other-than-insignificant payment delay, term extension (other than administrative) or a 
combination thereof.  Principal forgiveness is defined as any contractual reduction in the amount of principal due without 
receiving payment or assets.  Interest rate reduction is defined as the change resulting in the borrower receiving a below market 
interest rate.  A delay in payment that is other-than-insignificant is determined by considering factors including the amount of 
the restructured payments relative to the unpaid principal or collateral value of the loan, as well as the timing of the 
restructured payment relative to the frequency of payments due under the debt, the debt’s original contract maturity and the 
debt’s original expected duration.  Generally, a delay in payment greater than 90 days in the last twelve months would be 
considered other-than-insignificant.  The Company considers several factors to assess whether a borrower is experiencing 
financial difficulty, including, but not limited to, payment default or expected payment default, bankruptcy of the borrower, 
substantial doubt whether the borrower will continue as a going concern and estimates or projections of the borrower’s 
financial condition that indicate that the borrower will be unable to service the loan in accordance with the contractual 
provisions of the existing agreement. Following the adoption of ASU 2022-02 on January 1, 2023, the Company has 
established a policy to identify and disclose information required by FASB ASC 310-10-50 regarding modifications made to 
borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Off-balance-sheet credit exposures 
 
The Company estimates expected credit losses over the contractual period in which the Company is exposed to credit risk via a 
contractual obligation to extend credit, unless that obligation is unconditionally cancellable by the Company. There are 
unfunded commitments for lines of credit within each of the Company’s loan portfolio segments except consumer indirect.  
The allowance for credit losses on off-balance-sheet credit exposures is adjusted as a provision for (or reversal of) credit 
losses.  The estimate includes consideration of the likelihood that funding will occur and an estimate of expected credit losses 
on commitments expected to be funded over its estimated life.  Management estimates the allowance balance using relevant 
available information, from internal and external sources, relating to past events, current conditions, and reasonable and 
supportable forecasts.  Historical credit loss experience provides the basis for the estimation of expected credit losses.  
Adjustments to historical loss information are made for differences in current loan-specific risk characteristics that are the 
same as the adjustments considered for the loan portfolio. 
 
Purchased Credit Deteriorated (“PCD”) Loans 
 
The Company has purchased loans, some of which have experienced a more-than-insignificant credit deterioration since 
origination. The Company’s policy for reviewing what meets the threshold of the definition of a more-than-insignificant credit 
deterioration includes loans that are delinquent more than 30 days, loans that have historical delinquencies of more than 30 
days at least three times since origination, risk rating downgrades since origination, loans with multiple payment deferrals, 
loan modifications to a borrower experiencing financial difficulty, individually assessed loans or loans with certain 
documented policy exceptions, further refined based on loan-specific facts and circumstances. PCD loans are initially recorded 
at the amount paid.  An allowance for credit losses is determined using the same methodology as other loans.  The initial 
allowance for credit losses determined on a collective basis is allocated to individual loans.  The sum of the loan’s purchase 
price and allowance for credit losses becomes its initial amortized cost basis.  The difference between the initial amortized cost 
basis and the par value of the loan is a noncredit discount or premium, which is amortized into interest income over the life of 
the loan.  Subsequent changes to the allowance for credit losses are recorded as provision for credit losses. 
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Non-Purchased Credit Deteriorated (“non-PCD”) Loans 
 
Acquired loans that are not deemed to have experienced a more-than-insignificant credit deterioration since origination are 
considered non-PCD.  At the acquisition date, a fair value adjustment is recorded that includes both credit and interest rate 
considerations.  Fair value adjustments may be discounts (or premiums) to a loan’s cost basis and are accreted (or amortized) to 
net interest income (or expense) over the loan’s remaining life. Fair value adjustments for revolving loans are accreted (or 
amortized) using a straight line method. Term loans are accreted (or amortized) using the constant effective yield method.  A 
provision for credit losses is also recorded at acquisition for the credit considerations on non-PCD loans.  Subsequent to the 
purchase date, the methods utilized to estimate the required allowance for credit losses for these loans are the same as originated 
loans and subsequent changes to the allowance for credit losses are recorded as provision for credit losses. 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets include core deposit intangibles, customer relationship intangibles and goodwill arising from acquisitions.  Core 
deposit intangibles and customer relationship intangibles are amortized on either an accelerated or straight-line basis over periods 
ranging from seven to 20 years.  The initial and ongoing carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets is based upon 
discounted cash flow modeling techniques that require management to make estimates regarding the amount and timing of 
expected future cash flows.  It also requires use of a discount rate that reflects the current return requirements of the market in 
relation to present risk-free interest rates, required equity market premiums, peer volatility indicators, and company-specific risk 
indicators.      
 
The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, or more often if events or circumstances indicate there may 
be impairment.  The fair value of each reporting unit is compared to the carrying amount of that reporting unit in order to 
determine if impairment is indicated. The implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill is compared to its carrying amount and 
the impairment loss is measured by the excess of the carrying value over fair value.   
  
Premises and Equipment 
 
Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.  Computer software costs that are capitalized include 
only external direct costs of obtaining and installing the software.  The Company has not developed any internal use software.  
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.  Useful lives range from two 
to 20 years for equipment, three to seven years for software and hardware and 10 to 40 years for building and building 
improvements.  Land improvements are depreciated over 20 years and leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of 
the term of the respective lease plus any optional renewal periods that are reasonably assured or the life of the asset.  Maintenance 
and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.  
 
Premises and equipment designated as held for sale are included in other assets in the consolidated statements of condition and 
are carried at the lower of cost or fair value, less estimated costs to sell. 
 

Leases 
 
The Company occupies certain offices and uses certain equipment under non-cancelable operating lease agreements.  The 
Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception.  The right-of-use assets associated with operating leases are 
recorded in premises and equipment in the Company’s consolidated statements of condition.  The lease liabilities associated 
with operating leases are included in accrued interest and other liabilities in the Company’s consolidated statements of 
condition. 
 
Right-of-use assets represent the Company’s right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and lease liabilities represent 
the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the associated leases.  Operating lease right-of-use assets and 
liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of lease payments over the lease 
term.  The Company uses interest rates on advances from the FHLB available at the time of commencement to determine the 
present value of lease payments.  The operating lease right-of-use assets include any lease payments made at the time of 
commencement and exclude lease incentives.  The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease 
when it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.  Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term and is included in occupancy and equipment expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. 
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The Company elected to account for lease and non-lease components separately, applies a portfolio approach to account for the 
lease right-of-use assets and liabilities for certain equipment leases and elected to exclude leases with a term of 12 months or 
less from the recognition and measurement policies described above. 
 
The Company entered into certain finance leases beginning in 2024. The right-of-use assets associated with finance leases are 
included in other assets in the Company’s consolidated statements of condition.  The lease liabilities associated with finance 
leases are included in FHLB and other borrowings in the Company’s consolidated statements of condition. 
 
Other Real Estate 
Other real estate owned is comprised of properties acquired through foreclosure, or by deed in lieu of foreclosure.  These assets 
are carried at fair value less estimated costs of disposal.  At foreclosure, if the fair value, less estimated costs to sell, of the real 
estate acquired is less than the Company’s recorded investment in the related loan, a write-down is recognized through a charge to 
the allowance for credit losses.  Any subsequent reduction in value is recognized by a charge to income.  Operating costs 
associated with the properties are charged to expense as incurred.  At December 31, 2024 and 2023, other real estate totaled $2.8 
million and $1.2 million, respectively, and is included in other assets in the Company’s consolidated statements of condition. 
 
Mortgage Servicing Rights 
Originated mortgage servicing rights are recorded at their fair value at the time of sale of the underlying loan and are amortized in 
proportion to and over the period of estimated net servicing income or loss.  The Company uses a valuation model that calculates 
the present value of future cash flows to determine the fair value of servicing rights.  In using this valuation method, the Company 
incorporates assumptions that market participants would use in estimating future net servicing income, which includes estimates 
of the servicing cost per loan, the discount rate, and prepayment speeds.  The carrying value of the originated mortgage servicing 
rights is included in other assets in the Company’s consolidated statements of condition and is evaluated quarterly for impairment 
using these same market assumptions.  The amount of impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying value of the 
capitalized servicing rights for a stratum exceeds estimated fair value.  Impairment is recognized through a valuation allowance.   
 
Treasury Stock 
Repurchases of shares of the Company’s common stock are recorded at cost as a reduction of shareholders’ equity.  Reissuance of 
shares of treasury stock is recorded at average cost.  Effective January 1, 2023, a federal excise tax equal to 1% of the fair value of 
share repurchases, net of issuances, is recorded as part of the cost basis of the treasury stock as a direct and incremental cost 
associated with the repurchase transaction. 
 
Income Taxes 
The Company and its subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return.  Provision for income taxes is based on taxes 
currently payable or refundable as well as deferred taxes that are based on temporary differences between the tax basis of assets 
and liabilities and their reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reported 
in the consolidated financial statements at currently enacted income tax rates applicable to the period in which the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. 
 
Benefits from tax positions should be recognized in the financial statements only when it is more likely than not that the tax 
position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant information.  
A tax position meeting the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be measured at the largest amount of benefit for 
which the likelihood of realization upon ultimate settlement exceeds 50 percent.  The Company’s policy is to recognize interest 
and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as part of income taxes in the consolidated statements of income.  Should tax 
laws change or the taxing authorities determine that management’s assumptions were inappropriate, an adjustment may be 
required which could have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations.   
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Investments in Limited Partnerships 
 
The Company has investments in various real estate limited partnerships that acquire, develop, own and operate low and 
moderate-income housing.  The Company’s ownership interest in these limited partnerships ranges from 5.00% to 99.99% as of 
December 31, 2024.  These investments are made directly in Low Income Housing Tax Credit (“LIHTC”) partnerships formed by 
third parties.  As a limited partner in these operating partnerships, the Company receives tax credits and tax deductions for losses 
incurred by the underlying properties.  The Company also has an investment in tax credits generated by a solar energy producing 
company, which is explained in further detail in Note M. 
 
The Company accounts for its ownership interest in these partnerships in accordance with Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 
2014-01, Investments – Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323):  Accounting for Investments in Qualified Affordable 
Housing Projects.  The standard permits an entity to amortize the initial cost of the investment in proportion to the amount of the 
tax credits and other tax benefits received and recognize the net investment performance in the income statement as a component 
of income tax expense.  The Company has no unfunded commitments at December 31, 2024 related to qualified affordable 
housing project investments, and $1.3 million for the solar energy tax credits investment.  There were no impairment losses 
during the year resulting from the forfeiture or ineligibility of tax credits related investments in limited partnerships. 
 
Repurchase Agreements 
 
The Company sells certain securities under agreements to repurchase.  These agreements are treated as collateralized financing 
transactions.  These secured borrowings are reflected as liabilities in the accompanying consolidated statements of condition and 
are recorded at the amount of cash received in connection with the transaction.  Short-term securities sold under agreements to 
repurchase generally mature within one day from the transaction date.  Securities, generally U.S. government and agency 
securities, pledged as collateral under these financing arrangements can be repledged by the secured party.  Additional collateral 
may be required based on the fair value of the underlying securities.  
 
Retirement Benefits 
 
The Company provides defined benefit pension benefits to eligible employees and post-retirement health and life insurance 
benefits to certain eligible retirees.  The Company also provides deferred compensation and supplemental executive retirement 
plans for selected current and former employees, officers, and directors.  Expense under these plans is charged to current 
operations and consists of several components of net periodic benefit based on various actuarial assumptions regarding future 
experience under the plans, including discount rate, rate of future compensation increases and expected return on plan assets. 
 
Assets Under Management or Administration  
 
Assets held in fiduciary or agency capacities for customers are not included in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
condition as they are not assets of the Company.  All fees associated with providing asset management services are recorded on 
an accrual basis of accounting and are included in noninterest income.  
 
Advertising 
 
Advertising costs, which are nondirect response in nature and expensed as incurred, totaled approximately $9.7 million, $9.5 
million and $8.2 million for the years ending December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Bank Owned Life Insurance 
 
The Company owns life insurance policies on certain current and former employees and directors where the Bank is the 
beneficiary.  Bank owned life insurance is recorded at the amount that can be realized under the insurance contract at the balance 
sheet date, which is the cash surrender value (“CSV”) adjusted for other charges or other amounts due that are probable at 
settlement.  Increases in the CSV of the policies, as well as the death benefits received, net of any CSV, are recorded in 
noninterest income in the consolidated statements of income and are not subject to income taxes. 
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Earnings Per Share 
 
Using the two-class method, basic earnings per common share is computed based upon net income available to common 
shareholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period, which excludes the 
outstanding unvested restricted stock.  Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of common 
shares determined for the basic earnings per common share computation plus the dilutive effect of stock options using the 
treasury stock method.  Stock options where the exercise price is greater than the average market price of common shares were 
not included in the computation of earnings per diluted share as they would have been anti-dilutive. Shares held in rabbi trusts 
related to deferred compensation plans are considered outstanding for purposes of computing earnings per share. 
 
Stock-based Compensation 
 
Companies are required to measure and record compensation expense for stock options and other share-based payments on the 
instruments’ fair value on the date of grant.  Stock-based compensation expense is recognized ratably over the requisite service 
period for all awards (see Note K). 
 
Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
 
The Company determines fair values based on quoted market values where available or on estimates using present values or other 
valuation techniques.  Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate and 
estimates of future cash flows.  In that regard, the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to 
independent markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of the instrument.  Certain financial 
instruments and all nonfinancial instruments are excluded from this disclosure requirement.  Accordingly, the aggregate fair value 
amounts presented do not represent the underlying value of the Company.  The fair values of investment securities, loans, 
deposits, and borrowings have been disclosed in Note Q. 
 
Contingent Consideration 
 
The Company measures contingent consideration liabilities recognized in connection with business combinations at fair value on 
a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as defined in ASC 820 
Fair Value Measurement.  The Company used a probability-weighted discounted cash flow approach as a valuation technique to 
determine the fair value of the contingent consideration on the acquisition date.  At each subsequent reporting period, the fair 
value is re-measured with the change in fair value recognized in noninterest expenses in the consolidated statements of income.  
Amounts, if any, paid to the seller in excess of the amount recorded on the acquisition date will be classified as cash flows used in 
operating activities. Payments to the seller not exceeding the acquisition-date fair value of the contingent consideration will be 
classified as cash flows used in financing activities. 
 
Restructuring Expenses 
 
Restructuring expenses includes costs associated with employee severance and separation costs that meet the requirements for 
recognition in accordance with ASC 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations or ASC 712, Compensation – Nonretirement 
Postemployment Benefits, as applicable.  Liabilities are recognized when the restructuring plan is approved, the employees are 
identified, the terms of the arrangement are established, it is determined that changes to the plan is unlikely to occur and the plan 
is communicated to employees.  The liabilities are recorded within accrued interest and other liabilities in the consolidated 
statements of condition.  The corresponding expenses are recorded within restructuring expenses in the consolidated statements of 
income. 
 
During 2023, the Company initiated a retail customer service workforce optimization plan in the Banking and Corporate segment 
in order to improve operational efficiency by more closely aligning bank branch staffing levels with shifting customer behaviors 
including conducting a smaller amount of transactions in branches and a larger amount of transactions digitally.  In connection 
with this retail customer service workforce optimization plan, the Company reduced its bank branch network workforce by 
approximately 99 employees and recorded $1.2 million of severance payments in restructuring expenses in the consolidated 
statements of income.  Severance payments in the amount of $1.1 million and $0.1 million were made in 2023 and 2024, 
respectively.  The Company does not expect to incur any further restructuring expenses in connection with this retail customer 
service workforce optimization plan. 
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Segment Information 
 
Effective January 1, 2024, the Company changed its determination of reportable segments and reportable measure of segment 
profit or loss in connection with the appointment of the Company’s new President and Chief Executive Officer, who serves as the 
Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), and changes in the information the CODM regularly reviews and uses to 
allocate resources and assess performance.  The appointment of the Company’s new President and Chief Executive Officer 
followed the retirement of the Company’s former President and Chief Executive Officer, who previously served as the 
Company’s CODM until December 31, 2023.  The change in determination of reportable segments was also driven by a change in 
the disaggregation of segment information that management believes would be useful to readers of the financial statements and to 
align its reportable segments with financial information communicated to external parties, the Company’s Board of Directors (the 
“Board”) and the business leaders who regularly meet with the CODM who also review this information at the same level of 
disaggregation.  The change in reportable measure of segment profit or loss aligns with a change in the measurement principles of 
the internal reporting package used by the CODM to allocate resources and assess performance, which is presented on an 
operating basis excluding certain items considered non-core to the underlying business.  Effective January 1, 2024, the Company 
has identified (1) Banking and Corporate; (2) Employee Benefit Services; (3) Insurance Services; and (4) Wealth Management 
Services as its reportable segments and determined that operating income before income taxes is the reportable measure of 
segment profit or loss that the CODM regularly reviews and uses to allocate resources and assess performance.  The Company’s 
insurance services revenue and wealth management services revenue are reported separately in the Insurance reportable segment 
and Wealth Management reportable segment, respectively.  The prior period has been recast to conform to the new current period 
presentation.    
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment 
Disclosures, to update reportable segment disclosure requirements primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant 
segment expenses and information used to assess segment performance by the CODM.  ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024.  The 
Company adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2024 which resulted in enhanced disclosures of segment expenses within the 
consolidated financial statements beginning with its December 31, 2024 Form 10-K. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures to enhance the transparency and 
decision usefulness of income tax disclosures.  The update requires enhancements to the rate reconciliation, including disclosure 
of specific categories and additional information for reconciling items meeting a quantitative threshold as well as disclosure of 
income taxes paid disaggregated by federal, state and foreign taxes, and individual jurisdictions meeting a quantitative threshold.  
The amendments in this update are effective for annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 
and early adoption is permitted. The Company plans to adopt this standard beginning with the December 31, 2025 consolidated 
financial statements and expects it to impact certain income tax disclosures. 
 
In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, to enhance the disclosure 
of expenses by requiring further disaggregation of relevant expense captions as well as disclosures about selling expenses.  
ASU 2024-03 is applicable to all public business entities for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026 and 
interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the 
impact this will have on the consolidated financial statements but does not expect it will have a material impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE B: ACQUISITIONS 
 
Current and Prior Period Acquisitions 
 
During 2024, the Company, through its subsidiary OneGroup completed acquisitions of certain insurance agencies 
headquartered in New York and Florida for aggregate consideration of $9.6 million in cash plus contingent consideration with 
an estimated fair value of $0.7 million at the respective acquisition dates.  The effects of the acquired assets and liabilities are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.  The contingent consideration arrangements 
require additional consideration to be paid by the Company based on a percentage of retained revenue two years after the date 
of acquisition, up to a maximum amount of $1.4 million.  The fair value of the contingent consideration of $0.7 million at the 
acquisition date was estimated based on projected retained revenue levels.  Net assets acquired were $6.4 million, including 
$6.8 million of customer list intangible assets, and the Company recorded $3.9 million of goodwill in conjunction with the 
acquisitions.  The operations of these acquisitions have been integrated into the Company and discrete reporting of revenues 
and direct expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024 is not practicable. 
 
On February 1, 2024, the Company, through its subsidiary BPA, completed the acquisition of certain assets of Creative Plan 
Designs Limited (“CPD”), a financial services company that provides employee benefit plan design, administration and 
consulting services.  Total consideration was $5.9 million in cash plus contingent consideration with an estimated fair value of 
$3.0 million at acquisition date.  The effects of the acquired assets are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
that date.  Net assets acquired were $4.5 million, including $5.5 million of customer list intangible assets, and the Company 
recorded $4.4 million of goodwill in conjunction with the acquisition.  The operations of this acquisition have been integrated 
into the Company and discrete reporting of revenues and direct expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024 is not 
practicable. 
 
The acquisition of CPD includes contingent consideration arrangements that require additional consideration to be paid by the 
Company based on the future revenue levels of CPD over approximately three years and a contract holdback payment.  The 
contract holdback will be paid upon satisfaction of certain customer retention requirements and will be prorated based on 
actual results. The contract holdback amount was estimated at the maximum level of $1.5 million at the acquisition date.  The 
revenue-based contingent consideration is payable in four installments, based on future revenue levels of CPD in 2024, 2025, 
2026 and the first quarter of 2027.  The range of undiscounted amounts the Company could pay under the contingent 
consideration agreement is between zero and $2.0 million for the first three payments in total and a variable amount for the 
fourth payment, which is between zero and a percentage of annualized revenue above a threshold for a particular revenue 
stream in the first quarter of 2027.  The fair value of the contingent consideration recognized on the acquisition date of $3.0 
million was estimated by applying the income approach, a measure that is based on significant Level 3 inputs not readily 
observable in the market.  Key assumptions at the date of acquisition include (1) a discount rate range of 15.1% to 19.1% to 
present value the payments and (2) probability of achievement of future revenue levels of 82%. 
 
During 2023, the Company, through its subsidiaries OneGroup, Wealth Partners and BPAS, completed the acquisitions of 
certain assets of financial services companies.  The acquired companies provide insurance, wealth management and benefit 
plan recordkeeping services and are headquartered in New York, Pennsylvania and Florida.  Total aggregate consideration for 
these acquisitions was $8.2 million, including $6.8 million in cash and $1.4 million in contingent consideration arrangements.  
The contingent consideration arrangements are based on achieving certain levels of retained revenue over a period ranging 
from two to five years.  The fair value of these arrangements has been recorded based on the assumption that retained revenue 
levels will meet or exceed the required threshold for the maximum contingent consideration payments.  Aggregate assets 
acquired were $5.2 million, including $5.0 million of customer list intangible assets, and the Company recorded goodwill of 
$3.0 million.  The effects of the acquired assets have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of 
acquisition.  The operations of these acquisitions have been integrated into the Company and discrete reporting of revenues 
and direct expenses for years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is not practicable. 
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On March 1, 2023, the Company, through its subsidiary CBNA, completed the acquisition of certain assets of Axiom Realty 
Group, which includes Axiom Capital Corp., Axiom Realty Management, LLC and Axiom Realty Advisors, LLC (collectively 
referred to as “Axiom”), a commercial real estate finance and advisory firm, for $1.8 million in cash.  The Company recorded 
a $1.2 million customer list intangible and recognized $0.6 million of goodwill in conjunction with the acquisition.  The effects 
of the acquired assets have been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date.  Revenues of approximately 
$1.9 million and $0.8 million and direct expenses of approximately $1.9 million and $1.8 million were included in the 
consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
On May 13, 2022, the Company completed its acquisition of Elmira Savings Bank (“Elmira”), a New York State chartered 
savings bank headquartered in Elmira, New York, for $82.2 million in cash.  The acquisition enhanced the Company’s 
presence in five counties in New York’s Southern Tier and Finger Lakes regions.  In connection with the acquisition, the 
Company acquired approximately $583.6 million of identifiable assets, including $436.8 million of loans, $11.3 million of 
investment securities, and $8.0 million of core deposit intangibles, as well as $522.3 million of deposits.  Goodwill of $42.1 
million was recognized as a result of the merger.  The effects of the acquired assets and liabilities have been included in the 
consolidated financial statements since that date.  The operations of this acquisition has been integrated into the Company and 
discrete reporting of revenues and direct expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024 is not practicable.  Revenues of 
approximately $14.9 million and $12.1 million, and direct expenses of approximately $4.9 million and $3.1 million from the 
Elmira branch network, which may not include certain shared expenses, were included in the consolidated statements of 
income for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  The Company incurred certain transaction-related 
costs in 2022 in connection with the Elmira acquisition. 
 
During 2022, the Company, through its subsidiary OneGroup, completed acquisitions of certain assets of insurance agencies 
for an aggregate amount of $3.5 million in cash.  The Company recorded a $2.9 million customer list intangible asset and a 
$0.1 million intangible asset for a noncompete agreement and recognized $0.5 million of goodwill in conjunction with the 
acquisitions.  The effects of the acquired assets have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of 
acquisition.  Revenues and direct expenses included in the consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were immaterial. 
 
The assets and liabilities assumed in the acquisitions were recorded at their estimated fair values based on management's best 
estimates using information available at the dates of the acquisitions.  During 2024, based on the receipt of new information, 
there were adjustments made to the carrying value of other intangibles of $0.1 million and to other assets and other liabilities 
and goodwill of $0.2 million.  During 2023, the carrying amount of loans, accrued interest and fees receivable, other assets and 
other liabilities associated with the Elmira acquisition was adjusted upon receipt of new information and the adjustments 
resulted in a net decrease to goodwill of $0.1 million. 
 
The Axiom acquisition generally expanded the Company's presence nationwide providing services to arrange financing for 
commercial real estate customers.  The Elmira acquisition generally expanded the Company’s banking presence in New York.  
The OneGroup acquisitions generally expanded the Company’s insurance presence in New York, Florida and Pennsylvania.  
The Wealth Partners acquisition generally expanded the Company’s wealth management presence in New York.  The BPAS 
and BPA acquisitions generally expanded the Company’s employee benefit services presence in New York.  Management 
expects that the Company will benefit from greater geographic diversity and the advantages of other synergistic business 
development opportunities. 
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed after considering the 
measurement period adjustments described above:  
 

 2024  2023  2022 
(000s omitted) CPD Other(1) Total  Axiom Other(2) Total  Total(3) 

Consideration:          
   Cash $5,861 $9,599 $15,460  $1,819 $6,758 $8,577  $85,656 
   Contingent consideration 3,066 750 3,816  0 1,450 1,450  0 
   Total net consideration 8,927 10,349 19,276  1,819 8,208 10,027  85,656 

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed: 

   
 

     

Cash and cash equivalents 0 33 33  0 0 0  84,988 
Investment securities 0 0 0  0 0 0  11,305 
Loans, net of allowance for credit losses on 
PCD loans 0 0 0  0 0 0  436,796 
Premises and equipment, net 6 106 112  25 41 66  11,317 
Accrued interest and fees receivable 0 0 0  0 0 0  882 
Other assets 26 359 385  2 175 177  30,337 
Core deposit intangibles 0 0 0  0 0 0  7,970 
Other intangibles 5,500 6,849 12,349  1,176 4,990 6,166  3,014 
Deposits 0 0 0  0 0 0  (522,295) 
Other liabilities (990) (918) (1,908)  (9) (9) (18)  (3,630) 
Other Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 0 0 0  0 0 0  (17,616) 
  Total identifiable assets, net 4,542 6,429 10,971  1,194 5,197 6,391  43,068 
     Goodwill $4,385 $3,920 $8,305  $625 $3,011 $3,636  $42,588 

(1) Includes amounts for OneGroup acquisitions completed in 2024. 
(2) Includes amounts for OneGroup, Wealth Partners and BPAS acquisitions completed in 2023.   
(3)Includes amounts for CBNA and OneGroup acquisitions completed in 2022. 
 
The Company acquired certain loans from Elmira for which there was no evidence of a more-than-insignificant deterioration in 
credit quality since origination (non-PCD loans) with an unpaid principal balance of $455.7 million at the acquisition date. Total 
fair value adjustments for non-PCD loans resulted in a net discount of $20.8 million. 
 
The Company acquired loans from Elmira for which there was evidence of a more-than-insignificant deterioration in credit 
quality since origination (PCD loans as described in Note A: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies).  There were no 
investment securities acquired from Elmira for which there was evidence of a more-than-insignificant deterioration in credit 
quality since origination. The carrying amount of those loans is as follows at the date of acquisition: 
 

(000s omitted) PCD Loans 
Par value of PCD loans at acquisition $2,184 
Allowance for credit losses at acquisition  (71) 
Non-credit discount at acquisition  (81) 
   Fair value of PCD loans at acquisition $2,032 

 
The fair value of checking, savings and money market deposit accounts acquired were assumed to approximate the carrying 
value as these accounts have no stated maturity and are payable on demand.  Certificate of deposit accounts were valued at the 
present value of the certificates’ expected contractual payments discounted at market rates for similar certificates. 
 
Borrowings assumed with the Elmira acquisition included FHLB borrowings with a fair value of $17.6 million, with maturity 
dates ranging from January 2023 through March 2027 and a weighted average interest rate of 2.48%. 
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The core deposit intangibles related to the Elmira acquisition and other intangibles related to three of the OneGroup 
acquisitions completed in 2022, the OneGroup, Wealth Partners, and BPAS acquisitions completed in 2023, the Axiom 
acquisition, and the OneGroup acquisitions completed in 2024 are being amortized using an accelerated method over an 
estimated useful life of eight years.  The other intangibles associated with the fourth remaining OneGroup acquisition 
completed in 2022 are being amortized using an accelerated method over their estimated useful life of ten years.  The other 
intangibles related to the CPD acquisition are being amortized using an accelerated method over an estimated useful life of 12 
years.  The goodwill, which is not amortized for book purposes, was assigned to the Employee Benefit Services segment for 
the CPD acquisition and the BPAS acquisition completed in 2023, the Insurance segment for the OneGroup acquisitions 
completed in 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Wealth Management segment for the Wealth Partners acquisition completed in 2023 
and the Banking and Corporate segment for the Elmira and Axiom acquisitions. Goodwill arising from the Elmira and one of 
the OneGroup acquisitions in 2024 is not deductible for tax purposes.  Goodwill arising from the remaining acquisitions in 
2024, 2023, and 2022 is deductible for tax purposes.  
 
Direct costs related to the acquisitions were expensed as incurred.  Merger and acquisition integration-related expenses amount to 
$0.2 million, $0.1 million and $5.0 million during 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and have been separately stated in the 
consolidated statements of income.  
 
NOTE C: INVESTMENT SECURITIES 
 
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of investment securities as of December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2024  2023 

(000's omitted) 
Amortized 

Cost 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 
Estimated 
Fair Value  

Amortized 
Cost 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses  
Estimated 
Fair Value 

Available-for-Sale Portfolio:         
U.S. Treasury and agency securities $2,389,208 $0 $305,422 $2,083,786  $2,381,168 $0 $300,385 $2,080,783
Obligations of state and political subdivisions 428,204 288 41,997 386,495  502,879 1,469 29,985 474,363
Government agency mortgage-backed securities 360,102 37 58,915 301,224  400,062 76 51,612 348,526
Corporate debt securities 8,000 0 303 7,697  8,000 0 606 7,394
Government agency collateralized mortgage 

obligations  6,878 0 366 6,512  9,498 0 572 8,926
Total available-for-sale portfolio $3,192,392 $325 $407,003 $2,785,714  $3,301,607 $1,545 $383,160 $2,919,992

Held-to-Maturity Portfolio:       
U.S. Treasury and agency securities $1,138,743 $0 $123,194 $1,015,549  $1,109,101 $0 $50,866 $1,058,235
Government agency mortgage-backed securities 206,412 448 2,241 204,619  63,073 688 180 63,581
Total held-to-maturity portfolio $1,345,155 $448 $125,435 $1,220,168  $1,172,174 $688 $51,046 $1,121,816

 
As of December 31, 2024, equity and other securities on the consolidated statements of condition consists of equity securities 
with readily determinable fair values carried at $2.4 million and equity securities without readily determinable fair values 
carried at $85.1 million, including FHLB common stock of $45.4 million, Federal Reserve Bank (“FRB”) common stock of 
$33.4 million and other equity securities of $6.3 million. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, equity and other securities on the consolidated statements of condition consists of equity securities 
with readily determinable fair values carried at $0.4 million and equity securities without readily determinable fair values 
carried at $72.8 million, including FHLB common stock of $32.5 million, FRB common stock of $33.6 million and other 
equity securities of $6.7 million.  
 
Pursuant with FRB standards, the investment in FRB stock represents approximately half of the total required subscription, and 
the remaining half is unpaid and remains subject to call by the FRB.   
 
The amount of upward and downward adjustments to equity securities without readily determinable fair values was not 
material for the year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. 
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The gains and losses on equity and other securities for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 
 
(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Net gain (loss) recognized on equity securities $1,231 ($47) ($44) 
Less: Net gain (loss) recognized on equity securities sold during the period 0 0 0 
   Unrealized gain (loss) recognized on equity securities still held $1,231 ($47) ($44) 
 
A summary of investment securities that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than or greater than twelve 
months is as follows: 
 
As of December 31, 2024 

  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or Longer  Total 

(000's omitted)  Fair Value 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses  Fair Value 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses  Fair Value 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

Available-for-Sale Portfolio:         
 U.S. Treasury and agency securities  $0 $0  $2,083,786 $305,422  $2,083,786 $305,422 
 Obligations of state and political subdivisions  47,144 847  301,202 41,150  348,346 41,997 
 Government agency mortgage-backed securities  7,943 221  290,786 58,694  298,729 58,915 
 Corporate debt securities  0 0  7,697 303  7,697 303 
 Government agency collateralized mortgage obligations  0 0  6,501 366  6,501 366 
    Total available-for-sale investment portfolio  $55,087 $1,068  $2,689,972 $405,935  $2,745,059 $407,003 
         

Held-to-Maturity Portfolio:         
 U.S Treasury and agency securities  $0 $0  $1,015,549 $123,194  $1,015,549 $123,194 
 Government agency mortgage-backed securities  149,742 2,027  15,281 214  165,023 2,241 
    Total held-to-maturity portfolio  $149,742 $2,027  $1,030,830 $123,408  $1,180,572 $125,435 

 
As of December 31, 2023 

  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or Longer  Total 

(000's omitted)  Fair Value 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses  Fair Value 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses  Fair Value 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

Available-for-Sale Portfolio:         
 U.S. Treasury and agency securities  $0 $0  $2,080,783 $300,385  $2,080,783 $300,385 
 Obligations of state and political subdivisions  63,541 878  287,191 29,107  350,732 29,985 
 Government agency mortgage-backed securities  8,586 55  336,266 51,557  344,852 51,612 
 Corporate debt securities  0 0  7,394 606  7,394 606 
 Government agency collateralized mortgage obligations  0 0  8,907 572  8,907 572 
    Total available-for-sale investment portfolio  $72,127 $933  $2,720,541 $382,227  $2,792,668 $383,160 
         

Held-to-Maturity Portfolio:         
 U.S Treasury and agency securities  $536,885 $15,953  $521,350 $34,913  $1,058,235 $50,866 
 Government agency mortgage-backed securities  18,951 158  1,393 22  20,344 180 
    Total held-to-maturity portfolio  $555,836 $16,111  $522,743 $34,935  $1,078,579 $51,046 

 
The unrealized losses reported pertaining to available-for-sale securities issued by the U.S. government and its sponsored 
entities include treasuries, agencies, and mortgage-backed securities issued by Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae, and Freddie Mac, 
which are currently rated AAA by Moody’s Investor Services, AA+ by Standard & Poor’s and are guaranteed by the U.S. 
government.  The majority of the obligations of state and political subdivisions carry a credit rating of A or better. 
Additionally, a portion of the obligations of state and political subdivisions carry a secondary level of credit enhancement.  The 
Company holds two corporate debt securities in an unrealized loss position and, based on an analysis of the financial position 
of the issuers including financial performance, liquidity and regulatory capital ratios, the issuers of the securities show a 
remote risk of default.  Timely interest payments continue to be made on the securities.  The unrealized losses in the portfolios 
are primarily attributable to changes in interest rates.  As such, management does not believe any individual unrealized loss as 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023 represents credit losses and no unrealized losses have been recognized in the provision for 
credit losses. Accordingly, there is no allowance for credit losses on the Company’s available-for-sale investment portfolio as 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
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Securities classified as held-to-maturity are included under the CECL methodology.  Calculation of expected credit loss under 
CECL is done on a collective (“pooled”) basis, with assets grouped when similar risk characteristics exist.  The Company 
notes that at December 31, 2024 and 2023 all securities in the held-to-maturity classification are U.S. Treasury securities and 
government agency mortgage-backed securities; therefore, they share the same risk characteristics and can be evaluated on a 
collective basis. The expected credit loss on these securities is evaluated based on historical credit losses of this security type 
and the expected possibility of default in the future, and these securities are guaranteed by the U.S. government.  U.S. Treasury 
securities and government agency mortgage-backed securities often receive the highest credit rating by rating agencies and the 
Company has concluded that the possibility of default is considered remote.  The U.S. Treasury securities and government 
agency mortgage-backed securities held by the Company in the held-to-maturity category carry an AA+ rating from Standard 
& Poor’s, AAA from Moody’s Investor Services, and AA+ from Fitch.  The Company concludes that the long history with no 
credit losses for these securities (adjusted for current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts) indicates an 
expectation that nonpayment of the amortized cost basis is zero.  Management has concluded that the prepayment risk 
associated with these securities is insignificant and it is expected to recover the recorded investment.  Accordingly, there is no 
allowance for credit losses on the Company’s held-to-maturity debt portfolio as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. The 
Company has the intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. 
 
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2024, by contractual maturity, are shown below. 
Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with 
or without call or prepayment penalties.  Securities not due at a single maturity date are shown separately. 
 
  Held-to-Maturity  Available-for-Sale 

(000's omitted)  
Amortized 

Cost Fair Value 
 Amortized 

Cost Fair Value 
Due in one year or less  $0 $0  $9,386 $9,333 
Due after one through five years  0 0  1,952,103 1,788,434 
Due after five years through ten years  565,934 530,096  303,068 257,109 
Due after ten years  572,809 485,453  560,855 423,102 
     Subtotal  1,138,743 1,015,549  2,825,412 2,477,978 
Government agency mortgage-backed securities  206,412 204,619  360,102 301,224 
Government agency collateralized mortgage obligations  0 0  6,878 6,512 
     Total  $1,345,155 $1,220,168  $3,192,392 $2,785,714 
 
Investment securities with a carrying value of $2.27 billion and $2.14 billion at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, 
were pledged to collateralize certain deposits and borrowings.  Securities pledged to collateralize certain deposits and 
borrowings included $362.1 million and $598.9 million of U.S. Treasury securities that were pledged as collateral for 
securities sold under agreement to repurchase at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  All securities sold under 
agreement to repurchase as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 have an overnight and continuous maturity. 
 
During the first quarter of 2023, the Company sold $786.1 million in book value of available-for-sale U.S. Treasury and 
agency securities, recognizing $52.3 million of gross realized losses.  The sales were completed in January and February 2023 
as part of a strategic balance sheet repositioning and were unrelated to the negative developments in the banking industry that 
occurred in March 2023.  The proceeds from these sales of $733.8 million were redeployed entirely towards paying off 
existing overnight borrowings. 
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NOTE D: LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSESNO

The segments of the Company’s loan portfolio at December 31 are summarized as follows:s:Th

(000's omitted) 2024 2023
CRE – multifamily $724,114 $619,794 
CRE – owner occupied 864,783 752,774 
CRE – non-owner occupied 1,775,099 1,711,198
Commercial & industrial and other business loans 1,141,182 1,000,630
Consumer mortgage 3,489,780 3,285,018
Consumer indirect 1,767,655 1,703,440
Consumer direct 192,327 185,229
Home equity 477,425 446,515
Gross loans, including deferred origination costs 10,432,365 9,704,598
Allowance for credit losses (79,114) (66,669)
Loans, net of allowance for credit losses $10,353,251 $9,637,929 

The Company had approximately $84.1 million and $81.6 million of net deferred loan origination costs included in gross loans as 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Certain directors and executive officers of the Company, as well as associates of such persons, are loan customers.  Loans to these 
individuals were made in the ordinary course of business under normal credit terms and do not have more than a normal risk of 
collection.  Following is a summary of the aggregate amount of such loans during 2024 and 2023.

(000's omitted) 2024 2023
Balance at beginning of year $11,692 $12,373
New loans 0 1,372
Payments (1,157) (2,053)
Balance at end of year $10,535 $11,692
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The following tables present the aging of the amortized cost basis of the Company’s past due loans by segment as of December 
31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

 Past Due 90+ Days Past     
(000’s omitted) 30 – 89 Due and  Total   
December 31, 2024 Days  Still Accruing  Nonaccrual Past Due Current Total Loans 
CRE – multifamily $184 $0 $12,316 $12,500 $711,614 $724,114 
CRE – owner occupied 690 0 7,695 8,385 856,398 864,783 
CRE – non-owner occupied 447 0 11,826 12,273 1,762,826 1,775,099 
Commercial & industrial 
and other business loans 2,832 0 8,122 10,954 1,130,228 1,141,182 
Consumer mortgage 24,928 5,288 24,389 54,605 3,435,175 3,489,780 
Consumer indirect  22,379 1,227 0 23,606 1,744,049 1,767,655 
Consumer direct 1,747 106 0 1,853 190,474 192,327 
Home equity 2,739 379 2,039 5,157 472,268 477,425 
Total $55,946 $7,000 $66,387 $129,333 $10,303,032 $10,432,365 

 
 Past Due 90+ Days Past     
(000’s omitted) 30 – 89 Due and  Total   
December 31, 2023 Days  Still Accruing  Nonaccrual Past Due Current Total Loans 
CRE – multifamily $0 $0 $0 $0 $619,794 $619,794 
CRE – owner occupied 1,477 0 1,953 3,430 749,344 752,774 
CRE – non-owner occupied 2,311 0 17,964 20,275 1,690,923 1,711,198 
Commercial & industrial 
and other business loans 880 0 336 1,216 999,414 1,000,630 
Consumer mortgage 18,434 4,559 26,043 49,036 3,235,982 3,285,018 
Consumer indirect  20,215 776 0 20,991 1,682,449 1,703,440 
Consumer direct 1,579 135 23 1,737 183,492 185,229 
Home equity 3,546 416 2,368 6,330 440,185 446,515 
Total $48,442 $5,886 $48,687 $103,015 $9,601,583 $9,704,598 

 
An immaterial amount of interest income on nonaccrual loans was recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024 or 
2023. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, an immaterial amount of accrued interest was written off on nonaccrual 
loans by reversing interest income. Approximately $1.8 million of interest income on loans that returned to accrual status in 2024 
was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
The Company uses several credit quality indicators to assess credit risk in an ongoing manner.  The Company’s primary credit 
quality indicator for its business lending portfolio is an internal credit risk rating system that categorizes loans as “pass”, “special 
mention”, “substandard”, or “doubtful”.  Business lending loans under $250,000 are assigned either a “pass” or “substandard” risk 
rating.   Credit risk ratings are applied to loans individually based on a case-by-case evaluation.  In general, the following are the 
definitions of the Company’s credit quality indicators: 
 

Pass The condition of the borrower and the performance of the loans are satisfactory or better. 
Special Mention The condition of the borrower has deteriorated and the loan has potential weaknesses, although the 

loan performs as agreed. Loss may be incurred at some future date if conditions deteriorate further. 
Substandard The condition of the borrower has significantly deteriorated and the loan has a well-defined 

weakness or weaknesses. The performance of the loan could further deteriorate and incur loss if 
deficiencies are not corrected. 

Doubtful The condition of the borrower has deteriorated to the point that collection of the balance is 
improbable based on current facts and conditions and loss is likely. 
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The following tables show the amount of business lending loans by credit quality category at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 

(000’s omitted) 
December 31, 2024 

Term Loans Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year 

Revolving 
Loans 

Amortized 
Cost Basis 

Revolving 
Loans 

Converted 
to Term Total 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prior 

CRE – multifamily:          
  Risk rating          
    Pass  $24,631   $101,868   $141,997   $50,421   $16,827   $134,788   $63,401   $146,565   $680,498  
    Special mention 0 0 0 0 0  1,865  1,500  14,030   17,395  
    Substandard 0 0  7,232   1,580   60   4,639   641   9,293   23,445  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  2,776   2,776  
Total CRE – 
multifamily  $24,631   $101,868   $149,229   $52,001   $16,887   $141,292   $65,542   $172,664   $724,114  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1) $0 $0 $0 $62 $0 $0 $0 $0 $62 
          

CRE – owner occupied:          
  Risk rating          
    Pass  $101,325   $50,104   $76,554   $52,518   $36,798   $233,701   $68,794   $171,660   $791,454  
    Special mention  744   4,726   2,076   1,474   1,407   4,679   430   23,107   38,643  
    Substandard 0  1,792   7,565   978   2,123   15,137   1,112   5,979   34,686  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total CRE – owner 
occupied  $102,069   $56,622   $86,195   $54,970   $40,328   $253,517   $70,336   $200,746   $864,783  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1) $0 $806 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $806 
          

CRE – non-owner 
occupied: 

         

  Risk rating          
    Pass  $98,845   $120,244   $193,914   $115,990   $86,279   $296,787   $418,515   $230,482   $1,561,056  
    Special mention  2,007   377   50,868   1,264   259   20,210   20,960   23,600   119,545  
    Substandard 0  10,887   284   1,846   351   13,023   23,816   43,425   93,632  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 866 0 0 0 0 866 
Total CRE – non-owner 
occupied  $100,852   $131,508   $245,066   $119,966   $86,889   $330,020   $463,291   $297,507   $1,775,099  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1) $0 $412 $0 $0 $0 $77 $0 $554 $1,043 
          

Commercial & 
industrial and other 
business loans: 

         

  Risk rating          
    Pass  $267,499   $67,503   $92,315   $69,456   $24,072   $88,204   $390,217   $56,971   $1,056,237  
    Special mention  6,078   445   1,673   1,022   2   1,889   12,468   7,608   31,185  
    Substandard  1,575   16,588   3,743   1,458   397   3,261   20,842   5,896   53,760  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total commercial & 
industrial and other 
business loans  $275,152   $84,536   $97,731   $71,936   $24,471   $93,354   $423,527   $70,475   $1,141,182  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1) $0 $64 $119 $114 $0 $23 $924 $2 $1,246 
          
Total business lending:          
  Risk rating          
    Pass  $492,300   $339,719   $504,780   $288,385   $163,976   $753,480   $940,927   $605,678   $4,089,245  
    Special mention  8,829   5,548   54,617   3,760   1,668   28,643   35,358   68,345   206,768  
    Substandard  1,575   29,267   18,824   5,862   2,931   36,060   46,411   64,593   205,523  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 866 0 0 0  2,776   3,642  
Total business lending  $502,704   $374,534   $578,221   $298,873   $168,575   $818,183  $1,022,696   $741,392   $4,505,178  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1)  $0    $1,282   $119   $176   $0    $100   $924   $556   $3,157  

 
(1) For the year ended December 31, 2024 
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(000’s omitted) 
December 31, 2023 

Term Loans Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year 

Revolving 
Loans 

Amortized 
Cost Basis 

Revolving 
Loans 

Converted 
to Term Total 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior 

CRE – multifamily:          
  Risk rating          
    Pass  $90,888   $145,337   $52,058   $19,982   $41,992   $112,287   $3,237   $106,580   $572,361  
    Special mention  13,175   7,317  0  65  0  3,522  0  8,289   32,368  
    Substandard 0  959  0 0  551   1,293   150   12,112   15,065  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   
Total CRE – 
multifamily  $104,063   $153,613   $52,058   $20,047   $42,543   $117,102  $3,387   $126,981   $619,794  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
          
CRE – owner occupied:          
  Risk rating          
    Pass  $58,544  $ 89,616  $58,798   $46,465   $80,361   $192,345   $28,023   $158,652   $712,804  
    Special mention  3,258   2,384   649   639   1,472   11,962   743   6,064   27,171  
    Substandard  880   108   922   1,480   514   7,531   941   423   12,799  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total CRE – owner 
occupied  $62,682   $92,108   $60,369   $48,584   $82,347   $211,838   $29,707   $165,139   $752,774  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $19 $0 $19 
          

CRE – non-owner 
occupied: 

         

  Risk rating          
    Pass  $143,106   $255,699   $111,306   $86,560   $60,646   $275,458   $387,559   $265,348   $1,585,682  
    Special mention  42   827   16,109   1,311   109   29,648   18,806   3,506   70,358  
    Substandard   947   136   1,123   2,996   1,248   20,578   100   27,542   54,670  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 488 0 0 0 0  488  
Total CRE – non-owner 
occupied  $144,095   $256,662   $128,538   $91,355   $62,003   $325,684   $406,465   $296,396   $1,711,198  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
          

Commercial & 
industrial and other 
business loans: 

         

  Risk rating          
    Pass  $146,627   $133,529   $94,764   $34,572   $34,714   $99,525   $337,388   $55,222   $936,341  
    Special mention  15,306   2,071   1,491   1,557   2,553   1,854   16,341   8,045   49,218  
    Substandard  38   800   558   477   323   1,305   10,800   770   15,071  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total commercial & 
industrial and other 
business loans  $161,971   $136,400   $96,813   $36,606   $37,590   $102,684   $364,529   $64,037   $1,000,630  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1) $0 $160 $0 $0 $0 $36 $569 $0 $765 
          
Total business lending:          
  Risk rating          
    Pass  $439,165   $624,181   $316,926   $187,579   $217,713   $679,615   $756,207   $585,802   $3,807,188  
    Special mention  31,781   12,599   18,249   3,572   4,134   46,986   35,890   25,904   179,115  
    Substandard  1,865   2,003   2,603   4,953   2,636   30,707   11,991   40,847   97,605  
    Doubtful 0 0 0 488 0 0 0 0  488  
Total business lending  $472,811   $638,783   $337,778   $196,592   $224,483   $757,308   $804,088   $652,553   $4,084,396  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(1) $0 $160 $0 $0 $0 $36 $588 $0 $784 

 
(1) For the year ended December 31, 2023 
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All other loans are underwritten and structured using standardized criteria and characteristics, primarily payment performance, 
and are monitored collectively on a monthly basis.  These are typically loans to individuals in the consumer categories and are 
delineated as either performing or nonperforming.   Performing loans include loans classified as current as well as those classified 
as 30 - 89 days past due.  Nonperforming loans include 90+ days past due and still accruing and nonaccrual loans. 
 
The following tables detail the balances in all other loan categories at December 31, 2024 and 2023:  
 

(000’s omitted) 
December 31, 2024 

Term Loans Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year 

Revolving 
Loans 

Amortized 
Cost Basis 

Revolving 
Loans 

Converted 
to Term Total 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prior 

Consumer mortgage:          
  FICO AB(1)          
      Performing  $312,040   $327,737   $325,563   $418,887   $182,058   $665,652   $2,501   $124,134   $2,358,572  
      Nonperforming 0 0  669   748   521   4,476  0 0  6,414 
        Total FICO AB  312,040   327,737   326,232   419,635   182,579   670,128   2,501   124,134   2,364,986  
  FICO CDE(2)          
      Performing  149,322   139,294   138,007   151,769   93,797   352,517   33,678   43,147   1,101,531  
      Nonperforming  564   1,815   3,932   1,483   2,076   12,282  0  1,111   23,263  
        Total FICO CDE  149,886   141,109   141,939   153,252   95,873   364,799   33,678   44,258   1,124,794  
Total consumer mortgage  $461,926  $468,846   $468,171   $572,887   $278,452   1,034,927   $36,179   $168,392   $3,489,780  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(3) $0 $141 $30 $1 $20 $192 $0 $0 $384 
          
Consumer indirect:          
    Performing  $656,284   $492,192   $380,652   $153,977   $32,812   $50,511   $0    $0    $1,766,428  
    Nonperforming  118  461   453   141   34   20  0 0  1,227  
Total consumer indirect  $656,402   $492,653   $381,105   $154,118   $32,846   $50,531   $0    $0    $1,767,655  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(3)  $1,468   $3,039   $3,789   $1,592   $499   $1,220   $0    $0    $11,607  
          
Consumer direct:          
    Performing  $84,114   $49,126   $30,424   $12,534   $3,374   $5,527   $7,122   $0    $192,221  
    Nonperforming  22  21   2   17  0  8  36 0  106  
Total consumer direct  $84,136   $49,147   $30,426   $12,551   $3,374   $5,535   $7,158   $0    $192,327  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(3)  $176   $1,072   $664   $389   $74   $118   $251   $0    $2,744  
          
Home equity:          
    Performing  $68,249   $53,612   $54,754   $53,466   $26,456   $56,072  $137,448   $24,950   $475,007  
    Nonperforming  32  234   225   43  282  534  850 218  2,418  
Total home equity  $68,281   $53,846   $54,979   $53,509   $26,738   $56,606   $138,298   $25,168   $477,425  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(3) $0 $0 $23 $0 $8 $41 $92 $0 $164 

 
(1) FICO AB refers to higher tiered loans with FICO scores greater than or equal to 720 at origination. 
(2) FICO CDE refers to loans with FICO scores less than 720 at origination and potentially higher risk. 
(3) For the year ended December 31, 2024 
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(000’s omitted) 
December 31, 2023 

Term Loans Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year 

Revolving 
Loans 

Amortized 
Cost Basis 

Revolving 
Loans 

Converted 
to Term Total 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior 

Consumer mortgage:          
  FICO AB(1)          
      Performing  $354,967   $353,185   $456,871   $199,429   $157,159   $606,591 $0  $86,067   $2,214,269  
      Nonperforming 0  371   764   605   279   5,187  0  195   7,401  
        Total FICO AB  354,967   353,556   457,635   200,034   157,438   611,778  0  86,262   2,221,670  
  FICO CDE(2)          
      Performing  148,443   150,585   164,839   103,003   71,710   331,839  39,630   30,098   1,040,147  
      Nonperforming  53   2,629   2,477   1,629   1,785   13,201   367   1,060   23,201  
        Total FICO CDE  148,496   153,214   167,316   104,632   73,495   345,040   39,997   31,158   1,063,348  
Total consumer mortgage  $503,463   $506,770   $624,951   $304,666   $230,933   $956,818   $39,997   $117,420   $3,285,018  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(3) $0 $0 $0 $0 $85 $584 $0 $0 $669 
          
Consumer indirect:          
    Performing  $681,824   $572,799   $273,035   $71,428   $45,203   $58,375  $0 $0  $1,702,664  
    Nonperforming   84   443   101   42   19   87  0 0  776  
Total consumer indirect  $681,908   $573,242   $273,136   $71,470   $45,222   $58,462  $0 $0  $1,703,440  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(3) $926 $3,595 $1,969 $1,171 $570 $1,121 $0 $0 $9,352 
          
Consumer direct:          
    Performing  $80,169   $52,826   $26,617   $8,282   $4,604   $5,697   $6,875   $1   $185,071  
    Nonperforming   33   41   47  0  2   23   12  0  158  
Total consumer direct  $80,202   $52,867   $26,664   $8,282   $4,606   $5,720   $6,887   $1   $185,229  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(3) $206 $813 $450 $110 $110 $159 $161 $0 $2,009 
          
Home equity:          
    Performing  $61,065   $62,801   $63,102   $31,094   $25,721   $44,832   $126,939   $28,177   $443,731  
    Nonperforming   0    162   10   253   260   533   1,053   513   2,784  
Total home equity  $61,065   $62,963   $63,112   $31,347   $25,981   $45,365   $127,992   $28,690   $446,515  
Current period gross 
charge-offs(3) $0 $0 $0 $64 $0 $44 $11 $0 $119 

 
(1) FICO AB refers to higher tiered loans with FICO scores greater than or equal to 720 at origination. 
(2) FICO CDE refers to loans with FICO scores less than 720 at origination and potentially higher risk. 
(3) For the year ended December 31, 2023 
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Business lending loans greater than $0.5 million that are on nonaccrual are individually assessed and, if necessary, a specific 
allocation of the allowance for credit losses is provided.  If management determines that foreclosure is probable, expected credit 
losses for collateral dependent loans are based on the fair value of the collateral at the reporting date, adjusted for estimated 
selling costs as appropriate.  A loan is considered collateral dependent when the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and 
the loan is expected to be repaid substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral. The collateral for individually 
assessed CRE non-owner occupied loans consists of office property associated with one customer. Individually assessed CRE 
multifamily loans consists of a rental apartment property associated with one customer.  A summary of individually assessed 
business lending loans as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 follows: 
 

 December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

(000’s omitted) 
Carrying 
Balance 

Contractual 
Balance 

Specifically 
Allocated 
Allowance 

Carrying 
Balance 

Contractual 
Balance 

Specifically 
Allocated 
Allowance 

Loans with allowance 
allocation: 

      

CRE – multifamily $12,068 $12,068 $2,764 $0 $0 $0 
CRE – non-owner 
occupied 10,075 10,270 864 3,484 3,484 470 

Total $22,143 $22,338 $3,628 $3,484 $3,484 $470 
       

Loans without allowance 
allocation: 

      

CRE – owner occupied $7,554 $8,360 $0 $1,551 $1,551 $0 
CRE – non-owner 
occupied 1,592 2,606 0 13,999 14,014 0 
Commercial & industrial 
and other business loans 7,672 7,672 0 200 200 0 

Total $16,818 $18,638 $0 $15,750 $15,765 $0 
 
The average carrying balance of individually assessed loans was $42.5 million and $20.2 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  An immaterial amount of interest income was recognized on individually assessed 
loans for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Occasionally, the Company modifies loans to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty by providing principal forgiveness, term 
extension, payment delay or interest rate reduction.  When principal forgiveness is provided, the amount of forgiveness is 
charged-off against the allowance for credit losses. 
 
In some cases, the Company provides multiple types of modifications on one loan.  Typically, one type of modification, such 
as a term extension, is granted initially.  If the borrower continues to experience financial difficulty, another modification, such 
as principal forgiveness, may be granted.  Upon the Company’s determination that a modified loan (or portion of a loan) has 
subsequently been deemed uncollectible, the loan (or a portion of the loan) is charged off.  Therefore, the amortized cost basis 
of the loan is reduced by the uncollectible amount and the allowance for credit losses is adjusted by the same amount.  The 
estimate of allowance for credit losses includes historical losses from loans that were modified due to borrower financial 
difficulty, therefore a charge to the allowance for credit losses is generally not recorded upon modification. 
 
The following table presents the amortized cost basis of loans at December 31, 2024 and 2023 that were both experiencing 
financial difficulty and modified during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, by class and by type of modification. The 
percentage of the amortized cost basis of loans that were modified to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty as compared to 
the amortized cost basis of each class of financing receivable is also presented below.  
 

 
Year Ended 

December 31, 2024 
Year Ended 

December 31, 2023 

(000s omitted except for 
percentages) Term Extension 

Other 
Payment 

Delay 

Total Class of 
Financing 
Receivable Term Extension 

Other 
Payment 

Delay 

Total Class of 
Financing 
Receivable 

CRE – owner occupied $1,504 $0 0.17% $1,367 $0 0.18% 
CRE – non-owner occupied 3,191 17,942 1.19% 700 0 0.04% 
Commercial & industrial and 
other business loans 3,907 0 0.34% 0 0 0.00% 
Consumer mortgage 370 0 0.01% 281 0 0.01% 
Home equity 23 0 0.00% 31 0 0.01% 
Total $8,995 $17,942 0.26% $2,379 $0 0.02% 
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The Company closely monitors the performance of loans that are modified to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty to 
understand the effectiveness of its modification efforts.  The following table presents the performance at December 31, 2024 of 
such loans that have been modified in the past twelve months. 
 

(000s omitted) Current 
Past Due 30 – 

89 Days 

90+ Days Past 
Due and Still 

Accruing Non-Accrual Total 
CRE – owner occupied $1,504 $0 $0 $0 $1,504 
CRE – non-owner occupied 21,133 0 0 0 21,133 
Commercial & industrial 
and other business loans 91 0 0 3,816 3,907 
Consumer mortgage 73 0 0 297 370 
Home equity 0 0 0 23 23 
Total $22,801 $0 $0 $4,136 $26,937 

 
The following table presents the financial effect of the loan modifications presented above to borrowers experiencing financial 
difficulty for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

 

 
There were no loans modified to borrowers with financial difficulty that had a payment default subsequent to modification 
during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses 
 
The following presents by loan segment the activity in the allowance for credit losses during 2024, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 Year Ended December 31, 2024 

(000’s omitted) 
Beginning 

balance 
Charge-

offs Recoveries Provision 
Ending 
balance 

Business lending $26,854   ($3,157)  $425   $13,079   $37,201  
Consumer mortgage  15,333   (384)  43   25   15,017  
Consumer indirect  18,585   (11,607)  6,508   7,409   20,895  
Consumer direct  3,269   (2,744)  958   1,970   3,453  
Home equity  1,628   (164)  13   71   1,548  
Unallocated  1,000   0   0   0   1,000  
Allowance for credit losses – loans  66,669   (18,056)  7,947   22,554   79,114  
Liabilities for off-balance-sheet credit exposures  913   0   0   219   1,132  
Total allowance for credit losses $67,582   ($18,056)  $7,947   $22,773   $80,246  

 
  

 
Year Ended 

December 31, 2024 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 2023 

 

Weighted-Average 
Term Extension 

(Years) 

Weighted Average 
Other Payment Delay 

(Years) 

 Weighted-Average 
Term Extension 

(Years) 
CRE – owner occupied 2.3 0.0  10.0 
CRE – non-owner 
occupied 1.0 0.7  5.0 
Commercial & industrial 
and other business loans 0.3 0.0  0.0 
Consumer mortgage 7.6 0.0  5.2 
Home equity 1.8 0.0  9.9 
Total 1.2 0.7  8.0 
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 Year Ended December 31, 2023 

(000’s omitted) 
Beginning 

balance 
Charge-

offs Recoveries Provision 
Ending 
balance 

Business lending $23,297  ($784)  $523   $3,818  $26,854  
Consumer mortgage 14,343  (669)  48   1,611   15,333  
Consumer indirect 17,852  (9,352)  5,719   4,366   18,585  
Consumer direct 2,973  (2,009)  826   1,479   3,269  
Home equity 1,594  (119)  14   139   1,628  
Unallocated 1,000  0  0 0  1,000  
Allowance for credit losses – loans 61,059  (12,933)  7,130   11,413   66,669  
Liabilities for off-balance-sheet credit exposures 1,123 0  0   (210)  913  
Total allowance for credit losses $62,182  ($12,933) $7,130  $11,203  $67,582  

 
 Year Ended December 31, 2022 

(000’s omitted) 
Beginning 

balance 
Charge-

offs Recoveries 

PCD 
Allowance at 
Acquisition Provision 

Ending 
balance 

Business lending $22,995 ($824) $1,374 $71 ($319) $23,297 
Consumer mortgage 10,017 (313) 62 0 4,577 14,343 
Consumer indirect 11,737 (7,986) 4,756 0 9,345 17,852 
Consumer direct 2,306 (1,252) 772 0 1,147 2,973 
Home equity 1,814 (86) 163 0 (297) 1,594 
Unallocated 1,000 0 0 0 0 1,000 
Allowance for credit losses – loans 49,869 (10,461) 7,127 71 14,453 61,059 
Liabilities for off-balance-sheet credit exposures 803 0 0 0 320 1,123 
Total allowance for credit losses $50,672 ($10,461) $7,127 $71 $14,773 $62,182 

 
The allowance for credit losses increased to $79.1 million at December 31, 2024 compared to $66.7 million at December 31, 
2023, driven by organic loan growth, slight degradation in certain asset quality metrics, and relatively stable economic 
forecasts. 
 
Accrued interest receivable on loans, included in accrued interest and fees receivable in the consolidated statements of 
condition, totaled $33.2 million and $31.2 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is excluded from the 
estimate of credit losses and amortized cost basis of loans. 
 
The Company utilizes the historical loss rate on its loan portfolio as the initial basis for the estimate of credit losses using the 
cumulative loss, vintage loss and line loss methods, which is derived from the Company’s historical loss experience.  To 
address changes and trends in current period credit metrics, qualitative adjustments to historical loss experience were made for 
differences in current loan-specific risk characteristics and to address current period delinquencies, charge-off rates, risk 
ratings, lack of loan level data through an entire economic cycle, changes in loan sizes and underwriting standards as well as 
the addition of acquired loans which were not underwritten by the Company. The Company considered historical losses 
immediately prior, through and following the Great Recession compared to the historical period used for modeling to adjust 
the historical information to account for longer-term expectations for loan credit performance.  Under CECL, the Company is 
required to consider future economic conditions to determine current expected credit losses.  Management selected an eight-
quarter reasonable and supportable forecast period with a four-quarter reversion to the historical mean to use as part of the 
economic forecast and utilizes a two-quarter lag adjustment for economic factors that are not dependent on collateral values, 
and no lag for factors that utilize collateral values.  Management determined that these qualitative adjustments were needed to 
adjust historical information for expected losses and to reflect changes as a result of current conditions. 
 
For qualitative macroeconomic adjustments, the Company uses third party forecasted economic data scenarios utilizing a base 
scenario and two alternative scenarios that are weighted, with forecasts available as of December 31, 2024.  These forecasts 
were factored into the qualitative portion of the calculation of the estimated credit losses and include the impact of a decline in 
residential real estate and vehicle prices as well as inflation.  The scenarios utilized forecast stable unemployment levels, 
modest GDP and real household income growth, offset by some declines in auto, housing and commercial real estate prices. 
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Management developed expected loss estimates considering factors for segments as outlined below:

Business lending – non real estate:  The Company selected projected unemployment and GDP as indicators of forecasted 
losses related to business lending and utilize both factors in an even weight for the calculation.  The Company also 
considered delinquencies, risk rating changes, recent charge-off history and acquired loans as part of the review of 
estimated losses.

nque
s.

  
Business lending – real estate:  The Company selected projected unemployment and commercial real estate values as 
indicators of forecasted losses related to commercial real estate loans and utilize both factors in an even weight for the 
calculation.  For office specific properties, the Company selected projected office specific commercial real estate values 
and vacancy rates and utilize both factors in an even weight for the calculation. The Company also considered the 
factors noted in business lending – non real estate.

ven w
e.

  
Consumer mortgages and home equity: The Company selected projected unemployment and residential real estate values 
as indicators of forecasted losses related to mortgage lending and utilize both factors in an even weight for the 
calculation.  In addition, current delinquencies, charge-offs and acquired loans were considered.

n we
d.

Consumer indirect: The Company selected projected unemployment and vehicle valuation indices as indicators of 
forecasted losses related to indirect lending and utilize both factors in an even weight for the calculation.  In addition, 
current delinquencies, charge-offs and acquired loans were considered.

an e
d.

Consumer direct: The Company selected projected unemployment and inflation-adjusted household income as indicators 
of forecasted losses related to consumer direct lending and utilize both factors in an even weight for the calculation.  In 
addition, current delinquencies, charge-offs and acquired loans were considered.

At December 31, 2024, loans with a carrying amount of approximately $6.72 billion were pledged for the availability to secure 
certain borrowings with the FHLB and FRB. There were $610.0 million of borrowings outstanding under these arrangements 
at December 31, 2024.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount of residential real estate property in the process of foreclosure was $6.3
million and $5.8 million, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not purchase any loans, while the Company sold $58.8 
million and $6.1 million, respectively, of secondary market eligible residential consumer mortgage loans. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, the Company sold $1.3 million of commercial loans. The Company did not sell any commercial 
loans during the year ended December 31, 2023.

NOTE E: PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

Premises and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

(000's omitted) 2024 2023
Land and land improvements $34,589 $33,954
Bank premises 163,587 155,146
Equipment 79,408 71,372
Operating lease right-of-use assets 46,240 40,036
Construction in progress 5,479 7,995
  Premises and equipment, gross 329,303 308,503
Accumulated depreciation (145,544) (135,085)
  Premises and equipment, net $183,759 $173,418
  
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had $1.4 million and $2.7 million, respectively, of premises and equipment 
held for sale, comprised of $0.6 million and $1.3 million, respectively, of land and land improvements and $0.8 million and 
$1.4 million, respectively, of former bank premises, recorded in other assets in the consolidated statements of condition.  
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NOTE F: GOODWILL AND IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization for each type of identifiable intangible asset are as follows: 
 
  December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 

(000's omitted)  

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

Net 
Carrying 
Amount  

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

Net 
Carrying 
Amount 

Amortizing intangible assets:         
  Core deposit intangibles  $77,373 ($72,225) $5,148  $77,373 ($69,214) $8,159 
  Other intangibles  135,833 (92,735) 43,098  125,919 (81,487) 44,432 
 Total amortizing intangibles  $213,206 ($164,960) $48,246  $203,292 ($150,701) $52,591 
 
The estimated aggregate amortization expense of other intangibles for each of the five succeeding fiscal years ended December 31 
is as follows (000’s omitted): 
 

Year Amount 
2025 $12,733 
2026 11,191 
2027 5,370 
2028 4,061 
2029 3,366 

Thereafter 11,525 
Total $48,246 

 
Shown below are the components of the Company’s goodwill at December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022: 
 

(000’s omitted) December 31, 2022 
Additions/ 

Adjustments December 31, 2023 
Additions/ 

Adjustments December 31, 2024 
Goodwill $841,841 $3,555 $845,396 $7,829 $853,225 

 
The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment on an annual basis in accordance with FASB ASC 350, to determine whether 
the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting 
unit is less than its carrying amount, and performs either a qualitative or quantitative assessment, depending on circumstances and 
management judgment. During 2024, the Company performed qualitative goodwill analyses for all of the Company’s operating 
segments. The qualitative analyses include assessments of macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost 
factors, overall financial performance, other relevant entity-specific events and changes in share price, as well as analyzing 
previous quantitative goodwill impairment analyses performed as of October 1, 2023.  The Company determined that the inputs, 
assumptions and conclusions reached remained appropriate for the purpose of the 2024 qualitative analysis, and as it was 
determined that it was more likely than not that no impairment existed, a quantitative analysis for 2024 was not necessary.  
During 2023, the Company performed quantitative goodwill analyses for all of the Company’s operating segments. The inputs for 
the quantitative analyses include determination of the discount rate, forecasted financial performance of the business entity, 
macroeconomic and industry conditions, and other relevant events that affect the fair value of the reporting unit.  Based on the 
Company’s annual impairment analysis of goodwill as of October 1, 2023, it was determined that the fair value of each reporting 
unit was in excess of its respective carrying value, therefore goodwill was not impaired. The Company also performs a quarterly 
analysis to determine if any triggering events have occurred that would require an interim evaluation.  During 2024 and 2023, no 
triggering events or impairment was noted during these interim analyses.   
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Under certain circumstances, the Company sells consumer residential mortgage loans in the secondary market and typically 
retains the right to service the loans sold.  These mortgage servicing rights were immaterial at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The 
total principal balance of loans serviced for others was $538.1 million and $532.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. The total custodial escrow balances maintained in connection with loans serviced for others was $10.5 million and 
$10.2 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
NOTE G: DEPOSITS 
 
Deposits recorded in the consolidated statements of condition consist of the following at December 31: 
 
(000's omitted) 2024 2023 
Noninterest checking  $3,557,219 $3,638,527 
Interest checking  2,943,288  2,900,003  
Savings 2,254,034  2,276,523  
Money market 2,509,715  2,392,605  
Time 2,177,451  1,720,463  
   Total deposits $13,441,707  $12,928,121  

 
Interest on deposits recorded in the consolidated statements of income consists of the following for the years ended December 
31: 
 
(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Interest on interest checking  $15,790  $12,950  $3,340  
Interest on savings 11,315  5,970  671  
Interest on money market 55,894  33,709  4,019  
Interest on time 76,521  32,708  7,014  
   Total interest on deposits $159,520  $85,337  $15,044  

 
The approximate maturities of time deposits at December 31, 2024 are as follows:  
 

(000's omitted) All Accounts 
Accounts $250,000 

or Greater 
2025 $1,863,991 $554,906 
2026 245,744 94,704 
2027 43,998 21,013 
2028 14,600 1,235 
2029 9,108 1,125 

Thereafter 10 0 
  Total $2,177,451 $672,983 

 
NOTE H: BORROWINGS 
 
Outstanding borrowings at December 31 are as follows: 
 
(000's omitted) 2024 2023 
  Securities sold under agreement to repurchase, short term $261,553 $304,595 
  Overnight borrowings 118,000 53,000 
  FHLB and other borrowings, includes discount of $102 and $217, respectively 619,312 407,603 
        Total borrowings $998,865 $765,198 
 
FHLB advances are collateralized by a blanket lien on the Company's residential real estate loan portfolio and various 
investment securities. 
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Securities sold under agreement to repurchase, overnight borrowings and FHLB borrowings at December 31, 2024 have 
contractual maturity dates as follows: 
 

 
 
 
  

 
Interest on borrowings recorded in the consolidated statements of income consists of the following for the years ended December 
31: 
 
(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Interest on overnight borrowings $4,851 $9,349 $6,518 
Interest on Federal Reserve short-term borrowings 2,643 0 0 
Interest on securities sold under agreement to repurchase, short-term 4,584 3,094 998 
Interest on FHLB and other borrowings 22,813 6,285 386 
Interest on subordinated notes payable 0 38 153 
   Total interest on borrowings $34,891 $18,766 $8,055 

 
The weighted-average interest rate on borrowings for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was 3.80% and 2.97%, 
respectively. 
 
The Bank has an unused line of credit of $25.0 million at December 31, 2024.  The Bank has unused borrowing capacity of 
approximately $1.19 billion through collateralized transactions with the FHLB and $2.67 billion through collateralized 
transactions with the Federal Reserve. 
 
During 2024, the Company secured $250.0 million of fixed rate FHLB term borrowings.  The borrowings consist of: three $50.0 
million advances that are putable at the option of the FHLB in June 2025 and mature in June 2027 if the option is not exercised, at 
interest rates ranging from 4.38% to 4.47%; one $100.0 million advance that is putable at the option of the FHLB in August 2025 
and matures in August 2027 if the option is not exercised, at a rate of 3.73%. The Company also secured $300.0 million in short-
term borrowings through the Bank Term Funding Program at the Federal Reserve at a rate of 4.87%, to fund expected net loan 
growth.  These short-term borrowings matured during March 2024 and the Bank Term Funding Program has ceased making new 
loans as of March 11, 2024. 
 
During 2023, the Company secured $400.0 million of fixed rate FHLB term borrowings.  The borrowings consist of a $100.0 
million five year fixed rate advance with a rate of 4.50% and a $200.0 million five year monthly amortizing advance with a rate of 
4.78%, both of which have contractual final maturity dates in August 2028, as well as a $50.0 million five year fixed rate advance 
with a rate of 4.44% and a $50.0 million five year monthly amortizing advance with a rate of 4.65%, both of which have 
contractual final maturity dates in December 2028. 
 
  

(000's omitted, except rate) 
 Carrying 

Value  

Weighted-average 
Rate at          

December 31, 2024 
January 2, 2025 $379,553 2.42% 
January 7, 2025 4,996 2.78% 
January 29, 2025 4,994 2.59% 
February 28, 2025 1,990 1.38% 
October 1, 2025 234 1.50% 
March 1, 2027 1,917 1.55% 
June 7, 2027 50,000 4.47% 
June 14, 2027 50,000 4.38% 
June 21, 2027 50,000 4.40% 
August 23, 2027 100,000 3.73% 
August 10, 2028 254,380 4.67% 
December 7, 2028 91,680 4.54% 
March 1, 2029 454 2.50% 
   Total $990,198 2.21% 



121

NOTE I: INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 is as follows:s:

(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022
Current:

Federal $30,170 $35,346 $39,838
State and other 13,711 7,193 9,899

Deferred:
Federal (2,836) (4,877) 1,163
State and other 3,510 (2,626) 146

Amortization of investments in LIHTC and solar energy partnerships 9,669 1,271 1,187
Provision for income taxes $54,224 $36,307 $52,233

Components of the net deferred tax asset, included in other assets, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

(000's omitted) 2024 2023
Investment securities $158,596 $157,456
Allowance for credit losses 20,206 16,398
Employee benefits 5,788 5,727
Lease liabilities 12,424 10,211
Other, net 5,650 6,023

Deferred tax asset 202,664 195,815

Goodwill and intangibles 39,467 39,366
Lease right-of-use assets 11,737 9,872
Loan origination costs 11,579 10,777
Depreciation 623 383
Mortgage servicing rights 561 306
Pension 24,647 19,181

Deferred tax liability 88,614 79,885
Net deferred tax asset $114,050 $115,930

The Company has determined that no valuation allowance is necessary as it is more likely than not that the gross deferred tax 
assets will be realized through future reversals of existing temporary differences and through future taxable income.

A reconciliation of the differences between the federal statutory income tax rate and the effective tax rate for the years ended 
December 31 is shown in the following table:

2024 2023 2022
Federal statutory income tax rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%
Increase (reduction) in taxes resulting from:

Tax-exempt interest (1.0) (1.7) (1.3)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 4.1 2.2 3.3
Stock-based compensation (0.2) (0.2) (0.3)
Federal tax credits, net of amortization (0.6) (0.5) (1.0)
Other, net (0.4) 0.8 0.0

Effective income tax rate 22.9% 21.6% 21.7%
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The Company has unrecognized tax benefits representing tax positions for which a liability has been established.  A reconciliation 
of the unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31 is shown in the following table: 
 
 (000’s omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year $0 $0 $0 
Changes related to:    
     Increases as a result of tax positions taken during a prior period 3,802 0 0 
     Decreases as a result of settlements with taxing authorities (1,331) 0 0 
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year  $2,471 $0 $0 
 
All of the unrecognized tax benefits would impact the Company’s effective tax rate if recognized.  During the year ended 
December 2024, the Company recognized $1.0 million of accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in income taxes in 
the consolidated statements of income.  It is reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits could change in the 
next twelve months as a result of various examinations. 
 
The Company’s federal and state income tax returns are routinely subject to examination from various governmental taxing 
authorities.  Such examinations may result in challenges to the tax return treatment applied by the Company to specific 
transactions.  Management believes that the assumptions and judgment used to record tax-related assets or liabilities have been 
appropriate.  Future examinations by taxing authorities of the Company’s federal or state tax returns could have a material impact 
on the Company’s results of operations.  The Company’s federal income tax returns for years after 2020 may still be examined by 
the Internal Revenue Service.  The Company’s New York State income tax returns are currently under examination by the New 
York Department of Taxation and Finance in connection with tax years 2018 to 2020.  The Company has not received notice of 
proposed adjustments from these examinations, and it is not possible to estimate if and when those examinations may be 
completed.  New York State income tax returns for years after 2020 may still be examined by the New York Department of 
Taxation and Finance.   
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NOTE J: PENSION AND OTHER BENEFIT PLANS 
 
Pension and post-retirement plans 
The Company provides a qualified defined benefit pension to eligible employees and retirees, other post-retirement health and life 
insurance benefits to certain retirees, an unfunded supplemental pension plan for certain key executives, and an unfunded stock 
balance plan for certain of its nonemployee directors.  Using a measurement date of December 31, the following table shows the 
funded status of the Company's plans reconciled with amounts reported in the Company's consolidated statements of condition: 
 
  Pension Benefits  Post-retirement Benefits 
(000's omitted)  2024 2023  2024 2023 
Change in benefit obligation:       
  Benefit obligation at the beginning of year  $158,280 $151,361  $1,714 $1,656 
  Service cost  4,693 4,433  0 0 
  Interest cost  7,593 7,561  86 92 
  Deferred actuarial (gain)/loss   (10,542) 5,530  (30) 165 
  Benefits paid  (18,619) (10,605)  (182) (199) 
Benefit obligation at end of year  141,405 158,280  1,588 1,714 
Change in plan assets:       
  Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  267,462 244,332  0 0 
  Actual return of plan assets  18,839 28,746  0 0 
  Employer contributions  5,342 4,989  182 199 
  Benefits paid  (18,619) (10,605)  (182) (199) 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  273,024 267,462  0 0 
Over/(Under) funded status at year end  $131,619 $109,182  ($1,588) ($1,714) 

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of condition were: 
   Other assets  $145,264 $123,263  $0 $0 
   Other liabilities  (13,645) (14,081)  (1,588) (1,714) 
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss/(income) (“AOCI”) were: 
   Net loss  $21,866 $33,977  $341 $398 
   Net prior service cost (credit)  1,472 2,292  (370) (549) 
   Pre-tax AOCI  23,338 36,269  (29) (151) 
   Taxes  (5,727) (8,955)  11 41 
    AOCI at year end  $17,611 $27,314  ($18) ($110) 
 
The benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan was $127.8 million and $144.2 million as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively, and the fair value of plan assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $273.0 million and $267.5 million, 
respectively.   
 
The Company has unfunded supplemental pension plans for certain key active and retired executives.  The projected benefit 
obligation for the unfunded supplemental pension plan for certain key executives was $12.8 million and $13.6 million for 2024 
and 2023, respectively.  The Company also has an unfunded stock balance plan for certain of its nonemployee directors.  The 
projected benefit obligation for the unfunded stock balance plan was immaterial for 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
The Company has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for certain employees (“Restoration Plan”) whose benefits under 
tax-qualified retirement plans are restricted by the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(17) limitation on compensation.  The 
projected benefit obligation for the unfunded Restoration Plan was $0.8 million for 2024 and $0.4 million for 2023.   
 
Effective December 31, 2009, the Company terminated its post-retirement medical program for current and future employees.  
Remaining plan participants will include only existing retirees as of December 31, 2010.  This change was accounted for as a 
negative plan amendment and a $3.5 million, net of income taxes, benefit for prior service was recognized in AOCI in 2009.  This 
negative plan amendment is being amortized over the expected benefit utilization period of remaining plan participants. 
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Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, for the year ended December 31, are as follows:   
 
  Pension Benefits  Post-retirement Benefits 
(000's omitted)  2024 2023  2024 2023 
Prior service (credit)/cost  ($615) ($620)  $134 $135 
Net (gain) loss  (9,087) (3,720)  (43) 108 
     Total  ($9,702) ($4,340)  $91 $243 
 
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations as of December 31 are as follows: 
 
  Pension Benefits  Post-retirement Benefits 
  2024 2023  2024 2023 
Discount rate  5.90% 5.20%  5.90% 5.20% 
Expected return on plan assets  7.00% 7.00%  N/A N/A 
Rate of compensation increase  3.50% 3.50% for 2024+  N/A N/A 
Interest crediting rates 

 
6.00% while employed, 
4.04% after termination 

6.00% while employed, 
4.47% after termination  

N/A N/A 

 
The net periodic benefit cost as of December 31 is as follows: 
 
  Pension Benefits  Post-retirement Benefits 
(000's omitted)  2024 2023 2022  2024 2023 2022 
Service cost  $4,693 $4,433 $4,959  $0 $0 $0 
Interest cost  7,593 7,561 5,334  86 92 68 
Expected return on plan assets  (18,401) (16,079) (19,025)  0 0 0 
Plan amendment  0 0 (556)  0 0 0 
Amortization of unrecognized net loss (gain)  1,131 (2,220) 842  27 22 23 
Amortization of prior service cost   820 820 615  (179) (179) (179) 
Net periodic benefit  ($4,164) ($5,485) ($7,831)  ($66) ($65) ($88) 
 
Prior service costs in which all or almost all of the plan’s participants are fully eligible for benefits under the plan are amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the expected future working years of all active plan participants.  Unrecognized gains or losses are 
amortized using the “corridor approach”, which is the minimum amortization required.  Under the corridor approach, the net gain 
or loss in excess of 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of the assets is 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected future working years of all active plan participants. 
 
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31 are as 
follows: 
 
  Pension Benefits  Post-retirement Benefits 
  2024 2023 2022  2024 2023 2022 
Discount rate  5.20% 5.40% 3.10%  5.20% 5.40% 3.10% 
Expected return on plan assets  7.00% 6.70% 6.70%  N/A N/A N/A 
Rate of compensation 
increase  

4.50% for 2023, 
3.50% for 2024+ 

4.50% for 2023, 
3.50% for 2024+ 

4.00% for 2022, 
3.50% for 2023+  

N/A N/A N/A 

Interest crediting rates 

 

6.00% while 
employed, 

4.47% after 
termination 

6.00% while 
employed, 

3.55% after 
termination 

6.00% while 
employed, 

1.94% after 
termination  

N/A N/A N/A 
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The amount of benefit payments that are expected to be paid over the next ten years are as follows: 
 

(000's omitted) Pension Benefits 
Post-retirement 

Benefits 
2025 $14,218 $189 
2026 13,103 166 
2027 13,031 162 
2028 12,900 158 
2029 13,636 154 

2030-2034 64,476 675 
 
The payments reflect future service and are based on various assumptions including retirement age and form of payment (lump-
sum versus annuity).  Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
 
The assumed discount rate is used to reflect the time value of future benefit obligations.  The discount rate was determined based 
upon the yield on high-quality fixed income investments expected to be available during the period to maturity of the pension 
benefits.  This rate is sensitive to changes in interest rates.  A decrease in the discount rate would increase the Company’s 
obligation and future expense while an increase would have the opposite effect.  The expected long-term rate of return was 
estimated by taking into consideration asset allocation, long-term capital market assumptions, reviewing historical returns on the 
type of assets held and current economic factors.  The mortality tables used to determine future benefit obligations under the plan 
as of December 31, 2024 were the sex-distinct Pri-2012 Mortality Tables for employees, healthy annuitants and contingent 
survivors, adjusted for mortality improvements using Scale MP-2021 mortality improvement scale on a generational basis.  The 
appropriateness of the assumptions are reviewed annually. 
 
Plan Assets  
The investment objective for the defined benefit pension plan is to achieve an average annual total return over a five-year period 
equal to the assumed rate of return used in the actuarial calculations.  At a minimum performance level, the portfolio should earn 
the return obtainable on high quality intermediate-term bonds.  The Company’s perspective regarding portfolio assets combines 
both preservation of capital and moderate risk-taking.   Asset allocation favors fixed income securities, with a target allocation of 
approximately 30% equity securities, 50% fixed income securities, 15% alternative investments, and 5% money market funds.  
Due to the volatility in the market, the target allocation is not always desirable and asset allocations will fluctuate between 
acceptable ranges.  Prohibited transactions include purchase of securities on margin, uncovered call options, and short sale 
transactions. 
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The fair values of the Company’s defined benefit pension plan assets at December 31, 2024 by asset category are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
Asset category (000’s omitted) 

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets 

Level 1 

Significant 
Observable 

Inputs 
 Level 2 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
 Level 3 

 
 
 

Total 
     
Cash equivalents $1,526 $0 $0 $1,526 
Equity securities:     
     U.S. large-cap 62,289 0 0 62,289 
     U.S. mid/small cap 17,048 0 0 17,048 
     International  34,074 0 0 34,074 
     Other  1,187 0 0 1,187 
 114,598 0 0 114,598 

Fixed income securities:     
     Government securities 59,293 23,511 0 82,804 
     Investment grade bonds 0 61,578 0 61,578 
 59,293 85,089 0 144,382 

Other investments (a) 0 2,722 1,517 4,239 
Alternative investments (c) 0 0 0 6,431 
     
Total (b) $175,417 $87,811 $1,517 $271,176 

 
The fair values of the Company’s defined benefit pension plan assets at December 31, 2023 by asset category are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
Asset category (000’s omitted) 

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets 

Level 1 

Significant 
Observable 

Inputs 
 Level 2 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
 Level 3 

 
 
 

Total 
     
Cash equivalents $13,441 $0 $0 $13,441 
Equity securities:     
     U.S. large-cap 66,709 0 0 66,709 
     U.S. mid/small cap 23,127 0 0 23,127 
     CBU common stock 5,691 0 0 5,691 
     International  50,270 0 0 50,270 
     Other  1,966 0 0 1,966 
 147,763 0 0 147,763 

Fixed income securities:     
     Government securities 59,107 15,491 0 74,598 
     Investment grade bonds 0 17,968 0 17,968 
 59,107 33,459 0 92,566 
     
Other investments (a) 12,759 0 0 12,759 
     
Total (b) $233,070 33,459 $0 $266,529 

 
(a) This category is comprised of exchange-traded funds and mutual funds holding non-traditional investment classes 

including private equity funds and alternative exchange funds.  
(b) Excludes dividends and interest receivable totaling $1.6 million and $0.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 

respectively. 
(c) In accordance with fair value measurement guidance, certain investments that are measured at fair value using net 

asset value per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.  The 
fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to total 
investments. 
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The valuation techniques used to measure fair value for the items in the table above are as follows: 
 

 Cash equivalents - Money market funds, which are managed portfolios, including commercial paper and other fixed 
income securities issued by U.S. and foreign corporations, asset-backed commercial paper, U.S. government securities, 
obligations of foreign governments and U.S. and foreign banks, which are valued at the closing price reported on the 
market on which the underlying securities are traded.  

 
 Equity securities and other investments – Mutual funds, equity securities and common stock of the Company which are 

valued at the quoted market price of shares held at year-end.  
 

 Fixed income securities - U.S. Treasuries, municipal bonds and notes, government sponsored entities, and corporate debt 
valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual securities are traded or for municipal 
bonds and notes based on quoted prices for similar assets in the active market. 
 

 Alternative investments – Equity securities valued at the net asset value (NAV) or equivalent.  The NAV, as provided by 
the trustee, is used as a practical expedient to estimate fair value.  The NAV is generally based on the fair value of the 
underlying investments held by the alternative investment.  This practical expedient is not used when it is determined to 
be probable that the alternative investment will sell for an amount different than the reported NAV.  

 
The following table sets forth additional disclosures of the Plan’s investments whose fair value is estimated using net asset value 
per share (or its equivalent) as of December 31, 2024: 
 

Investment (000’s omitted) Fair Value 
Unfunded 

Commitment 
Redemption 
Frequency 

Redemption Notice 
Period 

Alternative investments $6,431 $0 Semiannual Announced in advance 
 
The Company makes contributions to its funded qualified pension plan as required by government regulation or as deemed 
appropriate by management after considering the fair value of plan assets, expected return on such assets, and the value of the 
accumulated benefit obligation.  The Company made a $4.4 million and $4.3 million contribution to its defined benefit pension 
plan in 2024 and 2023, respectively.  The Company funds the payment of benefit obligations for the supplemental pension and 
post-retirement plans because such plans do not hold assets for investment.  
 
401(k) Employee Stock Ownership Plan 
 
The Company has a 401(k) Employee Stock Ownership Plan in which employees can contribute from 1% to 90% of eligible 
compensation, with the first 3% being eligible for a 100% matching contribution in the form of Company common stock and the 
next 3% being eligible for a 50% matching contributions in the form of Company common stock.  The expense recognized under 
this plan for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $8.2 million, $7.7 million, and $7.1 million, respectively.  
Effective January 1, 2010, the defined benefit pension plan was modified to a new plan design that includes an interest credit 
contribution to be made to the 401(k) plan.  The expense recognized for this interest credit contribution for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was $2.4 million, $1.9 million, and $1.4 million, respectively.   
 
Effective May 15, 2024, the Plan was amended to change the name from Community Bank System, Inc. 401(k) Employee Stock 
Ownership Plan to Community Financial System, Inc. 401(k) Employee Stock Ownership Plan. 
 
Other Deferred Compensation Arrangements 
 
In addition to the supplemental pension plans for certain executives, the Company has nonqualified deferred compensation 
arrangements for several former directors, officers and key employees.  All benefits provided under these plans are unfunded and 
payments to plan participants are made by the Company.  At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has recorded a liability 
of $3.4 million and $3.8 million, respectively.  The expense recognized under these plans for the years ended December 31, 2024, 
2023, and 2022 was approximately $0.1 million, $0.2 million, and $0.2 million, respectively. 
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Deferred Compensation Plans for Directors 
 
Directors of the Company may defer all or a portion of their director fees under the Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors.  
Under this plan, there is a separate account for each participating director which is credited with the amount of shares that could 
have been purchased with the director’s fees as well as any dividends on such shares.  On the distribution date, the director will 
receive common stock equal to the accumulated share balance in their account.  As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were 
140,071 and 138,787 shares credited to the participants’ accounts, for which a liability of $6.0 million and $5.8 million was 
accrued, respectively.  The expense recognized under the plan for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, was $0.2 
million, $0.2 million, and $0.2 million, respectively. 
 
The Company acquired deferred compensation plans for certain non-employee directors and trustees of Merchants Bancshares, 
Inc. (“Merchants”).  Under the terms of these acquired deferred compensation plans, participating directors could elect to have all, 
or a specified percentage, of their Merchants director’s fees for a given year paid in the form of cash or deferred in the form of 
restricted shares of Merchants’ common stock.  Directors who elected to have their compensation deferred were credited with a 
number of shares of Merchants’ common stock equal in value to the amount of fees deferred.  These shares were converted to 
shares of Company stock in connection with the acquisition and are held in a rabbi trust.  The shares held in the rabbi trust are 
considered outstanding for purposes of computing earnings per share.  The participating director may not sell, transfer or 
otherwise dispose of these shares prior to distribution.  With respect to shares of common stock issued or otherwise transferred to 
a participating director, the participating director has the right to receive dividends or other distributions thereon. 
 
NOTE K: STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 
 
The Company has a long-term incentive program for directors, officers and employees.  Under this program, the Company 
initially authorized four million shares of Company common stock for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock 
options, restricted stock awards, and retroactive stock appreciation rights.  The long-term incentive program was amended 
effective May 25, 2011, May 14, 2014 and May 17, 2017 to authorize an additional 900,000 shares, 1,000,000 shares and 
1,000,000 shares, respectively, for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock awards, and 
retroactive stock appreciation rights.  Effective May 18, 2022, a new plan was adopted by the Company’s shareholders that 
authorized 600,000 shares of Company common stock for the same purpose.  As of December 31, 2024, the Company has 
authorization to grant up to approximately 1.2 million additional shares of Company common stock for these instruments.   
 
Nonqualified Stock Options 
 
The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-qualified stock options of $2.7 million, $3.2 million 
and $2.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  A related income tax benefit was 
recognized of $0.7 million, $0.8 million and $0.7 million for the 2024, 2023 and 2022 years, respectively.   
 
The nonqualified (offset) stock options in the Company’s Director’s Stock Balance Plan vest and become exercisable 
immediately and expire one year after the date the director retires or two years in the event of death.  The remaining options have 
a ten-year term, and vest and become exercisable on a grant-by-grant basis, ranging from immediate vesting to ratably over a five-
year period. 
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Activity in this long-term incentive program is as follows: 
 
 Stock Options 

  Outstanding 

 Weighted-
average Exercise 
Price of Shares 

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,485,022 $53.45 
Granted 252,974 54.06 
Exercised  (71,559) 34.27 
Forfeited (24,583) 60.84 
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 1,641,854 54.27 
Granted 315,804 44.27 
Exercised  (260,642) 41.45 
Forfeited (53,089) 56.41 
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 1,643,927 54.31 
Exercisable at December 31, 2024 1,047,708 $54.98 
 
The following table summarizes the information about stock options outstanding under the Company’s stock option plan at 
December 31, 2024: 
  

 Options outstanding  Options exercisable 

 
Range of Exercise 

Price 
 

Shares 

Weighted-
average 
Exercise 

Price 

Weighted- 
average 

Remaining 
Life (years)  

 
Shares 

Weighted-
average 
Exercise 

Price 

$0.00 – $26.00 30,002 $23.04 2.00  30,002 $23.04 

$26.01 – $36.00 51,207 35.36 0.21  51,207 35.36 

$36.01 – $46.00 452,106 42.19 6.51  159,712 38.37 

$46.01 – $56.00 542,707 53.73 5.90  354,494 53.73 

$56.01 – $81.00 567,905 67.88 5.12  452,293 66.15 
TOTAL 1,643,927 $54.31 5.55  1,047,708 $54.98 

 
The weighted-average remaining contractual term of outstanding and exercisable stock options at December 31, 2024 is 5.55 
years and 4.01 years, respectively.  The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding and exercisable stock options at December 31, 
2024 both total $9.9 million. 
 
Management estimated the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.  This model was 
originally developed to estimate the fair value of exchange-traded equity options, which (unlike employee stock options) have no 
vesting period or transferability restrictions.  As a result, the Black-Scholes model is not necessarily a precise indicator of the 
value of an option, but it is commonly used for this purpose.  The Black-Scholes model requires several assumptions, which 
management developed based on historical trends and current market observations.  Expected volatilities are based on historical 
volatilities of the Company’s common stock.  The Company uses historical data to estimate option exercise and post-vesting 
termination behavior.  The expected term of options granted is based on historical data and represents the period of time that 
options granted are expected to be outstanding, which takes into account that the options are not transferable. The risk-free 
interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. 
 

 2024 2023 2022 
Weighted-average Fair Value of Options Granted $12.32 $14.93 $17.86 
Assumptions:    
     Weighted-average expected life (in years) 6.50 6.50 6.50 
     Future dividend yield 2.77% 2.48% 2.41% 
     Share price volatility 29.95% 29.72% 29.88% 
     Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 4.31% 3.74% 2.16% 
 
Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested stock options totaled $6.5 million at December 31, 2024.  
The weighted-average period over which this unrecognized expense would be recognized is 3.4 years.  The total fair value of 
stock options vested during 2024, 2023, and 2022 were $3.4 million, $2.7 million and $2.7 million, respectively. 
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During the 12 months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, proceeds from stock option exercises totaled $10.0 million and $2.6 
million, respectively, and the related tax benefits from exercise were approximately $0.6 million for each year.   During the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, approximately 0.2 million and 0.07 million shares, respectively, were issued 
in connection with stock option exercises each year.  The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2024, 2023 and 2022 
were $4.9 million, $1.7 million and $2.0 million, respectively. 
 
Restricted Stock Awards 
 
Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period of the awards based on the fair value of the Company’s stock at 
grant date.  The Company recognized approximately $5.6 million, $4.5 million and $3.8 million of stock-based compensation 
expense related to restricted stock vesting for 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.   
 
The fair value of restricted stock awards is based on the end-of-day share price of the Company’s stock on the grant date.  
Restricted stock awards granted prior to 2022 vest ratably over a five-year period and restricted stock awards granted in 2022 and 
thereafter vest ratably over a three-year period.  During the forfeiture period, shares that have not been forfeited have the right to 
vote and the right to receive dividends.   
 
A summary of the status of the Company’s unvested restricted stock awards as of December 31, 2024, and changes during the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, is presented below: 
 

 
Restricted 

Shares 
Weighted-average 

grant date fair value 
Unvested at December 31, 2022 133,520 $67.89 

Awards 70,338 54.03 
Forfeitures (2,648) 60.56 
Vestings (51,647) 65.55 

Unvested at December 31, 2023 149,563 62.31 
Awards 88,929 44.43 
Forfeitures (14,457) 61.68 
Vestings (78,279) 62.41 

Unvested at December 31, 2024 145,756 $51.43 
 
Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock totaled $4.5 million at December 31, 2024, 
which will be recognized as expense over the next three or five years according to the awards vesting schedule.  The weighted-
average period over which this unrecognized expense would be recognized is 1.7 years.  The total fair value of restricted stock 
vested during 2024, 2023, and 2022 were $4.9 million, $3.4 million and $3.1 million, respectively. 
 
Performance Awards 
 
The long-term incentive program provides for the issuance of shares of performance award restricted stock to officers and key 
employees.  There are two sets of performance criteria based on the individual award; (1) based on the Company’s cumulative 
three year Relative Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) ranking compared to the constituents of the KBW Regional Bank Index, 
and continued employment weighted at 50%; and (2) three year Average Relative Return on Average Core Tangible Common 
Equity (“Core ROATCE”) Relative Total Performance Goal weighted at 50%.  Compensation expense is recognized over the 
vesting period of the awards based on the fair value of the stock at issue date.  Management estimated the fair value of the 
stock granted under performance criteria (1) using the Monte Carlo Simulation and stock granted under performance criteria 
(2) using the grant date fair value.  Performance shares cliff vest based on performance results for a three year period. 
Compensation cost is estimated based on the probability that the performance conditions will be achieved.  As of December 
31, 2024, the compensation cost is estimated at 51% payout under the terms of the plan for the different performance sets.  At 
each reporting period, the Company will reassess the likelihood of achieving the performance criteria and will adjust 
compensation expense as needed.  The shares have voting rights.  Upon vesting of the performance shares, any dividends 
declared during the vesting period will be paid based on the shares vested.  Total shares issuable under the plan are 108,874 at 
December 31, 2024 with 60,358 shares issued in 2024 and 52,588 shares issued in 2023. 
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Performance 
Restricted 

Shares 
Weighted-average 

grant date fair value 
Unvested at December 31, 2022 31,999 $34.93 

Awards 52,588 25.36 
Forfeitures (2,874) 34.93 
Vestings (575) 34.93 

Unvested at December 31, 2023 81,138 27.15 
Awards 60,358 21.32 
Forfeitures (25,139) 29.54 
Vestings (7,483) 31.31 

Unvested at December 31, 2024 108,874 $25.02 
 
Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested performance restricted stock totaled $1.7 million at 
December 31, 2024, which will be recognized as expense over the next three years.  The weighted-average period over which this 
unrecognized expense would be recognized is 1.9 years.  The total fair value of performance restricted stock vested during 2024 
was $0.2 million, and was immaterial and $0.02 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
NOTE L: EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
The two class method is used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share. Under the two class method, earnings 
available to common shareholders for the period are allocated between common shareholders and participating securities 
according to dividends declared and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The Company has determined that all of its 
outstanding non-vested stock awards are participating securities as of December 31, 2024. 
 
Basic earnings per share are computed based on the weighted-average of the common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted 
earnings per share are based on the weighted-average of the shares outstanding and the assumed exercise of stock options during 
the year. The dilutive effect of options is calculated using the treasury stock method of accounting.  The treasury stock method 
determines the number of common shares that would be outstanding if all the dilutive options were exercised and the proceeds 
were used to repurchase common shares in the open market at the average market price for the applicable time period. At 
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 weighted-average anti-dilutive stock options outstanding were immaterial, which were not 
included in the computation below.   
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The following is a reconciliation of basic to diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. 
 
(000's omitted, except per share data) 2024 2023 2022 
Net income $182,481 $131,924 $188,081 
Income attributable to unvested stock-based compensation awards (740) (447) (533) 
Income available to common shareholders  $181,741 $131,477 $187,548 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic 52,755 53,601 53,896 

Basic earnings per share $3.44 $2.45 $3.48 

Net income $182,481 $131,924 $188,081 
Income attributable to unvested stock-based compensation awards (740) (447) (533) 
Income available to common shareholders  $181,741 $131,477 $187,548 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic 52,755 53,601 53,896 
Assumed exercise of stock options 128 124 312 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding – diluted  52,883 53,725 54,208 

Diluted earnings per share $3.44 $2.45 $3.46 
Cash dividends declared per share $1.82 $1.78 $1.74 
 
Stock Repurchase Program 
 
At its December 2024 meeting, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) approved a new stock repurchase program 
authorizing the repurchase, at the discretion of senior management, of up to 2,628,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, in 
accordance with securities and banking laws and regulations, during the twelve-month period starting January 1, 2025.  Any 
repurchased shares will be used for general corporate purposes, including those related to stock plan activities.  The timing and 
extent of repurchases will depend on market conditions and other corporate considerations as determined at the Company’s 
discretion. 
 
At its December 2023 meeting, the Board approved a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase, at the discretion of 
senior management, of up to 2,697,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, in accordance with securities and banking laws 
and regulations, during the twelve-month period starting January 1, 2024.  There were 1,000,000 shares of treasury stock 
purchases made under this authorization during 2024 with an average price paid per share of $45.84.  
 
At its December 2022 meeting, the Board approved a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase, at the discretion of 
senior management, of up to 2,697,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, in accordance with securities and banking laws 
and regulations, during the twelve-month period starting January 1, 2023.  There were 607,161 shares of treasury stock purchases 
made under this authorization during 2023 with an average price paid per share of $49.44.  
 
At its December 2021 meeting, the Board approved a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase, at the discretion of 
senior management, of up to 2,697,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, in accordance with securities and banking laws 
and regulations, during the twelve-month period starting January 1, 2022.  There were 250,000 shares of treasury stock purchases 
made under this authorization in 2022, with an average price paid per share of $65.51. 
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NOTE M: COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND RESTRICTIONS 
 
The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing 
needs of its customers.  These financial instruments consist primarily of commitments to extend credit and standby letters of 
credit.  Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to customers, generally having fixed expiration dates or other 
termination clauses that may require payment of a fee.  These commitments consist principally of unused commercial and 
consumer credit lines.  Standby letters of credit generally are contingent upon the failure of the customer to perform according to 
the terms of an underlying contract with a third party.  The credit risks associated with commitments to extend credit and standby 
letters of credit are essentially the same as that involved with extending loans to customers and are subject to the Company’s 
normal credit policies.  Collateral may be obtained based on management’s assessment of the customer’s creditworthiness.  The 
fair value of the standby letters of credit is immaterial for disclosure.  
 
The contract amounts of commitments and contingencies are as follows at December 31: 
 
(000's omitted) 2024 2023 
Commitments to extend credit $1,635,509 $1,494,549 
Standby letters of credit 80,245 61,352 
     Total  $1,715,754 $1,555,901 
 
On November 16, 2023, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) issued a final rulemaking that implemented a 
special assessment to recover the uninsured deposit losses from bank failures that occurred during 2023.  The final rule 
anticipated collecting the special assessment over eight quarterly assessment periods beginning in 2024 at an annual rate of 
approximately 13.4 basis points of uninsured deposits that exceeded $5.0 billion as of December 31, 2022.  The FDIC has 
indicated that the amount of the special assessment and number of quarterly assessment periods are subject to adjustment as 
their loss estimates change.  The Company accrued $1.5 million of expense related to the FDIC special assessment in 2023.  
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company adjusted its accrual for the FDIC special assessment for a net 
decrease of $0.2 million.  The adjustments were made based on the receipt of new information from the FDIC that indicated an 
update to the special assessment amount and an increase in the number of quarterly assessment periods from eight to ten.  
Total FDIC insurance expense was $9.0 million and $9.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
 
During 2024, CBNA entered into agreements to invest a total of $10.0 million in investment tax credits generated by a solar 
energy producing company.  The Company has elected to account for the investment using the proportional amortization 
method.  At December 31, 2024, the balance of the Company’s investment in these tax credits was $1.4 million and the 
unfunded commitment related to the solar energy tax credit investments was $1.3 million. These amounts were reflected in 
other assets and accrued interest and other liabilities, respectively, in the consolidated statements of condition.  During the year 
ended December 31, 2024, the Company funded $8.6 million of the total commitment and the Company expects to fund the 
remaining commitment by December 31, 2025 as capital calls are made.  During the year ended December 31, 2024, the 
Company recognized $8.9 million of federal tax credits and $8.4 million of amortization of income tax credit investments in 
income taxes in the consolidated statements of income related to solar energy tax credits. 
 
Legal Contingencies 
 
On at least a quarterly basis, the Company assesses its liabilities and contingencies in connection with pending or threatened legal 
proceedings or other matters in which claims for monetary damages are asserted.  For those matters where it is probable that the 
Company will incur losses and the amounts of the losses are reasonably estimable, the Company records an expense and 
corresponding liability in its consolidated financial statements.  To the extent such matters could result in exposure in excess of 
that liability, the amount of such excess is not currently estimable. The range of losses that are reasonably possible for matters 
where an exposure is not currently estimable or considered probable is not believed to be material in the aggregate.  This is based 
on information currently available to the Company and involves elements of judgment and significant uncertainties. 
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The Company recorded a loss contingency in 2023 related to the settlement, following mediation, of a threatened collective and 
class action asserted against CBNA on behalf of certain nonexempt branch employees, regarding unpaid wages under the Fair 
Labor Standards Act and applicable state labor laws.  On February 5, 2024, following a mediation held on February 1, 2024, the 
Company agreed to a settlement in the amount of $5.8 million.  A settlement agreement was executed by the parties and the terms 
of the settlement were approved by the Court.  The Company recorded a $5.8 million litigation accrual at December 31, 2023.  
During the second quarter of 2024, the Company paid $5.8 million to the qualified settlement fund and the claims administrator 
mailed a notice and settlement check to class members who were eligible to participate in the settlement.  Funds in the amount of 
$0.1 million that remained in the settlement fund after the deadline to negotiate the settlement checks were returned to CBNA 
during the fourth quarter of 2024. 
 
NOTE N: LEASES 
 
The Company has operating and finance leases for certain offices and certain equipment.  These leases have remaining terms 
that range from less than one year to 15 years.  Options to extend the leases range from a single extension option of one year to 
multiple extension options for up to 40 years. Certain agreements include an option to terminate the lease within one year. 
 
The components of lease expense are as follows: 
 

(000’s omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Operating lease cost $10,536 $9,358 $8,568 
Finance lease cost:    
    Amortization of right-of-use assets 283 0 0 
    Interest on lease liabilities 215 0 0 
Variable lease cost 80 68 108 
Short-term lease cost (1) 99 64 65 
Total lease cost $11,213 $9,490 $8,741 

 

(1) Short-term lease cost includes the cost of leases with terms of twelve months or less, excluding leases with terms of one month or less. 
 
Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows: 
 

(000’s omitted) 2024 2023 
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:   
    Operating cash outflows for operating leases $8,756 $8,584 
    Operating cash outflows for finance leases 86 0 
    Financing cash outflows for finance leases 71 0 
   
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:   
    Operating leases 16,043 19,301 
    Finance leases 8,608 0 
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases is as follows: 
 

(000’s omitted, except lease term and discount rate) 2024 2023 
Operating leases   
    Operating lease right-of-use assets $46,240 $40,036 
    Operating lease liabilities 48,947 41,409 
   
Finance leases   
    Finance lease right-of-use assets 8,325 0 
    Finance lease liabilities 8,667 0 
       
Weighted average remaining lease term   
    Operating leases 7.4 years 6.5 years 
    Finance leases 14.4 years 0.0 years 
   
Weighted average discount rate   
    Operating leases 4.23% 3.79% 
    Finance leases 5.01% 0.00% 

 
Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 are as follows: 
 

(000’s omitted) Operating Leases Finance Leases 
2025 $10,808 $775 
2026 9,520 782 
2027 7,338 789 
2028 5,892 796 
2029 4,522 809 
Thereafter 19,951 8,370 
Total lease payments 58,031 12,321 
Less imputed interest (9,084) (3,654) 
Total $48,947 $8,667 

 
Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 are as follows: 
 

(000’s omitted) Operating Leases 
2024 $9,661 
2025 8,590 
2026 7,379 
2027 5,264 
2028 3,854 
Thereafter 13,048 
Total lease payments 47,796 
Less imputed interest (6,387) 
Total $41,409 

 
Included in the Company’s operating leases are related party leases where BPAS-APS and OneGroup, subsidiaries of the 
Company, lease office space from 706 North Clinton, LLC (“706 North Clinton”), an entity the Company holds a 50% 
membership interest in through its subsidiary OPFC II.  As of December 31, 2024, the operating lease right-of-use assets and 
operating lease liabilities associated with these related party leases total $2.6 million and $2.7 million, respectively.  As of 
December 31, 2023, the operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities associated with these related party 
leases total $3.1 million and $3.2 million, respectively.  As of December 31, 2024, the weighted average remaining lease term 
and weighted average discount rate for the Company’s related party leases are 5.2 years and 3.69%, respectively.  As of 
December 31, 2023, the weighted average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate for the Company’s related 
party leases are 6.1 years and 3.69%, respectively. 
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The maturities of the Company’s related party lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 are as follows: 
 

(000’s omitted) 706 North Clinton, LLC 
2025 $605 
2026 615 
2027 506 
2028 506 
2029 506 
Thereafter 211 
Total lease payments 2,949 
Less imputed interest (261) 
Total $2,688 

 
The maturities of the Company’s related party lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 are as follows: 
 

(000’s omitted) 706 North Clinton, LLC 
2024 $591 
2025 605 
2026 615 
2027 506 
2028 506 
Thereafter 715 
Total lease payments 3,538 
Less imputed interest (368) 
Total $3,170 

 
As of December 31, 2024, the Company has three additional operating leases for office space associated with new bank branches 
that are signed but have not yet commenced with lease terms of 10 years.  The Company will be involved to varying degrees in 
the construction and design of the space and anticipates that the operating leases will commence during 2025.  Upon 
commencement, lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately $2.1 million will be recorded in the consolidated 
statements of condition. 
 
NOTE O: REGULATORY MATTERS 
 
The Company’s ability to pay dividends to its shareholders is largely dependent on the Bank’s ability to pay dividends to the 
Company.  In addition to the capital requirements discussed below, the circumstances under which the Bank may pay dividends 
are limited by federal statutes, regulations, and policies.  For example, as a national bank, the Bank must obtain the approval of 
the OCC for payments of dividends if the total of all dividends declared in any calendar year would exceed the total of the Bank’s 
net profits, as defined by applicable regulations, for that year, combined with its retained net profits for the preceding two years.  
Furthermore, the Bank may not pay a dividend in an amount greater than its undivided profits then on hand after deducting its 
losses and bad debts, as defined by applicable regulations.  At December 31, 2024, the Bank had approximately $195.7 million in 
undivided profits legally available for the payment of dividends. 
 
In addition, the Board of Governors of the FRB and the OCC are authorized to determine under certain circumstances that the 
payment of dividends would be an unsafe or unsound practice and to prohibit payment of such dividends.  The FRB has 
indicated that banking organizations should generally pay dividends only out of current operating earnings.  The OCC may 
take enforcement actions for a variety of supervisory concerns, including violations of laws, rules or regulations and unsafe 
and unsound practices.  As a result, the OCC could also establish individual minimum capital ratios (“IMCR”) for the Bank 
that are higher than the regulatory minimums.  This would impair the Bank’s ability to pay dividends to the Company. 
 
There are also statutory limits on the transfer of funds to the Company by its banking subsidiary, whether in the form of loans 
or other extensions of credit, investments or assets purchases.  Such transfer by the Bank to the Company generally is limited 
in amount to 10% of the Bank’s capital and surplus, or 20% in the aggregate.  Furthermore, such loans and extensions of credit 
are required to be collateralized in specific amounts. 
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The Company and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking agencies.  
Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by 
regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company’s financial statements.  Under capital adequacy 
guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, the Company and the Bank must meet specific capital 
guidelines that involve quantitative measures of the Company’s and the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet 
items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices.  The Company’s and the Bank's capital amounts and classification are 
also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors.  Management 
believes, as of December 31, 2024, that the Company and Bank meet all applicable capital adequacy requirements. 
 
The Company and the Bank are required to maintain a “capital conservation buffer,” composed entirely of common equity Tier 1 
capital, in addition to minimum risk-based capital ratios.  The required capital conservation buffer is 2.50% for both 2024 and 
2023.  Therefore, to satisfy both the minimum risk-based capital ratios and the capital conservation buffer in 2024 and 2023, the 
Company and the Bank must maintain: (i) Common equity Tier 1 capital to total risk-weighted assets of at least 7.0%, (ii) Tier 1 
capital to total risk-weighted assets of at least 8.5%, and (iii) Total capital (Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capital) to total risk-weighted 
assets of at least 10.5%.  As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the amounts, ratios and requirements for the Company are presented 
below.  As of December 31, 2024, the OCC categorized the Company and Bank as “well capitalized” under the regulatory 
framework for prompt corrective action. 
 

       For capital adequacy  To be well-capitalized 
    For capital adequacy  purposes plus Capital  under prompt  
 Actual  purposes  Conservation Buffer  corrective action 
 (000’s omitted) Amount Ratio   Amount Ratio   Amount Ratio   Amount Ratio 
Community Financial 
System, Inc.:                    

2024            

Tier 1 Leverage ratio $1,454,209  9.19%  $633,020  4.00%     $791,275  5.00% 
Common equity tier 1 
capital 1,454,067 14.23%  459,829 4.50%  $715,290 7.00%  664,198 6.50% 
Tier 1 risk-based capital 1,454,209 14.23%  613,106 6.00%  868,566  8.50%  817,474 8.00% 
Total risk-based capital 1,533,798 15.01%  817,474 8.00%  1,072,935 10.50%  1,021,843 10.00% 

2023            
Tier 1 Leverage ratio $1,402,188  9.34%  $600,442  4.00%     $750,553  5.00% 
Common equity tier 1 
capital 1,402,042 14.75%  427,618 4.50%  $665,184 7.00%  617,671 6.50% 
Tier 1 risk-based capital 1,402,188 14.76%  570,158 6.00%  807,723  8.50%  760,210 8.00% 
Total risk-based capital 1,468,920 15.46%  760,210 8.00%  997,776 10.50%  950,263 10.00% 
            
Community Bank, N.A.:            

2024            
Tier 1 Leverage ratio $1,210,171  7.69%  $629,589  4.00%     $786,986  5.00% 
Common equity tier 1 
capital 1,210,029 11.96%  455,433 4.50%  $708,451 7.00%  657,847 6.50% 
Tier 1 risk-based capital 1,210,171 11.96%  607,244 6.00%  860,262  8.50%  809,658 8.00% 
Total risk-based capital 1,289,760 12.74%  809,658 8.00%  1,062,677 10.50%  1,012,073 10.00% 

2023            
Tier 1 Leverage ratio $1,139,569  7.70%  $591,877  4.00%     $739,846  5.00% 
Common equity tier 1 
capital 1,139,423 12.11%  423,442 4.50%  $658,688 7.00%  611,639 6.50% 
Tier 1 risk-based capital 1,139,569 12.11%  564,590 6.00%  799,835  8.50%  752,786 8.00% 
Total risk-based capital 1,206,301 12.82%  752,786 8.00%  988,032 10.50%  940,983 10.00% 
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NOTE P: PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS 
 

The condensed statements of condition of the parent company, Community Financial System, Inc., at December 31 are as follows: 
 
(000's omitted)  2024 2023 
Assets:   
  Cash and cash equivalents $132,038 $134,023 
  Investment securities 11,076 10,352 
  Investment in and advances to:   
     Bank subsidiary 1,423,702 1,341,146 
     Non-bank subsidiaries 208,477 226,202 
  Other assets 23,485 20,765 
     Total assets $1,798,778 $1,732,488 

Liabilities and shareholders' equity:   
  Accrued interest and other liabilities $35,943 $34,551 
  Shareholders' equity 1,762,835 1,697,937 
     Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $1,798,778 $1,732,488 
 
The condensed statements of income of the parent company for the years ended December 31 is as follows: 
 
 (000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Revenues:    
  Dividends from subsidiaries:    
        Bank subsidiary $77,000 $89,500 $53,000 
        Non-bank subsidiaries 52,000 10,000 55,000 
  Interest and dividends on investments 344 343 342 
  Gain on debt extinguishment 0 242 0 
        Total revenues 129,344 100,085 108,342 
Expenses:    
  Interest on borrowings 0 38 153 
  Other expenses 7,346 6,877 6,091 
        Total expenses 7,346 6,915 6,244 

Income before tax benefit and equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries 121,998 93,170 102,098 
Income tax benefit 4,231 2,227 2,942 
  Income before equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries 126,229 95,397 105,040 
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries 56,252 36,527 83,041 
Net income $182,481 $131,924 $188,081 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:     
  Changes in other comprehensive income (loss) related to pension and  
   other post retirement obligations $9,611 $4,097 ($15,831) 
  Changes in other comprehensive (loss) income related to unrealized  
  (losses) gains on investment securities (804) 125,450 (619,981) 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 8,807 129,547 (635,812) 
Comprehensive income (loss) $191,288 $261,471 ($447,731) 
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The statements of cash flows of the parent company for the years ended December 31 is as follows: 
 
(000's omitted) 2024 2023 2022 
Operating activities:    
  Net income $182,481 $131,924 $188,081 
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities    
    Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries (56,252) (36,527) (83,041) 
    Gain on debt extinguishment 0 (242) 0 
    Net change in other assets and other liabilities (1,080) (573) 2,155 
       Net cash provided by operating activities 125,149 94,582 107,195 
Investing activities:    
  Purchases of investment securities, net (364) (2,237) (175) 
       Net cash used in investing activities (364) (2,237) (175) 
Financing activities:    
  Repayment of advances from subsidiaries (622) (533) (506) 
  Repayment of borrowings 0 (3,000) 0 
  Issuance of common stock 15,465 10,284 8,922 
  Purchase of treasury stock (46,029) (30,233) (16,614) 
  Increase in deferred compensation arrangements 193 217 236 
  Cash dividends paid (95,777) (95,102) (93,387) 
       Net cash used in financing activities (126,770) (118,367) (101,349) 
Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,985) (26,022) 5,671 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 134,023 160,045 154,374 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $132,038 $134,023 $160,045 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:    
  Cash paid for interest $0 $45 $180 
Supplemental disclosures of noncash financing activities:    
  Dividends declared and unpaid $24,410 $24,168 $23,763 
  Advances from subsidiaries 622 533 506 
 
NOTE Q: FAIR VALUE 
 
Accounting standards establish a framework for measuring fair value and require certain disclosures about such fair value 
instruments.  It defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e. exit price).  Inputs used to measure fair value are 
classified into the following hierarchy: 
 
 Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 Level 2 – Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, or quoted prices for identical or similar assets or     

liabilities in markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability. 
 Level 3 – Significant valuation assumptions not readily observable in a market.   

  



140 
 

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement.  The following tables set forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for 
at fair value on a recurring basis.  There were no transfers between any of the levels for the periods presented.  
 
 

 December 31, 2024 

(000's omitted) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Total Fair 

Value 
Available-for-sale investment securities:     
U.S. Treasury and agency securities $2,025,164 $58,622 $0 $2,083,786
Obligations of state and political subdivisions 0 386,495 0 386,495
Government agency mortgage-backed securities 0 301,224 0 301,224
Corporate debt securities 0 7,697 0 7,697
Government agency collateralized mortgage obligations  0 6,512 0 6,512

   Total available-for-sale investment securities 2,025,164 760,550 0 2,785,714
Equity securities 2,354 0 0 2,354
Mortgage loans held for sale 0 1,470 0 1,470
Commitments to originate real estate loans for sale 0 0 215 215
Forward sales commitments 0 (8) 0 (8)
Interest rate swap agreements asset 0 2,664 0 2,664
Interest rate swap agreements liability 0 (2,664) 0 (2,664)
Total $2,027,518 $762,012 $215 $2,789,745
 
 December 31, 2023 

(000's omitted) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Total Fair 

Value 

Available-for-sale investment securities:     
U.S. Treasury and agency securities $2,019,089 $61,694 $0 $2,080,783
Obligations of state and political subdivisions 0 474,363 0 474,363
Government agency mortgage-backed securities 0 348,526 0 348,526
Corporate debt securities 0 7,394 0 7,394
Government agency collateralized mortgage obligations  0 8,926 0 8,926

   Total available-for-sale investment securities 2,019,089 900,903 0 2,919,992
Equity securities 372 0 0 372
Mortgage loans held for sale 0 414 0 414
Commitments to originate real estate loans for sale 0 0 2 2
Forward sales commitments 0 6 0 6
Total $2,019,461 $901,323 $2 $2,920,786

 
The valuation techniques used to measure fair value for the items in the table above are as follows: 
 

 Available for sale investment securities and equity securities – The fair values of available-for-sale investment securities 
are based upon quoted prices, if available.  If quoted prices are not available, fair values are measured using quoted 
market prices for similar securities or model-based valuation techniques.  Level 1 securities include U.S. Treasury 
obligations and marketable equity securities that are traded by dealers or brokers in active over-the-counter markets.  
Level 2 securities include U.S. agency securities, mortgage-backed securities issued by government-sponsored entities, 
municipal securities and corporate debt securities that are valued by reference to prices for similar securities or through 
model-based techniques in which all significant inputs, such as reported trades, trade execution data, interest rate swap 
yield curves, market prepayment speeds, credit information, market spreads, and security’s terms and conditions, are 
observable.  See Note C for further disclosure of the fair value of investment securities.  
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 Mortgage loans held for sale – The Company has elected to value loans held for sale at fair value in order to more 
closely match the gains and losses associated with loans held for sale with the gains and losses on forward sales 
contracts.  Accordingly, the impact on the valuation will be recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of 
income.  All mortgage loans held for sale are current and in performing status.  The fair value of mortgage loans held for 
sale is determined using quoted secondary-market prices of loans with similar characteristics and, as such, has been 
classified as a Level 2 valuation.  The unpaid principal value of mortgage loans held for sale was approximately $1.5 
million and $0.4 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  Mortgage loans held for sale are included in 
other assets in the consolidated statements of condition.  The unrealized gain on mortgage loans held for sale was 
recognized in mortgage banking revenues in the consolidated statements of income and is immaterial.   

 
 Forward sales commitments – The Company enters into forward sales commitments to sell certain residential real estate 

loans.  Such commitments are considered to be derivative financial instruments and, therefore, are carried at estimated 
fair value in the other asset or other liability section of the consolidated statements of condition.  The fair value of these 
forward sales commitments is primarily measured by obtaining pricing from certain government-sponsored entities and 
reflects the underlying price the entity would pay the Company for an immediate sale on these mortgages.  As such, 
these instruments are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 

 Commitments to originate real estate loans for sale – The Company enters into various commitments to originate 
residential real estate loans for sale.  Such commitments are considered to be derivative financial instruments and, 
therefore, are carried at estimated fair value in the other asset or other liability section of the consolidated statements of 
condition.  The estimated fair value of these commitments is determined using quoted secondary market prices obtained 
from certain government-sponsored entities.  Additionally, accounting guidance requires the expected net future cash 
flows related to the associated servicing of the loan to be included in the fair value measurement of the derivative.  The 
expected net future cash flows are based on a valuation model that calculates the present value of estimated net servicing 
income.  The valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants would use in estimating future net 
servicing income.  Such assumptions include estimates of the cost of servicing loans, appropriate discount rate and 
prepayment speeds.  The determination of expected net cash flows is considered a significant unobservable input 
contributing to the Level 3 classification of commitments to originate real estate loans for sale. 
 

 Interest rate swaps – The interest rate swaps are reported at their fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs from a third-party 
advisor.  The fair value measurement of the interest rate swap is determined by netting the discounted future fixed cash 
payments and the discounted expected variable cash receipts.  The variable cash receipts are based on the expectation of 
future interest rates derived from observed market interest rate curves. 

 
The changes in Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are immaterial. 
 
The fair value information of assets and liabilities measured on a non-recurring basis presented below is not as of the period-end, 
but rather as of the date the fair value adjustment was recorded closest to the date presented.  
 
 December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 

(000's omitted) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Total Fair 

Value  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Total Fair 

Value 
Individually assessed loans $0 $0 $19,315 $19,315  $0 $0 $3,014 $3,014 
Other real estate owned 0 0 2,781 2,781  0 0 1,159 1,159 
Mortgage servicing rights 0 0 460 460  0 0 162 162 
Contingent consideration 0 0 (4,140) (4,140)  0 0 (5,150) (5,150) 
   Total $0 $0 $18,416 $18,416  $0 $0 ($815) ($815) 
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Loans are generally not recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.  Periodically, the Company records nonrecurring adjustments 
to the carrying value of loans based on fair value measurements for partial charge-offs of the uncollectible portions of those loans.  
Nonrecurring adjustments also include certain impairment amounts for collateral-dependent loans calculated when establishing 
the allowance for credit losses.  Such amounts are generally based on the fair value of the underlying collateral supporting the 
loan and, as a result, the carrying value of the loan less the calculated valuation amount does not necessarily represent the fair 
value of the loan.  Real estate collateral is typically valued using independent appraisals or other indications of value based on 
recent comparable sales of similar properties or assumptions generally observable in the marketplace, adjusted for non-observable 
inputs.  Thus, the resulting nonrecurring fair value measurements are generally classified as Level 3.  Estimates of fair value used 
for other collateral supporting commercial loans generally are based on assumptions not observable in the marketplace and, 
therefore, such valuations classify as Level 3.   
 
Other real estate owned (“OREO”) is valued at the time the loan is foreclosed upon and the asset is transferred to OREO. The 
value is based primarily on third party appraisals, less estimated costs to sell.  The appraisals are sometimes further discounted 
based on management’s historical knowledge, changes in market conditions from the time of valuation, and/or management’s 
expertise and knowledge of the customer and customer’s business.  Such discounts are significant, ranging from 9.0% to 93.1% at 
December 31, 2024, and result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determining fair value. OREO is reviewed and 
evaluated on at least a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly, based on the same factors identified 
above.  The Company recovers the carrying value of OREO through the sale of the property.  The ability to affect future sales 
prices is subject to market conditions and factors beyond the Company’s control and may impact the estimated fair value of a 
property.  
 
Originated mortgage servicing rights are recorded at their fair value at the time of sale of the underlying loan, and are amortized 
in proportion to and over the estimated period of net servicing income.  The fair value of mortgage servicing rights is based on a 
valuation model incorporating inputs that market participants would use in estimating future net servicing income.  Such inputs 
include estimates of the cost of servicing loans, appropriate discount rate, and prepayment speeds and are considered to be 
unobservable and contribute to the Level 3 classification of mortgage servicing rights.  In accordance with GAAP, the Company 
records impairment charges, on a nonrecurring basis, when the carrying value of a stratum exceeds its estimated fair value.  
Impairment is recognized through a valuation allowance.  Subsequent increases in the estimated fair value of a stratum are 
recorded by reducing the valuation allowance up to an amount that results in the stratum being carried at its remaining amortized 
cost.  There was a valuation allowance of approximately $0.1 million and $1.2 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. During 2024 the Company recognized a $1.2 million impairment recovery. 
 
The Company has recorded contingent consideration liabilities that arise from acquisition activity.  The contingent consideration 
is recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition.  The valuation of contingent consideration is calculated using an income 
approach method, which provides an estimation of the fair value of an asset or liability based on future cash flows over a discrete 
projection period, discounted to present value using an appropriate rate of return.  The assumptions used in the valuation 
calculation are based on significant unobservable inputs, therefore such valuations classify as Level 3. 
 
The contingent consideration related to the Fringe Benefits Design of Minnesota, Inc. (“FBD”) acquisition completed in 2021 was 
revalued at December 31, 2023. The remaining contingent consideration accrual was adjusted to the maximum potential amount 
of $2.7 million, using a potential probability of achievement of 100%.  The Company made the required $2.7 million payment 
during the third quarter of 2024. 
 
The first of the two required payments were made on the OneGroup acquisition of Thomas Gregory Associates Insurance 
Brokers, Inc. (“TGA”) contingent consideration in the third quarter of 2023 in the amount of $2.4 million, based on actual 
retained revenue results.  The remaining contingent consideration liability related to the TGA acquisition was revalued at 
December 31, 2023 for an adjusted fair value of $1.0 million. In the third quarter of 2024, the liability was revalued to $0.8 
million based on actual results and the final payment was made. 
 
During 2024, three payments were made on the CPD contingent consideration totaling $1.5 million, based on satisfaction of 
certain customer retention requirements.  The remaining contingent consideration liability related to the CPD acquisition was 
revalued at December 31, 2024 for an adjusted fair value of $1.9 million. 
 
The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, or more often if events or circumstances indicate there 
may be impairment.  The Company did not recognize an impairment charge during 2024 or 2023.  See Note F for more detail. 
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The Company determines fair values based on quoted market values, where available, estimates of present values, or other 
valuation techniques.  Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including, but not limited to, the 
discount rate and estimates of future cash flows.  In that regard, the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by 
comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, may not be realized in immediate settlement of the instrument.  The 
significant unobservable inputs used in the determination of fair value of assets classified as Level 3 on a recurring or non-
recurring basis are as follows: 
 

(000's omitted, except per 
loan data) 

Fair Value at 
December 31, 2024 Valuation Technique Significant Unobservable Inputs 

Significant Unobservable 
Input Range 

(Weighted Average) 
Individually assessed loans $19,315 Fair value of collateral  Estimated cost of disposal/market adjustment 27.2% 
Other real estate owned 2,781 Fair value of collateral Estimated cost of disposal/market adjustment 9.0% – 93.1% (51.0%) 
Commitments to originate 
real estate loans for sale 215 Discounted cash flow Embedded servicing value 1.0% 
Mortgage servicing rights 460 Discounted cash flow Weighted average constant prepayment rate 16.1% - 22.8% (16.6%) 
   Weighted average discount rate 5.3% - 5.6% (5.6%) 

   Adequate compensation $7/loan 
Contingent consideration (4,140) Discounted cash flow Discount rate 18.4%

   Probability of achievement 82.0% 
 

(000's omitted, except per 
loan data) 

Fair Value at 
December 31, 2023 Valuation Technique Significant Unobservable Inputs 

Significant Unobservable 
Input Range 

(Weighted Average) 
Individually assessed loans $3,014 Fair value of collateral Estimated cost of disposal/market adjustment 27.2% 
Other real estate owned 1,159 Fair value of collateral Estimated cost of disposal/market adjustment 9.0% - 73.8% (45.8%) 
Commitments to originate 
real estate loans for sale 2 Discounted cash flow Embedded servicing value 1.0% 
Mortgage servicing rights 162 Discounted cash flow Weighted average constant prepayment rate 4.2% - 5.1% (4.2%) 
   Weighted average discount rate 4.6% - 5.0% (4.9%) 
   Adequate compensation $7/loan 
Contingent consideration (5,150) Discounted cash flow Discount rate 6.7% - 6.9% (6.9%)
   Probability of achievement 100% 

 
The significant unobservable inputs used in the determination of the fair value of assets classified as Level 3 have an inherent 
measurement uncertainty that, if changed, could result in higher or lower fair value measurements of these assets as of the 
reporting date.  The weighted average of the estimated cost of disposal/market adjustment for individually assessed loans was 
calculated by dividing the total of the book value of the collateral of the individually assessed loans classified as Level 3 by the 
total of the fair value of the collateral of the individually assessed loans classified as Level 3.  The weighted average of the 
estimated cost of disposal/market adjustment for other real estate owned was calculated by dividing the total of the differences 
between the appraisal values of the real estate and the book values of the real estate divided by the totals of the appraisal values of 
the real estate.  The weighted average of the constant prepayment rate for mortgage servicing rights was calculated by adding the 
constant prepayment rates used in each loan pool weighted by the balance in each loan pool.  The weighted average of the 
discount rate for mortgage servicing rights was calculated by adding the discount rates used in each loan pool weighted by the 
balance in each loan pool.  The weighted average of the discount rate for the contingent consideration was calculated by adding 
the discount rates used for the calculation of the fair value of each payment of contingent consideration, weighted by the amount 
of the payment as part of the total fair value of contingent consideration.  The weighted average of the probability of achievement 
was determined by calculating the proportion of the probability-weighted payment of the total maximum payment, weighted by 
the amount of the payment as part of the total fair value of contingent consideration. 
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Certain financial instruments and all nonfinancial instruments are excluded from fair value disclosure requirements.  Accordingly, 
the aggregate fair value amounts presented do not represent the underlying value of the Company.  The carrying amounts and 
estimated fair values of the Company’s other financial instruments that are not accounted for at fair value at December 31, 2024 
and 2023 are presented below. The table presented below excludes other financial instruments for which the carrying value 
approximates fair value including cash and cash equivalents, accrued interest receivable and accrued interest payable.  
          
  December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 

(000's omitted)  
Carrying 

Value Fair Value  
Carrying 

Value Fair Value 
Financial assets:       
   Net loans  $10,353,251 $9,969,696  $9,637,929 $9,293,902 
   Held-to-maturity securities  1,345,155 1,220,168  1,172,174 1,121,816 
Financial liabilities:       
   Deposits  13,441,707 13,428,682  12,928,121 12,907,605 
   Overnight borrowings  118,000 118,000  53,000 53,000 
   Securities sold under agreement to repurchase, short-term  261,553 261,553  304,595 304,595 
   Other Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings  610,646 620,045  407,603 410,385 
 
The following is a further description of the principal valuation methods used by the Company to estimate the fair values of its 
financial instruments. 
  
Loans have been classified as a Level 3 valuation.  Fair values for variable rate loans that reprice frequently are based on carrying 
values.  Fair values for fixed rate loans are estimated using discounted cash flows and interest rates currently being offered for 
loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality.   
 
Held-to-maturity U.S. Treasury and agency securities have been classified as a Level 1 valuation.  The fair values of held-to-
maturity U.S. Treasury and agency investment securities are based upon quoted prices, if available.  If quoted prices are not 
available, fair values are measured using quoted market prices for similar securities or model-based valuation techniques.  Held-
to-maturity government agency mortgage-backed securities have been classified as a Level 2 valuation.  The fair values of held-
to-maturity government agency mortgage-backed securities are based on current market rates for similar products. 
 
Deposits have been classified as a Level 2 valuation.  The fair value of demand deposits, interest-bearing checking deposits, 
savings accounts and money market deposits is the amount payable on demand at the reporting date.  The fair value of time 
deposit obligations are based on current market rates for similar securities.  
 
Borrowings have been classified as a Level 2 valuation.  The fair value of overnight borrowings and securities sold under 
agreement to repurchase, short-term, is the amount payable on demand at the reporting date.  Fair values for other FHLB 
borrowings are estimated using discounted cash flows and interest rates currently being offered on similar securities.  
 
Other financial assets and liabilities – Cash and cash equivalents have been classified as a Level 1 valuation, while accrued 
interest receivable and accrued interest payable have been classified as a Level 2 valuation.  The fair values of each approximate 
the respective carrying values because the instruments are payable on demand or have short-term maturities and present relatively 
low credit risk and interest rate risk. 
 
NOTE R: DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of its business to meet the financing needs of its 
customers and to manage its exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and credit risk.  These financial instruments have been 
limited to interest rate swap agreements and risk participation agreements.  The Company does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes. 
 
  



145 
 

Interest Rate Swaps 
 
The Company enters into interest rate swaps to assist customers in managing their interest rate risk.  These swaps are 
considered derivatives, but are not designated as hedging relationships.  These instruments have associated interest rate and 
credit risk.  To mitigate the interest rate risk, the Company enters into offsetting interest rate swaps with counterparties, which 
are also considered derivatives and are not designated as hedging relationships.  Interest rate swaps are recorded within other 
assets or accrued interest and other liabilities in the consolidated statements of condition at their estimated fair value.  The 
terms of the interest rate swaps with the customer and the counterparties offset each other, with the only difference being 
counterparty credit risk.  Any changes in the fair value of the underlying derivative contracts are reported in other banking 
services noninterest revenue in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Risk Participation Agreements 
 
The Company may enter into a risk participation agreement (“RPA”) with another institution as a means to assume a portion of 
the credit risk associated with a loan structure which includes a derivative instrument, in exchange for fee income 
commensurate with the risk assumed, referred to as an “RPA sold”.  In addition, in an effort to reduce the credit risk associated 
with an interest rate swap agreement with a borrower for whom the Company has provided a loan structured with a derivative, 
the Company may purchase an RPA from an institution participating in the facility in exchange for a fee paid commensurate 
with the risk shared, referred to as an “RPA purchased”.  
 
Forward Sales Commitments 
 
The Company enters into forward sales commitments for the future delivery of residential mortgage loans, and interest rate 
lock commitments to fund loans at a specified interest rate.  The forward sales commitments are utilized to reduce interest rate 
risk associated with interest rate lock commitments and loans held for sale.  Changes in the estimated fair value of the forward 
sales commitments and interest rate lock commitments subsequent to inception are based on changes in the fair value of the 
underlying loan resulting from the fulfillment of the commitment and changes in the probability that the loan will fund within 
the terms of the commitment, which is affected primarily by changes in interest rates and the passage of time.  At inception 
and during the life of the interest rate lock commitment, the Company includes the expected net future cash flows related to the 
associated servicing of the loan as part of the fair value measurement of the interest rate lock commitments.  
 
Notional values and fair values of derivative instruments as of December 31, 2024 are as follows: 
 

 December 31, 2024 
 Derivative Assets  Derivative Liabilities 

(000’s omitted) 

 
 

Notional 
Amount 

Consolidated 
Statement of 

Condition 
Location Fair Value 

  
 

Notional 
Amount 

Consolidated 
Statement of 

Condition Location Fair Value 
Derivatives not designated as 
hedging instruments under 
Subtopic 815-20: 

 

  

 

   
Commitments to originate 
real estate loans for sale $9,027 Other assets $215  $0 

Accrued interest 
and other liabilities $0 

Forward sales 
commitments 767 Other assets (8)  0 

Accrued interest 
and other liabilities 0 

Interest rate swaps 210,931 Other assets 2,664  210,931 
Accrued interest 

and other liabilities 2,664 

RPA sold 0 Other assets 0 
 

13,170 
Accrued interest 

and other liabilities 0 

RPA purchased 56,306 Other assets 0 
 

0 
Accrued interest 

and other liabilities 0 
Total derivatives $277,031  $2,871  $224,101  $2,664 

 
The Company’s derivative instruments as of December 31, 2023 were immaterial. 
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The notional amount for interest rate swaps represents the underlying principal amount used to calculate interest payments that 
are exchanged periodically.  The notional amount for risk participation agreements represents the amount of exposure assumed 
or shared in case of borrower default.  The notional amount for commitments to originate real estate loans for sale represents 
the unpaid principal amount of loans that have been committed to originate. 
 
Fee income earned on interest rate swaps and risk participation agreements is recognized in other banking services noninterest 
revenues in the consolidated statements of income during the period the derivative instrument is executed.  During the year 
ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized $1.8 million of fee income associated with interest rate swaps and risk 
participation agreements. 
 
Cash collateral is posted by the Company with counterparties to secure certain derivatives, which is restricted cash and is 
included in cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statements of condition.  The amount of such collateral at December 
31, 2024 was $5.1 million. 
 
The Company assessed its counterparty risk at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and determined any credit risk inherent in 
derivative contracts was not material. Further information about the fair value of derivative financial instruments can be found 
in Note Q to these consolidated financial statements. 
 
NOTE S: VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES 
 
In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Oneida Financial Corp, the Company acquired OPFC II which holds a 50% 
membership interest in 706 North Clinton, an entity formed for the purpose of acquiring and rehabilitating real property.  The real 
property held by 706 North Clinton is principally occupied by subsidiaries of the Company.  The Company analyzed the 
operating agreement and capital structure of 706 North Clinton and determined that it was the primary beneficiary and therefore 
should consolidate 706 North Clinton in its financial statements.  This conclusion was based on the determination that the 
Company has a de facto agency relationship because of the financing arrangement between the other member of 706 North 
Clinton and the Bank which provides OPFC II with both the power to direct the activities of 706 North Clinton and the obligation 
to absorb any losses of 706 North Clinton.  
 
The carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of 706 North Clinton and the classification of these assets and liabilities in the 
Company’s consolidated statements of condition at December 31 are as follows: 
 
(000's omitted)            2024            2023 
Cash and cash equivalents $154 $182 
Premises and equipment, net 5,127 5,291 
Other assets  83 74 
Total assets $5,364 $5,547 
Accrued interest and other liabilities / Total liabilities $0 $0 
 
In addition to the assets and liabilities of 706 North Clinton, the minority interest in 706 North Clinton of $2.7 million at 
December 31, 2024 is included in the Company’s consolidated statements of condition.  The creditors of 706 North Clinton do 
not have a claim on the general assets of the Company.  The Company’s maximum loss exposure net of minority interest in 706 
North Clinton is approximately $3.5 million as of December 31, 2024, including a $0.8 million loss exposure related to the 
financing agreement between the other member of 706 North Clinton and the Bank. 
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NOTE T: SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
Operating segments are components of an enterprise, which are evaluated regularly by the CODM in deciding how to allocate 
resources and assess performance.  The Company’s CODM is the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  
Effective January 1, 2024, the Company has identified (1) Banking and Corporate, (2) Employee Benefit Services, (3) Insurance 
Services, and (4) Wealth Management Services as its reportable segments and determined that segment adjusted income before 
income taxes is the reported measure of segment profit or loss.  The prior periods have been recast to conform to the current 
period presentation.  See Note A for further detail on the factors used to identify the Company’s reportable segments and reported 
measure of segment profit or loss. 
 
CBNA operates the Banking and Corporate segment that provides a wide array of lending and depository-related products and 
services to individuals, businesses, and governmental units with branch locations in Upstate New York as well as Northeastern 
Pennsylvania, Vermont and Western Massachusetts.  In addition to these general intermediation services, the Banking and 
Corporate segment provides treasury management solutions and payment processing services.  The Banking and Corporate 
segment also includes certain corporate overhead-related expenses. 
 
The Employee Benefit Services segment, which includes the operating subsidiaries of BPA, BPAS-APS, BPAS Trust Company 
of Puerto Rico, FBD, NRS, GTC, and HB&T, provides employee benefit trust, collective investment fund, retirement plan and 
health savings account administration, fund administration, transfer agency, actuarial, and health and welfare consulting services. 
 
The Insurance Services segment includes the operating subsidiary OneGroup, a full-service insurance agency offering personal 
and commercial lines of insurance and other risk management products and services. 
 
The Wealth Management Services segment is comprised of wealth management services including trust services provided by 
the Nottingham Trust division within the Bank, broker-dealer and investment advisory services provided by Community 
Investment Services, Inc., The Carta Group, Inc. and OneGroup Wealth Partners, Inc. as well as asset management services 
provided by Nottingham Advisors, Inc. 
 
The accounting policies used in the disclosure of business segments are the same as those described in the summary of 
significant accounting policies (see Note A) except as follows.  Segment operating revenues exclude certain items considered 
non-core to the operating performance of the business including realized and unrealized gains or losses on investment 
securities and gains or losses on debt extinguishment.  Significant segment expenses are the expense categories significant to 
the segment, regularly provided to or easily computed from information regularly provided to the CODM and included in 
segment adjusted income before income taxes.  Segment adjusted income before income taxes also excludes certain items 
considered non-core to the operating performance of the business including acquisition-related provision for credit losses, 
amortization of intangible assets, acquisition expenses, acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments, litigation 
accrual and restructuring expenses.  Both segment operating revenues and significant segment expenses include certain 
intersegment activity associated with transactions between the segments and are eliminated in consolidation.  Segment assets 
include certain segment cash balances held as deposits with CBNA and are eliminated in consolidation. 
 
The CODM uses segment adjusted income before income taxes to measure performance and allocate resources, including 
employees, property and financial or capital resources, for all of the Company's segments.  The CODM considers current 
period actual-to-current period budget and current period actual-to-prior period actual variances on a monthly basis for each of 
the Company's segments along with comparisons of the actual segment results with one another.  Segment adjusted income 
before income taxes is also used as a factor in the determination of incentive compensation for key employees of the segments 
including the segment leaders. 
 
There are no transactions with a single customer that result in revenues that exceed ten percent of consolidated total revenues. 
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Information about reportable segments and reconciliations of the information to the consolidated financial statements follows: 
 

(000’s omitted) 
Banking and 

Corporate 

Employee 
Benefit 
Services 

Insurance 
Services 

Wealth 
Management 

Services Total 
Year Ended December 31, 2024      
Net interest income from external customers $448,593 $524 $0 $0 $449,117 
Noninterest revenues from external customers 77,278 132,244 50,249 36,671 296,442 
Revenues from external customers 525,871 132,768 50,249 36,671 745,559 
Intersegment revenues (1,909) 4,618 220 1,998 4,927 
Total segment operating revenues 523,962 137,386 50,469 38,669 750,486 
      
Reconciliation of revenues (segment operating revenues): 
Elimination of intersegment revenues     (4,927) 
Other revenues (a)     744 
Total consolidated revenues     $746,303 
      
Less segment expenses: (b)      
Provision for credit losses 22,773 0 0 0  
Salaries and employee benefits 182,270 63,715 34,566 23,494  
Data processing and communications 51,563 4,068 3,473 2,739  
Occupancy and equipment 37,740 3,822 1,576 597  
Legal and professional fees 9,684 5,175 748 430  
Business development and marketing 14,805 199 947 108  
Other segment items (c) 27,975 4,663 1,767 774  
Total segment expenses 346,810 81,642 43,077 28,142  
Segment adjusted income before income taxes $177,152 $55,744 $7,392 $10,527 $250,815 
      
Reconciliation of profit or loss (segment adjusted income before income taxes): 
Realized loss on investment securities     (487) 
Unrealized gain on equity securities     1,231 
Amortization of intangible assets     (14,259) 
Acquisition expenses     (213) 
Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments     (244) 
Litigation accrual     (138) 
Total consolidated income before income taxes     $236,705 
      
Other segment disclosures:      
Interest income $643,004 $2,627 $144 $534 $646,309 
      
Reconciliation of interest income:      
Elimination of intersegment interest income     (2,781) 
Total consolidated interest income      $643,528 
      
Interest expense $197,192 $0 $0 $0 $197,192 
      
Reconciliation of interest expense:      
Elimination of intersegment interest expense     (2,781) 
Total consolidated interest expense     $194,411 
      
Depreciation (d) $12,286 $767 $420 $203 $13,676 
Amortization of intangible assets 3,245 6,901 3,390 723 14,259 
Goodwill 732,598 89,293 27,896 3,438 853,225 
Core deposit intangibles, net 5,148 0 0 0 5,148 
Other intangibles, net 724 23,314 17,888 1,172 43,098 
Segment assets 16,151,718 230,098 74,855 37,654 16,494,325 
      
Reconciliation of segment assets:      
Elimination of intersegment cash and deposits     (108,281) 
Total consolidated assets     $16,386,044 

(a) Other revenues includes $1,231 of unrealized gain on equity securities and $487 of realized loss on investment securities. 
(b) The significant expense categories and amounts align with the segment-level information that is regularly provided to the CODM. Intersegment expenses are included within the 

amounts shown. 
(c) Other segment items for each reportable segment includes: 

Banking and Corporate – FDIC insurance expense, office supplies and postage expense, fraud losses and other writedowns, education, recruiting and travel expense and 
various miscellaneous expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 
 

Employee Benefit Services – Certain intersegment technology and rent related overhead expense allocations, education, recruiting and travel expense, office supplies and 
postage expense and various miscellaneous expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 
 

Insurance Services – Education, recruiting and travel expense, certain intersegment technology and rent related overhead expense allocations and various miscellaneous 
expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 
 

Wealth Management Services – Education, recruiting and travel expense, certain intersegment technology and rent related overhead expense allocations and various 
miscellaneous expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 

(d) The amount of depreciation disclosed by reportable segment is included within the data processing and communications and occupancy and equipment expense captions. 
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(a) Other revenues includes $52,329 of realized loss on investment securities, $242 of gain on debt extinguishment and $47 of unrealized loss on equity securities. 
(b) The significant expense categories and amounts align with the segment-level information that is regularly provided to the CODM. Intersegment expenses are included within the 

amounts shown. 
(c) Other segment items for each reportable segment includes: 

Banking and Corporate – FDIC insurance expense, office supplies and postage expense, fraud losses and other writedowns, education, recruiting and travel expense and 
various miscellaneous expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 
 

Employee Benefit Services – Certain intersegment technology and rent related overhead expense allocations, education, recruiting and travel expense, office supplies and 
postage expense and various miscellaneous expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 
 

Insurance Services – Education, recruiting and travel expense, certain intersegment technology and rent related overhead expense allocations and various miscellaneous 
expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 
 

Wealth Management Services – Education, recruiting and travel expense, certain intersegment technology and rent related overhead expense allocations and various 
miscellaneous expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 

(d) The amount of depreciation disclosed by reportable segment is included within the data processing and communications and occupancy and equipment expense captions. 
  

(000’s omitted) 
Banking and 

Corporate 

Employee 
Benefit 
Services 

Insurance 
Services 

Wealth 
Management 

Services Total 
Year Ended December 31, 2023      
Net interest income from external customers $437,041 $236 $8 $0 $437,285 
Noninterest revenues from external customers 69,041 118,888 47,095 31,944 266,968 
Revenues from external customers 506,082 119,124 47,103 31,944 704,253 
Intersegment revenues (1,086) 3,801 215 1,701 4,631 
Total segment operating revenues 504,996 122,925 47,318 33,645 708,884 
      
Reconciliation of revenues (segment operating revenues): 
Elimination of intersegment revenues     (4,631) 
Other revenues (a)     (52,134) 
Total consolidated revenues     $652,119 
      
Less segment expenses: (b)      
Provision for credit losses 11,203 0 0 0  
Salaries and employee benefits 178,524 55,505 30,306 20,681  
Data processing and communications 47,965 4,063 2,972 2,585  
Occupancy and equipment 37,033 3,709 1,328 578  
Legal and professional fees 10,640 4,880 447 401  
Business development and marketing 14,228 191 1,174 138  
Other segment items (c) 27,235 4,766 2,456 694  
Total segment expenses 326,828 73,114 38,683 25,077  
Segment adjusted income before income taxes $178,168 $49,811 $8,635 $8,568 $245,182 
      
Reconciliation of profit or loss (segment adjusted income before income taxes): 
Realized loss on investment securities     (52,329) 
Gain on debt extinguishment     242 
Unrealized loss on equity securities     (47) 
Amortization of intangible assets     (14,511) 
Acquisition expenses     (63) 
Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments     (3,280) 
Restructuring expenses     (1,163) 
Litigation accrual     (5,800) 
Total consolidated income before income taxes     $168,231 
      
Other segment disclosures:      
Interest income $541,144 $1,711 $123 $368 $543,346 
      
Reconciliation of interest income:      
Elimination of intersegment interest income     (1,958) 
Total consolidated interest income      $541,388 
      
Interest expense $106,061 $0 $0 $0 $106,061 
      
Reconciliation of interest expense:      
Elimination of intersegment interest expense     (1,958) 
Total consolidated interest expense     $104,103 
      
Depreciation (d) $11,676 $735 $403 $177 $12,991 
Amortization of intangible assets 4,363 6,452 2,898 798 14,511 
Goodwill 732,598 85,384 23,976 3,438 845,396 
Core deposit intangibles, net 8,159 0 0 0 8,159 
Other intangibles, net 958 26,883 14,430 2,161 44,432 
Segment assets 15,328,785 245,967 64,904 34,288 15,673,944 
      
Reconciliation of segment assets:      
Elimination of intersegment cash and deposits     (118,191) 
Total consolidated assets     $15,555,753 
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(a) Other revenues includes $44 of unrealized loss on equity securities. 
(b) The significant expense categories and amounts align with the segment-level information that is regularly provided to the CODM. Intersegment expenses are included within the 

amounts shown. 
(c) Other segment items for each reportable segment includes: 

Banking and Corporate – FDIC insurance expense, office supplies and postage expense, fraud losses and other writedowns, education, recruiting and travel expense and 
various miscellaneous expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 
 

Employee Benefit Services – Certain intersegment technology and rent related overhead expense allocations, education, recruiting and travel expense, office supplies and 
postage expense and various miscellaneous expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 
 

Insurance Services – Education, recruiting and travel expense, certain intersegment technology and rent related overhead expense allocations and various miscellaneous 
expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 
 

Wealth Management Services – Education, recruiting and travel expense, certain intersegment technology and rent related overhead expense allocations and various 
miscellaneous expenses partially offset by a benefit related to the non-service related components of the Company's pension. 

(d) The amount of depreciation disclosed by reportable segment is included within the data processing and communications and occupancy and equipment expense captions. 
  

(000’s omitted) 
Banking and 

Corporate 

Employee 
Benefit 
Services 

Insurance 
Services 

Wealth 
Management 

Services Total 
Year Ended December 31, 2022      
Net interest income from external customers $420,620 $10 $0 $0 $420,630 
Noninterest revenues from external customers 71,679 115,610 39,810 31,670 258,769 
Revenues from external customers 492,299 115,620 39,810 31,670 679,399 
Intersegment revenues 523 2,508 163 1,350 4,544 
Total segment operating revenues 492,822 118,128 39,973 33,020 683,943 
      
Reconciliation of revenues (segment operating revenues): 
Elimination of intersegment revenues     (4,544) 
Other revenues (a)     (44) 
Total consolidated revenues     $679,355 
      
Less segment expenses: (b)      
Provision for credit losses 10,846 0 0 0  
Salaries and employee benefits 163,172 52,837 25,458 18,985  
Data processing and communications 44,688 4,290 2,638 2,483  
Occupancy and equipment 36,870 3,838 1,299 544  
Legal and professional fees 8,965 4,856 213 407  
Business development and marketing 11,955 124 929 87  
Other segment items (c) 18,855 3,041 2,260 83  
Total segment expenses 295,351 68,986 32,797 22,589  
Segment adjusted income before income taxes $197,471 $49,142 $7,176 $10,431 $264,220 
      
Reconciliation of profit or loss (segment adjusted income before income taxes): 
Acquisition-related provision for credit losses     (3,927) 
Unrealized loss on equity securities     (44) 
Amortization of intangible assets     (15,214) 
Acquisition expenses     (5,021) 
Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments     300 
Total consolidated income before income taxes     $240,314 
      
Other segment disclosures:      
Interest income $443,719 $319 $13 $25 $444,076 
      
Reconciliation of interest income:      
Elimination of intersegment interest income     (347) 
Total consolidated interest income      $443,729 
      
Interest expense $23,446 $0 $0 $0 $23,446 
      
Reconciliation of interest expense:      
Elimination of intersegment interest expense     (347) 
Total consolidated interest expense     $23,099 
      
Depreciation (d) $12,865 $889 $493 $164 $14,411 
Amortization of intangible assets 4,752 6,608 2,923 931 15,214 
Goodwill 732,088 85,384 21,869 2,500 841,841 
Core deposit intangibles, net 12,304 0 0 0 12,304 
Other intangibles, net 0 33,412 13,551 1,729 48,692 
Segment assets 15,622,344 226,135 60,218 28,955 15,937,652 
      
Reconciliation of segment assets:      
Elimination of intersegment cash and deposits     (102,001) 
Total consolidated assets     $15,835,651 
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NOTE U: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Companies are required to evaluate events and transactions that occur after the balance sheet date but before the date the financial 
statements are issued.  They must recognize in the financial statements the effect of all events or transactions that provide additional 
evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date, including the estimates inherent in the financial preparation 
process.  Entities do not recognize the impact of events or transactions that provide evidence about conditions that did not exist at 
the balance sheet date but arose after that date.  
 
Such events and transactions were evaluated through the date these consolidated financial statements were issued and the Company 
identified the following nonrecognized subsequent event. 
 
On February 26, 2025, the parent company, Community Financial System, Inc., entered into a new unsecured committed revolving 
line of credit facility with a commercial bank in an amount of up to $50.0 million to be available for use for general corporate 
purposes including potential future merger and acquisition activity by its non-Bank subsidiaries.  Outstanding borrowings under the 
revolving line of credit facility will bear interest at either fixed rates determined at closing or floating rates at the monthly Secured 
Overnight Financing Rate plus 2.25% at the option of the parent company.  The revolving line of credit facility will mature on 
February 25, 2026, subject to a 364 day extension with opt-out provided for by either party to the agreement. 
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is 
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).  Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our 
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control 
over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on our evaluation, management concluded that our internal 
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.   
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent 
registered public accounting firm that was engaged to express an opinion as to the fairness of presentation of such financial 
statements.  PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was also engaged to audit the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.  The report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP follows this report.  

Community Financial System, Inc. 
 
By:  /s/ Dimitar A. Karaivanov        
Dimitar A. Karaivanov, 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
 
By:  /s/ Joseph E. Sutaris    
Joseph E. Sutaris,  
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Community Financial System, Inc. 
 
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of condition of Community Financial System, Inc. and its 
subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of income, of 
comprehensive income, of changes in shareholders' equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2024, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). We also 
have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the COSO. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included 
in the accompanying Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility is to express opinions on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our 
audits.  We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws 
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. 
 
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.  
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements.  Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  Our audit of internal 
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the 
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk.  Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. 
 
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Critical Audit Matters 
 
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial 
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or 
complex judgments.  The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate 
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses - Qualitative Adjustments 
 
As described in Notes A and D to the consolidated financial statements, management estimates the allowance for credit losses 
using relevant available information, from internal and external sources, relating to past events, current conditions, and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts. As of December 31, 2024, the allowance for credit losses was $79.1 million on loans of 
$10.4 billion. Historical credit loss experience provides the basis for the estimation of expected future credit losses. 
Adjustments are made for differences in current loan-specific risk characteristics such as differences in underwriting standards, 
portfolio mix, size and credit quality of acquired loans, delinquency level, risk ratings or term of loans as well as actual and 
forecasted macroeconomic trends, such as unemployment rates and changes in property values including home prices, 
commercial real estate prices, including office-specific property prices, office-specific property vacancy rates, automobile 
prices, gross domestic product, median household income net of inflation and other relevant factors in comparison to longer-
term performance. For qualitative macroeconomic adjustments, the Company uses third party forecasted economic data 
scenarios utilizing a base scenario and two alternative scenarios. 
 
The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to qualitative adjustments to the 
allowance for credit losses is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when determining 
qualitative adjustments to the allowance for credit losses; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in 
performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to management’s determination of qualitative adjustments; and 
(iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.    
 
Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to 
management’s allowance for credit losses estimation process, including controls over certain qualitative adjustments. These 
procedures also included, among others (i) testing management’s process for determining certain qualitative adjustments to the 
allowance for credit losses; (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of management’s methodology; (iii) testing the completeness 
and accuracy of data used in certain qualitative adjustments; and (iv) evaluating the reasonableness of certain qualitative 
adjustments. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating the reasonableness of certain 
qualitative adjustments.  
  
  
  
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Buffalo, New York 
February 28, 2025 
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1984.   
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 
None 
 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a -15(e) and 15d – 15(e) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), designed to: (i) record, process, summarize, and report within the 
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (ii) accumulate and communicate to management, including the 
principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure. Based on 
evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), the CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, these disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024. 
 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting is included under the heading “Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting” at Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm 
The report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm is included under the heading “Report of the Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm” at Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.   
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
The Company continually assesses the adequacy of its internal control over financial reporting and enhances its controls in 
response to internal control assessments, and internal and external audit and regulatory recommendations.  No change in 
internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate due 
to changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Item 9B. Other Information 
 
Certain of the Company’s officers or directors have made elections to participate in, and are participating in, the Company’s 
dividend reinvestment plan and 401(k) plan, and have made, and may from time to time make, elections to have shares 
withheld to cover withholding taxes or pay the exercise price of options or the settlement of restricted stock, each of which 
may be designed to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act or may constitute non-
Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K). During the fiscal quarter ended December 
31, 2024, none of the Company’s directors or officers informed the Company of the adoption of or termination of a “Rule 
10b5-1 trading agreement” or a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading agreement,” as those terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-
K.  
 
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 
 
None 
 
  



156 
 

Part III 
 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 
 
The information required to be furnished by this Item 10 pursuant to Items 401, 405, 406 and 407(c)(3), (d)(4) and (d)(5), and 
of Regulation S-K will be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be 
filed with the SEC on or about March 28, 2025 (the “Proxy Statement”).  The information concerning the Company’s 
Directors will appear under the caption “Director Nominee Qualifications and Experience” in the Proxy Statement.  The 
information concerning the Company’s Code of Ethics will appear under the caption “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” 
in the Proxy Statement.  The information regarding the Company’s Audit Committee and the Audit Committee Financial 
Expert will appear under the caption “Audit Committee Report.”  The information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) 
will appear under the caption “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports.” Such information is incorporated herein by reference.  The 
information concerning the Company’s executive officers is presented under the “Information about our Executive Officers” 
section of Item 1 contained in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.   
 
The Company has adopted the Policy Prohibiting Insider Trading and related procedures governing the purchase, sale, and/or 
other disposition of its securities by its directors, officers, and employees that the Company believes are reasonably designed 
to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules, and regulations, and applicable NYSE listing standards.  A copy of the 
Company’s Policy Prohibiting Insider Trading Policy is filed as Exhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
Item 11. Executive Compensation 
 
The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Compensation Discussion 
and Analysis,” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” 
“Executive Compensation Disclosure Tables,” “Compensation of Directors” and “Director Compensation” in the Company’s 
Proxy Statement. 
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 
 
The information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Security 
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, Directors and Executive Officers” in the Company’s Proxy Statement.  The 
information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K concerning equity compensation plans is presented under the caption 
“Equity Compensation Plan Information” on page 37 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 
 
The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Director Independence” 
and “Related Persons Transactions” in the Company’s Proxy Statement. 
 
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services 
 
The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Fees Paid to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP” in the Company’s Proxy Statement. 
 

Part IV 
 
Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 
 
(a)  Documents filed as part of this report 
 

(1) All financial statements.  The following consolidated financial statements of Community Financial System, Inc. and 
subsidiaries are included in Item 8: 

 
- Consolidated Statements of Condition, 

    December 31, 2024 and 2023 
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- Consolidated Statements of Income, 
    Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 
 

- Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, 
      Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 
 
 - Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity, 
    Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 

 
 - Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 
    Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 
 
 - Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 
    December 31, 2024 
 
 -  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

(2) Financial statement schedules.  Schedules are omitted since the required information is either not applicable or shown 
elsewhere in the financial statements. 
 
(3) Exhibits.  The exhibits filed as part of this report and exhibits incorporated herein by reference to other documents are 
listed below: 

 
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 3, 2021, by and between Community 

Bank, N.A., Eagle Merger Sub Inc. and Elmira Savings Bank.  Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 7, 2021 (Registration No. 001-
13695). 

  

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed with the Delaware Secretary of State 
on May 15, 2024.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 
8-K filed on May 16, 2024 (Registration No. 001-13695). 

  

3.2 Amended and Restate Bylaws of Community Financial System, Inc., as of May 15, 2024.  
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 3.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 
16, 2024 (Registration No. 001-13695). 

  

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 4.1 to the 
Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on September 29, 2008 
(Registration No. 333-153403). 

  

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 3, 2017, by and among Community Bank 
System, Inc. and the individuals and entities set forth on Schedule 1 thereto.  Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. 10.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on February 3, 
2017 (Registration No. 333-215894). 

  

4.3 Form of Replacement Organizers’ Warrant to purchase Community Bank System, Inc. 
Common Stock.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 
8-K filed on May 18, 2017 (Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 12, 2017, by and among Wilmington Trust 
Company, Community Bank System, Inc., and Merchants Bancshares, Inc.  Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 18, 2017 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

4.5 Description of Community Bank System, Inc.’s securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of 
the Securities Exchange Act. (1) 
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10.1 Employment Agreement, dated as of January 4, 2021, by and between Community Bank 
System, Inc., Community Bank, N.A., and Mark E. Tryniski.  Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit No. 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 6, 2021 (Registration No. 
001-13695). (2) 

  

10.2 Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement, effective as of December 31, 2008, by and among 
Community Bank, N.A., Community Bank System, Inc., and Mark E. Tryniski.  Incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit No. 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 19, 2009 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.3 Amendment to Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement, dated January 5, 2018, by and 
among Community Bank System, Inc., Community Bank, N.A. and Mark E. Tryniski.  
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
January 5, 2018 (Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  
10.4 Employment Agreement, dated July 5, 2023, by and among Community Bank System, Inc., 

Community Bank, N.A., and Dimitar Karaivanov. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 
10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 5, 2023 (Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  
10.5 Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated July 17, 2024, by and among Community 

Financial System, Inc., Community Bank, N.A., and Dimitar A. Karaivanov.  Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 19, 2024 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (1) 

  

10.6 Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2013, by and between 
Community Bank System Inc., Community Bank, N.A., and Brian D. Donahue.  Incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit No. 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 23, 2013 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  
10.7 Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2013, by and among 

Community Bank System, Inc., Community Bank, N.A., and George J. Getman.  Incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 23, 2013 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.8 Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement, effective September 29, 2009, by and between 
Community Bank System Inc., Community Bank, N.A., and Scott Kingsley.  Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2009 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.9 Pre-2005 Supplemental Retirement Agreement, effective December 31, 2004, by and between 
Community Bank System, Inc., Community Bank, N.A., and Sanford Belden.  Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. 10.3 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2005 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.10 Post-2004 Supplemental Retirement Agreement, effective January 1, 2005, by and between 
Community Bank System, Inc., Community Bank, N.A., and Sanford Belden.  Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. 10.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2005 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.11 Supplemental Retirement Plan Agreement, effective March 26, 2003, by and between 
Community Bank System Inc. and Thomas McCullough.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
No. 10.11 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 12, 2004 (Registration No. 001-
13695). (2) 

  

10.12 2004 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Program, as amended.  Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit No. 99.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on December 19, 2012 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.13 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.1 to 
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2, 2017 (Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.14 Community Financial System, Inc. 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended.  Incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit No. 99.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on July 19, 
2024 (Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 
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10.15 Stock Balance Plan for Directors, as amended.  Incorporated by reference to Annex I to the 
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on March 31, 1998 (Registration No. 001-
13695). (2) 

  

10.16 Community Bank System, Inc. Restoration Plan, effective June 1, 2018.  Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. 10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 21, 2018 
(Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.17 Community Financial System, Inc. Executive Severance Plan, as amended, July 17, 2024.  
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 
19, 2024 (Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.18 Community Financial System, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors.  Incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit No. 99.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on July 17, 
2024 (Registration No. 333-219098). (2) 

  

10.19 Community Bank System, Inc. Pension Plan Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2004.  
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.27 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on 
March 15, 2005 (Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.20 Amendment #1 to the Community Bank System, Inc. Pension Plan, as amended and restated as 
of January 1, 2004 (“Plan”).  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.27 to the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2005 (Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.21 Community Bank System, Inc. 401(k) Employee Stock Ownership Plan, dated as of December 
20, 2011.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 
filed on December 20, 2013 (Registration No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

10.22 Merchants Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries Amended and Restated 1996 Compensation Plan 
for Non-Employee Directors. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Merchants 
Bancshares, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 15, 
2011. (2) 

  

10.23 Merchants Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries Amended and Restated 2008 Compensation Plan 
for Non-Employee Directors and Trustees. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to 
Merchants Bancshares, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on 
March 15, 2011. (2) 

  

10.24 Merchants Bank Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors.  
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Merchants Bancshares, Inc.’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 15, 2011. (2) 

  

10.25 Merchants Bank Salary Continuation Plan.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to 
Merchants Bancshares, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on 
March 15, 2011. (2) 

  

10.26 Consulting Agreement, dated May 15, 2024, by and among Community Financial System, 
Inc., Community Bank, N.A., and Mark E. Tryniski.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 
10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 17, 2024 (Registration No. 001-13695). 
(2) 

  

10.27 Change in Control Agreement, dated January 1, 2024, by and among Deresa F. Durkee, 
Community Financial System, Inc., and Community Bank, N.A.  Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit No. 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 30, 2024 (Registration 
No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

14.1 Community Financial System, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, dated July 17, 2024.  
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 14.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 
19, 2024 (Registration No. 001-13695). 

  

19.1 Community Financial System, Inc. Policy Prohibiting Insider Trading. (1) 
  

21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant. (1) 
  

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. (1) 
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31.1 Certification of Dimitar A. Karaivanov, President and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Registrant, pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (1) 

  

31.2 Certification of Joseph E. Sutaris, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, 
pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (1) 

  

32.1 Certification of Dimitar A. Karaivanov, President and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Registrant, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (3) 

  

32.2 Certification of Joseph E. Sutaris, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002. (3)  

  

97.1 Policy for the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation.  Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit No. 97.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 29, 2024 (Registration 
No. 001-13695). (2) 

  

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive 
Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document. (1) 

  

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (1) 
  

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (1) 
  

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (1) 
  

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (1) 
  

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (1) 
  

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) (1) 
 
(1) Filed herewith. 
(2) Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
(3) Furnished herewith. 
 
B. Not applicable.   
 
C. Not applicable. 
 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 
 

None 
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SIGNATURES 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 
COMMUNITY FINANCIAL SYSTEM, INC. 
 
 
By: 
/s/ Dimitar A. Karaivanov       
Dimitar A. Karaivanov 
President and Chief Executive Officer  
February 28, 2025 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 28th day of February 2025. 
 
 
By:                 
/s/ Dimitar A. Karaivanov       
Dimitar A. Karaivanov 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive Officer) 
                
By: 
/s/ Joseph E. Sutaris    
Joseph E. Sutaris 
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) 

 
 

Directors: 
     

/s/ Mark J. Bolus /s/ Savneet Singh 
Mark J. Bolus, Director Savneet Singh, Director 
  
/s/ Neil E. Fesette      /s/ Susan E. Skerritt 
Neil E. Fesette, Director Susan E. Skerritt, Director 
  
/s/ Jeffery J. Knauss /s/ Sally A. Steele 
Jeffery J. Knauss, Director Sally A. Steele, Director 
  
/s/ Kerrie D. MacPherson /s/ Eric E. Stickels 
Kerrie D. MacPherson, Director Eric E. Stickels, Director and Chair of the Board of Directors 
  
/s/ John Parente /s/ Michele Sullivan 
John Parente, Director     Michele Sullivan, Director 
  
/s/ Raymond C. Pecor, III /s/ John F. Whipple, Jr. 
Raymond C. Pecor, III, Director    John F. Whipple Jr., Director  
  
  
  
  
  

                                         

 
  



162 
 

Exhibit 4.5 
 

DESCRIPTION OF COMMUNITY FINANCIAL SYSTEM, INC.’S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 
12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

As of December 31, 2024, Community Financial System, Inc. (the “Company” or “our”) had one class of securities, our 
common stock, par value $1.00 per share (“Common Stock”), registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended.  The Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CBU.” 

The following description of the Company’s capital stock is a summary and subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by 
reference to the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (the “Charter”), and our By-laws, as amended (the 
“By-laws”), copies of which are incorporated by reference as Exhibits 3.1 through 3.5 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2024 of which this Exhibit 4.5 is a part.  We encourage you to read our Charter, our By-laws and the 
applicable provisions of Delaware General Corporation Law for additional information. 

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK 

Authorized Capital Stock.  The total number of shares of capital stock authorized by the Charter is 75,500,000 shares, consisting 
of 75,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 500,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share.  As of the date of this 
Exhibit, there were no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.   

Voting Rights.  The holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted on by the 
shareholders.  No shareholders have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. 

Dividends.  The Company may pay dividends as declared from time to time by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) out of funds 
legally available for dividends, subject to certain restrictions.  The holders of the Company’s Common Stock will be entitled to 
receive any dividends on the Common Stock in proportion to their holdings. 

Rights in Liquidation.  In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, each holder of Common Stock 
would be entitled to receive, after payment of all debts and liabilities of the Company and after any required distribution to 
holders of any issued and outstanding preferred stock, a pro rata portion of all remaining assets of the Company. 

No Preemptive Rights; No Redemption.  Holders of shares of Common Stock are not entitled to preemptive rights with respect 
to any shares of any capital stock of the Company that may be issued.  The Company’s Common Stock is not subject to call or 
redemption.   

Certain Charter and By-laws Provisions. 

There are provisions in the Company’s Charter and By-laws which are intended to discourage non-negotiated takeover attempts.  
These provisions are intended to avoid costly takeover battles and lessen the Company’s exposure to coercive takeover attempts 
at an unfair price, and are designed to maximize shareholder value in connection with unsolicited takeover attempts.   

The Company’s Charter authorizes the Board to issue, without further shareholder approval, up to 500,000 shares of preferred 
stock with rights senior to those of our Common Stock, except as may be required with respect to a particular transaction by 
applicable law or by regulatory agencies having jurisdiction over the Company.  The Board of the Company is permitted to 
establish from time to time the relative rights, designations, preferences and limitations or restrictions of the preferred stock.  The 
preferred stock could be used to deter future attempts to gain control of the Company.   

In addition, the Company’s Charter contains a provision which requires that certain business combinations be approved by the 
affirmative vote of either (a) the holders of three-fourths of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and a majority of the Board; 
or (b) the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and two-thirds of the continuing Directors.  These 
“supermajority” requirements could result in the Company’s Board exercising a stronger influence over any proposed takeover 
(subject to its fiduciary duties) by refusing to approve a proposed business combination and by obtaining sufficient additional 
votes, including votes obtained through the issuance of additional shares to parties friendly to their interests, to preclude the two-
thirds or three-fourths shareholder approval requirement.  
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 Exhibit 4.5 

The Company’s Charter also provides that the above described provisions designed to protect the Company from unfriendly 
takeover attempts can only be amended by the affirmative vote of (a) holders of at least three-fourths of the outstanding shares 
of Common Stock and a majority of the Board, or (b) holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Common Stock 
and two-thirds of the continuing directors. 
 
Under the Charter, the shareholders of the Company are prohibited from approving corporate actions by a written consent in 
lieu of a meeting.  Instead, any corporate action to be approved by the Company’s shareholders must be so approved at a 
shareholders’ meeting.  
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Exhibit 21.1   
 

Subsidiaries of Registrant 
As of December 31, 2024 

 
 

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation 
Benefit Plans Administrative Services, Inc. New York 
Benefit Plans Administrative Services, LLC New York 
BPAS Actuarial and Pension Services, LLC New York 
BPAS Trust Company of Puerto Rico Puerto Rico 
CBNA Preferred Funding Corp. Delaware 
CBNA Treasury Management Corporation New York 
Community Bank, N.A. Federally Chartered 
Community Investment Services, Inc. New York 
Emerald Necklace Ventures, LLC New York 
Fringe Benefits Design of Minnesota, Inc. Minnesota 
Global Trust Company, Inc. Maine 
Gordon B. Roberts Agency, LLC New York 
Hand Benefits & Trust Company Texas 
Hand Securities, Inc. Texas 
Kinderhook Holdings, Inc.  New York 
Northeast Retirement Services, LLC  Delaware 
Nottingham Advisors, Inc. Delaware 
OneGroup NY, Inc. New York 
OneGroup Wealth Partners, Inc. New York 
Oneida Preferred Funding II, LLC New York 
The Carta Group, Inc. New York 
The Patrick Maguire Agency, Inc. New York 
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 Exhibit 23.1 
 
 

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

 
 
 
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-119590, 333-
119887, 333-185556, 333-221190, 333-266241, 333-280857, and 333-280858) of Community Financial System, Inc. of our 
report dated February 28, 2025, relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K. 

 
 
/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Buffalo, New York 
February 28, 2025 
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Exhibit 31.1 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
I, Dimitar A. Karaivanov, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Community Financial System, Inc.; 
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 
and 

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 
 

 
Date:  February 28, 2025 
 
/s/ Dimitar A. Karaivanov       
Dimitar A. Karaivanov, 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
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Exhibit 31.2 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
I, Joseph E. Sutaris, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Community Financial System, Inc.; 
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 
and 

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 
 
 
Date:  February 28, 2025 
 
/s/ Joseph E. Sutaris    
Joseph E. Sutaris,  
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer  
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Exhibit 32.1 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
In connection with the Annual Report of Community Financial System, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Dimitar A. 
Karaivanov, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge: 
 
(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
(2)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 

operations of the Company. 
 
/s/ Dimitar A. Karaivanov 
Dimitar A. Karaivanov, 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
February 28, 2025  
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 Exhibit 32.2 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Community Financial System, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Joseph E. Sutaris, 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge: 
 
(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
(2)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 

operations of the Company. 
 
/s/ Joseph E. Sutaris  
Joseph E. Sutaris,  
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer  
February 28, 2025 


